
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


Mobile and Social Media Management -1- June 11, 2012 


     
PRESENTATION TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS 


 
 Program Title:   Mobile and Social Media Management 
 Credential:   Ontario College Graduate Certificate  
 Program Length:   One Year (three terms) 
 School:   Media and Design  
 Dean:   Russell Mills 
 Proposed Start Date:  Fall 2013 
 
 


PURPOSE 
This 615 hour, one-year Mobile and Social Media Management Ontario College Graduate Certificate program is 
offered over three levels and provides students with maximum flexibility in terms of delivery. Students may choose 
to attend classes, which are scheduled during evenings and weekends, in person or electronically (at the 
scheduled time or at their convenience). The program prepares students to manage communication strategies 
related to social media and mobile devices. Students leverage the features of current mobile devices by preparing 
written content, images, audio, and video files for mobile applications. By tracking mobile metrics students are able 
to target and strategically communicate with mobile audiences using social media. In the final term student’s work 
with real-world clients using industry standard practices. Applicants will be required to demonstrate a working 
knowledge of social media. 
 
Graduates acquire the skills and training to work in agencies, firms and corporations that deal with the creation, 
archiving and administration of various digital communication strategies. These industries, both private and public, 
include design firms, online newspapers and magazines, digital media consultants, advertising agencies, 
government departments, publishing bureaus, and educational institutions. Graduates may seek employment as 
online document specialists, web project managers, database specialists, production administrators, content 
writers, social media managers, project managers, and electronic publishers in public and private agencies, firms, 
and corporations that create and administer digital communication strategies. Graduates may also work as self-
employed entrepreneurs in the digital publishing industry.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The growth in the area of mobile and social media is being spurred by the changes in media consumption 
patterns. Virtually all media vehicles have a need to get their messages out through a variety of channels with a 
new interest in social and mobile. Over the past 10 years, the fields of mobile technology and digital 
communications have grown. Laptops and personal organizers have evolved into smart phones used for all 
aspects of communication. This trend has extended to developing nations whereby mobile is one of the major 
forms of communication and digital process. The future of mobile technology will continue to change as 
businesses adopt this as their main form of communication. What is lacking is the ability to effectively use these 
emerging media and the technology from a communication standpoint. Within the ever-evolving technology space, 
mobile media has emerged as a major communication vehicle and has created a need for specialists who can 
develop the communications aspect. This program will focus on the emerging use of mobile (whether it be laptop, 
iPad, smart phones or smart books) in a communication capacity. 
 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 
(i) Evidence of Need 
 As more and more businesses and organizations are seeking to use mobile media to enhance communication 


strategies it is without a doubt that there is a need for professionals to manage, guide and monitor these 
activities. This will create need to hire trained individuals or invest in training for existing staff to upgrade their 
skills. Employment trends in the area of mobile and social media suggest staggering growth in this field. As 


 







 


Mobile and Social Media Management -2- June 11, 2012 
 


this is a relatively new market, specific growth patterns on mobile media where not uncovered by the labour 
market analysis conducted by Hanover Research in July 2011. However, research on social media 
management did show evidence of employment demand. The Hanover Research Study yielded the following 
key findings: 
• media has permeated other industries, such as education, media, and advertising. A comScore market 
analysis reports that mobile news consumption is increasing worldwide, and several Canadian news agencies, 
such as Canwest and FP News, have created mobile-optimized sites and adopted new strategies to deliver 
up-to-the-minute news on mobile devices. Furthermore, the Interactive Advertising Bureau anticipates 2010 
mobile advertising revenues to top $51 million in Canada. 
• While market trends suggest increasing adoption of mobile media within several key industries, because the 
field is still in its infancy, there remains a dearth of concrete information on employment trends. Our research 
did not uncover studies that have focused on the mobile media management occupation and its historic or 
potential growth. However, a 2010 research study, as well as anecdotal evidence, suggests staggering growth 
in the related fledgling industry of social media management. 
• Current job postings on Indeed.ca – seven specific to mobile media management and a total of 30 reflective 
of the job titles described in Algonquin College’s program proposal – suggest that demand exists for these 
types of skills and qualifications within the province, though it is difficult to gauge the intensity of that demand 
without comparative or trend data. 


 
(ii) Student Interest 
 The Hanover Research Study concludes that the Ontario higher education market does not appear to offer 


students access to a graduate certificate focused solely on the strategic use of mobile media in a business, 
non-profit, or government setting. Algonquin College’s Graduate Certificate in Mobile and Social Media 
Management would be a unique addition to the provincial higher education landscape. OCAS data from 
programs with a social media element indicates sufficient interest in this area of study. 


  
(iii) Staffing  
 In the first year of the program, staffing will costs will be attributed to part-time faculty with one full-time faculty 


taking on the role of coordinator. Consideration will be given to a full-time hire once the program is stable. 
 
(iv) Admissions Requirements 
 Program Eligibility: 
 Ontario College Diploma, Ontario College Advanced Diploma, Bachelor’s Degree or equivalent combination of 


education and work experience. Potential candidates will be required to demonstrate a working knowledge of 
social media by submitting documented evidence of a current and active social media web presence. 


   
(iv) Advisory Committee Support 
 Effective March 20, 2012, the Advisory Committee for the Mobile and Social Media Management program had 


unanimously given their support and recommendation for program approval by the Board of Governors. 
 
(vi) Strategic Alignment  
 The implementation of this program reflects the strategic directions of the College including the commitment to 


digital learning, alternative delivery with the option of in class or online delivery, leveraging of our relationships 
with business and industry, and meeting the needs of students and the community.  


 
Appendix 1: Program of Study 
Appendix 2: Cash Flow Analysis 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
That the Board of Governors approve the Mobile and Social Media Management Ontario College Graduate 
Certificate program effective Fall 2013 and seek validation of the program title and outcomes from the Credential 
Validation Service and approval for funding from the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities. 







 


Mobile and Social Media Management -3- June 11, 2012 
 


Appendix 1: Program of Study 
 
The unique delivery model combines online courses with traditional F2F classes. Theory classes will be 
delivered online while applied courses will have the option of F2F or an online model. 
 


 
LEVEL 1 – 15 weeks 


 
COURSE 
NUMBER 


COURSE 
TITLE 


Hours  


Th
eo


ry
  


La
b 


Fi
el


d 
/ C


lin
ic


al
 


To
ta


l H
ou


rs
 


In
 c


la
ss


 


O
nl


in
e 


In
 c


la
ss


 
O


r 
O


nl
in


e 


COM1000 Social Media Strategies 
 


 45   45 


IMD1008 Media Development Tools   45  45 


EPB1007 Mobile Web Implementation   45  45 


EPB1008 Writing for Mobile Devices   45*  45 


MTM1000 Rich Media Management   45  45 


 TOTAL LEVEL HOURS     225 
Note: Lab time is being offered in class and online concurrently. The delivery mode is entirely optional.  
* Students choosing to attend in-class will have 15 online hours. Those who decide to attend fully online will have 45 online 
hours. 


 
LEVEL 2 – 15 Weeks 


 
COURSE 
NUMBER 


COURSE 
TITLE 


Hours  


Th
eo


ry
  


La
b 


Fi
el


d 
/ C


lin
ic


al
 


To
ta


l H
ou


rs
 


In
 c


la
ss


 
O


r 
O


nl
in


e 


In
 c


la
ss


 
 O


r 
O


nl
in


e 


MKT2000 Marketing For Mobile Devices 
 


45*   45 


DSN2002 Interaction Design 
 


 45  45 


MTM2007 Content Management Systems  45  45 


MTM2008 Podcast Development and Use  30  30 


IMD2005 Dynamic Media  45  45 


 TOTAL LEVEL HOURS    210 
Note: Lab time is being offered in class and online concurrently. The delivery mode is entirely optional.  
* Students choosing to attend in-class will have 30 online hours. Those who decide to attend fully online will have 45 online 
hours. 
  







 


Mobile and Social Media Management -4- June 11, 2012 


LEVEL 3 – 15 Weeks 
 


 
COURSE 
NUMBER 


COURSE 
TITLE 


Hours  


Th
eo


ry
  


La
b 


Fi
el


d 
/ C


lin
ic


al
 


To
ta


l H
ou


rs
 


In
 c


la
ss


 
O


r 
O


nl
in


e 


In
 c


la
ss


 
 O


r 
O


nl
in


e 


MGT3006 Project Management 45   45 


MTM3008 Business Practices in a Mobile World 30*   30 


EPB3000 Digital Publishing  30  30 


MTM3010 Mobile Analytics  30  30 


DSN3085 Media Lab  45  45 


 TOTAL LEVEL HOURS     180 
Note: Lab time is being offered in class and online concurrently. The delivery mode is entirely optional.  
* Students choosing to attend in-class will have 15 online hours. Those who decide to attend fully online will have 30 online 
hours. 
 


    Certificate Program Total Hours:   615 
 
  
 


 








0 0 0 0 0


MOBILE AND SOCIAL MEDIA MANAGEMENT
Ontario College Graduate Certificate
Cash Flow Analysis


TOTAL ENROLMENT 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Year 1** 56 80 80 80 80 80


Tuition Fee per Semester 1,260 1,323 1,389 1,459 1,532 1,608


REVENUE
Fees 70,560 105,840 111,132 116,689 122,523 128,649
Grant* 27,116 65,854 104,592 116,213


Total Revenue 70,560 105,840 138,248 182,543 227,115 244,862


EXPENSES
FT Academic + Fringe (22.46%) 62,004 94,603 97,809 101,128 104,562
Temp Acad +  Fringe (9%) 52,333 26,844 26,844 26,844 26,844 26,844
FT Supp + Fringe (27.07%)
Temp Supp + Fringe (10%)


Operating 12,500 12,625 7,756 7,894 8,039 8,191
Total Expenses 64,833 101,473 129,203 132,547 136,011 139,597


CONTRIBUTION BEFORE 5,727 4,367 9,045 49,996 91,104 105,265


INVESTMENTS
Equipment
C D l tCourse Development 30 00030,000 0 0 0 0 0
Renovations


Total Capital 30,000 0 0 0 0 0


NET CONTRIBUTION -24,273 4,367 9,045 49,996 91,104 105,265


% -34.40% 4.13% 6.54% 27.39% 40.11% 42.99%


* Grant Value $ 4,358 
Program Weight 1.0, Funding Unit 1.0 (Estimate)
FT academic calculated at step 10, 8/12's of the annual salary in the year of hire
A number of variables are considered when calculating tuition and expenses; these are changed based on government 
direction as required


Note:


The purpose of the Cash Flow Analysis for a new program is to capture the direct revenues and expenses associated


with the program. The resulting contribution indicates the funds the program will generate to help support


the current operations of the Academic Area. Therefore, pre-existing costs such as department overheads 


and space costs are not included in the cash flow. These costs are captured in the annual Program Costing exercise.


Enrolment Detail**
Level 01 30 30 30 30 30 30
Level 02 26 26 26 26 26 26
Level 03 24 24 24 24 24


56 80 80 80 80 80





		 Cash Flow






 


Environmental Management and Assessment -1- June 11, 2012 


     
PRESENTATION TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS 


 
 Program Title:  Environmental Management and Assessment 
 Credential:  Ontario College Graduate Certificate  
 Program Length:  One Year  
 School:  School of Advanced Technology  
 Dean:  Claude Brulé 
 Proposed Start Date:  Fall 2013 
 
 
PURPOSE 
This 630 hour, one-year Environmental Management and Assessment Ontario College Graduate 
Certificate program offered over two levels will offer students the opportunity to enhance their 
existing skills to succeed in the expanding field of environmental management and assessment. 
Students will develop practical expertise in a range of interdisciplinary scientific techniques used 
at the forefront of environmental management practice and become familiar with current 
environmental law and policy. 
 
Graduates may find employment in fields such as environmental research, site assessment, 
pollution prevention and control, water and wastewater monitoring and regulatory compliance, 
and policy development. 
 
BACKGROUND 
With escalating demand for environmental awareness, there is an increasing need for highly-
skilled personnel capable of working in the fields of environmental auditing and assessment. This 
program builds proficiency and adds depth to the knowledge base of students, allowing them to 
specialize in, or broaden, their expertise in a range of disciplines including biodiversity 
conservation, environmental law and policy, as well as environmental chemistry. 
 
The proposed program affords laddering opportunities for graduates of the Biotechnology 
Technologist, and Water and Wastewater Technician programs who could extend their 
educations with this graduate certificate. In addition, graduates from the new Environmental 
Technician program offered at the Pembroke Campus will also be able to ladder into this 
program. 
 
The theory portions of the curriculum will be offered exclusively online. Laboratory and field 
experiences will be delivered on weekends employing existing laboratory facilities. This format is 
designed to accommodate working professionals who wish to develop their skills while making 
use of laboratory space used by other programs during the weekdays.   
 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 
(i) Evidence of Need 
 The predominant conclusion from the labour market analysis was that while university 


enrollment is very strong in environment related programs – a stable and positive outlook is 
also conveyed for Environmental Control type programs and graduates. According to an 
Environment Careers Organization (ECO) Canada labour market survey of employers, 41 


 







 


Environmental Management and Assessment -2- June 11, 2012 
 


percent of organizations in Ontario hired environmental employees in 2010, a proportion 
second only to Alberta’s environmental employee hiring rate of 43 percent. The survey also 
indicated that organizations that planned to hire environmental employees in the near future 
were most likely to hire site assessment and reclamation, waste management, and 
environmental safety and health workers. 


 
 Three colleges in Ontario offer Ontario College Graduate Certificate programs in 


Environmental Control or closely related areas including Environmental Management and 
Assessment; all three share course objectives and core academic requirements focused on 
waste management, pollution control, site assessment and remediation, and wastewater 
treatment. These programs have reported success in attracting students, with enrolments 
ranging from approximately 25 to 50 students. 


 
(ii)  Student Interest 
 In addition to the enrolment success of the three other Ontario Graduate Certificate 


programs noted above, an in-house survey was conducted of current Algonquin students 
enrolled in programs that would ladder into the Environmental Management and 
Assessment program. The results showed 78% of 67 students polled had significant 
interest in the proposed program. 


 
(iii) Staffing  
 Program teaching costs will be attributed to part-time professors. A full-time faculty member 


will coordinate the program. Alternate staffing plans may be undertaken based on program 
performance. 


 
(iv) Admissions Requirements 
 Program Eligibility: 
 Ontario College Diploma, Ontario College Advanced Diploma or Degree in areas of 


environmental science, water and wastewater, biotechnology; or equivalent. 
 
(v) Advisory Committee Support 
 The existing Program Advisory Committee (PAC) for the Water and Wastewater Technician 


program has endorsed the need for the Environmental Management and Assessment 
program and has agreed to cluster with the program to serve as the PAC for both 
overlapping programs should it be approved. 


 
(vi)   Strategic Alignment  
 The implementation of this program reflects the strategic directions of the College including 


the commitment to digital learning with 52% online, alternative weekend delivery, leveraging 
of our relationships with business and industry with applied research, and meeting the 
needs of students and the community.  


 
Appendix 1: Program of Study 
Appendix 2: Cash Flow Analysis 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
That the Board of Governors approve the Environmental Management and Assessment Ontario 
College Graduation Certificate program effective Fall 2013 and seek validation of the program 
title and outcomes from the Credential Validation Service and approval for funding from the 
Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities. 







 


Environmental Management and Assessment -3- June 11, 2012 


Appendix 1: Program of Study 
LEVEL 1 – 15 Weeks 


 


 
COURSE 
NUMBER 


COURSE 
TITLE 


Hours  


Th
eo


ry
 


La
b 


Fi
el


d 
/ C


lin
ic


al
 


To
ta


l H
ou


rs
 


In
 c


la
ss


 


O
nl


in
e 


In
 c


la
ss


 


O
nl


in
e 


QUA4000 Applied Environmental Statistics 45    45 


SCI4000 Sample Processing and Analysis     45   45 


ENV4002 Field Techniques & Sample Acquisition     90 90 


ENV4003 Environmental Policy I 45    45 


ENV4004 Applied Research Project I 45    45 


CHE4000 Advanced Environmental Chemistry  45   45 


 TOTAL LEVEL HOURS 135 90  90 315


 
LEVEL 2 – 15 Weeks 


 


 
COURSE 
NUMBER 


COURSE 
TITLE 


Hours  


Th
eo


ry
 


La
b 


Fi
el


d 
/ C


lin
ic


al
 


To
ta


l H
ou


rs
 


In
 c


la
ss


 


O
nl


in
e 


In
 c


la
ss


 


O
nl


in
e 


ENV4005 Environmental Policy II  45    45 


SCI4001 Biodiversity Conservation/ Ecophysiology 45    45 


ENV4006 Environmental Auditing and Site Assessment 
 45   45 90 


SCI4002 Sustainable Hydrology 45    45 


ENV4007 Applied Research Project II  90   90 


 TOTAL LEVEL HOURS 192 90  45 315


    
630  Graduate Certificate Program Total Hours:   


 
 


 








0 0 0 0 0


ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT & ASSESSMENT
Ontario College Graduate Certificate
Cash Flow Analysis


TOTAL ENROLMENT 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
Year 1** 29 32 39 46 46 46


Tuition Fee per Semester 2,599 2,649 2,699 2,749 2,799 2,849


REVENUE
Fees 75,371 84,768 105,261 126,454 128,754 131,054
Grant* 21,064 44,306 72,633 84,981


Total Revenue 75,371 84,768 126,325 170,760 201,387 216,035


EXPENSES
FT Academic + Fringe (22.46%)
Temp Acad +  Fringe (9%) 72,921 72,921 72,921 72,921 72,921 72,921
FT Supp + Fringe (27.07%)
Temp Supp + Fringe (10%)


Operating 25,450 19,850 20,843 21,885 22,970 24,128
Total Expenses 98,371 92,771 93,764 94,806 95,891 97,049


CONTRIBUTION BEFORE -23,000 -8,003 32,561 75,954 105,496 118,986


INVESTMENTS
Equipment 104,490
C D l tCourse Development 30 00030,000 0 0 0 0 0
Renovations


Total Capital 134,490 0 0 0 0 0


NET CONTRIBUTION -157,490 -8,003 32,561 75,954 105,496 118,986


% -208.95% -9.44% 25.78% 44.48% 52.38% 55.08%


* Grant Value $ 4,358 
Program Weight 1.0, Funding Unit 1.0 (Estimate)
A number of variables are considered when calculating tuition and expenses; these are changed based on government 
direction as required
Note:


The purpose of the Cash Flow Analysis for a new program is to capture the direct revenues and expenses associated


with the program. The resulting contribution indicates the funds the program will generate to help support


the current operations of the Academic Area. Therefore, pre-existing costs such as department overheads 


and space costs are not included in the cash flow. These costs are captured in the annual Program Costing exercise.


Enrolment Detail**
Level 01 15 17 20 23 23 23
Level 02 14 15 19 23 23 23


29 32 39 46 46 46





		 Cash Flow






OFFICERS OF THE BOARD 2012/2013 
RESOLUTION 
 
MOVED AND SECONDED –        and          
 
That  the  following slate of candidates serves as  the Officers of  the Board  for  the 2012/2013 academic 
year effective September 1, 2012: 
 
Chair          Jim McIntosh 
Vice Chair          Doug Orendorff 
Chair, Audit Committee      Fred Blackstein 
Chair, Governance Committee    Denise Amyot 
 
Executive Committee 
RESOLUTION 
MOVED AND SECONDED –        and          
 
That  the  following slate of candidates serves as  the Officers of  the Board  for  the 2012/2013 academic 
year effective September 1, 2012: 
 
Chair          Jim McIntosh 
Vice Chair          Doug Orendorff 
Chair, Audit Committee      Fred Blackstein 
Chair, Governance Committee    Denise Amyot 
Past Chair          Michael Dunlop 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 2012/13 
RESOLUTION 
MOVED AND SECONDED –        and          
 
That the following slate of candidates serves as the members of the Audit Committee for the 2012/2013 
academic year effective September 1, 2012: 
 
Chair          Fred Blackstein 
Chair of the Board        Jim McIntosh 
President          Kent MacDonald 
External Members        Doug Orendorff 
            Barbara Farber 
            Louis Lamontagne 
 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 2012/13 
RESOLUTION 
MOVED AND SECONDED –       and          
 
That  the  following  slate  of  candidates  serves  as  the members  of  the Governance  Committee  for  the 
2012/2013 academic year, effective September 1, 2012: 
 
Chair          Denise Amyot 
Chair of the Board        Jim McIntosh  
President          Kent MacDonald  
Governors          Doug Orendorff 
            John Owens 
            Jeanine Chiasson 
            Kathyrn Leroux 
 








 
 


  BYLAW #1 


 


E  IT ENACTED as a bylaw of THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF 


. INTERPRETATION


   
THE  BOARD  OF  GOVERNORS  OF  THE  ALGONQUIN  COLLEGE  OF  APPLIED  ARTS  AND 
TECHNOLOGY
 
B
APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY (herein called the Corporation) for the general conduct of the 
affairs of the Corporation as follows: 
 
 
1  


.1 In this bylaw, the following terms shall have the indicated meanings: 


1.1.1 “academic  staff  member”,  “administrative  staff  member”,    “support  staff 


.1.2 “Act” shall mean the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002,   


.1.3 “Board” shall mean the Board of Governors of the Corporation; 


.1.4 “Regulations” shall mean the regulations made under the “Act”; 


.1.5 “spouse” and “same sex partner” shall have the same meanings as defined in the 


 
.2 In  these    bylaws  and  in  all  other    bylaws  and  special  resolutions  of  the  Corporation 


 HEAD OFFICE:


 
1
 


member”  and  “student”  shall  have  the  same  meanings  as  defined  in  the 
Regulations; 


 
1


as amended from time to time; 
 
1
 
1
 
1


Regulations.  


1
hereafter passed unless  the  context otherwise  requires, words  importing  the  singular 
number  or  the  masculine  gender  shall  include  the  plural  number  or  the  feminine 
gender, as the case may be, and vice‐versa, and references to persons shall include firms 
and corporations. 


 
2   The Head Office of the Corporation shall be in the City of Ottawa in the 


 SEAL:


Province of Ontario and at such place therein as the governors may from time to time 
determine. 


 
3   The seal, an impression whereof is stamped at the end of this bylaw, shall be the 


corporate seal of the Corporation. 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 2  
 
4 BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
 
4.1 Size and Constitution of Board: Subject  to  the  transition procedure set out  in section 


4(10) of the current Ontario Regulation 34/03 the Board shall consist of seventeen (17) 
governors  of  whom:  twelve  (12)  governors,  hereinafter  referred  to  as  "external" 
governors,  shall be  appointed  in  the manner provided  in  section 4.2 below;    four  (4) 
additional governors, hereinafter referred to as "internal" governors, shall be elected as 
provided  in section 4.3 below; and the President of the Corporation (who shall for the 
purposes  of  the  Regulations  be  regarded  as  "the  President  of  the  College")  shall  be 
appointed by  the Board pursuant  to  section 11.5.4 hereof  and who  shall be  a  voting 
member of the Board by virtue of office.  


 
4.2 Appointment  of  External  Governors:  The  external  governors  shall  be  appointed  as 


follows: 
 
4.2.1 Four  (4) governors are  to be appointed by  the  Lieutenant Governor  in Council 


(“LGIC”).    For  each  governor  to  be  appointed  by  the  LGIC,  the  College  shall 
forward  to  the  Colleges  Unit  of  the  Ministry  of  Training,  Colleges  and 
Universities, up to three (3) nominees; 
 


4.2.2 Eight  (8) governors are  to be appointed by  the members of  the Board holding 
office at the time of appointment;  
 


4.2.3 A member  of  the  Board  appointed  under  sections  4.2.1  and  4.2.2  shall  not 
participate in a vote of the Board relating to a renewal or extension of his or her 
appointment. 


 
4.3 Election of Internal Governors:  The  internal governors shall comprise one student, one 


academic  staff  member,  one  administrative  staff  member,  and  one  support  staff 
member,    each  of whom  shall  be  elected  by  the  students,  academic  staff members, 
administrative staff members and support staff members, respectively,    in accordance 
with the procedures established in Bylaw No. 3 of this Corporation. 


 
4.4 Eligibility  Requirements  of  External  Members:    No  person  shall  be  eligible  for 


appointment as an external governor  if such person  is a student or an employee of a 
College of Applied Arts and Technology. 


 
4.5 Term and Term Limits: 
 


4.5.1 Each  external  governor  and  each  internal  governor  (other  than  the    student 
governor) shall be appointed or elected, as applicable, for a term not to exceed 3 
years; 


 
4.5.2 Each student governor shall be elected for a term of 1 year; 


 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 3  
 


 


4.5.3 Each  governor  shall  take  office  on  the  first  day  of  September  in  the  year  of 
appointment or election; 


 
4.5.4 Notwithstanding  the  length of  the  term  to which an  internal governor may be 


elected,  such  term  shall  immediately  terminate  upon  such  governor  ceasing 
temporarily  or  permanently  to  be  a  student,  academic  staff  member, 
administrative staff member or support staff member, as applicable.   Provided 
that a student governor who graduates prior  to  the expiration of such student 
governor’s  term may  continue  to  serve  until  the  31st  day  of  August  in  such 
student’s year of graduation; 


 
4.5.5 No person shall serve as an external governor or  internal governor  (other than 


the  student governor) for more than 6 consecutive years provided that after an 
absence  of  2  years  such  person  shall  again  be  eligible  for  re‐election  or  re‐
appointment, as applicable, for successive terms not to exceed 6 years;   
 


4.5.6 No person shall serve as the student governor for more than 4 consecutive years 
provided that after an absence of 2 years such person shall again be eligible for 
re‐election for successive terms not to exceed 4 years. 


 
4.6 Vacancies: 
 


4.6.1 Where a vacancy occurs among the external governors of the Board appointed 
by the LGIC pursuant to section 4.2.1, the College shall forward to the Colleges 
Unit of the Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities (MTCU), up to three (3) 
nominees for each vacant position in accordance with the direction provided by 
MTCU  in  the  October  12,  2010, memo  from  Nancy  Naylor,  Assistant  Deputy 
Minister providing direction on the New Appointment Processes  for Lieutenant 
Governor In Council‐appointed College Governors; 
 


4.6.2 Where a vacancy occurs among the external governors of the Board appointed 
by the Board pursuant  to section 4.2.2, the Board shall appoint a person to  fill 
the vacancy; 


 
4.6.3 Where a vacancy occurs among the internal governors of the Board, such of the 


students,  academic  staff members,  administrative  staff members,  or  support 
staff members  as  originally  appointed  the  governor whose  position  is  vacant 
shall  elect  a  person  to  fill  the  vacancy;  such  election  to  be  conducted  in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in Bylaw No. 3; 


 
4.6.4 The term of the person appointed or elected pursuant to section 4.6.1 or 4.6.2 


shall be for the remainder of the term of the governor whose position became 
vacant,  and  shall  commence  upon  such  appointment  or  election  and  shall 
terminate on August 31st in the year in which such term expires. 


 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 4  
 
 POWERS OF THE BOARD5  


.1 The Board shall oversee the direction and management of the College. 


.2 The  Board may make,  or  cause  to  be made,  in  the  Corporation’s  name  any  kind  of 


.3 Without  in any way derogating from the foregoing, the Board  is expressly empowered 


 MEETINGS OF THE BOARD


 
5
 
5


contract  which  the  Corporation  may  lawfully  enter  into  and,  save  as  hereinafter 
provided, generally may exercise all such powers and do all such other acts and things as 
the Corporation is authorized to exercise and do, as provided by any applicable statute 
or law. 


 
5


from  time  to  time  to purchase,  lease or otherwise acquire, alienate, sell, exchange or 
otherwise dispose of shares, stocks, rights, warrants, options and other securities, lands, 
buildings, and other property movable or  immovable, real or personal, or any right or 
interest therein owned by the Corporation for such consideration and upon such terms 
and conditions as it may deem advisable. 


 
6  


.1 Calling  of Meetings:  Except  as  otherwise  required  by  law,  the  Board  may  hold  its 


6.2 otice of Meetings:   The Board may appoint a day or days in any month or months for 


.3 Disclosure of Conflict of  Interest:   At the opening of each meeting, the Chair shall ask 


.4 Quorum: Ten (10) governors shall form a quorum for the transaction of business at any 
meeting  of  the  Board.  No  business  shall  be  transacted  at  any  meeting  unless  the 
requisite quorum shall be present.   


 
6


meetings at  such place or places as  it may  from  time  to  time determine.   Governors' 
meetings may  be  formally  called  by  the  Chair  or  Vice  Chair  or  by  the  Secretary  or 
Treasurer on the direction of the Chair, or of the Vice Chair or of any two (2) governors.  
 
N
regular meetings of  the Board at an hour  to be named and  in  respect of such  regular 
meetings no notice need be given to the governors but notice of the days and times so 
appointed  shall  be  posted  in  the  foyer  of  the main  administration  building.   Where 
urgent conditions prevail, notice of a Board meeting shall be delivered, telephoned or 
sent by electronic mail to each governor not less than one (1) day before the meeting is 
to take place or shall be mailed to each governor not less than four (4) days before the 
meeting is to take place.  Notice of all meetings of the Board shall be given to the public 
by posting of a notice  in the foyer of the main administration building concurrent with 
the giving of notice  to  the governors.   The certificate of  the Secretary or Treasurer or 
Chair that notice has been given pursuant to this bylaw shall be sufficient and conclusive 
evidence  of  the  giving  of  such  notice.    The  governors may  consider  or  transact  any 
business, either special or general, at any meeting of the Board. 


 
6


for disclosures of any actual, potential, or perceived conflicts of interest of any governor 
relating  to  any  agenda  item.  Any  such  declared  conflicts  shall  be  recorded  in  the 
minutes. 


 
6







Bylaw No. 1  Page 5  
 


shall  be  excluded  from  such  a meeting  except  for 
improper conduct as determined and expressed by resolution of the Board.  


6.6.1 Such  items as  individual personnel matters,  strategic  labour  relations,  real and 
lved 


and other matters which by their nature require confidentiality so as to preserve 


 


r may be discussed in public. 


6.7 
ed at such adjourned meeting as might have 


been transacted at the original meeting from which such adjournment took place.  Such 


 or make void any proceedings taken or had at 
such meeting and any governor may at any time waive notice of any such meeting and 


6.9.1 Except for votes to amend or adopt bylaws, questions arising at any meeting of 
vernors shall be decided by a majority vote.  Votes to amend or adopt bylaws 


shall require a two‐thirds majority.  In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair 


 


d be made,  the  vote  shall be  taken  in  the 
usual way by assent or dissent. 


           
arried unanimously or by a particular majority or 


lost or not  carried by  a particular majority,  and  an entry  to  that effect  in  the 
minutes shall be admissible in evidence as prima facie proof of the fact without 
proof of the number or proportion of votes recorded in favour of or against such 


 
6.5 Meetings  to be Public:  Subject  to  section  6.6  below, meetings  of  the Board  shall  be 


open  to  the  public  and  no  person 


 
6.6 In Camera:  The Board may conduct that part of its meeting in camera as concerns: 


 


personal  property  transactions,  litigation  in which  the  Corporation  is  invo


the legitimate interests of the Corporation;  


6.6.2 Matters  of  a  personal  nature  concerning  an  individual  unless  such  individual 
requests and the Board agree that the matte


 
All  governors  shall  keep  all  information,  discussions  and  proceedings  at  in  camera 
sessions of the Board strictly confidential.  


 
Adjournments:  Any meeting of governors may be adjourned to any time and from time 
to time and such business may be transact


adjournment may be made notwithstanding that no quorum is present.  In the event of 
an adjournment to a future date, notice of the rescheduled meeting shall be given in the 
same manner as provided in section 6.1. 


 
6.8 Errors in Notice:  No error or omission in giving such notice for a meeting of governors 


shall invalidate such meeting or invalidate


may ratify and approve of any or all proceedings taken or had thereat. 
 
6.9 Voting:   
 


go


shall have a second or casting vote; 


6.9.2 All votes at any  such meeting  shall be  taken by ballot,  if  so demanded by any 
governors present; but  if no deman


 
6.93  Unless there  is a demand for a recorded vote, a declaration by the Chair that a 


resolution has been carried or c







Bylaw No. 1  Page 6  
 


 


6.10 Meetin
telepho
particip municate  with  each  other  simultaneously  and 
stantaneously  and  a  member  of  the  Board  participating  by  such  means  shall  be 


deeme  to be present at that meeting and shall be counted for the purposes of quorum. 


resolution.  In the absence of the Chair, the Chair’s duties may be performed by 
the Vice Chair or such other external governor as  the Board may  from  time  to 
time appoint for the purpose. 


 
gs by Electronic Means:   Meetings of the Board may be held by means of such 
ne,  electronic,  or  other  communication  facilities  as  will  permit  all  persons 
ating  in  the  meeting  to  com


in
d


 
7 COMPLIANCE WITH CONFLICT OF INTEREST OBLIGATIONS 
 


The  Board  of Governors  shall  comply with  the Minister’s  Binding  Policy Directive  on 
Conflict  of  Interest  issued  under  the  Act.    Should  any  provision  in  this  section  be  in 
conflict with this Policy Directive or any further Policy Directives issued by the Minister, 


nt  of  such  conflict  without 
invalidating  the  remaining provisions of  this  section.   Notwithstanding  the above, any 


 
7.1 
 


d 
responsibilities as a governor that  it  influences the exercise of these duties and 


nsibilities. 


 
ict  of  interest:  a  situation  where  reasonably  well‐informed 


persons could properly have a  reasonable belief  that a governor has an actual 


 
7.1.4 Potential  conflict  of  interest:  a  situation  where  a  governor  has  a  private  or 


ds. 
 


the  conflicting  provision  shall  be  ineffective  to  the  exte


provisions  of  this  section  that  exceed  the minimum  requirements  contained  in  the 
aforementioned Policy Directive are not in conflict with such and shall remain in force. 


Definitions: 


7.1.1 Actual conflict of interest: a situation where a governor has a private or personal 
interest  that  is  sufficiently  connected  to  the  governor’s  duties  an


respo
 


7.1.2 Internal governor: For the purpose of this section 7, the president of the college 
shall be deemed to be an internal governor. 


7.1.3 Perceived  confl


conflict of interest, even where that is not the case in fact.  


personal  interest that could  influence the performance of the governor’s duties 
or responsibilities, provided that the governor has not yet exercised that duty or 
responsibility. 


 
7.2 Principles  


 
7.2.1  Members  of  the  Board  are  expected  to  act  honestly  and  uphold  the  highest 


ethical standar







Bylaw No. 1  Page 7  
 


bers of the Board are obligated to perform their official duties and conduct 
themselves  in  a  manner  that  will  bear  the  closest  public  scrutiny  because 


e organizations. 


rticipate as governors. 


 


Directive  on  Conflict  of  Interest  issued  under  the  Act  and  to 
comply with their obligations respecting the Governor’s Code of Ethics and the 


7.3 
 


with  that  governor’s  duties  and  responsibilities  as  a 
member  of  a  Board.  This  could  arise  from  an  actual,  potential,  or  perceived 


ial or other nature. 
 


7.3.2.1 When the agenda item arises in the open portion of the Board meeting, 


inutes are to record that the member(s) 
of  the  Board  in  conflict  of  interest  remained  in  the  room  for  the 


7.2.2 Mem


colleges are part of the broader public sector and are subject to greater public 
scrutiny than privat


 
7.2.3 Members  of  the  Board  shall  not  have  private  interests  (other  than  those 


permitted pursuant to the Minister’s binding policy directive, or applicable laws, 
or  statutes)  that  would  be  affected  particularly  or  significantly  by  college 
decisions or actions in which they pa


 
7.2.4 When appointed, members of the Board must arrange their private  interests to 


prevent conflicts of interest. If a conflict does arise between the private interests 
of  a  governor  and  the  official  duties  of  that  individual,  the  conflict  shall  be 
resolved in favour of the public interest. 


 
7.2.5 Each governor (regardless of how the governor becomes a member of the Board) 


has a responsibility first and foremost to the welfare of the institution and must 
function primarily as a member of the Board, not as a member of any particular 
constituency.  


7.2.6 All  governors  shall  annually  complete  the  Code  of  Ethical  Conduct  and 
Governor’s  Agreement  being  Appendix  1  to  the Governor’s  Code  of  Ethics  in 
which,  among  other  things,  they  shall  agree  to  comply  with  the  Minister’s 
Binding  Policy 


Code of Ethical Conduct. 
 
Minister’s Binding Policy Directive 


7.3.1 A  conflict  of  interest  arises  when  a  governor’s  private  or  personal  interest 
supersedes  or  competes 


conflict of interest of a financ


7.3.2 At  the beginning of every Board meeting,  the Chair of  the Board  is  to ask and 
have recorded in the minutes whether any member of the Board has a conflict to 
declare in respect to any agenda item.  


 


the  member(s)  of  the  Board  with  an  actual  conflict  of  interest  may 
remain in the room for the duration of the discussion and not participate 
in the vote on this  item. The m


discussion and did not vote on this item. Should the matter occur in the 
in  camera  portion  of  a  meeting,  the  member(s)  of  the  Board  shall 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 8  
 


e declaration is to be made to the Chair of the Board 
nd the Board is to be informed. 


  refrain  from  voting on whether or not  a 
conflict of interest exists.  


r,  the  Board  is  to  re‐examine  the matter  and may 
rescind, vary, or confirm its decision.  


d to be  in conflict and, as appropriate, to 
hold  further  discussion with  the  reporting  governor.  If  the  discussions  do  not 


 


 
7.3.7.1 Issue a verbal reprimand; or 


 
7.3.7.3 Request that a member of the Board resign; and/or  


 


 
7.3.3 In  cases where  a  conflict  cannot be  avoided,  a Board member  is  to declare  a 


conflict  of  interest  at  the  earliest  opportunity  and,  at  the  same  time,  should 
declare the general nature of the conflict. Where a conflict of interest is declared 
prior to a Board meeting, th
a


 
7.3.4 Where a Board member  is unsure whether  the member  is  in conflict,  the  said 


member  is  to  raise  the  perceived  potential  conflict  with  the  Board,  and  the 
Board  is  to  determine  by majority  vote whether  or  not  a  conflict  of  interest 
exists.  The  said Board member must


 
7.3.5 Where a conflict of interest is discovered after consideration of a matter, it is to 


be declared to the Board and appropriately recorded at the first opportunity.  If 
the Board determines that involvement of said member of the Board influenced 
the  decision  of  the matte


 
7.3.6 Any member of the Board who perceives another member of the Board to be in 


conflict of  interest  in a matter under consideration  is to raise this concern with 
the  Chair  of  the  Board.  The  Chair,  in  turn,  is  to  discuss  the matter with  the 
member of the Board who  is perceive


lead to a resolution, the matter is to be brought to the Board and the Board is to 
determine  by majority  vote  whether  or  not  a  conflict  of  interest  exists.  The 
member of the Board perceived to be in conflict is to refrain from voting.  


7.3.7 Where there has been a failure on the part of a member of the Board to comply 
with  this binding policy directive, unless  the  failure  is  the  result of a bona  fide 
error in judgment, the Board is to: 


 
7.3.7.2 Issue a written reprimand; and/or 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 9  
 


7.3.7.4 Remove the member of the Board through processes established 


 
7.4   Policy Directive  on 


conflict of  interest,  the Board shall recognize  the  following circumstances as an actual 


accordance with
 


mpensation, perquisites, and/or benefits;  
 


Note:  the  Board  may  require  certain  information  from  the 
President to assist their deliberations, but these queries must be 


g agreed 
to objectives and must not in anyway, either directly or indirectly, 


 
7.4.2 Internal Gover


 
7.4.2.1 


r  compensation  and  terms  and  conditions  of 
employment  and/or  academic  programs    in  relation  to  their 


tuent group; 


 
7.4.2.2 Agenda  items  relating  to  the  President’s  evaluation  or 


 
    does  not  prevent  the  Chair  or  evaluation  committee 


asking  for  their  input as part of a general  information‐gathering 


 
7.4.3 tudent Governor: 


 
7.4.3.1 


d; 
 


da  items  relating  to  the  President’s  evaluation  or 
performance review; 


in Board bylaws. 


Without  limiting  the  general  application  of  the Minister’s  Binding


conflict  of  interest  requiring  the  affected  Board  member  to  conduct  themselves  in 
 s. 7.3.2.1. hereof: 


7.4.1  President: 
 


7.4.1.1 Agenda  items  relating  either  directly  or  indirectly  to  the 
President’s co


of the general nature or relate to providing performance related 
information concerning the President’s success in meetin


influence  decisions  on  his  or  her  compensation,  perquisites, 
and/or benefits. 


nors: 


Agenda  items  relating  either  directly  or  indirectly  to  collective 
bargaining  and/o


consti
 


Note: this would not apply to agenda  items that are of a general 
nature occurring  in  the open  to  the public portion of  the Board 
meeting; 


performance review;  


Note:  this


process in preparing the President’s evaluation. 


S


Agenda  items  relating  to  an  increase  in  the  tuition  fees  for  the 
particular program in which the student is enrolle


7.4.3.2 Agen







Bylaw No. 1  Page 10  
 


 


ion‐gathering 
process in preparing the President’s evaluation; 


7.4.3.3 g  either  directly  or  indirectly  to  collective 
bargaining  and/or  compensation  and  terms  and  conditions  of 


 
  t are of a general 


nature occurring  in  the open  to  the public portion of  the Board 


 
7.5 Insignificant Conflicts


 
The Minister’s Binding
insignificant  that  it  c
member or where a   other  interest  is  in  common with a broad group of 
which  the  governor  is  a  member  (e.g.,  students,  support  staff,  academic  staff, 


is Binding Policy Directive does not apply where the issue is one 
f general or public information. 


 
7.6 
 


or’s  interest  and  conflict  in  accordance  with  the 
Minister’s Binding Policy Directive. 


7.6.2 If a governor has made a declaration of his or her interest in a proposed contract 


  of  the  contract),  the  governor  is  not 
accountable  to  the Corporation or  to  any of  its members or  creditors  for  any 


 
8 


  Note:  this  does  not  prevent  the  Chair  or  evaluation  committee 
asking  for  their  input as part of a general  informat


 
 Agenda  items  relatin


employment for college staff. 


Note: this would not apply to agenda  items tha


meeting.   


   


 Policy Directive does not apply where the interest is so remote or 
annot  reasonably  be  regarded  as  likely  to  influence  the  Board 
pecuniary or


administrative staff).  Th
o


Disclosure of Interests in Contracts 


7.6.1 Every governor who  is  in any way directly or  indirectly  interested  in a proposed 
contract or a contract with the Corporation or any subsidiary of the Corporation 
shall  declare  the  govern


 


or contract  in compliance with this section and has not voted  in respect of the 
resolution which  awards  the  contract  (or,  in  the  case of  a  conflict declared  in 
accordance  with  section  7.3.5  hereof,  the  governor  has  not  voted  on  the 
resolution  confirming  the  award


profit realized from the contract, and the contract is not voidable by reason only 
of the governor’s holding that office or of the fiduciary relationship established 
thereby. 


REMOVAL OF GOVERNORS 


The Board may remove a governor (other than the President or members of the Board 
appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council) from the Board by a resolution of the 
governors (enact


 
8.1 


ed pursuant to section 8.2 below) if: 
 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 11  
 


ed to attend, without leave of the Board, at least 50% of the 
regular meetings of the Board in any 12 month period or 4 successive meetings 


e  on  Board  committees 
and/or to contribute to effective discussion and decision making at the Board; 


rest which is set forth in section 7 of this Bylaw; 
 


 


sty,  in good  faith 
and in the best interests of the Corporation; 


ing 
grounds  of misconduct  and  in  consequence would,  if  such  governor were  to 


8.1.6.1 Harassment (including activities that would constitute harassment 


 


 
.1.6.4 Conduct unbecoming of a member of the Board; 


 
8.1.6.5 under  the Ontario Human Rights Code 


(including  activities  that  would  constitute  discrimination  under 


 
h  the  provisions  of  the 


  Governor’s Code of Ethics being Appendix A to this Bylaw #1; and, 


8.1.8 The  governor
Governor’s pendix A to this Bylaw #1. 


 


plain why  the 
emoval is being considered and to seek a satisfactory explanation of or solution to the 
alleged  grounds  for  removal    (the  “Grounds”).    If  the  discussions  do  not  result  in  a 


8.1.1 The governor has fail


of the Board; 
 


8.1.2 The  governor  has  neglected  or  refused  to  participat


 
8.1.3 The governor has failed to comply with the Minister’s Binding Policy Directive on 


Conflict of Inte


8.1.4 The  governor  has  failed  to  maintain  the  confidentiality  of  any  and  all 
information, discussions, or proceedings at in camera sessions of the Board;  


8.1.5 The governor has failed to observe and perform the governor’s fiduciary duty to 
the Corporation  in that the governor has not acted with hone


 
8.1.6 The governor has,  in the opinion of the Board, committed one of the follow


continue  as  a  member  of  the  Board,  adversely  affect  the  image  and/or 
operations of the Board or of the College:  


 


under College directives); 
 
8.1.6.2 Violence    (including  activities  that  would  constitute  violence 


under College directives); 


8.1.6.3 Conviction of a criminal offense; 


8


 Discrimination as defined 


College directives). 


8.1.7 The  governor  has  refused  or  is  unable  to  comply wit


 
  has  failed  to  observe  and  comply  with  the  provisions  of  the 


 Code of Ethics being Ap


8.2 Prior to the Board voting to remove a governor (the “Subject Governor”),   the Chair or 
the Vice‐Chair  is  to discuss  the matter with  the  Subject Governor  to ex
r







Bylaw No. 1  Page 12  
 


d by at  least  two‐
thirds of the votes cast, whether the Subject Governor is to be removed. The notice for 


  the 
procedure established  in  this Bylaw and does not  include a  review of whether 


the 
removal process was carried out in accordance with this Bylaw; 


  that  there exist 
easons for  justifying the removal of such member from the Board, the Board may set 


 


satisfactory explanation or solution,  the matter  is  to be brought  to  the Board  in an  in 
camera  session, and  the Board  is  to determine by  resolution, passe


the  in  camera  session  is  to  specify  the  intention  to  pass  a  resolution  removing  the 
Subject Governor and the Grounds therefore.   The Subject Governor  is to be given an 
opportunity  to  respond  to  the  Grounds  by  addressing  the  Board  at  the  in  camera 
session, but  is to refrain from voting.   The Subject Governor  is to be clearly notified of 
the final consideration and decision of the Board and any action that will be taken.  


 
8.3 Any person who  is removed as a governor from the Board may apply to the Executive 


Committee to review the decision to remove the person from the Board.  As provided in 
the Regulations, the Executive Committee’s review shall be subject to the following: 


 
8.3.1 The  Executive  Committee’s  review  is  limited  to  determining  whether  the 


removal  was  for  a  reason  set  out  in  this  Bylaw  and  in  accordance  with


the Board was correct in removing a governor of the Board; 
 
8.3.2 The Chair of the Board and the President shall sign a written attestation that 


 
8.3.3 The decision of the Executive Committee on whether the decision of the Board 


was  made  for  a  reason  set  out  in  this  Bylaw  and  in  accordance  with  the 
procedure established in this Bylaw is final and binding. 


 
8.4 With  respect  to  any member  of  the  Board  appointed  by  the  Lieutenant Governor  in 


Council pursuant  to  section 4.2.1 of  this Bylaw,  if  the Board believes
r
those reasons out  in a report to the Minister of Training, Colleges and Universities  for 
referral to the Lieutenant Governor in Council. 
 


9 REMUNERATION OF GOVERNORS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
 
9.1 The  governors of  the Corporation  shall  serve without  remuneration  and no  governor 


shall directly or  indirectly receive any profit  from his position as such; provided that a 
governor may  be  paid  reasonable  travel  and  living  expenses  incurred  by  him  in  the 
erformance of his duties. 


rs  of  committees  and 
subcommittees of the Board.  


p
 
9.2 The  provisions  of  section  9.1  shall  apply  equally  to  all membe


 
10 PROTECTION OF GOVERNORS AND OFFICERS   
 
10.1 Indemnification  by  Corporation:    Every  governor  of  the  Corporation  and  such 


governor’s  heirs,  estate  trustees,  and  estate  and  effects,  respectively,  and  all  Senior 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 13  
 


Officers who report directly to the President shall from time to time and at all times, be 


10.1.1 All  costs,  charges  and  expenses  whatsoever  which  such  governor  or  officer 
on,  suit  or  proceeding  that  is  brought, 


commenced or prosecuted against such governor or officer in respect of any act, 


0.2 No governor or officer for the time being of the Corporation shall be liable for the acts, 


 out or  invested or for any  loss or damage arising from the bankruptcy, 
insolvency or tortuous act of any person, firm or corporation with whom or which any 


holder, 
director  or  officer  of  a  company which  is  employed  by  or  performs  services  for  the 


indemnified and saved harmless, out of the funds of the Corporation from and against: 
 


sustains  or  incurs  in  or  about  any  acti


deed, matter or thing whatsoever made, done or permitted by such governor or 
officer  in  or  about  the  execution  of  the  duties  of  such  governor’s  or  officer’s 
office. 


 
1


receipts, neglects or defaults of any other governor or officer or employee or for joining 
in any receipt or act for conformity or for any loss, damage or expense happening to the 
Corporation through the  insufficiency or deficiency of title to any property acquired by 
the Corporation for or on behalf of the Corporation or for the insufficiency or deficiency 
of any security in or upon which any of the moneys of or belonging to the Corporation 
shall be placed


moneys, securities or effects shall be lodged or deposited or for any other loss, damage 
or misfortune  whatever  which may  happen  in  the  execution  of  the  duties  of  such 
governor’s or officer’s respective office or  trust or  in relation  thereto unless  the same 
shall happen by or through such governor’s or officer’s own wrongful and wilful act or 
through such governor’s or officer’s own wrongful and wilful neglect or default. 


 
10.3 The  governors  for  the  time  being of  the Corporation  shall  not  be  under  any  duty  or 


responsibility  in respect of any contract, act or transaction whether or not made, done 
or entered  into  in the name or on behalf of the Corporation except such as shall have 
been  submitted  to and authorized or approved by  the Board.    Subject  to  compliance 
with the provisions of section 7 hereof, If any person who is a governor or officer of the 
Corporation  shall  be  employed  by  or  shall  perform  services  for  the  Corporation 
otherwise than as a governor or officer or shall be a member of a firm or a share


Corporation,  the fact of such person being a governor or officer of the Corporation shall 
not disentitle such person or such firm or company, as the case may be, from receiving 
proper remuneration for such services. 


 
11 OFFICERS OF THE CORPORATION  
 
11.1 Officers:   There shall be a Chair, a Vice Chair, a President, a Secretary and a Treasurer, 


and such other officers as  the Board may determine by  resolution  from  time  to  time.  
The Chair and Vice Chair shall be external governors of the Board.  The other officers of 
the Corporation  (excepting  the President who  is a member of  the Board by  virtue of 
office) need not be members of the Board. 


11.2 Appointment:   At  the May or  June meeting of  the Board  each  year,  the Nominating 
Committee shall bring forward a recommendation for appointment of the Officers and 


 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 14  
 


al  appointment.    Following  their  appointment  by 
resolution  of  the  Board,  the  Officers  and  Committee  Chairs  will  assume  their 


1.3 Remuneration:  The governors may, in accordance with, and subject to the obtaining of 


 of the Corporation; and he or 
she shall sign such contracts, documents or instruments in writing as require his 


and shall interpret the resolutions of the Board and the intent of 
the Bylaws. 


11.5.2 Vice  Chair.    The  Vice  Chair  shall  be  appointed  annually  and  shall  have  such 


 
 Board shall appoint a President for such term as the Board may 


consider appropriate  from  time  to  time and hereby delegates  to  the President 


 regarding the affairs 
of the Corporation. 


 


Committee  Chairs  requiring  annu


responsibilities on the 1st of September each year.  If the Board shall fail to appoint any 
or all of such officers by September 1st, the incumbents for whom no replacements have 
been appointed  shall  continue  in office until  their  successors are appointed except  in 
the case of a Chair or Vice Chair whose term as governor has expired.  


 
1


such  approvals  as  may  be  required  by  any  applicable  statutory  provision,  fix  the 
remuneration to be paid to Officers of the Corporation.  


 
11.4 Removal:  All Officers, in the absence of agreement to the contrary, shall be subject to 


the removal from that office of the Corporation by resolution of the Board at any time 
with or without cause. 


 
11.5 Duties of Officers: The duties of the Officers are as follows: 
 


11.5.1 Chair.  The Chair shall be appointed annually and shall, when present, preside at 
all meetings of the Board.  He or she shall, together with the Secretary or other 
officer appointed for the purpose, sign all bylaws


or her signature.  The Chair shall also have such other powers and duties as may 
from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Board or as are incidental to 
his or her office 


 


powers and perform such duties as may be assigned to him or her by the Board, 
and in the absence or inability to act of the Chair, shall perform all the duties and 
have  all  the  powers  of  the  Chair  and  if  a  Vice  Chair,  or  such  other  external 
governor as the Board may from time to time appoint for the purpose, performs 
any such duty or exercises any such power,  the absence,  inability or  refusal  to 
act of the Chair shall be presumed with reference thereto. 


11.5.3 President.   The


such authority to manage and direct the business and affairs of the Corporation, 
except such matters and duties as by  law must be  transacted or performed by 
the Board, and  further  to employ  and discharge agents and employees of  the 
Corporation  as  the  President may  from  time  to  time  decide.  He  or  she  shall 
conform to all lawful orders given to him or her by the Board of the Corporation 
and/or  by  the  Chair  thereof  and  shall  at  all  reasonable  times  give  to  the 
governors or any of them all information they may require







Bylaw No. 1  Page 15  
 


 


 


 
11.5.4.3 Give, or cause to be given,  all notices required to be given 


 
Be the custodian of the corporate seal of the Corporation 
and  of  all  books,  papers,  records,  correspondence, 


ents  belonging  to  the 
Corporation which  he  or  she  shall  deliver  up  only when 


 
11.5.4.5 s may  from  time  to  time  be 


determined by the Board. 
 


11.5.5 Treasurer.      the  Vice  President,  Finance  unless  the 
Board shall otherwise determine in which event the Treasurer shall be appointed 


 
11.5.5.1


 


rporation in such banks as may 
from time to time be designated by the Board; 


ard, taking proper vouchers therefore; 
 


ctions as Treasurer, and of the financial position 
of the Corporation; 


 
11.5.5.5 


11.5.4 Secretary:  The Secretary shall be the President unless the Board shall otherwise 
determine  in  which  event  the  Secretary  shall  be  appointed  annually.  The 
Secretary shall: 


11.5.4.1 Be ex‐officio clerk of the Board; 


11.5.4.2 Attend all meetings of  the Board and  record, or cause  to 
be recorded, all facts and minutes of all proceedings in the 
books kept for that purpose; 


to governors; 


11.5.4.4 


contracts  and  other  docum


authorized by a resolution of the Board to do so; 


 Perform  such  other  duties  a


The  Treasurer  shall  be


annually. The Treasurer shall: 


  Keep  full  and  accurate  accounts  of  all  receipts  and 
disbursements  of  the  Corporation  in  proper  books  of 
account; 


11.5.5.2  Deposit all moneys or other valuable effects  in  the name 
and to the credit of the Co


 
11.5.5.3  Disburse the funds of the Corporation under the direction 


of the Bo


11.5.5.4  Render  to  the  Board  at  the  regular meetings  thereof  or 
whenever required of him or her, an account of all his or 
her transa


Co‐operate  with  the  auditors  of  the  Corporation  during 
any audit of the accounts of the Corporation; 


 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 16  
 


11.5.6 Other O The d
to the provisions of an
their engagement call


 
1.6 Vacancies 


11.6.1 If  the o  Ch
vacant  by  reason  of  herwise,  the 
Board shall appoint one of the external governors to fill such vacancy.  


 
11.6.2 If  the office of  the Se dent, or one or more of  them, 


shall become vacant, such vacancy shall be filled as the Board may appoint. 
 
11.7 Delega


Vice  Ch   the 
governors may deem sufficient, the governors may delegate all or any of the powers of 


r to any other Officer or to any external governor for the time being. 


12 


11.5.5.6  Perform  such  other  duties  as may  from  time  to  time  be 
determined by the Board. 


 
fficers.    uties of all other Officers of the Corporation shall, subject 


y applicable statute or regulation, be such as the terms of 
 for or the Board or the President require of them. 


1
ffice of  the air or Vice Chair, or one or more of  them,  shall become 


death,  resignation,  and  disqualification  or  ot


cretary, Treasurer or Presi


tion of Duties of Officers.  In case of the absence or inability to act of the Chair, a 
air  or  any  other Officer  of  the  Corporation  or  for  any  other  reason  that


such Office
 


EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS 
 
2.1 Cheques, Drafts, Notes, Etc.   All cheques, drafts or orders  for  the payment of money 


such 
manner as the Board may from time to time designate by resolution. 


  by  the 
Corporation,  may  be  signed  by  any  two  of  the  Chair,  the  Vice  Chair,  the 


ry  (where  the  Secretary  is  someone  other  than  the 
President),  and  the  Treasurer  and  all  contracts,  documents  or  instruments  in 


ed,  be  affixed  to 
contracts,  documents  or  instruments  in writing  signed  as  aforesaid  or  by  any 


pointed  by  resolution  of  the  Board 
pursuant to section 12.2.5 hereof; 


other  obligations,  conveyances,  transfers  and  assignments  of  shares,  bonds, 
debentures or other securities and all paper writings; 


1
and all notes and acceptances and bills of exchange shall be signed by such Officer or 
Officers  or  person  or  persons,  whether  or  not  Officers  of  the  Corporation,  in 


 
12.2 Contracts, documents or instruments in writing:  
 


12.2.1 Contracts,  documents  or  instruments  in writing,  required  to  be  signed


President,  the  Secreta


writing  so  signed  shall  be  binding  upon  the  Corporation without  any  further 
authorization or formality; 


 
12.2.2 The  corporate  seal  of  the  Corporation  may,  when  requir


Officer  or  Officers,  person  or  persons  ap


 
12.2.3 The term "contracts, documents or  instruments  in writing" as used herein shall 


include  deeds,  mortgages,  hypothecs,  charges,  conveyances,  transfers  and 
assignments,  releases,  receipts  and  discharges  for  the  payment  of money  or 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 17  
 
 


ng  the  generality  of  the  foregoing,  any  two  of  the 
Chair,  the  Vice  Chair,  the  President,  the  Secretary  (where  the  Secretary  is 


ividual  capacity or  any other  capacity or  as 
trustee or otherwise and  to  sign and execute  (under  the corporate  seal of  the 


 
12.2.5 Notwithstanding any provisions  to  the contrary contained  in  the bylaws of  the 


 
13 


12.2.4 In  particular without  limiti


someone  other  than  the  President),  and  the  Treasurer  are  authorized  to  sell, 
assign,  transfer,  exchange,  convert  or  convey  any  and  all  shares,  bonds, 
debentures,  rights, warrants or other  securities owned by or  registered  in  the 
name of  the Corporation  in  its  ind


Corporation  or  otherwise)  all  assignments,  transfers,  conveyances,  powers  of 
attorney and other instruments that may be necessary for the purpose of selling, 
assigning,  transferring,  exchanging,  converting  or  conveying  any  such  shares, 
bonds, debentures, rights, warrants or other securities; 


Corporation,  the  Board may  at  any  time  by  resolution  direct  the manner  in 
which, and the person or persons by whom, any particular instrument, contract 
or obligations of the Corporation may or shall be executed. 


BOOKS AND RECORDS 


The Board shall ensure that all necessary books and records of the Corporation required 
by the bylaws of the Corporation or by any applicable statute or  law are regularly and 
properly kept. 


Without  limiting  the generality of section 13.1  immediately pr


 
13.1 


 
13.2 eceding, the Board shall 


keep minutes and records of  its proceedings that accurately reflect the proceedings of 


 
13.3 
 


13.3.1  Shall be open to examination by the public during the normal office hours of the 
  


 


4 STANDING COMMITTEES


the Board. 


The Bylaws of the Corporation: 


Corporation; and


13.3.2 Whenever  possible,  shall  be  available  to  the  public  at  no  charge  on  the 
Corporation’s website. 


 
1  


time  to  time  be  appointed members  thereof  by  the  Board,  to  act  in  an 
advisory capacity to the Board in connection with the particular field of activity referred 


e members of such committees shall hold office during 
the pleasure of the Board, and the Chair and the President shall be ex‐officio members 


 


 
14.1 The Board may,  from time to time, appoint committees, consisting of such persons as 


may  from 


to each of such committees.  Th


of each such committee. 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 18  
 
14.2 he Board may  fill any vacancies occurring  from  time  to  time  in such committees and 


 
4.3 The Secretary shall  record or cause  to be  recorded  the minutes of  the proceedings of 


tee which shall be confirmed under the signature of the Chair 
of that meeting and a report shall be forwarded to the Board. Any such committee so 


5 AUDIT COMMITTEE


T
may abolish and from time to time re‐appoint any such committee. 


1
any such standing commit


appointed may meet for the transaction of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its 
meetings  as  it  thinks  fit.    The  quorum  for  any  such  standing  committee  shall  be  a 
majority  of  the  governors  on  the  committee. Questions  arising  at  any meeting  of  a 
committee  shall be decided by  a majority of  votes  and,  in  the  case of  an equality of 
votes, the Chair of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote. 


 
1    


e  Board  is  hereby 
confirmed and continued to assist the governors in connection with all matters that may 


e Committee. 


ITTEE


 
15.1 The  Audit  Committee  heretofore  established  by  resolution  of  th


be properly referred to it by the Board.  The Audit Committee shall be composed of four 
external governors and the Chair of the Board.   The President of the College shall be a 
non‐voting member of the Audit Committee.  


 
15.2 Each Audit Committee member shall be appointed by  the Board  for a  term of one  (1) 


year,  and  such  term may  be  extended  for  one  (1)  year  at  a  time  while  the  Audit 
Committee member  continues  as  a  governor  of  the  College.    The  Board  shall  fill  a 
vacancy on the Audit Committee by appointing a new member to th


 
16 GOVERNANCE COMM  


 


he development of  selection  criteria  and 
profiles  for  the  nomination  and  performance  of  Board  members  as  well  as  the 


  Vice 
President,  Finance),  such  other  Officers  as  the  Board  may  determine  are  to  be 


the Audit Committee, Chair of the Governance Committee, 
hair  of  any  other  standing  committees which  the  Board may  constitute  and which 


o s  
h  


 


16.1   The Governance  Committee  is  established  to  assist  the  governors  in  carrying  on  the 
affairs  of  the  Corporation  in  connection  with  matters  relating  to  governance 
performance,  the  review  and  assessment  of  Board  governance  practices,  the 
recommendation  of measures  to  employ  in  assessing  governance  performance,  the 
nomination  for  vacancies  in  the Board  and  t


management  and  assessment  of  the  Board’s  continuing  orientation,  education  and 
development activities, and all other matters  that may be properly  referred  to  it. The 
Governance Committee may also be responsible for the annual nomination of the Chair, 
Vice  Chair,  Secretary  (if  other  than  the  President),  Treasurer  (if  other  than  the


appointed annually, Chair of 
C
require  the  annual  appointment  of  a  Chair.  The  Governance  Committee  shall  be 
composed  f up to five governor  who shall be appointed by the Board,  in addition to 
the Chair of the Board and t e President who shall be ex officio members. The Chair of 
the Governance Committee shall be an external governor and a majority of members of 
the Governance Committee shall be external governors. 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 19  
 
16.2   


 
17.  EX


Each Governance Committee member shall be appointed for a two year term subject to 
an annual review, removal and renewal by the Board. 


ECUTIVE COMMITTEE   


The Executive Committee, heretofore established by resolution of the Board  is hereby 
confirmed  and  continued  to  assist  the  governors  in  carrying  on  the  affairs  of  the 
Corporation  in connection with all matters  that may be properly  referred  to  it by  the 
Board. The Committee shall consist of the Chair, the Vice Chair, the Chair of the Audit 
Committee, the Chair of the Governance Committee, and the Past Chair, or in the event 
that there  is no past Chair, this position shall remain vacant.    In the event of any such 
offices  other  than  the  Past  Chair  being  vacant,  one  other  external  governor will  be 
appointed by  the Board  to  fill such vacancy.  In addition


 
17.1 


,  the President shall be an ex‐
officio  member  of  the  Executive  Committee  by  virtue  of  office.  The  Executive 


  it  is not possible to achieve the 
requisite quorum of Governors.  


8.  MEMBERS  


Committee is empowered to act on behalf of the Board during the summer as well as on 
other occasions when a quick decision  is required and


 
1  


18.1 


 
19. 


 
The members of the Corporation shall consist of such persons as are from time to time 
appointed  governors  of  the  Corporation  in  accordance with  the  provisions  of  these 
Bylaws.   The  interest of  a member  is not  transferable  and  lapses  and  ceases  to exist 
when he or she ceases to be a member of the Board of the Corporation by his or her 
resignation,  expiration  of  his  or  her  term  of  office  as  a  governor  or  otherwise  in 
accordance with these Bylaws or as provided by any applicable statute or law. 


MEETINGS OF MEMBERS 


nual and Other General Meetings.   
 
19.1 An
 


19.1.1 The annual or any other general meeting of  the members  shall be held at  the 
office  of  the  Corporation  or  elsewhere  in  Ontario  as  the  Board  may 


determine and on such day as the said governors shall appoint. 


a general 
meeting of the members of the Corporation. 


 
19.2 Notice of Meetings 
 


19.2.1 Notice of  the  time  and place of every  annual or  general meeting of members 
shall be made by sending notice of the time and place of any such meeting which 


head 


 
19.1.2 The  annual  meeting  shall  be  the  meeting  at  which  the  audited  financial 


statements  are  received,  in  addition  to  any  other  business  that  may  be 
transacted.  The members may consider and transact any business either special 
or  general without  any  notice  thereof  at  any meeting  of  the members.    The 
Board or the Chair or Vice Chair shall have power to call at any time 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 20  
 


or  telephoned not  less  than  ten  (10) days prior  to  the  time 
fixed for the holding of any such meeting.  Provided always that any meeting of 


 purpose at any date and time and any place within 
Ontario without notice  if all the members are present  in person at the meeting 


 
9.3 Adjournments. Any meeting of the members of the Corporation may be adjourned to 


 time to time and such business may be transacted at such adjourned 
meeting  as  might  have  been  transacted  at  the  original  meeting  from  which  such 


 
19.4 


 
19.5 Voting


19.5.2 All votes at any meeting of members shall be taken by ballot, if so demanded by 


ll  be  conclusive  evidence  of  the  fact  without  proof  of  the  number  or 
proportion of votes recorded in favour of or against the motion. 


s shall choose one of their members to be Chair of 
the meeting. 


19.7 Polls. If at any meeting a poll is demanded on the election of a Chair of the meeting or 


shall be delivered 


members may be held for any


or if all the absent members waive notice thereof or otherwise signify in writing 
their consent to such meeting being held in their absence.  Such waiver of notice 
or consent may be given either before or after the meeting. 
 


19.2.2 No error or omission  in giving notice of any annual or general meeting or any 
adjourned  meeting,  whether  annual  or  general,  of  the  members  of  the 
Corporation  shall  invalidate  such meeting or make void any proceedings  taken 
thereat and any members may at any time waive notice of any such meeting and 
may ratify, approve and confirm any or all proceedings taken or had thereat. 


1
any time and from


adjournment  took  place.    Such  adjournment may  be made  notwithstanding  that  no 
quorum is present.  In the event of adjournment a notice of the re‐scheduled meeting is 
required. 


Quorum. Ten (10) governors shall form a quorum for the transaction of business at any 
meeting of  the members. No business  shall be  transacted  at  any meeting unless  the 
requisite quorum shall be present. 


 
 


19.5.1 Except for votes to amend or adopt bylaws, questions arising at any meeting of 
members shall be decided by a majority vote.  Votes to amend or adopt bylaws 
shall require a two‐thirds majority.  In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair 
of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote. 
 


any members present, but if no demand be made the vote shall be taken in the 
usual way by assent or dissent.  Unless there is a demand for a recorded vote a 
declaration by  the Chair of  the meeting  that  a  resolution has been  carried or 
carried  unanimously  or  by  a  particular  majority  or  lost  or  not  carried  by  a 
particular majority and an entry to that effect in the minutes of the Corporation 
sha


 
19.6 Chair. In the absence of the Chair and the Vice Chair of the Board, the external members 


present at any meeting of member


 







Bylaw No. 1  Page 21  
 


on the  uestion of adjournment  it shall be taken  forthwith without adjournment.    If a 


   


q
poll  is demanded on any other question  it shall be taken  in such manner and either at 
once or  later at the meeting or after adjournment as the Chair of the meeting directs.  
The result of a poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll 
was demanded.  A demand for a poll may be withdrawn. 


20.  FINANCIAL YEAR  
 
Unless  otherwise  ordered  by  the  Board,  the  fiscal  year  of  the  Corporation  shall 
terminate on the 31st day of March in each year. 


 this 12th day of June, 2012. 
 
Enacted
 
 
                 
Chair    Secretary 







 
 
Appendix A to Bylaw #1 


 


GOVERNOR’S CODE OF ETHICS 
 


BACKGROUND 
 
Since  public  trust  and  confidence  are  vested  in  the  Board  of  Governors,  the  Board  and 
individual  Governors  have  a  commitment  to  discharge  their  responsibilities  and  duties  in  a 
manner  that  inspires  respect and adheres  to  the highest standards of conduct.   This Code of 
Ethics outlines the specific conduct required of Governors.    It  is closely  linked with sections 7 
and  8  of  Algonquin  College  Bylaw  #1  and Minister’s  Binding  Policy  Directive  on  Conflict  of 
Interest  issued April 1, 2003 under the provisions of the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and 
Technology Act as amended from time to time. 
 
CODE OF ETHICS 
 
1.   Governors will consistently comply with the fiduciary duty of a college Governor to act 


honestly, in good faith, and in the best interest of the college. 
 
2.  As representatives of the citizens of Ontario, Governors must avoid conflict of  interest 


with  respect  to  their  fiduciary  responsibility.    Specific provisions  regarding  conflict of 
interest  are  outlined  in  College  Bylaw  #1  section  7  and  the Minister’s  Binding  Policy 
Directive on Conflict of Interest issued under the Act. 


 
3.  Governors will  respect  the  confidentiality  appropriate  to  issues of  a  sensitive nature, 


and  all  information  in‐camera must  be  kept  confidential.    Subsequent  discussions  of 
confidential  issues may  only  involve  those  participants  who  attended  or  who  were 
eligible to attend the original confidential discussions. 


 
Issues  determined  to  be  confidential will  remain  confidential  until  they  are  released 
publicly through appropriate means. 


 
4.  Governors will promote Board policies and  support Board decisions.   Once a decision 


has  been made,  the  Board will  speak with  one  voice with  respect  to  that  decision.  
Governors will only speak on behalf of the Board when requested to act on behalf of the 
Chair. 


 
5.  Governors will respect each other and the democratic process. 
 
6.  Governors  are  volunteers  and  are  expected  to  attend  all  regularly  scheduled  Board 


meetings  and  planning  workshops.    Notification  for  unavoidable  absence  should  be 
provided to the Chair via the Board Secretary before the meeting. 


 







 
 


The Chair is responsible for addressing attendance problems.  Unacceptable attendance 
could  result  in  the  Chair  requesting  the  Governor’s  resignation.    The  following 
attendance patterns are unacceptable and constitute a breach of the Governor’s Code 
of Conduct: 


 
    ‐  missing  a  total  50%  of  regular  Board meetings  in  a  year  or  4  successive 


meetings of the Board without leave of the Board;  
 
  ‐  frequent  late  arrivals  at  Board  meetings  or  early  departures,  unless  the 


reason for the late arrival is deemed justifiable. 
 
  Note:  Under  extenuating  circumstances,  Board  members  may  submit  a  written 


request  for  a  leave of  absence which will be  considered by  the Board  in  the 
closed portion of the Board meeting. 


 
7.  Governors will  not  attempt  to  exercise  individual  authority within  the  College.    Any 


interactions with the President or staff must occur in accordance with Board policy and 
the  Role  of  the Governor.   Governors who  are  approached  about  operational  issues 
should refer the person/issue to the President. 


 
8.  Governors  in  their  interactions with  the public, press or other groups must  recognize 


that an individual Governor cannot speak for or represent the Board on Board matters, 
College  business,  College  administration  or  College  governance  without  specific 
authority granted by  the Board and  that  they have no  legal or moral authority as an 
individual  outside  of  Board meetings  to  represent  the  Board  or  comment  on  Board 
matters,  College  business,  College  administration  or  College  governance  except  that 
authority as is specifically granted to the individual Governor by the Board. 


 
9.  Each  Governor  shall  annually  sign  the  Code  of  Ethical  Conduct  and  Governors’ 


Agreement (Attachment 1 hereto). 
 
10.  It  is  the  responsibility  of  the  Board  Chair  to  ensure  that  Governors  have  had  the 


opportunity to review the Code of Ethical Conduct before the first meeting of the Board 
in September and to secure their signatures on the Governors’ Agreement  included  in 
Attachment  1  hereto  at  that meeting,  or  before  the  next  scheduled meeting  of  the 
Board, at the latest. 


 
 







 
 
Attachment 1 to Bylaw #1 


 


Code of Ethical Conduct and Governors’ Agreement 
 
Algonquin  College  of  Applied  Arts  and  Technology  has  an  outstanding  reputation  in  the 
community  for  its  integrity,  loyalty,  dedication  and  commitment  as well  as  its  high  quality 
training  and  educational  programs.    In  support  of  this  positive  image,  it  is  expected  and 
required  that  the  Governors  conduct  themselves  in  a  professional,  respectful  and  collegial 
manner while carrying out their responsibilities as Board Members. 
 
As a Governor of Algonquin College, I hereby commit myself to the highest ethical conduct as 
an individual and a member of the Board and will strive at all times to: 
 


1. Comply with the Minister’s Binding Policy Directive on Conflict of Interest issued under 
the Act , the Governor’s Code of Conduct being Appendix A to Bylaw  #1 and this Code 
of Ethical Conduct. 


 
2. Work with fellow Governors and the College President in a co‐operative and respectful 


manner, remembering that  I am accountable  to  the community as a whole, and not 
any special interest group(s). 


  
3. Support my fellow Governors in fulfilling ethical, fiscal and professional obligations. 
 
4. Participate  actively  in  Board  and  committee meetings,  respecting  the  opinions  of 


others. 
 
5. Practice and uphold openness and transparency  in the conduct of Board business as 


demanded  by  the  legislation  and  regulations  governing  colleges  in  Ontario  while 
respecting confidentiality when required by law, regulation or policy. 


 
6. Honour and follow the rules of order and procedure adopted by the Board to facilitate 


meetings and decision‐making. 
 
7. Base  my  decisions  on  the  facts  of  each  situation,  vote  with  honest  conviction, 


unswayed by any special interests and honour and uphold all majority decisions taken 
by the Board. 


 
8. Ensure the College’s mission, values and strategic plan and objectives are achieved in a 


democratic  and  fiscally  responsible  manner  which  meets  the  needs  of  learners, 
enables  staff  to  carry out  their  responsibilities  competently and ethically and which 
enhance the College’s public image. 


 
9. Treat my fellow Governors, College staff, students and the general public in a fair and 


equitable manner, regardless of race, religion, gender, sexual orientation, disabilities, 
age or national origin. 


 







 
 


10. Accept  the  consequences  of  any  of my  actions  which  violate  this  Code  of  Ethical 
Conduct,  the  Governors’  Code  of  Conduct  or  the  MTCU  Minister’s  Binding  Policy 
Directives on Conflict of Interest and abide by the resulting decisions. 


 
11. Participate  fully  in  any  review  conducted  under  this  Code  of  Ethical  Conduct,  the 


Governors’  Code  of  Conduct  or  the MTCU Minister’s  Binding  Policy  Directives  on 
Conflict of Interest and any revisions decided upon. 


 
12. Generally  be  guided  by  high  ethical  standards  in  my  performance  of  Board 


responsibilities. 
 


 
I, <                                             > hereby acknowledge receipt of a copy of and agree to abide by 
this  Algonquin  College  Code  of  Ethical  Conduct,  the Governors’  Code  of  Conduct  and  the 
MTCU Minister’s Binding Policy Directives on Conflict of Interest at all times in exercising my 
responsibilities as a Governor. 
 
Signature of Governor:________________________  Date:_____________________ 
 
   
 
To ensure that Governors have been duly informed of their obligation and that they understand 
this obligation and the consequences associated with violating the Code of Ethical Conduct and 
supporting policies and guidelines, the following written sign off is required: 
 
This is to confirm that a copy of the Code of Ethical Conduct, Governors’ Code of Conduct and 
the MTCU Minister’s  Binding  Policy Directives  on  Conflict  of  Interest  have  been  provided, 
reviewed and explained to <                                                          > who has pledged to honour all 
obligations under it, and has provided his/her signature as confirmation of that pledge. 
 
Signature of Board Chair:________________________    
 
Date:____________________ 







 
 
 


  BYLAW #3 
 
THE
TEC
 
BE   ENACTED as a Bylaw of the Board of Governors of The Algonquin College of Applied Arts 
and chnology (the “College”) for the Election of College Constituent Groups to the Board of 
o


 
1.  POLI


 
  BOARD  OF  GOVERNORS  OF  THE  ALGONQUIN  COLLEGE  OF  APPLIED  ARTS  AND 
HNOLOGY 


IT
 Te
veG rnors as follows: 


 


CY 


rdance  with  the  Regulation  emanating  from  the  Ontario  Colleges  of 
 Arts and Technology Act, all members of the constituent groups of the 
  (Academic Staff Members, Administrative Staff Members, Students and 
t Staff Members) shall have an opportunity  for effective participation  in 
mination and election process for mem
oard”) of the College.   


 
1.1  In  acco


Applied
College
Suppor
the no bership on the Board of Governors 
(the “B


 
1.2  sup


consult
 
 
2.  DEFINITION


In  port  of  the  Regulation,  the  following  Bylaw  has  been  developed  after 
ation with representatives of the constituent groups. 


 
 


There are four constituent groups at the College: 
 


•  by the College as a 
teacher, counsellor or librarian;   


ort Staff or a Student;   


ortation, cafeteria or Early Learning Centre. 
 
 
3.  ELECTO


 Academic Staff Member   means a person who  is employed


• Administrative Staff Member means a person who  is employed by  the College 
and who is not an Academic Staff Member, a Supp


• Student means a person who is enrolled in a course or program of instruction at 
the College;  


• Support  Staff Member means  a  person who  is  employed  by  the  College  as  a 
member  of  the  office,  clerical,  technical,  health  care,  maintenance,  building 
service, shipping, transp


RAL COMMITTEE 
 


3.1  The Board has established an Electoral Committee to ensure the observance of 
this bylaw and the implementation of the Regulation. 


 







Bylaw # 3                                             Page 2                         
 


3.2  The the: 
• Students' Association 
• 
• 
• Administrative Staff Association. 


 
3.3    pr


groups
 


3.4  add
igna


 
3.5   Ele


 
3.6  The  El


constit deavour  to  ensure 
their participation in the electoral process. 


 
3.7  Should i


Commi
replace


 
 
4.  PROC


 Electoral Committee is composed of the presidents of 


Support Staff Local 
Academic Staff Local 


The esidents may  each  designate  a member  of  their  respective  constituent 
 to replace them on the Electoral Committee. 


In  ition,  the  Board  will  appoint  the  President  of  the  College  or  his/her 
des te as the Chair of the Electoral Committee. 


The ctoral Committee reports to the Chair of the Board. 


ectoral  Committee  recognizes  the  rights  of  part‐time members  of  the 
uent  groups  as defined  in  the Regulation  and will en


  a  conflict  of  nterest  arise  concerning  a  member  of  the  Electoral 
ttee,  the  affected  member  will  declare  such  conflict,  propose  a 
ment and withdraw from participation on the Electoral Committee. 


EDURE ‐ NOMINATION PROCESS 
 


4.1   Elect
cific


 
4.2   Information for each group will be available on the internet at 


The oral Committee will supervise a call  for nominations addressed to the 
spe  constituent group. 


www.algonquincollege.com/bog_elections and will provide details of the 
nomination/electoral process (including dates and deadlines).  Candidates will be 


d to the Board website at directe www.algonquincollege.com/board/manual 
they can access this Board By‐law #3 as well as other information 
ing to the Board.  


ectoral Committee will distribute an electronic call  for nominations.   The 
 also be addressed to the part‐ti


where 
pertain
 


4.3  The El
call will me members of the constituent groups. 


 
4.4  min


stit
 
4.5  Nominations  must  be  supported  by  at  least  ten  (10)  nominators  for  each 


in
 


4.6  The  no
ploy ch r e,  


No ees  and  nominators  for  a  governor  position  on  the  Board  from  a 
con uent group must be members of that constituent group.   


nom ee of the constituent groups. 


mination  paper  must  indicate  the  name,  signature  and  student  or 
em ee number of ea  nominato  as well as the name, signatur  student or



http://www.algonquincollege.com/bog_elections

http://www.algonquincollege.com/board/manual





Bylaw # 3                                                                   Page 3   
 


ploy
 


4.7  A mem
one no


 
4.8    no


st b
specifie ral Committee. 


 
4.9  le


d
 
4.10   The Ele s on myAlgonquin 


and the Learning Management System and an e‐mail will be sent out notifying 
the constituent group(s) of the candidates. 


 
 
5.  PROCEDURE ‐ CANVASSING PROCESS


em ee number and contact information for the nominee. 


ber of a constituent group may sign a nomination paper  for more  than 
minee of the constituent group. 


The mination  paper must  be  submitted  online  and  the  official  signed  copy 
mu e received by the Office of the Electoral Committee by the date and time 


d by the Electo


The E ctoral Committee will review all nomination papers for conformity to this 
proce ure. 


ctoral Committee will  then post  the  list of  candidate


 
 


5.1  Candid  
nomina


 
5.2 


posters
 
5.3   candi


il to
College
the  Ele
Should
opport
resultin
group.


 
5.4  The Bo


campa ipts must  be  provided  to  the  Board Office within  four weeks 
following the election. 


 
5.5  Compla


to the 
 
 


6.  PROC E ‐ 


ates  may  commence  their  campaign  the  day  after  the  close  of
tions and continue until the close of the election. 


Candidates may use the College General Interest bulletin boards to display their 
 in accordance with the posting rules of the College. 


All dates will be provided the opportunity to participate in one broadcast e‐
ma  be sent globally to their constituent group. The email will be sent by the 


 and the information for each candidate’s message must be submitted to 
ctoral  Office  by  the  deadline  specified  by  the  Electoral  Committee.  
 the candidate not submit his or her message by the date specified,  the 
unity  to  have  participated  in  the  broadcast message will  have  passed, 
g in the candidate’s message not being communicated to the constituent 
 


ard Office will reimburse each candidate up to $100 for the cost of their 
ign.    Rece


ints with regard to the conduct of nominees must be addressed in writing 
Electoral Committee. 


EDUR ELECTION PROCESS 


ctions will be supervised by the Electoral
 


6.1  The ele  Committee which will determine 
supplementary procedures that are not addressed in this bylaw. 







Bylaw # 3                                                                   Page 4   
 


 
6.2  The  El


ensure
 
6.3  All voting will be done electronically  in a secure manner.   The system will only 


w one
tac


be ava
 


6.4  Candidates will be informed of the results as soon as possible following the close 
the  k th  
cial


 
6.5  Subject Electoral Committee will post  the 


results  the  Learning Management System 
 day


 
6.6  Subject


Elector
representative on the Board the day following the election. 


 
6.7    el


auditor
 


7.  PROC


ectoral  Committee  will  work  with  Information  Technology  Services  to 
 that information is posted in a timely manner. 


allo  vote per person.  If voters do not have access to a computer, they may 
con t the office of the Electoral Committee who will arrange for a computer to 


ilable so they are able to vote. 


of  ection process.  Candidates are to  eep  e results confidential until the 
offi  results are released. 


  to Section 7 below,  the Chair of  the 
of  the election on myAlgonquin and 


el


the  following the election. 


  to Section 7 below, an e‐mail will go out on behalf of  the Chair of  the 
al  Committee  to  the  constituent  group(s)  informing  them  of  their  new 


The ectronic  voting  process  and  workflow  will  be  validated  by  the  College 
s to ensure the integrity and authenticity of the process. 


EDURE ‐ DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 


7.1  Any  individual who has a complaint relating to the application or breach of the 
ced


to the 
Chair o
electio


 
7.2  The  co t be  in writing and must  indicate  the details of  the alleged 


violation of procedure. 
 
7.3   Ch
 
7.4  The Electoral Committee will investigate the complaint and attempt to resolve it. 
 
7.5  ng 


r  the
o sh


investigate the complaint. 
 


7.6    th
proced


pro ures referred to  in this Bylaw #3 has the right to address such complaint 
Chair of the Electoral Committee.  This complaint must be received by the 
f  the Committee by no  later  than 12:00 p.m. on  the day  following  the 
n. 


mplaint mus


The air will forward the complaint to the Electoral Committee for review. 


Faili resolution by the Electoral Committee, the complaint may be referred by 
eithe   complainant  or  the  Electoral  Committee  to  the  Chair  of  the  Board  
wh all, within 5 days of such referral, appoint an  independent third party to 


The ird  party's  mandate  is  restricted  to  a  determination  as  to  whether 
ures of this bylaw have been correctly applied or adhered to and if not: 







Bylaw # 3                                                                   Page 5   
 


 
7.6.1  l


undertak
acts or o


 
7.6.2  If  the ele


group is  her 
the election must be repeated. An election will not be declared invalid by 


 
7.7  The  thi   ten  (10) 


working days of appointment and  shall complete  the dispute  resolution within 
wor


 
7.8  The  th


represe
requests by the third party for information relating to the complaint. 


 
7.9  The rep  College, the complainant, and 


the aff
 
 


8.  PROC


If  the e ection has not yet been completed,  that  remedial measures be 
en to remedy, so far as is reasonably possible, the impact of the 
missions upon which the complaint was based; and, 


ction has been completed, whether  the will of  the constituent 
nevertheless reflected in the election results and if not, whet


reason of an irregularity if it appears that the irregularity would not have 
materially affected the outcome of the election. 


rd  party will  commence  the  dispute  resolution  process within


20  king days of the third party’s appointment.  


ird  party  will  establish  appropriate  procedures  and  the  College  and 
ntatives  of  the  constituent  groups  will  comply  with  all  reasonable 


ort of the third party will be binding on the
ected constituent group. 


  
EDURE ‐  EQUALITY OF VOTES 


 
8.1  the  a


did
superv
shall be


 
9.  PROCEDURE ‐ 


In  event  that  the  election  shall  result  in    tie  vote  between  two or more 
can ates,  then  the  tie  shall be  resolved by  the drawing of  straws under  the 


ision of the Chair of the Electoral Committee.  The winner of such drawing 
 declared to have been elected. 


OTHER 
 


9.1   vacancy, the Electoral Committee will reconvene and 
supervise a nomination and election process for the constituent group affected 


the 
 
9.2  The  ter


electio e  remainder  of  the  term  of  the  governor  whose 
position became vacant. 


  
10.   CODE N


In the event of a mid‐term


by  vacancy. 


m  of  the member  elected  in  Section  9.1  commences  on  the  date  of 
n  and  shall  be  for  th


 OF CO DUCT 


hout  the election process, all c
 
10.1   Throug andidates are expected  to adhere  to  the 


College  administrative  policies  related  to  conduct  including  Policy  HR  18: 
 and SA 07:  Student Conduct.  Employee Code of Conduct


 
Comment [H1]: A 21 has been rescinded during 
review of administrative policies 







Bylaw # 3                                                                   Page 6   
 


 
Ena ted this 11 day of June, 2012.  
 
 
 
 
           


c


             
   
    Chair, Board of Governors      Secretary, Board of Governors 







 
 
 


BYLAW #4 
   
THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE ALGONQUINCOLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS AND 
TECHNOLOGY 
 
This bylaw is pursuant to the Minister of Training, Colleges and University (MTCU) Binding Policy 
Directive Governance and Accountability Framework made under the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts 
and Technologies Act, 2002 (OCAAT Act) regarding the establishment of an Advisory College Academic 
Council . 
 
BE IT ENACTED as a bylaw of THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED 
ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY as follows:  
 
 
1. ESTABLISHMENT of the ACADEMIC COLLEGE ADVISORY  COUNCIL 
 
In accordance with the Minister Binding Policy Directive, Algonquin College of Applied Arts and 
Technology shall establish an Advisory College Academic Council to be called the College Academic 
Council, hereinafter referred to as the "Academic Council". 
 
2. DEFINITIONS 


 
2.1 Academic  Administrator means  an  Administrative  Staff  who  is  a  Program  Chair, 


Course Chair, Academic Manager or Dean.   
 
2.2 Academic  Staff  means  a  person  who  is  employed  by  the  College  as  a  teacher, 


counsellor or librarian. 
 


2.3 Administrative Staff means a person who  is employed by the College  in a function 
other than as an academic or support staff. 


 
2.4 Support Staff means a person who  is employed by the College as a member of the 


office,  clerical,  technical,  health  services, maintenance,  building  service,  shipping 
transportation, cafeteria or nursery staff. 


 
2.5 Staff means Academic Staff, Administrative Staff and Support Staff, collectively. 
 
2.6 Student means a person who is enrolled in a program of instruction on a full‐time or 


part‐time basis. 
 
3. PURPOSE  


 







Bylaw No. 4    Page 2  


The purpose of  the Academic Council  is  to establish a  forum  for Students and Staff of  the College  to 
provide advice to the President on matters of  importance to Students and Staff. The Academic Council 
acts in an advisory capacity to the President.   
 
4. MANDATE 
 
4.1  The Academic Council  shall  review, monitor and make  recommendations  to  the President on 
such issues as: 


a. pedagogy; 
b. course and program evaluation; 
c. teaching methodology and standards; 
d. evaluation and promotion policies; 
e. standards of student conduct and discipline; 
f. admission policies and practices; 
g. student awards and scholarships; 
h. academic equivalencies. 


 
4.2 Consistent with the consultative function of the Academic Council, its members shall endeavour 


to consult and report to their relevant constituency groups.     
 
5. MEMBERS   
 
5.1 The Academic Council shall consist of voting members from the following constituency groups: 
 


Academic Staff  ‐  
one  Academic  Staff  representative  from  each  of  the  schools,institutes,or  centres  and  one 
representative each from the librarians and counsellors. 
 
Support Staff ‐ 1 representative 


 
Students ‐ 3 representatives  


 
Academic Administrators ‐ 3 representatives 
 
Chair/Past Chair‐ 2 representatives 
 
The Academic Council shall also have the following non‐voting members: 
 
Ex‐officio Non‐Voting Members  


• Vice President, Academic 
• Vice President, Student  Services 
• Registrar 


 
5.2.  The Chair of Academic Council shall be elected by the members of the Academic   Council from 


among themselves at  its first meeting of the academic year, for a term of one year, renewable 
once.  A vacancy in one of the constituency groups created with the appointment of the Chair of 
Academic  Council will be filled as stated in article 6.6 below. 
 


 







Bylaw No. 4    Page 3  


5.3 The  Academic  Council  may  appoint  non‐voting  members  to  serve  as  resource  persons,  as 
required. 


 
5.4 The Academic Council may appoint task forces as deemed necessary. 


 
5.5 Academic Staff Election 
 
5.5.1   The Faculty Union  shall be  responsible  for  the establishment of electoral procedures and  the 


supervision of the election of the academic staff to sit on the Academic Council.   
   
 
5.6  Support Staff Election 
 
5.6.1  The  Support  Staff  Union  shall  elect  one  support  staff member  to  serve  on  the    Academic  


Council. 
 
5.7  Student Appointment  
 
5.7.1  The Board of Directors of the Students' Association shall name three students to serve on the 


Academic Council.     
 
5.8  Academic Administrators Selection 
 
5.8.1  The Deans Academic Council shall request nominations from the academic administrators to sit 


on  the  Academic    Council  and  select  from  the  nominations  received  two  academic 
administrators from different Schools to serve on the Academic  Council.  


 
 
6. TERMS OF OFFICE 
 
6.1  The  terms of office of Academic Council members  shall commence September 1 of each year 


and continue for two years. 
 
6.2  No member representing a constituency group shall serve more than four consecutive years but 


on the expiration of two years after having served on the Academic  Council, a person shall again 
be eligible for election. 


 
6.3  A member of the Academic Council may resign at any time by submitting a written resignation 


to the Chair of the Academic Council. 
 


6.4       Where an Academic Council member is absent from two consecutive meetings without regrets to 
the Chair of the Academic Council or the Secretary, or three consecutive meetings with regrets, 
that position shall be declared vacant. 


        
6.5      If  an  Academic  Council  member  changes  status  and  can  no  longer  represent  the  group  or 


constituency, the position shall be declared vacant. 
 


 







Bylaw No. 4    Page 4  


 


6.6 Vacancies, however caused, shall be filled in the following manner: 
 


6.6.1  After March 31, at the time of the next election. 
 
6.6.2  Before March 31, by appointment by the Students' Association, Support Staff Union, 


Faculty  Union,  the Management  Committee  of  the  Vice  President,  Academic,  as 
appropriate for the vacancy from their respective constituency group. 


 
7.  MEETINGS 
 
7.1  The Academic Council shall meet at least twice each fall and winter term.. 
 
7.2  All meetings shall be open to College staff and students. . 
 
7.3  Fifty percent (50%) of the members plus one excluding vacancies shall constitute a quorum. 
 
 
8.  EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE ACADEMIC COUNCIL 
 
8.1  The Executive Committee of the Academic Council is composed of six members:  the Chair, the 


past  Chair  and  one Academic  Council member  representing  the Academic  Staff,  the  Support 
Staff, the Administrative Staff and Student constituency groups respectively.    


 
8.2 The role of the Executive Committee is to: 


• report to the President annually or sooner if needed; 
• follow‐up on Academic Council recommendations; 
• prepare an annual report for submission to the President and the Board of Governors.  


The Academic Council annual report shall form part of the College annual report. 
 
   
Enacted this 11th day of June, 2012 
 
 
  ___________________________  ___________________________ 
  Chair  Secretary 







 


BYLAW #5 


THE  BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF  THE  ALGONQUIN  COLLEGE OF  APPLIED  ARTS  AND
TECHNOLOGY 


This bylaw is pursuant to Ministry of Training, Colleges and University (MTCU) Binding Policy 
Directive Framework for Programs of Instruction (the “MTCU Programs Framework Directive”) 
made under the Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technologies Act, 2002 (OCAAT Act) 
regarding the establishment of Advisory Committees for Programs of Instruction. 


BE  IT  ENACTED  as  a bylaw of THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF  THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF
APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY  as follows: 


1. DEFINITIONS 


1.1 Program  of  Instruction:  A  group  of  related  courses  leading  to  an  bachelor’s  degree, 
diploma, certificate or other document awarded by the Board of Governors (the Board). 


2. TERMS OF REFERENCE 


2.1      In  accordance with MTCU  Programs  Framework,  the  Board  of  Algonquin  College  (the 
College) has, through the President, directed that there shall be an Advisory Committee
for each program, or cluster of programs, and that the Advisory Committees shall report
annually to the Board through the Vice President, Academic. 


2.2      Advisory  Committees  are  to  provide  advice  and  assistance  on  Programs  of  Instruction
relevant to the needs of the  labour market and the community. The role of the Advisory 
Committees  include  a  number  of  responsibilities  on  specific  Programs  of  Instruction
related areas, including: 


2.2.1.          Assist  in  defining  and/or  revising  the  learning  outcomes  of  a  Program  of 
Instruction,  including  the  specific  skills  needed  by  graduates  for  future
employment; 


2.2.2.           Assist  in  the development of  a Program of  Instruction  to meet  the program 
learning outcomes; 


2.2.3.         Participate in the formal quality assurance processes of Programs of Instruction
to ensure on‐going relevance of curriculum and course materials; 


2.2.4.         Assist in identifying student field placements, co‐op opportunities, and student 
international experiences where applicable; 


2.2.5.           Assist  in  identifying employment opportunities  for  graduates of Programs of 
Instruction; 


           2.2.6.         Advise the College on the equipment required in labs, shops and other facilities;


            2.2.7.       Provide information on current industry trends, technological changes and skills







in the labour market which could affect the employment of graduates; 


         2.2.8.         Advise on opportunities to introduce new Programs of Instruction; 


         2.2.9.        Assist in establishing scholarships and bursaries for students; 


         2.2.10.      Assist the College to develop partnerships and training opportunities. 


2.3      New  program  proposals  sent  to  the  Board  for  approval  must  demonstrate  Advisory
Committee support.  Where appropriate, an existing Advisory Committee may be used to 
advise regarding the development of a new Program of Instruction. 


 


3. STRUCTURE AND MEMBERSHIP 


3.1 Each Advisory Committee  shall have between eight and  fifteen members, external  to 
the  College. More members may  be  added  if  required,  but  an  Advisory  Committee 
should not have fewer than eight members. 


3.2 To be eligible  for appointment as an Advisory Committee member, a  candidate must
have  knowledge,  skills  and  experience  related  to  the  profession,  industry,  business, 
sector or  service  relevant  to  the Program(s) of  Instruction.  In addition,  the  candidate 
must meet one of the following: 


3.2.1 the  candidate’s  business  or  employer  is  within  the  region  within  which
graduates will pursue employment; 


3.2.2 the candidate, or the business he/she represents, has a positive and  influential
standing within the broader industry, business, sector or service; 


3.2.3 represents the diversity of employers within the profession,  industry, business,
sector or service; 


3.2.4 represents a school board or other post‐secondary institution. 


3.3 Each Advisory Committee  shall have a Chair and Vice‐Chair  (the “Advisory Committee 
Chair”  and  “Advisory  Committee  Vice‐Chair”,  respectively)who  shall  be  elected  from 
members of the Advisory Committees for a two year term, renewable at the discretion 
of  the Chair of  the  respective Program of  Instruction  (the  “Program Chair”). The past 
Chair  of  the  Advisory  Committee  would  support  the  new  Chair  of  the  Advisory 
Committee, where possible. 


3.4 The term of office of an Advisory Committee member is for two years, and is renewable.


3.5 Membership  on  Advisory  Committees  should  strive  for  gender  and  equity  group
representation. 


3.6 Following consultation with the Advisory Committee Chair, the Program Chair will 
recommend to the Dean of the School the appointment of new members or the 
reappointment of existing members whose term is about to expire. 


4. ADVISORY COMMITTEE OPERATING GUIDELINES AND PROCEDURES 


4.1 Advisory Committees are to meet at least once per term, with the option of meeting 
more frequently at the request of the Advisory Committee Chair, the Program Chair or







the majority of Advisory Committee members. Meetings should be held  in a  location
and at a time agreeable to Committee members. 


4.2  Quorum  shall  consist  of  the  majority  of  the  voting  members  of  the  Advisory 
Committee.   Quorum  is  required  for matters  that  require a motion or vote, such as
changes to programs of instruction or the creation for new programs.  


4.3 Advisory Committee meetings may be held by means of telephone, electronic or other 
communication  facilities  as  permit  all  persons  participating  in  the  meeting  to
communicate  with  each  other  either  simultaneously  or  asynchronously,  and  a
member  the Advisory Committee participating  in  such  a meeting by  such means  is 
deemed for the purposes of this bylaw to be present at that meeting. 


4.4 The President, through the Vice President Academic, will be responsible to ensure that 
the practices of the Advisory Committees as stipulated by this bylaw and the College 
administrative policy AA 01 Advisory Committees meet the requirements of the MTCU 
Programs Framework Directive . 


4.5 The President shall present a summary of the Advisory Committee Annual Reports to 
the Board by the end of December of each year. 


 


ENACTED BY THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS of Algonquin College of Applied Arts and Technology 
and sealed with the corporate seal the 11th day of June,  2012 


 


               


Michael Dunlop                             Robert C. Gillett 
Chair                                                Secretary 


  


 


 





		Bylaw 1

		Bylaw 3

		Bylaw 4

		3. PURPOSE 

		4. MANDATE

		5.5.1  The Faculty Union shall be responsible for the establishment of electoral procedures and the supervision of the election of the academic staff to sit on the Academic Council.  

		5.6 Support Staff Election

		5.7 Student Appointment 

		5.8 Academic Administrators Selection

		8. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE ACADEMIC COUNCIL



		Bylaw 5






   


 
June 11, 2011  Page 1  Prepared by Administration 


 
Presentation to:  Board of Governors 


Subject:  2011/12 Draft Audited Financial Statements and 4th Quarter Financial 
Report 


Date:  June 11, 2012 


Presenter(s):   Duane McNair, Vice‐President, Administration 
Cathy Dempsey, Director, Finance and Administrative Services 


 
Purpose:     
 
To present the: 
 


1. The Draft 2011‐12 Audited Financial Statements to the Audit Committee.  The notes 
to  the  financial statements are an  integral part of  the  financial statements and are 
provided to explain the details of the financial statement schedules. 


2. The 2011/12 4th Quarter Financial Report. 
 
Background:  
 


1. 2011/12 Draft Audited Financial Statements: 
 
The  Draft  audited  financial  statements  are  prepared  in  a  format  required  by  the 
Ministry  that  complies  with  financial  reporting  standards  set  by  the  Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants. 
 
The College’s audit  firm, KPMG, has substantially completed the audit of Algonquin 
College’s  financial  statements  for  the  fiscal  year  ending  March  31,  2012.    The 
enrolment  audit  is  still  in process, however, KPMG has  indicated  that  they do not 
expect there to be any material revisions to the draft statements. 


 
2. 2011/12 4th Quarter Financial Report (Year‐ended March 31, 2012): 


 
In April 2011,  the Board approved  the College’s annual budget  for 2011/12 with a 
positive  net  contribution  before  Internally  Restricted  Fund  Expenditures  of  $10.9 
million.   
 
In June 2011, the Board approved the College’s 2010/11 audited financial statements 
and  the  College’s  planned  Expenditures  from  Internally  Restricted  Funds  of  $10.7 
million.  These expenditures are intended to fund: 
 


 projects budgeted and started, but not completed, in the previous fiscal year 


 initiatives to support the strategic plan and 2011/12 business plan 
 







   


 
June 11, 2011  Page 2  Prepared by Administration 


In  February  2012,  the  3rd Quarter  Financial  Report was  presented with  a  positive 
projected net  contribution before  Internally Restricted  Fund Expenditures of $14.0 
million.   


 
Discussion/Considerations:   
 


1. 2011/12 Audited Financial Statement highlights are presented below: 
 


Statement of Financial Position 
 


Total Assets are up from $338.2 million to $381.7 million, $43.5 million 
primarily due  to an  increase  in Capital Assets  related  to  the Pembroke 
and Student Commons capital projects. 
 
Current assets have decreased from $86.6 million at March 31, 2011 to 
$76.1 million at March 31, 2012 primarily due to a decrease in cash used 
to  pay  for  the  costs  associated  with  the  Pembroke  and  Student 
Commons that are currently under construction. 
 
Current liabilities have increased by $11.6 million, from $57.5 million to 
$69.1 million primarily due to the short term financing with the Ontario 
Financing Authority for the two capital projects described above.   
 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
 
The Statement of Changes in Net Assets provides a summary of activities 
processed  through  the  College’s  various  accounts.  Note  19  to  the 
Financial Statements provide a detailed  listing of  the Board’s  internally 
restricted net assets.  It is important to note that on March 12, 2012 the 
Board approved the use of up to $23.0 million of capital reserves for the 
Pembroke Campus project. 
 
At year end $149,722 was added to the Internally Restricted net assets. 
In order  to  allocate  these  funds  to  the projects  listed on Appendix A, 
staff will  require  a Board  approval, which has been  listed as  the  third 
recommendation in this report. 
 
Statement of Operations 
 
The College has  realized a positive net contribution of $11.7 million  for  the 
year ending March 31, 2012 which is higher than previously forecasted.  Page 
3 of the Statement of Operations provides further details. 
 
 


 







   


 
June 11, 2011  Page 3  Prepared by Administration 


2. 2011/12 4th Quarter Financial Report – (Year‐ended March 31, 2012) 
 
The 2011/12 Q4 Year‐End Actuals have several variances from the Approved Budget, 
among  several areas of  the College.   Please  refer  to  the  report  for explanations of 
variances.   
 


A presentation will be provided at the Board of Governors meeting explaining variances from 
the 2011/12 Approved Budget. 
 
A summary of Appropriations and Specific Reserves within the internally restricted net assets 
can be found in Appendix A of this report. 
 
Note: While  both  the  audited  financial  statements  and  the  4th  Quarter  Financial  Report 
disclose  a  $11.7  million  net  contribution,  there  are  differences  in  the  revenue  and 
expenditure  line  items between  these  two  reports  that will be explained  at  the Board of 
Governors meeting.  The audited financial statements are prepared in a format required by 
the Ministry that complies with financial reporting standards set by the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants, whereas,  the 4th Quarter Financial Report  is prepared  in a  format 
that reflects the College’s approach to budget management. 
 
Recommendation:    
 


1. That the Board of Governors approve the 2011/12 Audited Financial Statements. 
 


2. That the Board of Governors receive the 2011/12 4th Quarter Financial Report. 
 


3. That  the  Board  of  Governors  approve  of  the  transfer  of  operational  funds  to 
internally restricted funds in the amount of $149,722. 


 
 







 


 Approved Budget 


2012/13 * 


 Appropriations & 


Specific Reserves 


 Total 


Expenditures 


Strategic Plan Projects:    


Applied Education and Training 2,409,000$               1,344,193$               3,753,193$           


Students and Client Success 5,123,700 2,083,318 7,207,018


Empowered People 1,301,329 938,627 2,239,956


Financial Sustainability 3,726,971 2,692,002 6,418,973


 12,561,000               7,058,140                 19,619,140           


Other:


Digital College 3,200,000                 -                                3,200,000             


Pembroke Campus 19,224,000               19,224,000           


Student Commons 25,786,000               25,786,000           


Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence - Capital 


Campaign - Pledges to be converted to Cash -                                337,000                    337,000                


Pembroke - Capital Campaign - Pledges to be converted 


to Cash -                                1,038,885                 1,038,885             


48,210,000               1,375,884                 49,585,884           


ANCILLARY RESERVES -                                705,000                    705,000                


GRAND TOTAL 60,771,000$             9,139,024$               69,910,024$         


* Includes Expenditures for Strategic Investment Priorities reported in Annual Budget 2012/13 approved by Board of Governors 


on April 9, 2012


STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS SUMMARY 2012-13


Appendix A
Planned Expenditures 2012/13







   


5/30/2012 5:15 PM 
 


Financial Statements of 


 


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF 
APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY 
 


Year ended March 31, 2012 







   


5/30/2012 5:15 PM 
 


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Financial Statements and Supplementary Schedules 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 
 
 


Independent Auditors’ Report ....................................................................................................... 1 


Statement of Financial Position .................................................................................................... 3 


Statement of Operations ............................................................................................................... 4 


Statement of Changes in Net Assets ............................................................................................ 5 


Statement of Cash Flows .............................................................................................................. 6 


Notes to Financial Statements ...................................................................................................... 7 


Supplementary Schedules 


Schedule A - Revenue .......................................................................................................... 29 


Schedule B – Ancillary Operations ....................................................................................... 30







 


1


INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 


To the Board of Governors of the Algonquin College of Applied Arts and Technology 


We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Algonquin College of Applied Arts and 


Technology, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2012, the statements 


of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a 


summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 


Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 


accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as 


management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 


from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 


Auditors’ Responsibility 


Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 


conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 


standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 


reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 


in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the 


assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 


error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 


preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 


are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 


effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 


accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 


well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 


for our audit opinion. 







 


2


Opinion 


In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 


Algonquin College of Applied Arts and Technology as at March 31, 2012, and its results of operations 


and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 


accounting principles. 


 


 


 


Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 


(Date) 


Ottawa, Canada 


 







3 
 


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS AND 
TECHNOLOGY 


Statement of Financial Position 
 
March 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011  
 
   2012 2011 
  


Assets 
 


Current assets: 
Cash $ 11,325,802 $ 25,530,161 
Short-term investments (note 4) 32,693,822 36,619,278 
Accounts receivable 28,060,415 21,442,403 
Inventory (note 3) 1,610,211 2,094,369 
Prepaid expenses 2,392,522 872,192 
  76,082,772 86,558,403 


 


Investments (note 4) 35,732,362 36,606,082 
 


Endowment assets (note 5) 16,455,965 15,004,261 
 


Capital assets (note 6) 253,468,445 200,033,002 
 


  $ 381,739,544 $ 338,201,748 
  


Liabilities and Net Assets 
 


Current liabilities: 
Bank indebtedness (note 8) $ 15,131,580 $ –   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  28,916,658  25,734,667  
Accrued salaries and employee deductions payable 5,205,502 9,791,279 
Deferred revenue (note 7) 17,988,093 20,268,829 
Current portion of long-term debt (note 8) 1,861,774 1,745,192 
  69,103,607 57,539,967 


 


Long-term debt (note 8) 43,563,318 45,425,093 
 


Vacation, sick leave and post-employment benefits (note 12(c)) 14,442,977 15,541,410 
 


Deferred capital contributions (note 9) 156,075,513 134,331,273 
 


Interest rate swaps (note 8(b)) 14,148,233 10,357,273 
 


Net assets (deficiency): 
Unrestricted 1,000,000 1,000,000 
Investment in capital assets (note 10(a)) 38,033,918 27,543,653 
Vacation, sick leave and post-employment benefits (note 12(c)) (14,442,977) (15,541,410) 
Interest rate swaps (note 8(b)) (14,148,233) (10,357,273) 
Internally restricted (note 19(b)) 57,507,223 57,357,501 
Endowment fund (note 11)  16,455,965    15,004,261  
  84,405,896 75,006,732 


Commitments and guarantee (note 15) 
Contingencies (note 16) 
 


  $ 381,739,544 $ 338,201,748 


  







4 
 


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Statement of Operations 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011  
 


   2012 2011 
   
Revenue (schedule A): 


Grants and reimbursements   $ 101,838,843 $ 99,991,201 
Student tuition fees  78,009,874 71,179,436 
Contract educational services  25,445,838 24,475,789 
Ancillary services (schedule B)  39,565,313 38,867,968 
Other  15,942,708 11,685,524 
Amortization and write-off of deferred capital  


contributions (note 9)  6,306,002 4,900,219 
   267,108,578 251,100,137 


  
Expenditures: 


Salaries and benefits  143,616,983 138,682,349 
Building maintenance and utilities  10,756,444 9,281,739 
Instructional supplies and equipment  5,865,728 3,751,853 
Bursaries and other student aid  7,111,578 7,316,672 
Interest  656,242 557,394 
Amortization and write-off of capital 


assets (note 10)  12,719,526 11,182,215 
Ancillary services (schedule B)  33,941,074 32,107,904 
Other  41,801,016 40,790,343 
   256,468,591 243,670,469 
Change in vacation, sick leave and post 


employment benefits liabilities (note 12(c))  (1,098,433) 123,772 
   255,370,158 243,794,241 


 
Excess of revenue over expenditures   $ 11,738,420 $ 7,305,896 


  
See accompanying notes to financial statements 







5 
 


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011  
 


   Vacation, sick 
  Investment leave and post Interest 


  in capital employment rate Internally Endowment 2012 2011 
 Unrestricted assets benefits swaps restricted fund Total Total 


   (note 10(a)) (note 12(c)) (note 8(b)) (note 19(b)) (note 11) 
 
Net assets (deficiency), beginning 


of year $ 1,000,000 $ 27,543,653 $ (15,541,410) $ (10,357,273) $ 57,357,501 $ 15,004,261 $ 75,006,732 $ 65,019,556 
 
Excess of revenue 


over expenditures 11,738,420 –   –   –   –   –   11,738,420 7,305,896 
 
Change in vacation, sick leave 


and post-employment benefits 
liabilities (note 12(c)) (1,098,433) –   1,098,433 –   –   –   –   –   


 
Internally imposed restrictions (149,722) –   –   –   149,722 –   –   –   
 
Net change in investment in 


capital assets (note 10(b)) (10,490,265) 10,490,265 –   –   –   –   –   –   
 
Donation of land (note 13) –   –   –   –   –   –   –   280,000 
 
Endowment contributions and 


investment income (note 11) –   –   –   –   –   1,451,704 1,451,704 1,917,109 
 
Change in fair value of interest  


rate swaps (note 8(b)) –   –   –   (3,790,960)  –   –   (3,790,960) 484,171 
 


Net assets (deficiency), 
end of year $ 1,000,000 $ 38,033,918 $ (14,442,977) $ (14,148,233) $ 57,507,223 $ 16,455,965 $ 84,405,896 $ 75,006,732 


 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 







 6


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APLIED ARTS AND 
TECHNOLOGY 


Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011 
 
   2012 2011 
 
Cash provided by (used for): 
 


Operations: 
Excess of revenue over expenditures $ 11,738,420 $ 7,305,896  
Items, which do not involve cash: 


Amortization of capital assets  12,574,458 11,145,031 
Write-off of capital assets  145,068 37,184 
Amortization and write-off of deferred capital contributions   (6,306,002) (4,900,219) 
Change in vacation, sick leave and post-employment  


benefits liabilities (note 12(b))  (1,098,433) 123,772 
Change in non-cash working capital (note 17)  (11,338,706)   4,745,075  
   5,714,805  18,456,739 


Financing: 
Principal repayments of long-term debt  (1,745,193) (1,635,932) 
Net withdrawals from investments  4,799,176 –   
Increase in bank indebtedness  15,131,580 –   
Contributions to endowment fund (note 11)  1,451,704 1,917,109 
Donation of land (note 13)  –     280,000  
   19,637,267 561,177 


Investments: 
Additions to investments   –   (22,423,769) 
Capital asset additions (note 10(b))  (66,154,969) (63,790,841)
Capital contributions received (note 9)  28,050,242 60,941,247 
Additions to endowment assets  (1,451,704) (1,917,109) 
   (39,556,431) (27,190,472)


 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (14,204,359) (8,172,556) 
 


Cash, beginning of year   25,530,161 33,702,717  
 


Cash, end of year $ 11,325,802 $ 25,530,161


 
Interest paid in the year $ 2,992,543 $ 3,101,804


 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 







 7


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


1.  Description: 


The Algonquin College of Applied Arts and Technology was incorporated as a College in 1966 


under the laws of the Province of Ontario.  The College is dedicated to providing post-secondary 


education. 


The College is a registered charity and therefore is, under Section 149 of the Income Tax Act, 


exempt from payment of income tax. 


The financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, net assets, revenue, expenditures and other 


transactions of all of the operations and organizations controlled by the College.  Accordingly, 


these financial statements include the academic, administrative and other operating expenditures 


funded by fees, grants and other general revenue; restricted purpose endowment funds, and the 


ancillary operations of the College. 


 


2. Significant accounting policies: 


These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 


accounting principles, and include the following significant accounting policies: 


(a) Basis of presentation: 


The College uses the deferral method of accounting for contributions for not-for-profit 


organizations. 


These financial statements do not reflect the assets, liabilities and results of operations of the 


various student organizations at the College. 


(b) Revenue: 


(i)  Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or receivable.  


Contributions externally restricted for purposes other than endowment are deferred and 


recognized as revenue in the period in which the related expenditures are recognized.  


Contributions to endowment funds are recognized as direct increases in net assets in the 


period received. 


Operating grants are recorded as revenue in the period to which they relate.  Grant 


amounts relating to future periods are deferred and recognized in the subsequent period 


when the related activity occurs.  Grants approved but not received are accrued. 


(ii)  Contributions received for capital assets are deferred and amortized into revenue over 


the same term and on the same basis as the related capital asset.  Contributions of land 


are recognized as direct increases in investment in capital assets in the period received.   







 8


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 


(b) Revenue (continued): 


(iii)  Student tuition fees are recorded in the accounts based on the academic period of the 


specific courses.  Tuition fees are deferred to the extent that the courses extend beyond 


the fiscal year of the College.  


(iv)  Contract educational services are recorded in the accounts based on the services 


provided in the College’s fiscal year on a percentage of completion basis. 


(v)  Restricted investment income is recognized as revenue in the year that the related 


expenditures are incurred.  Unrestricted investment income is recognized as revenue 


when earned. 


(c) Employee benefit plans: 


The College accrues its obligations for employee benefit plans.  The cost of non-pension 


post-retirement and post-employment benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined 


using the projected benefit method pro-rated on service and management’s best estimate of 


retirement ages of employees and expected health care costs. 


The College is an employer member of the Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Pension 


Plan, which is a multi-employer, defined benefit pension plan.  The College has adopted 


defined contribution plan accounting principles for this Plan because insufficient information is 


available to apply defined benefit plan accounting principles. 


(d) Financial instruments: 


(i) Investments: 


Investments are designated as held to maturity and are measured at amortized cost 


using the effective interest method.  Purchases of investments are recorded on the 


settlement date. Transaction costs related to the acquisition of investments are 


expensed.  Short-term investments are fixed-term investments maturing in the next fiscal 


year. 


(ii) Endowed investments: 


Endowed investments are designated as available for sale and are recorded at fair value.  


Realized investment income and unrealized gains or losses from the change in fair value 


are recorded in the statement of changes in net assets.  Fair value is determined at 


quoted market prices.  Sales and purchases of endowed investments are recorded on the 


settlement date.  Transaction costs related to the acquisition of endowed investments are 


recorded against the realized investment income of the endowment fund.  







 9


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 


(d) Financial instruments (continued): 


(iii) Interest rate swaps: 


The College is party to interest rate swap agreements used to manage the exposure to 


market risks from changing interest rates.  The College’s policy is not to utilize derivative 


financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.   


The College formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and 


hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking 


various hedge transactions.  This process includes linking the interest rate swaps to 


specific long-term debt on the statement of financial position.  The College also formally 


assesses, both at the hedge’s inception and on an on-going basis, whether the interest 


rate swaps that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes 


in cash flows of the hedged items.  


For the interest rate swap agreements, the difference between the swap interest rate and 


the actual interest rate on the long-term debt is recognized as an adjustment to interest 


expense on long-term debt. 


(iv) Other financial instruments: 


The College has classified accounts receivable as loans and receivables and accounts 


payable and accrued liabilities, accrued salaries and employee deductions payable, long-


term debt and bank indebtedness as other liabilities. 


Upon initial recognition, these financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value.  


Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial assets and liabilities are measured at 


amortized cost using the effective interest method of amortization.   


(v) Disclosure: 


The College continues to disclose financial instruments under CICA Handbook Section 


3861. 


 


(e) Inventory: 


Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Cost is determined on a 


first-in, first-out basis. 







 10


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 


(f) Capital assets: 


Capital assets in excess of $1,000 are recorded at cost with the following exceptions: 


(i) Furniture and library holdings are charged to expenditures in the year of acquisition. 


(ii) Computer software is charged to expenditures in the year of acquisition. 


(iii) Land originally acquired at the Woodroffe campus is recorded at a nominal value of $1 


with subsequent additions recorded at cost. 


Donated capital assets are recorded at the value of the receipt issued to the donor, which 


reflects estimated fair value of the capital asset at the time of the donation. 


Construction in progress is not amortized until the project is complete and the facilities are 


available for use. 


Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as follows: 
 


Asset  Useful life 
 


Buildings  40 years 
Site improvements  10 years 
Parking lots  10 years 
Equipment  5 years 
Computers  48 months 
Automotive equipment  5 years 


 


Capital assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 


indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of 


assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset 


to estimate undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.  If the carrying 


amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is 


recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of 


the asset. 







 11


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 


(g) Expenditures: 


In the statement of operations, the College presents its expenditures by object, except for 


Ancillary services which are presented by function. 


Expenditures are recognized in the year incurred and are recorded in the applicable function 


to which they are directly related.  The College does not allocate expenditures among 


functions after initial recognition. 


(h) Contributed services: 


Volunteers contribute an indeterminable number of hours per year to assist the College in 


carrying out its service delivery activities.  Because of the difficulty of determining their fair 


value, contributed services are not recognized in these financial statements. 


(i) Use of estimates: 


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted 


accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 


the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 


liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and 


expenditures during the period.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.  These 


estimates are reviewed annually and as adjustments become necessary, they are recorded in 


the financial statements in the period in which they become known. 


Significant management estimates include assumptions used in determining the fair value of 


endowment assets and interest rate swaps. 


 


3. Inventory: 
 
    2012 2011 


 
Bookstore $ 1,342,318 $ 1,849,107 
Food services 241,172 220,436 
Publishing centre 15,187 16,984 
Stationery and supplies 11,534 7,842 
 
  $ 1,610,211 $ 2,094,369 


 







 12


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


4. Investments: 


Investments consist of the following: 
 
    2012 2011 
 


Fixed income securities $ 66,789,167 $ 71,605,009   
Bond funds 1,162,282 1,150,449 
Equity 474,735 469,902 


 


  $ 68,426,184 $ 73,225,360 


 


The College’s fixed income notes have effective interest rates ranging from 3.10% to 5.45% and 


maturity dates ranging from April 2012 to November 2018. 


 


5. Endowment assets: 


Endowment assets represent funds held or receivable by the College which have been 


permanently endowed.  The carrying value of endowed investments is recorded at fair value. 


The endowment assets consist of the following: 
 


Fair value 2012 2011 
 


Receivable from Government of Ontario for Ontario Trust 
for Student Support matching funds (note 21(c)) $ 684,167 $ 383,012 


Endowed investments: 
Cash equivalents 1,626,721 1,232,541 
Bonds 4,509,659 4,169,647 
Equities 9,635,418 9,219,061 


 


  $ 16,455,965 $ 15,004,261 


 
 


Cost 2012 2011 
 


Receivable from Government of Ontario for  
Ontario Trust for Student Support matching  
funds (note 21(c)) $ 684,167 $ 383,012 


Endowed investments: 
Cash equivalents 1,626,728 1,232,583 
Bonds 4,257,952 4,059,893 
Equities 8,649,283 7,853,026 


 


  $ 15,218,130 $ 13,528,514 
 







 13


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


5. Endowment assets (continued): 


Endowed investments are managed by investment managers under an investment policy 


approved by the Board of Governors.  The investment policy limits investments to Canadian and 


foreign equities traded on a public market, Canadian and the United States government and 


corporate bonds with a minimum rating of A-, and cash equivalents. 


The bonds have interest rates of 3.1% to 7.8% and maturity dates ranging from May 2012 to 


February 2022. 


The College regularly reviews endowed investments to determine whether unrealized losses 


represent temporary changes in fair value or are a result of other than temporary impairments.  


The consideration of whether an investment is other than temporarily impaired is based on a 


number of factors which include, but are not limited to, the financial condition of the issuer and the 


length and magnitude of the unrealized loss and specific credit events. 


The College also considers its intent and ability to hold an investment for a sufficient period of 


time for the value of the unrealized loss to recover.  Based on the evaluation as of March 31, 


2012, no unrealized losses are considered to be other than temporary. 


 


6. Capital assets: 
 


     2012 2011 
    Accumulated Net book Net book 
   Cost amortization value value 
 
Land   $ 7,336,878 $ –   $ 7,336,878 $ 7,336,878 
Buildings  237,939,142 64,005,303 173,933,839 94,504,498 
Site improvements  24,158,743 13,052,525 11,106,218 11,843,591 
Parking lots  4,391,024 3,343,886 1,047,138 1,027,420 
Computers and equipment  63,514,487 49,806,667 13,707,820 11,857,109 
Automotive equipment  334,505 250,828 83,677 127,497 
Construction-in-progress  46,252,875 –   46,252,875 73,336,009 
 
   $ 383,927,654 $ 130,459,209 $ 253,468,445 $ 200,033,002 


     


Cost and accumulated amortization at March 31, 2011 amounted to $322,580,454 and 


$122,547,452 respectively.   







 14


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


7. Deferred revenue: 


Details of the year-end balance are as follows: 
 


   2012 2011 
 
Student tuition fees $ 13,228,518 $ 13,079,220 
Grants and reimbursements  93,561 537,668 
Contract education services  1,984,796 2,512,805 
Student aid  481,744 651,684 
Miscellaneous projects  2,199,474 3,487,452 
 
  $ 17,988,093 $ 20,268,829 
 


Student tuition fees are for academic courses which extend beyond the fiscal year of the College. 


Grants and reimbursements are unexpended externally restricted grants to be spent on future 


specific projects, including improvements and investments in the College’s campus facilities, 


information systems, equipment and programs. 


Contract education services represent prepayments for courses to be held in subsequent years. 


Student aid represents the unexpended donations and interest to be spent on student 


scholarships and bursaries in future years. 


Miscellaneous projects include contributions, deposits and prepayments related to small, 


miscellaneous activities of the College.  


 







 15


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


8. Long-term debt, interest rate swaps, and bank indebtedness: 


(a) Long-term debt: 


The College has entered into the following long-term debt agreements to finance the 


construction of student residences and the Police and Public Safety Institute. 
 


  2012 2011 
 
Residence I building loan, bearing interest at prime  


plus 1.00%, maturing in 2025 (note 8(b)) $ 9,651,491 $ 10,062,651 
Residence II building loan, bearing interest at prime 


plus 0.25%, maturing in 2027 (note 8(b))   13,720,892 14,239,922 
Residence III building loan, bearing interest at prime 


plus 0.25%, maturing in 2029 (note 8(b))  14,714,705 15,207,876 
Police and Public Safety Institute loan, bearing interest 


at prime plus 1.00%, maturing in 2025 (note 8(b))  7,338,004 7,659,836 
   45,425,092 47,170,285 
 
Less current portion  1,861,774 1,745,192 
 
  $ 43,563,318 $ 45,425,093 


 


Interest is payable on a monthly basis.  The principal of the loans is payable as follows: 
 


2013 $ 1,861,774 
2014   1,986,167 
2015   2,118,896 
2016   2,260,523 
2017   2,411,644 
Thereafter   34,786,088 
 
  $ 45,425,092 
 







 16


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


8. Long-term debt, interest rate swaps, and bank indebtedness (continued): 


(b) Interest rate swaps: 


The College has entered into interest rate swap agreements to manage the volatility of 


interest rates.  The College converted a net notional $59.0 million of floating rate long-term 


debt relating to the three phases of the Residence and the Police & Public Safety Institute 


(see note 8(a)).  The fixed rates received under the interest rate swaps range from 5.97% to 


6.95%.  The maturity dates of the interest rate swaps are the same as the maturity dates of 


the associated long-term debt, ranging from 2025 to 2029. 


These interest rate swaps qualify, and have been designated by the College, as cash flow 


hedging items against the floating rate long-term debt.  The College has assessed the 


hedging relationship as effective.  The fair value of the interest rate swaps of $14,148,233  


(2011 - $10,357,273) is recorded on the statement of financial position.  Because the hedging 


relationship is effective, the change in fair value of the interest rate swaps is recorded in the 


statement of changes in net assets, with no impact on the College’s excess of revenue over 


expenditures.   


(c) Bank indebtedness: 


Bank indebtedness represents short-term financing by the Ontario Financing Authority (OFA) 


for the expansion of the Pembroke Campus and the building of the Student Commons. The 


loan can be repaid at any time up until July 31, 2012, after which it can be converted to a 


long-term loan. The loan bears an interest rate equal to the ninety-day Ontario Treasury Rate 


as of each Facility 1 Date, as determined by the Lender, plus 0.38%. 


 


9. Deferred capital contributions: 


Deferred capital contributions represent the unamortized amount of donations and grants 


received for the purchase and construction of capital assets.  Investment income earned on 


government contributions received is also included in deferred capital contributions. The 


amortization of the deferred capital contributions is recorded as revenue in the statement of 


operations.   


In 2005, the Algonquin College Foundation launched a building campaign to raise $2 million for 


the construction of the Automotive Technology Trades Centre.  Construction of the Automotive 


Technology Trades Centre was completed in 2007; however, pledges continue to be received.  


Total contributions received between April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012 amount to $618,661. 


In 2008, the Foundation launched building campaigns to raise $7 million for the construction of 


the Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence, $2.5 million for the expansion of the Pembroke 


campus, and $1 million for the expansion of the Perth campus.  The unused portion of 


contributions received will be used as construction continues on these projects.  Total cumulative 


contributions received up to March 31, 2012 amount to $4,901,443. 







 17


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


9. Deferred capital contributions (continued): 


The changes in the deferred capital contributions balance are as follows: 
 


   2012 2011 
 
Balance, beginning of year   $ 134,331,273 $ 78,290,245 
Less amortization of deferred capital contributions  (6,279,287) (4,900,219) 
Less deferred capital contributions relating to disposal of building (26,715) –   
 
Add capital contributions received: 


Industry and individual contributions: 
Automotive Technology Trades Centre  31,042 47,917 
Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence  –   1,580,613 
Pembroke campus expansion  316,196 308,667 
Perth campus expansion  732 79,387 
Other capital projects  16,294 65,425 


Government contributions: 
Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence   6,091,797 44,364,933 
Perth campus expansion  700,999 7,297,916 
Other capital projects  2,846,614 2,191,988  
Enabling Accessibility Fund  2,023,000 –   


Contributions from the Students’ Association: 
Pembroke campus expansion  1,304,334 1,433,333 
Perth campus expansion  266,667 533,333 
Student Commons building  14,452,567 3,029,927 


Add investment income related to contributed funds   –     7,808 
   28,050,242 60,941,247 
 


Balance, end of year   $ 156,075,513  134,331,273


 


The portion of deferred capital contributions that were unused at the end of the year are as 


follows: 
 
   2012 2011 
 
Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence    $ –   $ 6,364,473 
Pembroke campus expansion  1,197,658 881,562 
Perth campus expansion  –   1,766,174 
 
Balance, end of year    $ 1,197,658 $ 9,012,209 


 


The used portion of deferred capital contributions was $154,877,855 (2011 - $125,319,064). 







 18


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


10. Investment in capital assets: 


(a) The investment in capital assets consists of the following: 
 


   2012 2011 
 
Capital assets $ 253,468,445 $ 200,033,002  
Less amounts financed by: 


Deferred capital contributions – used (note 9)  (154,877,855) (125,319,064) 
Long-term debt  (45,425,092)  (47,170,285) 
Bank indebtedness  (15,131,580) –   
 


    $ 38,033,918 $ 27,543,653 


 


(b) The net change in investment in capital assets is calculated as follows: 
 


   2012 2011 
 
Capital asset additions: 


Total additions $ 66,154,969 $ 63,790,841 
Less: 


Donated equipment  (16,294) (65,425) 
Building/construction in progress 


financed with donations  (1,963,608) (82,992) 
Building/construction in progress financed 


with contributions from the Students’ Association  (16,556,902) (4,463,260) 
Donated land  –   (280,000) 
Other capital assets financed with capital 


contributions  (17,327,992) (50,371,985) 
Capital asset purchases with College funds  30,290,173 8,527,179 
 
External financing: 
Decrease in long-term debt  1,745,196 1,635,932 
Increase in Ontario Financing Authority  (15,131,580) –   
Amortization of deferred capital contributions  6,279,287 4,900,219 
Amortization of capital assets  (12,574,458) (11,145,031) 
Write-off of capital assets  (109,225) (37,184) 
 
Amounts relating to disposal of buildings 
 Write-off of buildings  (35,843) –   
 Write-off of deferred capital contributions  26,715  –   
  
Net change in investment in capital assets $ 10,490,265 $ 3,881,115 


 







 19


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


11. Endowment fund: 


Endowed funds consist of external contributions that either the donor or the College has 


designated as a permanent endowment.  The endowed funds cannot be expended by the 


College.  The annual income earned on the endowed funds may be expended only for the 


externally restricted purpose specified by the donor or the College.  Total endowments include 


$15,622,595 (2011 - $14,132,109) in endowed funds relating to the Ontario Student Opportunity 


Trust Fund and Ontario Trust for Student Support (note 21).  Included in the student aid portion of 


the deferred revenue (note 7) is $191,693 (2011 - $209,046) of investment income available for 


distribution relating to the Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund. 


The endowment fund generated $189,026 (2011 - $548,566) of realized investment revenue and 


an unrealized loss of $237,912 (2011- $660,041 unrealized gain). 


The College’s endowment policy is to annually distribute investment income equal to 4% of the 


endowment fund book value at the end of the preceding fiscal year.  In the year, $556,978 (2011 - 


$508,115) was distributed from the endowment fund to deferred revenue-student aid for use in 


the year.    


The purpose of this policy is to allow the College to distribute a consistent amount of income from 


the endowed funds on an annual basis regardless of the investment income actually earned in 


the fiscal year. 


The endowment fund balance consists of: 
 
   2012 2011 
 
Permanently endowed contributions $ 16,016,481 $ 13,958,913  
Cumulative amount distributed in excess of 


realized investment income  (798,352) (430,400) 
   15,218,129 13,528,513 
Unrealized gains due to changes in fair value 


of endowment assets  1,237,836 1,475,748 
 
Endowment fund balance $ 16,455,965 $ 15,004,261 


 







 20


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


12. Employee benefits plans: 


(a) Pension plan: 


Substantially all of the employees of the College are members of the Colleges of Applied Arts 


and Technology (“CAAT”) Pension Plan (the “Plan”), which is a multi-employer defined 


benefit pension plan available to all eligible employees of the participating members of the 


CAAT.  Plan members will receive benefits based on the length of service and on the 


average of annualized earnings during the highest five consecutive years prior to retirement, 


termination or death. The College makes contributions to the Plan equal to those of the 


employees.  Contribution rates are set by the Plan’s governors to ensure the long term 


viability of the Plan. 


Pension assets consist of investment grade securities.  Market and credit risk on these 


securities are managed by the Plan by placing Plan assets in trust and through the Plan 


investment policy. 


Any pension surplus or deficit is a joint responsibility of the members and employers and may 


affect future contribution rates.   The College does not recognize any share of the Plan’s 


pension surplus or deficit as insufficient information is available to identify the College’s share 


of the underlying pension assets and liabilities.  The most recent actuarial valuation filed with 


pension regulators as at January 1, 2012 indicated an actuarial surplus of $154 million.   


Contributions to the Plan made during the year by the College on behalf of its employees 


amounted to $11,121,208 (2011 - $10,275,361) and are included in salaries and benefits on 


the Statement of Operations. 


(b) Post-employment benefits: 


The College provides extended health care, dental insurance and life insurance benefits to 


certain of its employees under a multi-employer plan under CAAT.  This coverage may be 


extended to the post-employment period.  The most recent actuarial valuation of employee 


future benefits was completed by the Plan’s Actuary as at March 1, 2011, and was 


extrapolated for accounting purposes to March 31, 2012. 


Variances between actuarial funding estimates and actual experience may be material and 


any differences are generally to be funded by the participating members.  The College 


recognizes as expense for current services the amount of its required contribution in a given 


year and the change in the accrued benefit liability in the year. 


 







 21


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


12. Employee benefits plans (continued): 


(b) Post-employment benefits (continued): 


The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in estimating the College’s accrued benefit 


liability are as follows: 
 


   2012 2011 
 
Discount rate 4.2% 4.75% 
Dental benefits cost and premium escalation 4.5% 4.5% 


    
   


Medical benefits 
cost escalation - hospital and other medical 4.5% 4.5% 


  - vision/hearing 4.5% 4.5% 
  - drugs  10.5% in 2011
      decreasing to  
      4.5% by 2026


    
Medical premium escalation 8.0% in  
 2011 decreasing 
  to 4.5% by 2026
 
Expected return on assets 3.3% 3.3%


 


(c) Net asset deficiency – vacation, sick leave and post-employment benefits: 


The composition of the vacation, sick leave and post-employment net asset deficiency is as 


follows: 
 


   2012 2011 
 
Post-employment benefits $ 3,131,401 $ 3,142,401 
Vacation  8,896,363 9,450,437 
Sick leave  2,415,213 2,948,572 
 


  $ 14,442,977 $ 15,541,410 


 


13. Donation of land: 


The City of Pembroke transferred 5.629 hectares of land to the College in December 2010 for the 


new site of the Pembroke campus.  The land has been recorded at its estimated value of 


$280,000 at the date of transfer.  


10.5% in 2011 decreasing 
to 4.5% by 2026 


8.0% in 2011 decreasing 
to 4.5% by 2026 







 22


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


14. Financial instruments: 


(a) Concentrations of credit risk: 


The College is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by 


counterparties to financial instruments.  Credit exposure is minimized by dealing mostly with 


creditworthy counterparties such as government agencies and public companies.  The 


College also enforces approved collection policies for student accounts.   


The largest credit exposure to a single institution at March 31, 2012 was $860,276 (2011 - 


$1,220,310) with the Algonquin Students’ Association Inc. related to a guarantee of 


borrowings for the Student Fitness Centre.  


In addition, the College has committed, upon receiving appropriate notification, to apply fees 


collected on behalf of the Algonquin Students’ Association to ensure that the bank loan to the 


Students’ Association related to the construction of the Sportsfield remains current.  


(b) Fair values: 


The carrying values of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 


accrued salaries and employee deductions payable, approximate their fair value due to the 


relatively short periods to maturity of the instruments. 


The carrying value of long-term debt approximates fair value as interest is charged at a 


variable market rate. 


The fair value of investments is disclosed in note 4. 


Endowment assets and interest rate swaps are presented at their fair value on the statement 


of financial position.  


(c) Interest rate risk: 


The College is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its interest-bearing investments, 


long-term debt and interest rate swaps, as disclosed in notes 4, 5, and 8. 


(d) Currency risk: 


The College believes that it is not exposed to significant currency risks arising from its 


financial instruments. 







 23


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


15. Commitments and guarantee: 


(a) The College has committed to make the following future minimum payments under various 


vehicle, premises rental and equipment leases: 
 
2013     $ 876,156 
2014   628,651 
2015   405,182 
 
      $ 1,909,989 


 


(b) At March 31, 2012, commitments for the construction of the Student Common building and 


the Pembroke campus expansion amounted to approximately $ 38,638,000 (2011 - 


$21,030,000). 


(c) Letters of credit: 


The College is contingently liable under letters of credit amounting to $1,414,091 (2011 - 


$595,258) which have been issued in the normal course of business. 


(d) Guarantee: 


In the normal course of business, the College has entered into lease agreements for 


premises and equipment.  It is common in such commercial lease transactions for the 


College, as the lessee, to agree to indemnify the lessor liabilities that may arise from the use 


of the leased assets.  The maximum amount potentially payable under the foregoing 


indemnities cannot be reasonably estimated.  The College has liability insurance that relates 


to the indemnifications described above. 


 


16. Contingencies: 


The College is involved with pending litigation and claims which arise in the normal course of 


operations.  In the opinion of the administration, any liability that may arise from such 


contingencies would not have a significant adverse effect on the financial statements of the 


College.  Losses, if any, arising from these matters will be accounted for in the year in which they 


are resolved. 







 24


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


17. Change in non-cash working capital: 
 


   2012 2011 
 
Increase in accounts receivable $ (6,618,012) $ (690,212) 
Decrease (increase) in inventory  484,158 (13,266) 
Increase in prepaid expenses  (1,520,330) (476,315) 
Increase in accounts payable and 


accrued liabilities  3,181,991 2,490,289 
Increase (decrease) in accrued salaries and 


employee deductions payable  (4,585,777) 2,787,708 
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue   (2,280,736)  646,871  
 
  $(11,338,706) $ 4,745,075 


 


18. Related parties: 


The College is related to the Algonquin College Foundation by virtue of its economic interest in 


the Foundation.  The objectives of the Foundation are to solicit, receive, manage and distribute 


money and other property to support education at the College.  The Foundation was incorporated 


without share capital on December 4, 1995 under the Ontario Corporations Act.   


During the year, the College received $4,114,827 (2011 - $4,606,451) from the Foundation 


consisting of: 
 


  2012 2011 
 
Endowed contributions $ 1,736,227 $ 1,776,077 
Deferred capital contributions 1,899,122 1,976,095 
Other restricted contributions 479,478 854,279 
 
  $ 4,114,827 $ 4,606,451 


 


The College provides the Foundation with office premises without charge and pays the salaries of 


all employees involved with the Foundation. 


 







 25


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


19. Capital disclosures: 


(a) Capital: 


The College considers its operating capital to consist of long-term debt, net assets invested in 


capital assets, internally restricted net assets and unrestricted net assets.  The College’s 


overall objective for its capital is to fund capital assets, future projects and ongoing 


operations.  The College manages its capital by appropriating amounts to internally restricted 


net assets for anticipated future projects, contingencies and other capital requirements.  


These allocations are disclosed in note 19(b). 


The College also considers its endowments, as disclosed in notes 5 and 11, as part of its 


capital.  The College’s objective with regard to endowments is to grow the endowment 


principal and maximize investment income to increase funding for student aid. 


The College may not incur a deficit without the approval of the Minister of Training, Colleges 


and Universities of Ontario.  The College would be required to eliminate any accumulated 


deficit within a prescribed period of time. 


The College is not subject to any other externally imposed capital requirements and its 


approach to capital management remains unchanged from the prior year. 


(b) Internally restricted net assets: 


Internally restricted net assets are funds restricted by the College for future projects to 


improve and invest in the College’s campus facilities, information systems, equipment, 


programs, student aid and employee retraining.  


Internally restricted assets consist of the following:  


 
   2012 2011 
 
Appropriations $ 1,076,746 $ 450,743 
Specific reserves: 


Other projects and initiatives  7,357,278 10,051,599 
Ancillary services reserve fund  5,391,324 4,751,239 
Contingency reserve fund  1,750,000 – 
Employment stabilization funds  451,751 410,069 
Other student aid  21,570 6,167 


Reserve funds: 
Future capital expansion - sale of Rideau Campus  6,561,890 6,395,604 
Future capital expansion  32,728,965 33,179,313 
Rural campus reserve fund   2,167,699 2,112,767 


 
Balance, end of year $ 57,507,223 $ 57,357,501 


 







 26


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


19. Capital disclosures (continued): 


(b) Internally restricted net assets (continued): 


On March 12, 2012, the Board of Governors approved the draw-down of $23 million from 


Reserve Funds to finance construction of the new Pembroke Campus, subject to approval 


from the Ministry of Training Colleges and Universities of Ontario. 


 


20. Comparative figures: 


Certain 2011 comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the financial statement 


presentation adopted for 2012. 


 


21. Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund and Ontario Trust for Student Support: 


The College’s endowments disclosed in note 5 include monies provided by the Government of 


Ontario through matching programs to award student aid as a result of raising an equal amount of 


endowed donations.  The College has recorded the following amounts under these programs: 


(a) Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund PHASE I 
 


Schedule of Changes in Endowment Fund Balance 
For the year ended March 31, 2012 
 
Fund balance at beginning of year      $ 994,793 
 
Cash donations received    
 
Fund balance at end of year     $ 994,793 (A) 


 
Schedule of Changes in Expendable Funds Available 
for Awards for the year ended March 31, 2012 
 
Balance, beginning of year       $ 39,232 
 
Realized investment income, net of direct investment-related expenses   36,366 


and preservation of capital contributions     
 
Bursaries awarded (total number: 74)   (47,609) 
 
Balance, end of year     $  27,989(B) 


 
Endowment total based on book value (=A+B)     $ 1,022,782  
 


The fair value of this endowment as at March 31, 2012 is $1,014,156 (2011 - $1,061,352). 
 







 27


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


21. Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund and Ontario Trust for Student Support 


(continued): 


(b) Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund PHASE II 
 
Schedule of Changes in Endowment Fund Balance for the Period of April 1, 2011 to 
March 31, 2012 
 
Fund balance at beginning of year   $ 2,002,396 
 
Cash donations received    
 


Fund balance at end of year     $ 2,002,396 (A) 


 
Schedule of Changes in Expendable Funds Available for Awards 
for the Period April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 5,364 
 
Realized investment income, net of direct investment-related 


expenses and preservation of capital contributions   78,074
 
Bursaries awarded (total number: 120)   (77,248) 
 


Balance, end of year     $  6,190(B) 


 
Endowment total based on book value (=A+B)     $ 2,008,586  
 


The fair value of this endowment as at March 31, 2012 is $2,062,099 (2011 - $2,158,064).  







 28


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012 
 


 


21. Ontario Student Opportunity Trust Fund and Ontario Trust for Student Support 


(continued): 


(c) ONTARIO TRUST FOR STUDENT SUPPORT  
 


Schedule of Changes in Endowment Fund Balance 
For the Period April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012 
 


Balance, beginning of year     $ 10,115,526 
 
Eligible cash donations received between April 1, 2011 


and March 31, 2012 in compliance with the November 2005 
Program Guidelines and Reporting Requirements   1,076,897


 
Matching funds received from MTCU in 2011-12   296,604 
Matching funds receivable from MTCU in 2011-12   684,167 
 
Fund balance at end of year     $  12,173,194(A) 


 
Schedule of Changes in Expendable Funds Available for Awards 


For the Period April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012 
 
Balance, beginning of year     $ 209,046 
 
Realized investment income, net of direct investment-related 


expenses and preservation of capital contributions   415,320 
 
Bursaries awarded (total number: 559)   (432,673) 
 
Balance, end of year     $ 191,693 (B) 


 
Endowment total based on book value (=A+B)     $ 12,364,887 
 


The fair value of this endowment as at March 31, 2012 is $12,546,340 (2011 - $10,912,693). 


 


Awards Issued for the Period of April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012 


 


OSAP Recipients Non-OSAP Recipients Total 


Number Amount Number Amount Number Amount 


299 $215,619 260 $217,054 599 $432,673 


All recipients were full-time students. 







 29


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS 
AND TECHNOLOGY 


Revenue   Schedule A 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011 
 


    2012 2011 
   
Grants and reimbursements: 


Post secondary activity    $ 93,836,316 $ 91,707,366 
Apprentice programs  5,287,903 5,374,263 
Special bursaries  2,714,624 2,909,572 
   101,838,843 99,991,201 


 
Student tuition fees: 


Full-time post secondary  60,170,029 53,903,395 
Full-time non-funded  1,858,886 1,821,816 
Part-time  11,091,231 10,747,244 
Adult training  1,560,978 1,797,433 
Student information technology and mobile  


computing fee  3,328,750 2,909,548 
   78,009,874 71,179,436 


 
Contract educational services: 


Provincially funded programs  8,465,894 10,447,387 
International programs  328,464 270,033 
Corporate and other programs  16,651,480 13,758,369 
   25,445,838 24,475,789 


 
Ancillary operations (schedule B)  39,565,313 38,867,968 
 
Other: 


Early Learning Centre  889,088 942,095 
Student ancillary fees  5,863,789 3,852,909 
Investment income  2,386,861 1,133,865 
Miscellaneous  6,802,970 5,756,655 


   15,942,708 11,685,524 
Amortization of deferred capital  


contributions (note 9)  6,306,002 4,900,219 
 


Total revenue   $ 267,108,578 $ 251,100,137 


 







 30


THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE OF APPLED ARTS AND 
TECHNOLOGY 


Ancillary Services Summary   Schedule B 
 
Year ended March 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011 
 
    2012 2011 
   Revenue Expenditures Contribution Contribution 
 
Food services   $ 8,812,412 $ 8,202,191 $ 610,221 $ 1,076,225  
 
Bookstore  16,471,199 15,232,166 1,239,033 1,463,600 
 
Parking and lockers  4,186,510 1,653,280 2,533,230 2,664,386 
 
Publishing centre  1,887,616 1,464,058 423,558 463,525 
 
Residence  8,070,118 6,774,186 1,295,932 1,511,925 
 
Other  137,458 615,193 (477,735) (419,597) 
 
Totals   $ 39,565,313 $ 33,941,074 $ 5,624,239 $ 6,760,064 


 
The Residence contribution is used to fund the principal payments of the residence building loans 
(note 8(a)).  Residence expenditures include $2,662,422 (2011 - $2,589,282) paid in interest on the 
residence building loans in the year. 







4th QUARTER FINANCIAL REPORT  | 2011 - 2012 
A Presentation to the Board of Governors 
June 11, 2012 







 
    
 


2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report 
 
 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 


 


 


Summary of 4th Quarter Financial Report ............................................................................ 1 


Adjustments for Generally Accepted Accounting Principles .......................................... 2 


Statement of Financial Position ............................................................................................ 3 


Revenue Schedule and Variance Analysis ......................................................................... 4 


Expenditures Schedule and Variance Analysis .................................................................. 7 


Funding for Strategic Investment Priorities Schedule and Variance Analysis ................ 9 


Internally Restricted Funds Schedule ................................................................................. 11 


Summary of Funded Positions Schedule ........................................................................... 12 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
SUMMARY
(all figures in $ 000's)


Approved 
Annual Budget


Q2 Year-End 
Projection


Q3 Year-End 
Projection


Year-End 
Actual 


(Unaudited)


Year-End vs. 
Approved 


Variance F/(U)


Revenue
Grants 102,519$           111,360$           114,349$           115,003$          12,483$             
Tuition Fees 69,076               66,761               66,867               65,676              (3,400)               
Contract Educational Services 30,810               30,803               30,732               27,919              (2,892)               
College Ancillary Services Sales 40,245               39,710               39,362               39,383              (862)                  
International Education Centre 12,641               12,641               12,283               14,793              2,152                 
Other 71,500               68,943               57,477               54,535              (16,965)             


TOTAL REVENUE 326,791             330,218             321,070             317,308            (9,483)               


Expenditures
Salaries & Benefits 131,096             127,712             127,477             127,146            3,950                 
Funding for Strategic Investment Priorities 74,721               78,205               66,908               65,906              8,815                 
Contract Activity 24,211               24,381               24,212               21,900              2,311                 
College Ancillary Services 35,937               35,707               35,446               35,584              353                   
International Education Centre 5,080                 4,967                 4,788                 5,069                11                     
Other 54,746               55,479               55,386               54,208              538                   


TOTAL EXPENDITURES 325,791             326,451             314,217             309,813            15,978               


NET CASH FLOW* 1,000                 3,767                 6,853                 7,495                6,495                 


Adjustments to Comply with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) 1 9,913                 7,849                 7,147                 15,659              5,746                 


NET CONTRIBUTION before Expenditures 
from Internally Restricted Funds 10,913$             11,616$             14,001$             23,154$            12,241$             


Expenditures from Internally Restricted Funds 9,202                 15,849               12,475               11,415              (2,213)               


NET CONTRIBUTION as per GAAP 1,711$               (4,233)$             1,526$               11,739$            10,028$             


* Net Cash Flow Breakdown
College Operations (17,468)             (14,332)             (11,078)             (12,046)             5,422                 
Contract Activity 6,599                 6,422                 6,520                 6,019                (581)                  
College Ancillary Services 4,308                 4,003                 3,916                 3,799                (509)                  
International Education Centre 7,561                 7,674                 7,495                 9,724                2,163                 
Total Net Cash Flow 1,000                 3,767                 6,853                 7,495                6,495                 


1 See Schedule of Adjustments for GAAP on Page 2 for details.


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 1







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
ADJUSTMENTS FOR GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
(all figures in $ 000's)


Approved 
Annual Budget


Q2 Year-End 
Projection


Q3 Year-End 
Projection


Year-End 
Actual 


(Unaudited)


Year-End vs. 
Approved 


Variance F/(U)


Adjustments to Comply with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP)
Less: Capital Grants and Donations to be 
recorded as Deferred Capital Contributions (33,800)$           (40,265)$           (33,684)$           (35,817)$           (2,017)$             


Add: Expenditures to be Capitalized - Equipment 
& Construction Projects 78,158               81,962               66,430               66,137              (12,021)             1


Add: Principal Portion of Debt Payments 
Recorded as Expenditures 1,745                 1,745                 1,745                 1,745                -                        


Less: Loan Proceeds Recorded as Revenue (33,319)             (32,139)             (26,150)             (15,089)             18,230               2


Add: Contributions to Internally Restricted Funds 
Recorded as Expenditures 3,998                 3,998                 4,367                 3,998                -                        


Add: Amortization of Deferred Capital 
Contributions 5,446                 5,240                 5,337                 6,306                860                   


Less: Amortization of Capital Assets (11,959)             (12,229)             (12,039)             (12,720)             (761)                  
Change in Accrued Vacation, Sick Leave & Post-
Employment Benefits                   (356)                   (463)                  1,141                  1,098 1,454                 


TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS TO COMPLY WITH GAAP 9,913$               7,849$               7,147$               15,659$            5,746$               


1


2


Note: The College manages and reports its Annual Budget on a cash flow basis with a targeted $1 million Net Cash Flow.  Capital expenditures (new 
buildings, equipment costing more than $1,000, etc.), the principal portion of debt servicing payments and budgeted contributions to Internally 
Restricted Funds are treated as cash flow expenditures. Capital grants, donations for capital buildings and equipment, and loan proceeds are 
treated as revenue. Amortization of capital assets and deferred capital contributions (i.e. capital grants and donations) and the change in accrued 
vacation, sick leave and post-employment benefits are not recorded in the Net Cash Flow budget.


The adjustments shown in the above table are required to convert the College’s reported net contribution from a Net Cash Flow basis to a GAAP 
basis.


Variance is due to timing of progress of construction. 


Variance is due to timing of progress of construction and timing of drawdowns on loan.


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 2







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(all figures in $ 000's)


March 31, 2012
Approved 


Annual Budget


March 31, 2012
Q2 Projected


March 31, 2012
Q3 Projected


Year-End 
Actual 


(Unaudited)


Year-End vs. 
Approved 


Variance F/(U)


ASSETS
Current Assets


Cash & Short Term Investments 47,147$             37,122$             42,816$             44,020$            (3,127)$             
Accounts Receivable 21,555               21,555               21,555               28,060              6,505                 
Inventory 2,112                 2,112                 2,112                 1,610                (502)                  
Prepaid Expenses 402                   889                   889                   2,393                1,991                 


71,216               61,678               67,372               76,083              4,867                 


Investments 35,493               46,475               47,704               35,732              239                   
Endowment Assets 15,271               15,271               15,271               16,456              1,185                 
Capital Assets 268,618             269,767             254,423             253,468            (15,150)             


TOTAL ASSETS 390,598$           393,191$           384,770$           381,740$          (8,858)$             


LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities


Bank indebtedness -$                      -$                      -$                      15,132$            (15,132)$           
Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities 23,593               26,285               26,285               28,917              (5,324)               
Accrued Salaries & Employee Deductions 
Payable 7,704                 10,049               10,049               5,206                2,498                 


Deferred Revenue 21,635               21,635               21,635               17,988              3,647                 
Current Portion of Long Term Debt 1,862                 1,862                 1,862                 1,862                -                        


54,794               59,831               59,831               69,104              (14,310)             


Long Term Debt 79,100               75,702               69,713               43,563              35,537               
Vacation, Sick Leave & Post-Employment Benefits 16,144               16,004               14,400               14,443              1,701                 
Deferred Capital Contributions 156,652             160,345             153,666             156,076            576                   
Interest Rate Swaps 9,369                 9,369                 9,369                 14,148              (4,779)               


Net Assets
Unrestricted 1,000                 1,000                 1,000                 1,000                -                        
Investment in Capital Assets 31,541               31,859               29,183               38,034              6,493                 


Vacation, Sick Leave & Post-Employment Benefits (16,144)             (16,004)             (14,400)             (14,443)             1,701                 
Internally Restricted 52,240               49,183               56,106               57,507              5,267                 
Interest Rate Swaps (9,369)               (9,369)               (9,369)               (14,148)             (4,779)               
Endowment Fund 15,271               15,271               15,271               16,456              1,185                 


74,539               71,940               77,791               84,406              9,867                 


TOTAL LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS 390,598$           393,191$           384,770$           381,740$          8,858$               


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 3







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
REVENUE SCHEDULE
(all figures in $ 000's)


Approved 
Annual Budget


Q2 Year-End 
Projection


Q3 Year-End 
Projection


Year-End 
Actual 


(Unaudited)


Year-End vs. 
Approved 


Variance F/(U)


Variance as 
% of Budget


Grants  
Post Secondary Activity 87,212$             88,162$             88,505$             88,510$             1,298$                    1%
Capital & Equipment 8,585                 16,179               18,828               18,665               10,080                    117%
Apprentice 4,910                 5,207                 5,204                 5,288                 378                         8%
Flow-Through Student Aid 1,812                 1,812                 1,812                 2,540                 728                         40%


 
TOTAL GRANTS 102,519             111,360             114,349             115,003             12,484                    12%


 
Tuition Fees  


Full-Time Post Secondary 49,973               48,505               48,646               48,837               (1,136)                     -2%
Full-Time Non-Funded 1,785                 1,723                 1,723                 1,724                 (61)                          -3%
Part-Time 12,082               11,485               11,308               10,225               (1,857)                     -15%
Adult Training 2,003                 1,811                 1,781                 1,561                 (442)                        -22%
Student IT & Mobile Computing Fees 3,233                 3,237                 3,409                 3,329                 96                           3%


 
TOTAL TUITION FEES 69,076               66,761               66,867               65,676               (3,400)                     -5%


 
Contract Educational Services  


Provincially Funded Programs 8,279                 8,223                 8,435                 8,425                 145                         2%
Corporate & Other Programs 18,005               17,964               17,669               13,625               (4,380)                     -24%
Grants, Fees and Other Income Associated with 
Contract Activity 4,526                 4,616                 4,628                 5,869                 1,343                      30%


 
TOTAL CONTRACT EDUCATIONAL SERVICES 30,810               30,803               30,732               27,919               (2,892)                     -9%


 
Other  


Ontario Financing Authority Loan Proceeds 
(Student Commons & Pembroke Campus) 33,319               30,269               24,265               15,089               (18,230)                   -55%


Students' Association Contribution 21,844               20,909               15,333               16,557               (5,287)                     -24%
Capital Campaign 3,200                 3,400                 3,257                 3,495                 295                         9%
Early Learning Centre 955                    913                    913                    915                    (40)                          -4%
Student Ancillary Fees 4,016                 3,918                 4,027                 5,838                 1,822                      45%
Student Services Grant 100                    100                    100                    95                      (5)                            -5%
Investment Income 1,387                 2,887                 2,575                 2,365                 978                         71%
Miscellaneous 6,679                 6,547                 7,007                 10,181               3,502                      52%


 
TOTAL OTHER 71,500               68,943               57,477               54,535               (16,965)                   -24%


 
COLLEGE ANCILLARY SERVICES SALES 40,245               39,710               39,362               39,383               (862)                        -2%


 
INTERNATIONAL EDUCATION CENTRE 12,641               12,641               12,283               14,793               2,152                      17%


 
 


TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 326,791$           330,218$           321,070$           317,308$           (9,483)$                   -3%


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 4







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
REVENUE SCHEDULE
Variance Analysis (all figures in $ 000's)


Description Variance F/(U)


Post Secondary Activity Grants 1,298$                    Enrolment Bridging Grant announced after the budget was approved.   Higher than 
budgeted Key Performance Indicator and Nursing Transition grants.


Capital & Equipment Grants 10,080$                  See Funding for Strategic Priorities Schedule.


Apprentice 378$                       Additional funding from MTCU.


Flow-Through Student Aid 728$                       Additional flow through bursary funding received for Aboriginal students as well as new 
bursary funds for First Generation students.  Non-endowed bursaries received from the 
Foundation were not budgeted.   (Offset by Flow-Through Student Aid expenditure.)


Full-Time Post Secondary Tuition Fees (1,136)$                   Lower than expected enrolment in various programs across the college, including Design 
Studies, Construction Project Management and Global Studies. Offset by higher than 
expected enrolment in Distance Education programs and E-Business Supply.


Part-Time Tuition Fees (1,857)$                   Lower than expected enrolment in several programs including Business and Community 
Studies and Language Training.


Adult Training Fees (442)$                      Lower than expected revenue from new Workers Compensation program and Basic Training.


Corporate & Other Programs (4,380)$                   School College Work Initiative program was expected to be a full year but was only funded 
for part of the year (offset by corresponding savings).  Corporate Training revenue lower than 
targeted in budgeted.


Grants, Fees and Other Income Associated with 
Contract Activity


1,343$                    Mainly due to internal revenue (offset by corresponding internal expenditures).


Ontario Financing Authority Loan Proceeds 
(Student Commons & Pembroke Campus)


(18,230)$                 See Funding for Strategic Priorities Schedule.


Students' Association Contribution (5,287)$                   See Funding for Strategic Priorities Schedule.


Capital Campaign 295$                       See Funding for Strategic Priorities Schedule.


Student Ancillary Fees 1,822$                    Fees received for processing Ontario College Application Service (OCAS) fees under new 
arrangement to benefit from HST rebates (except for $113k administration fee, offset by fees 
paid to OCAS).


Investment Income 978$                       Higher cash balance than anticipated as well as higher yields on longer term investments.


Comments


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 5







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
REVENUE SCHEDULE
Variance Analysis (all figures in $ 000's)


Description Variance F/(U) Comments


Miscellaneous 3,502$                    $650k increase in Distance Education Hosting fees due to enrolment growth.  Balance is due 
to Internal Revenues (offset by Internal Expenditures included under Contract Activity and 
Miscellaneous Expenditures).


College Ancillary Service Sales (862)$                      Lower bookstore revenue due to reduced traffic as a result of construction and labour 
disruption; summer hotel revenue did not meet expectations; rooms out of service due to 
flood and mould issues; and lower parking revenue due to deferral of the construction of an 
additional parking lots as a result of City storm water policy.


International Education Centre 2,152$                    Higher than expected contract activity offset by lower than expected enrolment growth. 


Total Explained Variances (9,617)$                   
Other Minor Variances 134$                       


Total Variance (9,483)$                   


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 6







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
EXPENDITURES SCHEDULE
(all figures in $ 000's)


Approved 
Annual Budget


Q2 Year-End 
Projection


Q3 Year-End 
Projection


Year-End 
Actual 


(Unaudited)


Year-End vs. 
Approved 


Variance F/(U)


Variance 
as % of 
Budget


TOTAL SALARIES & BENEFITS 131,096             127,712             127,477             127,146             3,950                 3%


Other Operating Costs
Mandated Student Aid 5,017                 4,959                 4,747                 4,566                 451                    9%
Contingencies 4,536                 4,072                 3,871                 3,307                 1,229                 27%
Debt Servicing 968                    968                    968                    968                    -                         0%
Contract Services 7,765                 11,383               11,436               9,326                 (1,561)               -20%
Instructional Supplies & Equipment 3,110                 3,276                 3,244                 3,113                 (3)                      0%
Promotion 2,273                 2,266                 2,339                 2,096                 177                    8%
Software 2,398                 2,472                 2,488                 2,298                 100                    4%
Building Maintenance & Utilities 8,056                 5,751                 5,898                 8,252                 (196)                  -2%
Flow-Through Student Aid 1,800                 1,800                 1,800                 2,540                 (740)                  -41%
Other 18,823               18,532               18,595               17,744               1,079                 6%


TOTAL OTHER OPERATING 54,746               55,479               55,386               54,208               538                    1%


FUNDING FOR STRATEGIC INVESTMENT PRIORITIES 74,721               78,205               66,908               65,906               8,815                 12%


CONTRACT ACTIVITY 24,211               24,381               24,212               21,900               2,311                 10%


COLLEGE ANCILLARY SERVICES 35,937               35,707               35,446               35,584               353                    1%


INTERNATIONAL EDUCATION CENTRE 5,080                 4,967                 4,788                 5,069                 11                      0%


TOTAL EXPENDITURES 325,791$           326,451$           314,217$           309,813$           15,978$             5%


  


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 7







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
EXPENDITURES SCHEDULE
Variance Analysis (all figures in $ 000's)


Description Variance F/(U) Comments


Salaries & Benefits 3,950$               Savings due to vacancies, sick leave and labour disruption.


Mandated Student Aid 451$                  Required amount lower than initial estimate.


Contingencies 1,229$               Some budget contingency provisions not required.


Contract Services (1,561)$             Services required to backfill short term vacancies in Information Technology Services and 
Marketing Services; increase in Distance Education activity.


Flow-Through Student Aid (740)$                Additional flow through bursary funding received for Aboriginal students, new bursary funds for 
First Generation students.  Non-endowed bursaries from the Foundation were not budgeted.


Other 1,079$               Combination of positive and negative variances across many programs due to changing needs 
or timing of purchases.


Funding for Strategic Investment Priorities 8,815$               See Funding for Strategic Priorities Schedule.


Contract Activity 2,311$               School College Work Initiative programs received less funding than expected therefore 
corresponding expenses are also down from the original budget.  Fewer Corporate Training 
contracts than targeted in the budget.


College Ancillary Services 353$                  Lower cost of goods sold due to lower sales.


Total Explained Variances 15,888$             
Other Minor Variances 90$                   


Total Variance 15,978$             


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 8







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
FUNDING FOR STRATEGIC INVESTMENT PRIORITIES SCHEDULE
(all figures in $ 000's)


Approved 
Annual Budget


Q2 Year-End 
Projection


Q3 Year-End 
Projection


Year-End 
Actual 


(Unaudited)


Year-End vs. 
Approved 


Variance F/(U)


Variance 
as % of 
Budget


Revenue
Facilities Renewal 585$                  585$                  601$                  601$                  16$                   3%
College Equipment Renewal Fund -                        559                   559                   559                   559                   0%
Knowledge Infrastructure Program 8,000                 12,592               12,592               12,593               4,593                 57%
Apprenticeship Enhancement Fund -                        943                   943                   897                   897                   0%
Ontario Financing Authority (OFA) Loan Proceeds 
(Student Commons & Pembroke Campus) 33,319               30,269               24,265               15,089               (18,230)             -55%


Students' Association Contribution 21,844               20,909               15,333               16,557               (5,287)               -24%
Capital Campaign 3,200                 3,400                 3,257                 3,495                 295                   9%
Enabling Accessibility Fund -                        1,500                 2,000                 2,023                 2,023                 0%
Digital College Grant -                        -                        2,133                 1,864                 1,864                 0%
Miscellaneous -                        -                        -                        127,862             128                   0%


TOTAL REVENUE 66,948               70,757               61,683               53,805              (13,143)             -20%


Expenditures
Campus Expansion


Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence 10,068               13,935               13,792               14,080              (4,012)               -40%
Perth Campus 1,932                 2,857                 2,857                 2,899                (967)                  -50%
Pembroke Campus 19,482               19,482               18,213               15,002              4,480                 23%
Student Commons 34,881               32,395               22,585               25,110              9,771                 28%


Total Campus Expansion 66,363               68,669               57,447               57,091              9,272                 14%


Other
College Technologies 2,000                 1,894                 1,835                 1,743                257                   13%
College Space & Infrastructure 2,585                 2,978                 2,961                 2,579                6                       0%
New Program Initiatives 250                   200                   250                   255                   (5)                      -2%
Academic & Other Equipment 1,513                 1,754                 1,754                 1,669                (156)                  -10%
Business Plan Priorities 2,010                 1,767                 1,718                 1,638                372                   19%
Apprenticeship Enhancement Fund -                        943                   943                   931                   (931)                  0%


Total Other 8,358                 9,536                 9,461                 8,815                (457)                  -5%


TOTAL EXPENDITURES 74,721               78,205               66,908               65,906              8,815                 12%


NET CONTRIBUTION (7,773)$             (7,448)$             (5,225)$             (12,101)$           (4,328)$             56%


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 9







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
FUNDING FOR STRATEGIC INVESTMENT PRIORITIES SCHEDULE
Variance Analysis (all figures in $000's)


Description Variance 
F/(U)


Comments


College Equipment Renewal Fund  $                    559 College Equipment Renewal Fund (CERF) grant announced after the budget was approved.


Knowledge Infrastructure Program  $                 4,593 Revised cash flow projection for ACCE and Perth construction projects.  Both projects are still on 
budget.


Apprenticeship Enhancement Fund  $                    897 Apprenticeship Enhancement Fund grant announced after the budget was approved.


Ontario Financing Authority (OFA) Loan Proceeds 
(Student Commons & Pembroke Campus)


 $             (18,230) Revised timing of cash flow for Student Commons and Pembroke campus construction projects.


Students' Association Contribution  $               (5,287) Revised timing of cash flow for Student Commons construction project.  


Capital Campaign  $                    295 Successful campaign for the Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence exceeded target.


Enabling Accessibility Fund  $                 2,023 Enabling Accessibility funding awarded for Pembroke campus construction project.


Digital College Grant  $                 1,864 Digital college project approved after budget was approved.  


Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence  $               (4,012) Apprenticeship Enhancement Fund expenditures (offset by matching grant).


Perth Campus  $                  (967) Higher than anticipated costs for some projects (offset by savings on projects paid for out of internally 
restricted funds).


Pembroke Campus  $                 4,480 Revised cash flow  (offset by grant).


Student Commons  $                 9,771 Revised cash flow  (offset by grant).


College Technologies  $                    257 Some projects not fully completed by year end.


Business Plan Priorities  $                    372 Some projects not fully completed by year end.


Apprenticeship Enhancement Fund  $                  (931) Spending on equipment mostly offset by unbudgeted grant.


Total Explained Variances (4,316)$                
Other Minor Variances (11)$                     


Total Variance (4,328)$                


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 10







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
INTERNALLY RESTRICTED FUNDS SCHEDULE
(all figures in $ 000's)


Approved 
Annual Budget


Approved 
June 2011 1


Total Approved 
Expenditures


Q2 Year-End 
Projection


Q3 Year-End 
Projection


Year-End 
Actual 


(Unaudited)


Year-End vs. 
Total Approved 
Variance F/(U) 


Appropriations 193$                  258$                  451$                 445$                  357$                  319$                 132$                    


Specific Reserves
Delivering High Quality Facilities 1,395                 2,127                 3,522                3,304                 2,981                 2,718                804                     
Employee Development -                        413                   413                   413                   268                   178                   235                     
Financial Sustainability 108                   383                   491                   536                   487                   601                   (110)                    
Innovation 418                   886                   1,304                1,146                 946                   898                   406                     
Mobile College/Online College 221                   1,304                 1,525                1,241                 1,195                 1,086                439                     
Recruitment/Enrolment 174                   1,441                 1,615                1,481                 1,164                 698                   917                     
Retention/Graduation Rate 393                   789                   1,182                1,130                 821                   518                   664                     


TOTAL SPECIFIC RESERVES 2,709                 7,343                 10,052              9,251                 7,862                 6,697                3,355                   


Capital Projects 6,300                 -                        6,300                5,953                 4,097                 4,280                2,020                   


College Ancillary Services Reserves -                        200                   200                   200                   159                   120                   80                       


TOTAL INTERNALLY RESTRICTED FUNDS 9,202$               7,801$               17,003$            15,849$             12,475$             11,415$            5,588$                 


1 At the time the budget was approved, final results for 2011/12 were not yet known; year-end net assets balances (i.e. internally restricted funds) were estimated to determine capacity to fund 
appropriations and specific reserves.  Once the final net assets balances were determined, additional internally restricted funds totalling $7.801 million were approved.  The final net assets 
balances were reported in the 2011/12 Financial Statements and approved by the Board of Governors on June 13, 2011.


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 11







2011/2012 4th Quarter Financial Report
SUMMARY OF FUNDED POSITIONS


Total Staffed Total Vacant 


Admin Support Academic Total
Positions 
Opened


Positions 
Closed


Positions 
Transferred Admin Support Academic Total


at 
Mar. 31/12


at 
Mar. 31/12


President & Board of Governors 
President's Office 3            -             -                 3                3              -                 -                 3                3                   -                        
Total 3            -             -                 3                -                  -                  -                    3              -                 -                 3                3                   -                        


Human Resources
Human Resources 21          -             -                 21              4                   22            2                1                25              24                 1                       
Total 21          -             -                 21              -                  -                  4                   22            2                1                25              24                 1                       


Administration
Vice-President's Office 2            -             -                 2                2              -                 -                 2                2                   -                        
College Ancillary Services 17          68          -                 85              1                 (1)                17            68              -                 85              82                 3                       
Finance & Administrative Services 7            28          -                 35              1                 (1)                7              28              -                 35              35                 -                        
Physical Resources 14          39          -                 53              14            39              -                 53              52                 1                       
Total 40          135        -                 175            2                 (2)                -                    40            135            -                 175            171               4                       


Student Services
Vice-President's Office 2            -             -                 2                2              -                 -                 2                2                   -                        
Student Support Services 7            22          16              45              7              22              16              45              43                 2                       
Registrar 10          58          -                 68              10            58              -                 68              67                 1                       
Total 19          80          16              115            -                  -                  -                    19            80              16              115            112               3                       


Business Development
Vice-President's Office 3            1            -                 4                3              1                -                 4                4                   -                        
Applied Research & Development 2            -             -                 2                2              -                 -                 2                1                   1                       
Algonquin College Foundation 3            2            -                 5                3              2                -                 5                5                   -                        
Information, Institutional Research and 
Technology Services 1 9            66          -                 75              9              66              -                 75              68                 7                       
International & Corporate Business 
Development 9            11          21              41              9              11              21              41              38                 3                       
Workforce & Personal Development 2            3            -                 5                2              3                -                 5                5                   -                        
Total 28          83          21              132            -                  -                  -                    28            83              21              132            121               11                     


Academic Services
Vice-President's Office 11          2            20              33              7                 (20)                12            3                5                20              15                 5                       
Faculty of Arts, Media & Design 6            28          100            134            8                   7              28              107            142            139               3                       
School of Business 5            9            77              91              4                   5              9                81              95              91                 4                       
School of Hospitality & Tourism 3            9            34              46              3                   3              9                37              49              45                 4                       
Faculty of Technology & Trades 8            37          146            191            1                 (2)                2                   8              36              148            192            189               3                       
Faculty of Health, Public Safety & Community 
Studies 8            32          120            160            1                 (1)                4                   8              31              125            164            157               7                       
Centre for Continuing and Online Learning 2 5            17          -                 22              (1)                  4              17              -                 21              20                 1                       
Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley 5            27          25              57              1                 6              27              25              58              57                 1                       
Learning & Teaching Services 6            24          6                36              (1)                (4)                  5              22              4                31              30                 1                       
Total 57          185        528            770            10               (4)                (4)                  58            182            532            772            743               29                     


Advancement
Executive Director's Office 3 3            6            -                 9                (1)                (3)                  3              2                -                 5                4                   1                       
Recruitment 3 -            -             -                 (1)                9                   2              6                -                 8                8                   -                        
Marketing Services 3 4            12          -                 16              (6)                  2              8                -                 10              9                   1                       
Total 7            18          -                 25              -                  (2)                -                    7              16              -                 23              21                 2                       


COLLEGE TOTAL 175       501        565            1,241         12               (8)                -                    177          498            570            1,245         1,195            50                     


1 Information Technology Services was included under President & Board of Governors when the budget was approved. 
It has since been renamed Information, Institutional Research and Technology Services and includes Institutional Research and Planning.


2 School of Part-time Studies was renamed Centre for Continuing and Online Learning  after budget was approved.
3 Advancement has undergone a realignment since budget was approved - the new structure is shown here.


The complement report represents the total number of positions for each of the College’s major areas.  
Not all positions are 100% funded in the budget as some positions are vacant at the start of the year and other positions have a start date projected for other than April 1st.


Full-Time Approved Budgeted Positions Position Changes Full-Time Funded Positions at Q4


Q4 Financial Report 2011-12 12





		2011-12 Draft Audited Fin Stmts  4th Quarter Fin Report (2)

		Financial Statements

		Q4 Report 11-12 - BOG

		Cover

		TOC

		Summary

		GAAP

		Balance Sheet

		Revenue Schedule

		Revenue Variances

		Expenditure Schedule

		Expenditure Variances

		Strategic Priorities Schedule

		Strategic Priorites Variances

		App & Res - Alt Vers

		Funded Positions












  


 


 
Presentation to:  Board of Governors 
Subject:  Proposal to Establish a Contingency Reserve Fund in the College’s 


Net Asset Accounts 
Date:  June 11, 2012 
Presenter(s):   Duane McNair, Vice‐President, Administration 


on behalf of the Audit Committee 
 
Purpose:     
Supported by the Audit Committee, Administration will present a proposal to establish a 
Contingency Reserve Fund balance within  the College’s  Internally Restricted Net Asset 
accounts  (ie.  akin  to  the  ‘equity’  accounts  on  a Not‐for‐Profit  entity’s  balance  sheet) 
with the capacity to absorb adverse financial results within a fiscal year. 
 
Background:  
 At the April 11th, 2011 Board of Governors meeting, discussion arose on whether or not 
the College was maintaining  adequate  contingencies  to protect  itself  from  significant 
adverse fiscal events. 
   
The College develops  its annual budgets  in a prudent and  fiscally  responsible manner 
and  ensures  that  there  are  appropriate  funds  held  as  operating  contingencies  to 
respond  to  various  unexpected  expenditures.    The  2012/13  Approved  Budget  has 
budgeted  contingencies  totaling  $6.1  million  to  fund  expenditures  that  cannot  be 
anticipated  or  that may  be  recurring  but  are  generally  difficult  to  estimate.      These 
expenditures  include  sick  leave  backfill  costs,  pension  buyback  for  new  full‐time 
employees  with  accrued  pensionable  service,  sick  leave  buyouts,  exceptional 
performance  incentive  compensation,  grievance  arbitration  settlements  and 
contingency  funds  to  absorb  the  impact  of  tuition  or  grant  shortfalls.      These 
contingency provisions are maintained year over year in the College’s operating budget.  
In addition, the College annually budgets for a $1 million net cash flow surplus which is 
also  available  to  absorb  financial  losses  beyond  what  may  be  absorbed  by  the 
contingency budgets. 
 
Aside  from  the operating budget,  the College maintains  a $1 million unrestricted net 
asset balance.    This balance  is not  a  component of  the operating budget but  can be 
viewed  as  a  ‘savings’  account balance  that  is maintained  year over  year  and may be 
accessed if the College were to experience an adverse financial event that exceeded the 
capacity  of  the  operating  budget.      However,  relative  to  the  College’s  $275 million 
operating budget for 2012/13, this $1 million account balance would not be considered 
a sufficient amount to deal with a significant adverse event. 
 
 







  


Discussion/Considerations:   
It  is  proposed  that  the  College  establish  and maintain  a  formal  Contingency  Reserve 
Fund  in  the  Net  Asset  accounts  equal  to  3%  of  operating  revenues.    Based  on  the 
2012/13 Approved Budget, 3% of operating revenues would be calculated as follows: 
 


Total Revenues 324,606,000$         
Less: Revenues related to 
Strategic Investments (48,796,000)             


Operating Revenues 275,810,000          
X 3%


Proposed Contingency Balance 8,274,300$               
 


 
 
The rationale for a Total Contingency Balance based on 3% of Operating Revenues is as 
follows: 
 


• Expressing  the  contingency  as  a percentage  relative  to operating  revenues  (as 
opposed  to an absolute  fixed amount) ensures  that  the contingency balance  is 
regularly updated to keep pace with College growth. 
 


• The Contingency Reserve must be both reasonable and affordable.  This proposal 
requires  that  a  specific  amount  be  reserved  and maintained  in  perpetuity  to 
ensure that the College always has the capacity to absorb the impact of adverse 
events.   Relative to the total College operating budget, the opportunity cost of 
holding  these  funds  for  this  singular  purpose  is  deemed  to  be  less  than  the 
benefit of the fiscal protection provided by a Contingency Reserve. 
 


• An  example  of  an  unexpected  adverse  event  that would  result  in  a  financial 
impact  of  $8.2 million would  be  a  10%  decrease  in  operating  and  enrolment 
funding from the MTCU.   While such a significant event would have a very high 
impact on  the College’s budget  capacity,  the  likelihood  is  low over  the  longer 
term  (the  last  time  a  funding  decrease  of  an  even  greater  magnitude  was 
realized was  in  1995/96).    Effective  risk management  considers  the  likelihood 
and the impact together when formulating risk mitigation strategies.  


 
For  comparison purposes, George Brown College maintains  a General Contingency of 
$13 million within their Internally Restricted Net Asset balance while Humber maintains 
a balance of $9 million.   Humber’s balance is also based on 3% of operating revenues. 
 
It is proposed that this Contingency Reserve Fund be accumulated over a 3‐year period.  
In  that  three year period, we will use  the existing $1M net  cash  flow plus $1.75M  to 
fund the new Reserve Fund.   
 







  


 2012/13:    $1  million  budgeted  net  cash  flow  surplus  +  $1.75  million  from 
previous year end results. 


 2013/14:    $1  million  budgeted  net  cash  flow  surplus  +  $1.75  million  from 
previous year‐end results. 


 2014/15:    $1  million  budgeted  net  cash  flow  surplus  +  $1.75  million  from 
previous year‐end results. 


 
The Contingency Reserve Fund would be fully  implemented by 2015/16 and be topped 
up thereafter as per the calculation on budgeted revenues above. 
 
In  conjunction  with  the  establishment  of  this  fund,  it  is  proposed  that  the  College 
discontinue budgeting a $1 million net cash flow each year beginning with the 2015/16 
fiscal year.  The $1 million budgeted net cash flow was intended to be a contingency to 
deal  with  unexpected  adverse  events.      Once  the  Contingency  Reserve  Fund  is 
established,  this $1 million budgeted net  cash  flow  contingency will not be  required.  
Once  fully  implemented,  the  amount  of  this  Contingency  Reserve  Fund  will  be 
determined  each  year  by  calculating  3%  of  operating  revenues  and  deducting  the 
existing unrestricted net asset balance. 
 
 
Recommendations:    
 
That the Board of Governors approves the establishment of a Contingency Reserve Fund 
account within the College’s Internally Restricted Net Asset accounts that is equal to 3% 
of operating revenues and will be phased in with full implementation by 2015/16. 
 
That the College prepares its annual budgets in a manner that always produces positive 
projected  fiscal  year‐end  balances  of  its  Unrestricted  Net  Assets  plus  Internally 
Restricted Net Assets beginning with the 2012/13 fiscal year. 
 








  


Endowment Fund Report June 13 2012 Final.doc 28/05/2012 Financial Services 


 


 
 
Report to:  Board of Governors 


Subject:  Endowment Fund Performance as at March 31, 2012 


Date:  June 11, 2012 


Prepared by:   Duane McNair, Vice‐President, Administration 


 
Purpose 
 
To report on the performance of the Endowment Fund portfolio against the relevant 
benchmarks. 
 
Background 
 
The College’s  Endowment  Fund  is managed by Doherty  and Associates who provides 
quarterly updates on the performance of the Fund in relation to benchmark and market 
conditions. 
 
The College’s Investment Policy prescribes: 
 


 Asset mix policy with maximum and minimum exposures 


 Asset class benchmarks with which to measure the performance of the fund 


 Permitted Investments 
 
Discussion/Considerations 
 
The quarterly report for the Algonquin College Endowment Fund investment portfolio 
was up 4.75% in the quarter, outperforming the benchmark which was up 3.66%.  For 
the year ended March 31, 2012, the portfolio was up 0.03% outperforming the 
benchmark which was down 0.82%. 
 
A copy of the Endowment Fund Report is attached as Appendix A. 
 


Recommendation 
 
That the Board of Governors receives the Endowment Fund Performance report as 
presented. 
 
 
 
 
 







Appendix A


Endowment Fund Report


Board of Governors


For the twelve months ending March 31, 2012


Cost Market


Fund Balance March 31, 2011 13,528,513$      15,004,261$     


Deposits 670,610             670,610            


Withdrawals (556,978)            (556,978)           


Investment Fees (51,690)              (51,690)             


Investment Income (Loss) 240,617             2,704                * excludes accrued interest


Fund Balance as per Doherty  March 31, 2012 13,831,072$      15,068,907$     


Deposits in Transit 1,387,058          1,387,058         


Fund Balance as per College March 31, 2012 15,218,130$      16,455,965$     


Investment 


Fund Balance March 31, 2012 Cost Market Policy


Cash 923,837$           7% 923,830$          6% 5%


Fixed Income 4,257,952          31% 4,509,659         30% 30%


Canadian Equity 6,608,157          48% 7,336,200         49% 50%


US Equity 1,433,374          10% 1,586,490         11% 10%


International Equity 607,752             4% 712,727            5% 5%


Total 13,831,072$      100% 15,068,907$     100% 100%


    Algonquin College 


Endowment Fund Report March 31 2012.xlsx                                     5/28/2012 Prepared by Financial Services












Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


2009-2010


A L G O N Q U I N  C O L L E G E


Business Plan 2012–2013


2009-2010


A L G O N Q U I N  C O L L E G E


 


June 11, 2012







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


St
ra


te
g


ic
 P


la
n 


20
12


–2
0


16


4


The objecT of a college


“…to offer a comprehensive program of career-oriented, post-secondary education and training to assist individuals 
in finding and keeping employment, to meet the needs of employers and the changing work environment and to 
support the economic and social development of their local and diverse communities.” 


 
Ontario Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology Act, 2002







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


St
ra


te
g


ic
 P


la
n 


20
12


–2
0


16


5


2012-13 business plan outline


Message from the President 6


Vision, Mission and Values 8  


Multi-Year Accountability Agreement (MYAA)  9


Factors Beyond of the Control of the College 10


Operational Outcomes, Major Actions and Measures  12 
Applied Education and Training   
Student and Client Success   
Empowered People   
Financial Sustainability 


Budget Assumptions 16


Risks and Budget Impact 18


Summary of Funded Positions 20


Projected Enrolment vs. Actual Enrolment 22


Pro Forma Summary 24







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


The 2012-13 Business Plan is focused on four areas which serve as the pillars of our Strategic Plan, 
2012-17; Applied Education and Training, Student and Client Success, Empowered People, and Financial 
Sustainability. These four overarching areas, along with the twelve goals associated with them, are 
incorporated into the 2012-13 budget which supports the achievement of these major directions.  
The major change in the Business Plan for 2012-13 was the realignment of the operational revenues  
and expenses of our funded and non funded programs and services in order to ensure that the areas 
which are funded by the government through the tuition fee framework and the Ministry grant 
formula, were sustainable well into the future.


In presenting this year’s Business Plan, there was a clear recognition that many uncertainties still  
exist particularly with the changing global fiscal climate and that Ontario supported institutions 
will not be exempted from the challenges of reducing deficit budgets while still having to meet the 
increased demand for programs and services from students. This College is focused on connecting 
people, community, technology and careers as we believe this is the way of the future as educational 
institutions move more and more into a digital world and embrace technology in all aspects of  
educational delivery. New technological foundations must be created which support these new  
directions while still supporting on campus learning and applied education which  are core to the 
operation of the College. As stated in previous Business Plans, the uncertain economy that we are  
living through masks the changing demographics and the impending skilled labour shortages that are 


on the horizon. There are strong economic reasons for Colleges to continue to develop the skilled knowledge workers of the future in order that 
the Ontario economy can thrive as it moves through this period of uncertainty. Our government is trying to develop a new direction for Ontario 
post secondary institutions and our Business Plan has been developed in such a way that it is flexible enough to make any necessary changes 
that are required when the Government finally sets those new directions in place. In the interim, we will try our utmost to address the needs  
of our students and clients for the programs and services they require to be ready for a better future . 


“This College is  
focused on connecting  
people, community,  
technology and careers  
as we beleive this is  
the way of the future  
as educational  
institutions move more  
and more into a digital  
world, and embrace
technology in all 
aspects of educational
delivery.”


M
es


sa
g


e 
fr


o
m


 t
he


 P
re


si
d


en
t


6
3


MessaGe FRoM tHe pResiDent







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


Within the Business Plan targets for 2012-13, the College will finish the new waterfront campus in Pembroke as well as the new Student  
Commons at the Woodroffe Campus thus completing  the last of the four major building projects that have been underway over the past 
two years to address the serious capacity issues at all of our campuses. At the same time, the digital foundation is being strengthened  
so that students can be assured that when choosing the digital route for the delivery of their education programs or support services  
that those facilities will be available. As post secondary education embraces the digital revolution and transforms how learning and 
content are delivered, this College will play a leadership role in embracing technological enhancement in all aspects of both our academic  
as well as our student support service delivery and by leveraging technology to gain the productivity, innovation and efficiencies that  
are necessary in order to achieve fiscal sustainability. The Business Plan for 2012-13 is supported by the 2012-13 Budget and both plans  
have clear metrics to be used when measuring the outcomes and all aligned within our new Strategic Plan. 


The Board of Governors and all of the employees of this College are committed to achieving the outcomes which are listed in this  
document and will embrace the new initiatives in the post secondary directions from the government as they become available.


Robert C. Gillett
President







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


M
is


si
o


n,
 V


is
io


n 
&


 V
al


ue
s


8


Algonquin’s organizational philosophy is defined by its mission, vision and core values. Through the course of the recent strategic planning 
process, stakeholders paid tribute to the current set of College values believing they accurately reflect the principles and beliefs shared 
by the community. At the same time, they encouraged the College to revise the current mission and vision statements to more accurately 
reflect our aspirations for the future. 


The following are intended to serve as points of inspiration and provide clear differentiation from other colleges, carefully articulating  
our purpose. 


ouR Mission 
To transform hopes and dreams into skills and knowledge, leading to lifelong career success.
 
ouR vision 
To be a global leader in digitally-connected applied education and training.


ouR values


Mission, vision anD values


Caring
We have a sincere and compassionate interest in the 
well-being of the individual.


Integrity
We believe in trust, honesty and fairness in all relationships 
and transactions.


Learning
We believe in the pursuit of knowledge, personal growth  
and development.


Respect
We value the dignity and uniqueness of the individual.  
We value equity and diversity in our community.







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


M
ul


ti
-y


ea
r 


A
cc


o
un


ta
b


lil
it


y 
A


g
re


em
en


t 
(M


YA
A


)
Fo


r 
20


11
-1


2


9


The Government of Ontario has not as yet released its reporting framework for the year 2011-12; however, it is our believe that  
the 15 category system established in the fall of 2011 will continue for 2011-12.


The 15 system-wide indicators are as follows:


1.  Enrolment – Headcount
2.  Underrepresented Students
3.  Compliance with the Student Access Guarantee 
4.  Credit Transfer
5.  Class Size
6.  eLearning
7.  International
8.  Supply Chain Compliance/Broader Public Sector Accountability Act
9.  Space Utilization
10. KPI Student Satisfaction
11.  KPI Graduation Rate
12.  KPI Graduate Employment Rate
13.  Retention Rates by Program Year
14.  Quality of the Learning Environment
15.  Ten Percent Reduction in Executive Office Costs for 2011-12


At the time of drafting this Business Plan, we are still awaiting further instruction from the Ministry; however, the data collection  
is underway and the Business Plan will be updated with the new figures in order to be compliant with the delivery date of June 30th.   
If the Ministry has not yet released its requirement by that date, we will use the 2010-11 model and submit a revision thereafter.


Multi-YeaR accountabilitY aGReeMent (MYaa) 
FoR 2011-12







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


•  Changes in copyright requirements
•	 	 Tuition	fees
•	 	 Operating	funding
•	 	 Capital	funding
•	 	 Shifting	student	demand	and	enrolment	patterns
•	 	 Accreditation	requirements	of	external	agencies
•	 	 MTCU	directions	for	post	secondary	institutions
•	 	 Changes	in	government	directions	for	post	secondary	institutions
•	 	 Changes	in	technology	requirements
•	 	 Cost	of	unfunded	maintenance
•	 	 Cost	of	technology	upgrades
•	 	 Change	in	student	profiles
•	 	 Increase	in	number	of	disabled	students
•	 	 Union	challenges
•	 	 Increased	cost	of	accountability	initiatives
•	 	 Student	technology	expectations	in	a	digital	world
•	 	 Cost	of	bandwidth	increases
•	 	 Increase	professional	development	and	training	requirements	for	employees
•	 	 AODA	requirements


FactoRs outsiDe oF 
tHe contRol oF tHe colleGe


Fa
ct


o
rs


 O
ut


si
d


e 
o


f
Th


e 
C


o
nt


ro
l o


f 
th


e 
C


o
lle


g
e


10







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


There are strong economic reasons  
for Colleges to continue to develop the
skilled knowledge workers of the future
in order that the Ontario economy  
can thrive as it moves through  
this period of uncertainty.







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


O
p


er
at


io
na


l O
ut


co
m


es
, M


aj
o


r 
A


ct
io


ns
 a


nd
 M


ea
su


re
s


12


opeRational outcoMes,  
MajoR actions anD MeasuRes


 2012-17 
Strategic Goals


2012-13 
Initiatives


2012-13 
Measures


Applied Education and Training


AE1.  
Deliver	an	exemplary	applied	education	and	training	 
experience.


AE1.1   
Engage students, faculty and clients to deliver more applied 
research projects.


AE1.2  
Embrace digital education, creating a more flexible,  
engaging, effective and efficient learning environment.


AE1.1  
700 students, 60 faculty and 120 employers engaged in applied 
research projects


AE1.2.1  
Open Education Resource and Etext strategy developed.


AE1.2.2.  
46 programs  converted to mobile (6000 FTE students).


AE1.2.3.  
Online enrolment increased by 200 FTE students.


AE2.  
Create a unique suite of programs, products and services geared 
to meet the needs and expectations of our clients and students.


AE2.1   
Lead  and support Ottawa’s Regional Labour Market Planning and 
Talent Management initiative in collaboration with Employment 
Ontario, industry and community partners.


AE2.2  
Create new offerings and services and enhance existing offerings 
and services which address non post-secondary client needs.


AE2.3 
Increase the number of students in applied degree and graduate 
certificate programs.


AE2.1 
Labour Market Planning and Talent Management activities  
and report completed.


AE2.2  
New/enhanced offerings and services launched including:
•	 	Twelve	new	corporate	training	offerings,	(including	four	 


new technology-enabled offerings)
•	 	New	Language	Institute	hybrid	courses	and	online	 


placement test
•	 Fifteen	new	PDI	offerings


AE2.3  
Applied	degrees	subject	to	decisions	regarding	the	Drummond	
Report. At least one new graduate certificate developed by  
each school. 10 new graduate certificate programs approved.


AE3.  
Leverage technology to enhance the educational experience.


AE3.1  
Convert College Website to WordPress.


AE3.2  
Provide access to the learning management system to local  
and international users on a 7 day, 24 hr/day basis.


AE3.1  
100% conversion of College websites to WordPress completed.


AE3.2  
LM System available on a 99.9% basis.


AE4.  
Provide opportunities for every full-time student to have  
a work experience outside of the classroom.


AE4.1  
Launch the co-curricular record and increase availability  
of volunteer opportunities.


AE4.2   
Embrace experiential learning as a cornerstone of the college 
programming strategy as evidenced by living laboratories,  
simulated work experiences and on site work experiences  
that connect research and practice.


AE4.1  
Co-Curricular Project Coordinator hired.  Plan developed for 
implementation of Orbis software and promotion within College.


AE4.2  
Plan developed to have all full-time programs embed industry 
and/or community work experiences.


(continued)







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


O
p


er
at


io
na


l O
ut


co
m


es
, M


aj
o


r 
A


ct
io


ns
 a


nd
 M


ea
su


re
s


13


2012-17 
Strategic Goals


2012-13 
Initiatives


2012-13 
Measures


Students and Client Success


SC1.  
Deliver	exceptional	service	to	our	diverse	student	 
and client populations.


SC1.1  
Service delivery model, with supporting processes and  
software, in place for Fall, 2012, start-up.


SC1.2  
New functionality tested and in production,  including  
implementation of ACSIS redesign, automation of bursaries,  
and participation in MTCU-funded Pathways Project.


SC1.3  
Health Services Manager (contract) hired and timelines  
established and met re: actioning Phase 1 recommendations 
during 2012/2013.


SC1.4  
Presentation delivered to PEC on recommended long-term 
service delivery model.


SC1.5  
20% increase year-over-year achieved.


SC1.6 
Unaided Brand Awareness increased from 36% to 40% in annual 
brand survey.


SC1.7  
Satisfaction benchmark established.


SC1.1 
Implement new service delivery model in the Student Commons, 
including “triage” processes through Student Success Centre  
(new	name	TBD).


SC1.2 
Provide additional online service applications and tools to 
increase overall efficiency and improve service to clients,  
and in support of the digital college.


SC1.3 
Implement interim service delivery model for Health Services, 
operationalizing the recommendations of the Operational Review 
conducted in January, 2012.


SC1.4 
Define	long-term	service	delivery	model	for	Health	Services.


SC1.5 
Increase the number of Prospective Student Leads collected.


SC1.6 
Increase Algonquin’s brand awareness as a leading provider  
of digitally connected applied education and training.


SC1.7 
Launch bi-annual website & mobile customer satisfaction survey.


SC2.  
Leverage technology to automate and modernize  
our business processes, fostering an environment  
of continuous improvement.


SC2.1   
New functionality tested and in production.


SC2.2 
Analysis of the processes completed and reported to PEC.


SC2.3 
Ten College-wide business processes automated, complete  
with workflow and interface to systems.


SC2.1  
Implement new online functionality to facilitate admission  
and graduation processes.


SC2.2   
Undertake the review and re-engineering of HR business 
processes with the aim to identify, analyze and re-design the way 
work is completed in our current HRIS to improve our customer 
service and increase the value add.


SC2.3 
Automate business processes to enhance productivity, efficiency 
and auditability.


(continued)







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


O
p


er
at


io
na


l O
ut


co
m


es
, M


aj
o


r 
A


ct
io


ns
 a


nd
 M


ea
su


re
s


14


opeRational outcoMes,  
MajoR actions anD MeasuRes (continued)


EP2.  
Create and foster an environment in which our leadership  
model of competencies and behaviours is supported.


EP2.1  
Administrative appraisals and documented professional  
growth and development plans for each Administrative  
position developed.


EP2.2  
Mentorship program piloted and tracking of career  
development opportunities for those employees  
in the talent pool implemented.


EP2.3  
Speaker series established and delivered.


EP2.1    
Implement the revised Administrative Performance Appraisal 
system utilizing Algonquin’s Leadership competencies and  
the creation of development and professional growth plans  
to support the College’s strategic direction.


EP2.2 
Establish a mentoring program and identify specific career  
development pathways for those employees in the talent  
pool for the “High-Risk” roles and critical positions.


EP2.3  
Establish a “Leadership Speaker Series” offered to those  
in the ALEI programs and other leaders within the College.


FS1.  
Align our funded operational expenditures with provincial 
funding.


FS1.1  
Planning completed to implement an RCM budget model  
for the 14/15 budget.


FS1.2  
Self-sufficiency models implemented.


FS1.3  
5 year strategic enrolment pro-forma developed and approved.


FS1.4  
Coordinated curriculum and program development strategy 
developed and implementation of the plan executed.


FS1.5  
85% term-to-term retention rate achieved.


FS1.6  
65% graduation rate achieved.


FS1.1 
Research best practices, consult with internal stakeholders and 
draft a plan to implement a Responsibility Centered Management 
Model that encourages innovation and provides greater autonomy 
and decision making.


FS1.2 
Complete the implementation of self-sufficiency models  
for the Algonquin College Foundation and Applied Research  
and Innovation.


FS1.3   
Develop	a	5	year	strategic	enrolment	pro-forma.


FS1.4 
Coordinated curriculum and program development capacity in 
place to enable the College to move forward with high quality 
program initiatives in a timely manner.


FS1.5 
Achieve an  85% term-to-term retention rate.


FS1.6   
Achieve a 65% student graduation rate.


Financial Sustainability


 2012-17
Strategic Goals


2012-13 
Initiatives


2012-13 
Measures


Empowered People


EP1.  
Attract, develop and retain employees who have the knowledge 
and skills to be fully contributing members of the College.


EP1.1  
Survey completed and reviewed by PEC.


EP1.2  
Faculty performance support plan established  
and pilot launched.


EP1.1 
Administer a detailed Employee Engagement Survey.


EP1.2   
Develop	and	implement	a	new	faculty	performance	support	plan.


(continued)







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


O
p


er
at


io
na


l O
ut


co
m


es
, M


aj
o


r 
A


ct
io


ns
 a


nd
 M


ea
su


re
s


15


 2012-17 
Strategic Goals


2012-13 
Initiatives


2012-13 
Measures


FS2. 
Expand non-funded opportunities to increase revenue.


FS2.1    
1136 FTE international post-secondary students enrolled; 1200 
international students enrolled in overseas campus offerings; 
International contract activity revenue increased to $677K.


FS2.2   
$4 M secured in corporate training revenue; $1.5M secured in 
revenue from government funded contract activity; $1M secured 
in Second Career Strategy revenue; $1.8 M in revenue secured 
from	PDI	offerings.


FS2.1 
Increase revenue from international activities.


FS2.2  
Increase revenue from personal development offerings,  
corporate training and contract activity.


FS3. 
Leverage strategic business partnerships to meet the capital 
needs of the College.


FS3.1  
Event hosted resulting in opportunities identified and plans 
initiated to establish shared services resulting in operating 
efficiencies.


FS3.2  
Market scan and feasibility analysis completed identifying  
the most beneficial strategic partnership opportunities.


FS3.3  
Additional $670K raised for the Perth capital campaign and 
$900K raised for the Pembroke capital campaign to achieve 
targets.  $1M in gift-in-kind donations raised.


FS3.1  
Host and facilitate an event which brings together potential  
partners in the private and public sector with the objective to 
initiate development of an effective shared services model.


FS3.2  
Investigate opportunities to develop strategic partnerships  
and identify alternative sources of capital.


FS3.3 
Build new strategic business partnerships and steward existing 
relationships to generate revenue and in-kind contributions.


FS4. 
Create the technological foundation to align with the digital 
direction.


FS4.1  
Integrated	College	Development	Plan	completed,	providing	 
a	roadmap	of	capital	needs	to	pursue	the	Digital	College	
objectives.


FS4.2  
Multi-year plan to implement ERP system(s) completed  
and approved by PEC.


FS4.3  
BI analysis models implemented to assist the College with 
labour analysis, risk assessment and Strategic Enrollment 
Management.


FS4.4  
Network configuration and improvements completed.   
Through remainder of academic year, core network  
operating at 99.9% availability.


FS4.1  
Establish	an	Integrated	College	Development	Plan	established	
through a process that considers physical and technological 
infrastructure needs together.


FS4.2  
Develop	a	multi-year	implementation	plan	for	Enterprise	Resource	
Planning system(s), (HRIS, Finance, CRM  and Student Information)


FS4.3   
Deliver	business	intelligence	and	analysis	solutions	to	College	
stakeholders.


FS4.4  
Improve the College’s connection to the internet including 
enhanced security, appropriate volume prioritization technology, 
and capacity management strategy.







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


buDGet assuMptions


assuMptions


A number of assumptions were made in the preparation of estimates to be included in the budget. A list of the most significant assumptions 
for 2012-13 follows:


Revenues
•	 	 	Grant	projections	are	based	on	the	assumption	that	the	existing	College	Funding	Framework	(released	in	June	2009)	for	operating	 


and enrolment growth grants will be extended for a fourth year and will be funded at the same rate as the first 3 years of this model;
•	 	 	Tuition	fees	for	funded	programs	were	estimated	to	increase	by	an	average	of	4.5%	under	a	one	year	extension	to	the	existing	tuition	


fee policy for 2012-13;
•	 	 	Enrolment	growth	in	full-time	post	secondary	programs	is	projected	to	increase	by	3.5%	over	2011-12	enrolment	levels	due	to	growth	


in existing programs, the launch of new programs, and improved retention; 
•	 	 	Colleges	will	be	fully	reimbursed	for	the	30%	tuition	discount	implemented	under	the	Ontario	Tuition	Grant	program;	
•	 	 	The	Ministry	of	Training	Colleges	and	Universities’	(MTCU)	Rural	and	Northern	Grant	will	be	maintained	in	2012-13;	and
•	 	 	The	following	other	non-funded	revenue	sources	will	increase	to	respond	to	the	projected	enrolment	increases,	economic	downturn,	


international opportunities and anticipated market conditions:
  o Contract and Corporate Training,
  o International Tuition and
  o College Ancillary Services


Operating Expenditures
•	 	 	Wage	increases	for	non-bargaining	unit	staff	will	not	exceed	the	current	range	of	wage	increases	in	the	public	sector;
•	 	 	Faculty	collective	agreement	settlement	for	September	1,	2012	will	not	exceed	the	current	range	of	wage	settlements	in	the	public	


sector;
•	 	 	The	College	will	augment	its	existing	faculty	complement	with	additional	hires	to	accommodate	projected	enrolment	growth;
•	 	 	The	expansion	of	College	services	including	food	services,	peer	tutoring,	and	Centre	for	Students	with	Disabilities	will	require	several	


additional full-time staff;
•	 	 	Ongoing	efforts	will	be	maintained	to	optimize	the	use	of	existing	full-time	staff	and	reduce	the	reliance	on		part-time	staff;	and
•	 	 	Discretionary	and	non-essential	spending	will	be	reduced	to	ensure	that	the	College	resources	are	appropriately	aligned	within	 


the Province’s funding and tuition fee framework.


B
ud


g
et


 A
ss


um
p


ti
o


ns


16







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


Funding for Strategic Investment Priorities
Through the alignment of operating revenues and expenditures within the Province’s funding and tuition fee framework, the College  
is able to direct contributions from non-funded activities to strategic investment priorities. Priority setting has been based on investments 
that are deemed to be ‘essential’, support the College’s strategic directions, renew curriculum and develop new programs, deliver  
high quality instructional equipment for students, mitigate the risk of physical and technological infrastructure failure, and complete 
construction of the new Pembroke Campus and the Student Commons.


At the March 12, 2012, Board of Governors meeting, approval was granted to utilize $23 million of the College Reserve Funds for the  
new Pembroke Campus. The College portion of the Student Commons facility will be financed through a $22 million Ontario Financing 
Authority Loan Facility. A provision to service this debt has been incorporated in the annual budget.
The College is appreciative of the Students’ Association contributions towards the following expansion projects:
•	 	 $30,000,000	for	the	new	Student	Commons	facility;
•	 	 $4,300,000	for	the	new	Pembroke	Campus;	and
•	 	 $800,000	for	the	new	Perth	Campus	facility.


These additional funds will enable all three campuses to provide greater service offerings to students.
The College is also appreciative of the many donors that are contributing towards the capital construction costs of the following expansion 
projects:
•	 	 $7.5	million	for	the	Algonquin	College	Centre	for	Construction	Excellence
•	 	 $2.5	million	for	the	new	Pembroke	Campus;	and
•	 	 $1	million	for	the	new	Perth	Campus	facility.


The Algonquin College Foundation is reporting that the campaigns have achieved 95% of their campaign target goals at this time.
A	provision	of	$6	million	has	been	established	to	fund	strategic	priorities	in	2012-13.	Decisions	on	how	these	funds	will	be	used	for	 
strategic priorities are pending and will be communicated to the Board of Governors at a future date.


Expenditures from Internally Restricted Funds
The College has consistently grown its accumulated surplus balance over the past 7 years in the Internally Restricted Fund accounts.   
These funds are managed and grown to provide resources to fund both short-term requirements and long-term capital expansion  
plans such as the $23 million investment in the new Pembroke Campus. Once the 2011-12 financial statements are finalized a proposal  
will be presented to the Board of Governors to grant approval to use a portion of the Internally Restricted Funds to fund many other 
strategic and transformational initiatives.


While the Pembroke fundraising campaign is on track to meet its goal, a portion of donor commitments have been made in the form  
of pledges. These pledges will be converted to cash donations over the next 5 years. To provide the cash flow required to complete this 
project this year, the College has determined that the best course of action is to establish an internal ‘borrowing’ from the College’s 
reserve funds (same as was done for Perth and ACCE facilities last year). These borrowed funds will be paid back over the next 5 years  
as the pledges are converted to cash donations.


B
ud


g
et


 A
ss


um
p


ti
o


ns


17







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


1211


We believe this budget is reasonable under the circumstances. The following identifies and assesses major risks:


RISKS SCHEDULE


RisKs anD buDGet iMpact


Risks Identification Impact in 
2012-13


Likelihood in 
2012-13


Risk Management


Enrolment Less than Projection resulting in Reduced 
Tuition Fees


Moderate Low •	New	Programs
•	Retention	Initiatives
•	Reduce	Direct	Expenses
•		Reduce	Planned	 


Contributions to 
Reserves


•	Increase	Winter	Intakes


Provincial Operating Grants Less than Budgeted Moderate Moderate •	Reduce	Direct	Expenses
•		Review	Programs	and	


Services for Efficiencies
•		Defer	Strategic	One	


Time Investments


Other Revenues Less than Budgeted High Moderate •	International	Initiatives
•	Contract	Training
•	New	Ancillary	Services


Labour Relations Moderate Moderate •		Monitor	Government	
Actions


•				Advocate	for	Additional	
Government Funding


•		Budget	Provision	for	
Additional Positions


•		Management	of	the	
Arbitration Process  
and Costs


•		Faculty	Staff	 
Bargaining


Information Technology Assets and Services –  
Business Interruption


High Low •		Contingency	Accounts	
Available


•		Business	Continuity/
Disaster	Recovery	Plan


Facilities Quality and Space Constraints Moderate Low •		Develop	Alternative	
Growth Strategies


•		Leverage	Use	of	 
Technology


•	New	Facilities


R
is


k 
&


 B
ud


g
et


 Im
p


ac
t


18







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


The Business Plan for 2012-13 is supported  
by the 2012-13 Budget and both plans  
have clear metrics to be used when  
measuring outcomes.







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


Su
m


m
ar


y 
o


f 
F


un
d


ed
 P


o
st


io
ns


20


suMMaRY oF FunDeD positions


 
4th Quarter
2011-12


Position  
Changes


Annual Budget
2012-13


Admin Support Academic Total
Positions
Opened


Positons
Closed


Positions
Transferred Admin Support Academic Total


President and Board of Governors


     President and Board of Governors 3 - - 3 - - - 3 - - 3


     Total 3 - - 3 - - - 3 - - 3


Human Resources


     Human Resources 22 2 1 25 - - - 22 2 1 25


     Total 22 2 1 25 - - - 22 2 1 25


Administration


     Vice-President’s Office 2 - - 2 - - - 2 - - 2


     College Ancillary Services 17 68 - 85 3 - - 18 70 - 88


     Finance & Administrative Services 7 28 - 35 1 - - 7 29 - 36


     Physical Resources 14 39 - 53 - - - 14 39 - 53


     Total 40 135 - 175 4 - - 41 138 - 179


Student Services


     Vice-President’s Office 2 - - 2 - - - 2 - - 2


     Student Support Services 7 22 16 45 2 - - 7 23 17 47


     Registrar 10 58 - 68 1 - - 10 59 - 69


     Total 19 80 16 115 3 - - 19 82 17 118


Business Development


     Vice-President’s Office 3 1 - 4 - - - 3 1 - 4


     Applied Research & Development 2 - - 2 - - - 2 - - 2


     Algonquin College Foundation 3 2 - 5 - - - 3 2 - 5


     Information, Institutional Research and Technology Services 9 66 - 75 1 - - 10 66 - 76


     International & Corporate Business Developement 9 11 21 41 - - - 9 11 21 41


     Workforce & Personal Developement 2 3 - 5 - - - 2 3 - 5


     Total 28 83 21 132 1 - - 29 83 21 133


(continued)







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


Su
m


m
ar


y 
o


f 
F


un
d


ed
 P


o
st


io
ns


21


 
4th Quarter
2011/2012


Position 
Changes


Annual Budget  
2012-13


Admin Support Academic Total
Positions
Opened


Positons
Closed


Positions
Transferred Admin Support Academic Total


Academic Services


     Vice-President’s Office 12 3 5 20 7 - (1) 12 2 12 26


     School / College Work Initiative - - - - - - 1 - 1 - 1


     Faculty of Arts, Media & Design 7 28 107 142 - - - 7 28 107 142


     School of Business 5 9 81 95 - - - 5 9 81 95


     School of Hospitality & Tourism 3 9 37 49 - - 3 9 37 49


     Faculty of Technology & Trades 8 36 148 192 - (24) 6 25 137 168


     Algonquin College Heritage Institute - - - - - 24 2 11 11 24


     Facutly of Health, Public Safety & Community Studies 8 31 125 164 - - 8 31 125 164


     Learning & Teaching Services 5 22 4 31 - (1) 5 21 4 30


     Mobile Computing - - - - - 1 - 1 - 1


     Centre for Continuing and Online Learning 4 17 - 21 - - 4 17 - 21


     Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley 6 27 25 58 - - 6 27 25 58


     Total 58 182 532 772 7 - - 58 182 539 779


Advancement


     Executive Director’s Office 3 2 - 5 - - - 3 2 - 5


     Recruitment 2 6 - 8 - - - 2 6 - 8


     Marketing Services 2 8 - 10 - - - 2 8 - 10


     Total 7 16 - 23 - - - 7 82 - 23


SUBTOTAL 177 498 570 1245 15 - - 179 503 578 1260


     Positions to be Closed in the Future - - - - - (21) - - - - (21)


COLLEGE TOTAL 1239







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


13


20
12


-1
3 


P
ro


je
ct


ed
 E


nr
o


lm
en


t 
vs


.
20


11
-1


2 
A


ct
ua


l E
nr


o
lm


en
t


22


2012-13 pRojecteD enRolMent vs.  
2011-12 actual enRolMent


 Post Secondary/Post Diploma Applied Degree Co-op Diploma Apprenticeship


FACULTY/SCHOOL
Projected
2012-13


Actual 
(unaudited) 
2011-12 Change


Projected
2012-13


Actual 
(unaudited) 
2011-12 Change


Projected
2012-13


Actual 
(unaudited) 
2011-12 Change


Arts, Media & Design


     Level 1 2450 2509 (59) 31 31 - - - -


     Returning 3946 3858 88 212 234 (22) - - -


     TOTAL 6396 6367 29 243 265 (22) - - -


%
 Change


Business


     Level 1 1843 1775 68 45 47 (2) - - -


     Returning 4861 4849 12 243 242 1 - - -


     TOTAL 6704 6624 80 288 289 (1) - - -


Hospitality & Tourism


     Level 1 1010 968 42 40 40 - - - -


     Returning 1602 1542 60 137 45 92 - - -


     TOTAL 2612 2510 102 177 85 92 - - -


Technology & Trades


     Level 1 2426 2219 207 - - - - - -


     Returning 5011 4861 150 - 1 (1) - - -


     TOTAL 7437 7080 357 - 1 (1) - - -


Health, Public Safety & Community Studies


     Level 1 2110 2082 28 - - - - - -


     Returning 4941 4728 213 - - - - - -


     TOTAL 7051 6810 241 - - - - - -


(continued)







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


20
12


/1
3 


P
ro


je
ct


ed
 E


nr
o


lm
en


t 
vs


.
20


11
/1


2 
A


ct
ua


l E
nr


o
lm


en
t


23


Business Development


     Level 1 33 36 (3) - - - - - -


     Returning 30 31 (1) - - - - - -


     TOTAL 63 67 (4) - - - - - -


Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley


     Level 1 494 456 38 - - - 20 14 6


     Returning 889 823 66 - - - 32 27 5


     TOTAL 1383 1279 104 - - - 52 41 11


TOTAL Level 1 10634 10299 335 116 118 (2) 20 14 6


TOTAL Returning 21561 20862 699 592 522 70 32 27 5


TOTAL 32195 31161 1034 708 640 68 52 41 11


 Post Secondary/Post Diploma Applied Degree Co-op Diploma Apprenticeship


FACULTY/SCHOOL
Projected
2012-13


Actual 
(unaudited) 
2011-12 Change


Projected
2012-13


Actual 
(unaudited) 
2011-12 Change


Projected
2012-13


Actual 
(unaudited) 
2011-12 Change


%
 Change


3.2%


3.6%


3.5%


Centre for Continuing & Online Learning


     Level 1 268 254 14 - - - - - -


     Returning 281 170 111 - - - - - -


     TOTAL 549 424 125 - - - - - -







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


P
ro


 F
o


rm
a 


Su
m


m
ar


y


24


pRo FoRMa suMMaRY


Impact of the Ontario Budget speech in not reflected  
in these projections


(all figures in $000’s)
Annual Budget  
2011-12


Annual Budget  
2012-13


Pro Forma  
2013-14


Prom Forma  
2014-15


Funded Activity/College Operation


     Revenue 176,147 190,813 196,547 201,630


     Expentitures 185,842 190,813 196,547 201,630


     Net Cash Flow (9,695) - - -


Contract Activity


     Revenue 30,810 27,781 29,192 30,068


     Expentitures 24,211 23,405 24,720 25,497


     Net Cash Flow 6,599 4,376 4,472 4,571


College Ancillary Services


     Revenue 40,245 40,641 41,454 42,283


     Expentitures 35,937 36,585 37,657 38,403


     Net Cash Flow 4,308 4,056 3,797 3,880


International Education Centre


     Revenue 12,641 16,575 17,685 19,471


     Expentitures 5,080 12,032 13,011 14,238


     Net Cash Flow 7,561 4,543 4,674 5,233


Strategic Investment Priorities


     Revenue 66,948 48,796 1,885 585


     Expentitures 74,721 60,771 13,828 13,296


     Net Cash Flow (7,773) (11,975) (11,943) (12,684)


(continued)


NET CASH FLOW 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000







Algonquin College - Business Plan 2012–2013


P
ro


 F
o


rm
a 


Su
m


m
ar


y


25


Impact of the Ontario Budget speech in not reflected  
in these projections


(all figures in $000’s)
Annual Budget  
2011-12


Annual Budget  
2012-13


Pro Forma  
2013-14


Prom Forma  
2014-15


Add:


     Capital Assets (net) 44,358 32,974 5,350 5,350


     Principal Portion of Debt Payments 1,745 2,053 2,386 2,544


     Contributions to Internally Restricted Funds 3,998 2,580 1,080 1,080


Less:


     Loan Proceeds (33,319) (23,822) - -


     Amortization (net) (6,513) (7,230) (8,106) (8,106)


     Change in Vacation, Sick Leave and Post-Employment Benefits (356) 517 71 51


NET CONTRIBUTION (before Internally Restricted Fund Expenditures) 10,913 8,072 1,781 1,918


     Expenditures from Internally Restricted Funds* (9,202) (4,800) - -


NET CONTRIBUTION (as per GAAP) 1,711 3,272 1,781 1,918


Net Assets  


     Unrestricted 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000


     Investement in Capital Assets 31,541 55,731 55,361 55,149


     Vacation, Sick Leave and Post-Employment Benefits (16,144) (13,842) (13,771) (13,719)


     Internally Restricted     


          Appropriations - - - -


          Specific Reserves 9,446 8,585 8,981 9,824


          General Reserve Funds** 42,794 22,970 24,654 25,888


     Interest Rate Swaps (9,369) (8,744) (8,120) (7,900)


     Endowments 15,271 15,871 16,471 17,071


TOTAL NET ASSETS 74,539 81,571 84,576 87,313












 


    
 
MEETING NUMBER FOUR HUNDRED AND SEVENTY FOUR  (THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING) 
OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF ALGONQUIN COLLEGE WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY, JUNE 
11, 2012, BEGINNING AT 5:00 P.M. IN THE ROSSER BOARDROOM, C539, WOODROFFE CAMPUS 


AGENDA 
Item  Tab #


1.  Conflict of Interest Declaration


2.  Approval of Previous Minutes of May 14, 2012 1


3.  Business Arising 


4.  Presentations 
a. Funding Reduction for the Ontario Special Bursaries Program 
b. Strategic Programs & Services Review Update 


2 
3 
 


5.  Decision Items & Reports


  5.1  Program Approvals
a. Early Childhood Education Administration 
b. Mobile and Social Media Management 
c. Environmental Management and Assessment 


     


4 
5 
6 


  5.2  Report of the Governance Committee
a. Board Officers & Committee Members 2012/13 
b. Bylaws 1, 3, 4, 5  
c. Financial Management Policy 
d. Audit Committee Terms of Reference 


7 
8 
9 
10 
 


  5.3  4th Quarter Financial Results & Audited Financial Statements  11
 


  5.4  Report of the Audit Committee
 


a. Contingency Fund Reserve Request 
b. Appointment of Auditors 


 


 
12 
 
 


  5.5   Endowment Fund Performance  13


  5.6  2012/13 Business Plan in MTCU Format
 


14


  5.7  2011/12 Annual Report in MTCU Format 15


  5.8   2012/17 Strategic Plan in MTCU Format 16


  5.9  Banking Officers Resolution 17


6.  Report of the Chair 
 


7.  Report of the President
 


8.  Management Summary Report 18


9.  Other Business (if applicable)


10.  In Camera Session 
 












Contents


CONTENTS


Message from the Chair, Board of Governors    .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 1


Message from the President  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 2


Student Success  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 4


Academic Leadership  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 7


Service Excellence   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 10


Employee Development  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 12


Resource Management  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 16


Algonquin College Foundation .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 18


Financial Report  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 21 


A Lasting Legacy  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 22


College at a Glance  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 23


Board Members and Senior Management  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 24


College Academic Council Report  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 26


Key Performance Indicator Performance Report  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 29


Advertising and Marketing Complaints Report  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 29


Multi-Year Accountability Agreement Report Back  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . 30







1MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR, BOARD OF GOVERNORS


Message from the Chair, Board of Governors 


2011–2012 was another momentous year for 
Algonquin College. We completed the work of our 
2008–2013 Strategic Plan a year ahead of schedule, 
and the Board of Governors was pleased to approve a 
new plan for the College to take Algonquin to 2017.


We opened the doors to our groundbreaking Centre for Construction Excellence, 
broke ground on a new Student Commons, completed the work on renewing our 
Perth Campus and continued the revitalization of our campus in Pembroke .  
We introduced new programs, struck new partnerships and continued to branch 
out internationally .


It was also last year that Algonquin’s longstanding President, Robert Gillett, 
announced his plan to retire . Over the 17 years he has served the College, 
President Gillett has been a tireless driver of change, insistent on keeping  
the College focused on Student Success as its prime goal, and on ensuring  
its relevance to the needs of learners, employers and partners .


All of us on the Board are grateful for Robert Gillett’s contributions to the  
College . His leadership has defined Algonquin as it is today, and provided  
a strong foundation for Algonquin going into the future .


That foundation will be indispensable . Demographics are shifting, funding  
for postsecondary education is subject to fiscal restraint, and the College — like 
all colleges in Ontario — is having to reinvent its business model . Robert Gillett 
has equipped Algonquin to address those challenges with an entrepreneurial 
mindset — to be adaptable, flexible and responsive to emerging opportunities 
and to embrace emerging technologies that enhance the learning experience  
of our students .


On behalf of the entire College, and particularly the Board, I want to wish Bob 
the very best, and as of August 20, 2012 to welcome into the President’s office 
Kent MacDonald our former Vice President Academic and a worthy, capable 
successor to Mr . Gillett .


We look forward to working with Dr . MacDonald to take Algonquin forward on  
its journey to 2017 .


Michael Dunlop 
Chair, Board of Governors







2


The 2011-2012 academic year was one of significant 
change and transformation. The College prepared for 
an extended period of fiscal constraint while demand 
for its domestic and international programs and 
services continued to increase by three to four 
percent annually. 


The need to provide increased access and greater support services was seen  
in the Multi-Year Accountability Agreement results as well as the College’s Key 
Performance Indicator Performance Report . Although Algonquin made good progress 
on retention this past year, it is very clear there is a wide range of needs among 
the students the College currently serves . As well, those students come with 
expectations that the assistance they received in high school will be continued, 
yet colleges are not funded to provide that level of support . Algonquin is piloting 
new ways of reaching out to students to provide support using digital tools, which 
have the advantage of not being tied to time and geography and, in addition, are 
more in line with how the students connect with each other on a daily basis .


Having examined its existing Strategic Plan (2008-2013) and seeing the clouds 
of change on the horizon, the College engaged in a massive visioning exercise . 
Looking out as far as 2020, Algonquin sought to ascertain the expectations of the  
students, clients, employees and communities for this institution, as postsecondary 
education institutions around the world continued their transformation into the 
digital world and the world of connected students .


Having completed for the most part all of the goals set out in its 2008-2013 
Strategic Plan, it was evident Algonquin needed a new Strategic Plan forged in 
recognition of the massive changes that have occurred over the past five years . 
The College embraced the trends evident in its environmental scan and set a 
course to embrace the significant challenges that lay ahead .


Over the past two years, Algonquin has been engaged in the most significant 
renewal of its capital infrastructure in its history, with a new campus opening in 
Perth and the new Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence at the Woodroffe 
Campus opening in the fall of 2011 . This coming fall, a new waterfront campus 
will open in Pembroke and a new Student Commons will open at the Woodroffe 
campus in Ottawa, concluding the College’s four major renewal projects . Support 
from all levels of government as well as the outstanding fundraising contribution 
from the private sector and the three communities was most appreciated, and 
was a clear demonstration of the commitment of the stakeholder community  
to the ongoing work of the College .


Message from the President


MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT







3


In terms of the fiscal picture, Algonquin once again delivered a balanced  
budget to its Board of Governors . That budget embedded the realignment of 
Algonquin’s funded and non-funded operations to reflect the challenges faced  
by the provincial government as well as the challenges that lie ahead in this 
constrained fiscal environment . 


On behalf of the Board of Governors and the management team of Algonquin 
College, I want to thank the students, employees, partners and stakeholders for 
all that they have done to make the College successful . It has once again been a 
year of tremendous achievement of which we can all be proud . I also want to say 
a special thanks to our Students’ Association, which has been a major contributor 
to the overall success of the College and a strong partner the College has always 
been able to count on .


Robert C.  Gillett 
President


MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT CONTINUED


Algonquin continued its digital journey with further expansion of its hybrid and 
online courses and programs and the introduction of some very innovative new 
digital services for students . The College’s entire technical foundation has been 
strengthened and its wireless and Internet services enhanced to reflect an 
exponential increase in demand . The average student now carries 2 .5 mobile 
devices . Learners expect the College to communicate with them through these 
devices, and to deliver the software and educational material and support 
services they need — when and where they need them .


Algonquin is firmly committed to being an educational leader in the digital world 
and will continue to leverage the digital tools of the 21st century as well as social 
media opportunities to enhance the educational choices and delivery modalities 
available to students, connecting in ways that are meaningful to them .


Algonquin expanded its international efforts with new offshore partnerships, 
increased recruitment and expanded language opportunities . It increased its 
corporate and contract training services and has entered into a number of new 
relationships with the business community involving applied research . This has 
provided opportunities for faculty and students to work on real-life problems 
using new equipment and facilities, and to engage in professional dialogue  
in ways they would not otherwise have been able .







4


A Foundation for the Future
In 2012, Algonquin completed the work of its  
2008–2013 Strategic Plan, achieving the objectives 
set out in it a full year ahead of schedule. That plan 
focused the activities of the College on four themes: 
Academic Leadership, Service Excellence, Employee 
Development and Resource Management. A new plan 
developed over the course of the past year builds  
on the momentum and puts forward a set of refined 
objectives for the next five years — with student 
success remaining the College’s central focus.


The signs of success
Postsecondary enrolment at Algonquin exceeded 15,000 full-time students in 
2011–2012, with overall full-time enrolment approaching 20,000 . Term-to-term 
retention climbed to 84 percent from the fall of 2011 to winter 2012 . Students 
performed extremely well on national exams — with a 98 percent success rate  
for those in Dental Hygiene and 100 percent for those in the College’s Respiratory 
Therapy and Paramedic programs (marking the tenth year in a row for Paramedic 
students) . More than 1000 learners were enrolled in Algonquin dual-credit/Level 1 
Apprenticeship programs — with a collective success rate of 87 percent . And  
96 percent of apprentices with disabilities passed their courses .


Achieving results like these demands active support of students and the creation 
of opportunities for them to excel . As an example, Algonquin peer tutors delivered 
more than 10,000 sessions last year . Further, the College co-hosted 2011’s Make 
the CUT alongside Carleton University . CUT in this case stands for College 
University Transition and helps prepare Grade 12 students with learning 
disabilities or attention deficit/hyperactivity disorders for college or university .


Algonquin made many programs more accessible by developing more than 200 
online and hybrid courses in 2011–2012 . Students from 97 countries engaged in 
online learning . These examples point to the increasingly central role technology 
plays in the Algonquin environment as a college committed to digital technologies . 
Last year the College’s wireless network carried 426,260,386,765,865 bits of 
information, the equivalent of nearly 85,000 music CDs . While in 1996 users of 
campus lab computers outnumbered devices by 50 to one, by 2011–2012, the 
ratio had flipped radically, with more than two devices per user at the College .


STUDENT SUCCESS


STUDENT SUCCESS
The most important measure of Algonquin’s performance is the success of its  


students — both while they are actively enrolled in College programs and after  


graduation as they make their way in the world.







5


Meeting the needs of today’s learners
In June 2011, the Ontario government announced $6 .6 million in funding to support 
the Algonquin Digital College project, which aims to see significantly more Algonquin 
programs, particularly those in high demand, available and supported online .


Today, 51 Algonquin programs are offered online . Fifteen additional full-time 
programs — including three with high enrolments — were identified for online 
development last year . Through its curriculum-review process, Algonquin 
continues to identify new online program opportunities and convert theory 
courses into hybrid delivery formats . The College plans to further expand its 
hybrid and full online offerings, reviewing and adapting 20 percent of all 
courses and programs in each of the next five years .


Mobility is a particular priority for Algonquin as it seeks to provide learners greater 
access and flexibility . In September 2011, the College converted 27 traditional 
programs to its Mobile Learning Program format, enhancing the learning experience 
for 2,300 students . For fall 2012, the number of programs will climb to 71 . Meetings 
were held over the winter of 2011–2012 to prepare staff for this expanded rollout, 
which will involve some 6,200 full-time students .


Algonquin will continue to support mobile access by ensuring all licensed 
software can be downloaded to mobile devices, and that new apps facilitate 
mobile access, learning and service acquisition .


Investing in online learning will increase Algonquin’s capacity across all 
campuses and ensure physical space is available for applied learning facilities 
to support growing enrolment demands .


Putting knowledge into practice
Applied learning is a key ingredient in Algonquin’s efforts to foster student 
success, requiring collaboration with industry and other partners . In April  
2011, students, faculty, and local businesses showcased their leadership and 
innovation at the ninth annual Algonquin College Applied Research Day — hosted 
in partnership with the Ottawa Centre for Research and Innovation (OCRI) and 
the Ontario Centres of Excellence (OCE) . The event attracted a crowd of more than 
1,000 and featured 67 project displays from a variety of sectors including the 
environment, information technology and healthcare — a record for the College .


By March 2012, 517 Algonquin students had engaged in 90 in-class applied 
research projects . This included work by students in the Electrical Engineering 
Technology program that saw the delivery of a full-sized prototype scoreboard 
which interfaced with software developed to improve time and score keeping  
for hockey . In addition, 30 standalone projects were undertaken with various 
industry partners that resulted in the employment of over 100 students .


STUDENT SUCCESS CONTINUED


Last winter, Hydro One made a second $3-million commitment to educating  
and training its future workforce by funding bursaries, scholarships, curriculum 
development, diversity initiatives, applied research and equipment to educate 
the next generation of energy professionals at four colleges within its Hydro One 
College Consortium: Algonquin, Georgian, Mohawk and Northern .


Another key announcement related to applied learning at Algonquin came in 
February 2012 when the Honourable John Baird, Member of Parliament for Ottawa 
West–Nepean announced up to $750,000 in funding to support innovative 
partnerships between Algonquin College and 22 small and medium-sized 
businesses . The partnerships will focus on applied research, engineering  
design, technology development, product testing, and certification, and will  
bring growth and long-term economic benefits to southern Ontario .


Turning investments into innovations
By partnering with the local business community, Algonquin College’s Office  
of Applied Research and Innovation has helped save local companies hundreds 
of thousands of dollars in research costs and bring ideas to market years faster . 
With $334,000 in funding from the Government of Canada for research 
equipment announced in 2011, the College will be able to continue to make 
those kinds of contributions . Equipment purchased with those funds included:


•	 A	3D	printer	to	provide	rapid	prototyping	for	design	and	engineering	for	the	
Faculty of Technology and Trades, and the Faculty of Arts, Media and Design;


•	 A	mobile	science	unit	with	on-board	research	instrumentation	for	
environmental research by the Forestry Program at the Pembroke Campus;


•	 Upgrades	and	enhancements	to	the	infrastructure	needed	by	the	Fibre	
Optical Networks Research component of the College’s Photonics program;


•	 Lasers	to	rapidly	prototype	and	test	novel	optics	for	the	Faculty	of	Technology	
and Trades;


•	 IT	equipment	and	applications	including	servers	to	support	collaboration	
with partners . 


This equipment funding for Algonquin College came as a part of the Natural 
Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) College and 
Community Innovation (CCI) Program’s Applied Research Tools and Instruments 
(ARTI) Grants . 







6


Making their mark
Algonquin students proved their mettle last year both in competition and in the 
community . Teams from the College took home a gold medal from the Ontario 
Colleges Marketing Competition (OCMC) in Sales Account Management and  
a silver medal in Retail . Justin Thompson, a BUAD-Accounting student, won  
a summer internship through the National Capital Leadership Challenge . Two 
Algonquin students medalled in the Ontario Skills Competition . Several students 
received International Education Centre (IEC) Student Awards: Mani Azeri (Turkey), 
School of Business (Business Marketing); Yoshikazu Kono (Japan), School of 
Media and Design – Florist program; Tanner Watnem (USA), School of Advanced 
Technology – Electrical Engineering Technician; and Meenakshi Mukherjee (India), 
School of Health and Community Studies — Social Service Worker . As well, 
Bachelor of Information Technology graduate Matthew Davis and Business 
Marketing grad Dave Hale were nominated for the FuEL Awards, which recognize 
Canada’s top 20 entrepreneurs under the age of 30 . Dave Hale became a 
recipient of the award .


In winter 2012, a team consisting of students from three Ontario institutions —  
including Algonquin College — became one of 20 to earn a place in the U .S . 
Department of Energy 2013 Solar Decathlon . The competition challenges groups 
from around the world to design, build and operate solar-powered houses that 
are cost-effective, energy-efficient and attractive . All teams are now in the  
midst of an 18-month process to refine and build their designs before carefully 
taking them apart and shipping them to the competition site in Irvine, California . 
The Algonquin contingent is drawn from programs housed in the new Algonquin 
Centre for Construction Excellence and from the Advanced Housing program  
at the Perth Campus .


In terms of giving back to the community, Algonquin students applied their skills 
and energy to supporting numerous social causes — volunteering, fundraising 
and boosting awareness of important issues . The Event Management program set 
a fundraising record raising over $105,000 for the Children’s Wish Foundation 
and reaching more than $425,000 with their activities over the last five years .  
In May 2011, the College was honoured with the Education Division-Community 
Builder Award for its past campaigns . In 2011 the College raised $106,000 for 
the United Way, including $5,700 directly from students .


In October 2011, Algonquin welcomed Canadian Paralympian Rick Hansen to the 
Woodroffe Campus as he celebrated the 25th anniversary of his cross-Canada 
Man in Motion World Tour . Addressing a full house of students and staff, Hansen 
challenged all to become ‘change makers’ .


STUDENT SUCCESS CONTINUED


“Through applied research and the 


engagement of industry leaders, the 


College will take advantage of the 


most recent advances in bandwidth, 


storage technologies, Internet-


delivered video, social networking  


and interactive tools to provide 


students with a rich multimedia 


learning experience that is designed  


to promote collaboration between 


students, faculty, and industry as  


they progress through their studies.” 


Robert C. Gillett 
President, Algonquin College


7,743 
Students graduated in 2011 — the largest 
graduating class in Algonquin’s history. 







7


For Algonquin, academic leadership is not only  
about meeting the needs of learners, employers and 
communities today but also anticipating those needs 
tomorrow — and developing programs and learning 
experiences to meet them. In the global context, that 
means thinking of the whole world as our community, 
and finding new ways of connecting students to it.


A process of continual enrichment
Algonquin worked actively over the course of the past year to enhance its academic 
offerings, continuing the activities associated with its Strategic Programs  
and Services Planning (SPSP) initiative, which was launched by the Board of 
Governors in 2009 . Through the SPSP project, every program and service offered 
by Algonquin was assessed in 2010, with recommendations made to the Board 
for changes, additions and suspensions . Last year, as a follow-on to that work, 
the College reviewed the implementation status of those recommendations as 
well as the associated implementation plans, and gathered updated information 
to guide further enhancement decisions .


Related to its program review process, Algonquin introduced several new 
programs last year, including:


Ontario College Diplomas


•	 Office	Administration	–	Medical	


•	 Horticultural	Industries	


•	 Mobile	Application	Design	and	Development


•	 Mechanical	Technician	–	Industrial	Millwright


Ontario College Graduate Certificates


•	 International	Business	Management	


•	 Business	Intelligence	System	Analyst	


•	 Nonprofit	Sector	Management	


•	 Financial	Services	


The College put forward proposals for graduate certificates and degrees to further 
enrich its program offerings; one degree is now awaiting Ministry approval and 
consent, two degrees are in development for submission to the Postsecondary 
Education  Quality Assessment Board (PEQAB), and there are 10 graduate 
certificates in various stages of development . 


The College introduced two new accredited Certificate Programs for the corporate 
market — Project Management Essentials and Business Analysis Essentials . 
Overall, Algonquin delivered corporate training to 235 client organizations last 
year, up 23 percent from the previous year .


The College also added 270 dual credit seats — bringing the total to 1020 .  
These are courses that allow high school students to earn, simultaneously, 
secondary and postsecondary academic credits . As such, they serve both  
as an academic preparation mechanism and as a recruiting tool .


To support the College’s pursuit of an annual enrolment growth rate of 3 .5 percent, 
Algonquin reinstituted its Strategic Enrolment Management Committee (SEMC) . 
Building off previous enrolment management efforts, the committee met regularly 
over the course of the year, to develop a shared vision, mandate and coordinating 
framework that will ensure SEMC objectives and plans are aligned with the College’s 
new Strategic Plan, and support institution-wide efforts in the areas of retention, 
recruitment, program planning, business intelligence, and student success . 


ACADEMIC LEADERSHIP
Algonquin is committed to enhancing student success by providing an enriching and 


challenging learning experience delivered by engaged employees and supported by 


quality curriculum and resources.


ACADEMIC LEADERSHIP







8


Delivering unique learning  
opportunities
Throughout 2011–2012, Algonquin earned recognition for the distinctive strengths 
of many of its programs . More than 100 attendees gathered for the launch of its 
Hospitality and Tourism Management Degree program in May 2011 — a four-year 
program and one of just a few in Canada designed to prepare graduates for 
management careers in international hospitality and tourism .


The College’s Developmental Services Worker program received a $100,000 
Commemorative Bursary from the Rideau Regional Centre Association to support 
financially challenged students in their studies — recognition of the continued 
importance of that program to the community — and Algonquin’s business 
programs received $200,000 from the Scotiabank Bright Future Community 
Giving Program to establish a similar bursary for their students .


Several programs participated in innovative learning exercises over the course  
of the year: students in the School of Health and Community Studies participated 
in simulation scenarios between Cork, Ireland, the Algonquin Simulation Lab 
and McGill University; Mechanical Technician students in the School of Advanced 
Technology manufactured parts for a Carleton University crash test dummy design 
project; six students from the School of Hospitality and Tourism participated in 
exchanges with Tanzania and Montenegro; and a group from the School of Media 
and Design captured on video a ‘flash mob’ involving Darth Vader and the Ottawa 
Youth Choir that went viral over social media at Christmas .


Partnerships have always been important to the success of Algonquin programs . 
A number of partnerships developed last year are producing new opportunities 
for students — and faculty — to develop their skills and explore their fields . 
Several examples of these partnerships include: 


•	 Nursing	Studies	partnering	with	Laerdal	Canada	to	develop	a	series	of	
simulation applications that will be available on the new Laerdal simulation 
application site — making Algonquin’s team the first at the postsecondary 
level in Canada to develop such applications . 


•	 The	College’s	Library	and	Information	Technician	program	partnering	with	
Knowledge Ontario to provide students with an internship for AskOn, a virtual 
reference service . AskOn allows students to gain real-life experience helping 
clients in public or academic libraries find research material — all via a 
chat software package . 


Exercising our powers of attraction
Algonquin engaged in a number of recruitment activities over the course  
of the year . Its Future Students website drew 1 .1 million visits in 2011–12,  
an increase of 4 .6% from the year before . Algonquin representatives made  
878 presentations to prospective students and their influencers, generating  
more than 43,641 program applications .


Following recruitment events like these, as well as campus tours and training 
sessions, the College collected 200 client surveys to help hone its approach .  
To improve efficiency, Algonquin integrated its recruitment customer relationship 
management (CRM) and email marketing automation systems .


The College completed six best-practice reports last year on recruitment, 
marketing and communications, covering recruitment events, websites, social 
media, blogging and webinars . Algonquin launched a phase 1 virtual tour microsite 
in July 2011 and its Facebook campaign generated 900,000 impressions — doubling  
‘likes’ to 3,839 and increasing Facebook lead generation by 345 percent .


As a result of efforts like these, fall term applications from students whose  
first choice is Algonquin have increased by 2 .5 percent year over year to reach 
38 .5 percent of total applications . While demographics are shifting, reducing the 
numbers of potential entrants from high school, Algonquin continues to outperform 
the system average — last year by roughly 3 .7 percent . 


Going forward, the College is developing a new marketing plan to inform its 
retention strategy, conducting student surveys related to retention and using 
business intelligence software to integrate databases related to enrolment .


ACADEMIC LEADERSHIP CONTINUED







9


Engaging with the world
A critical focus for recruitment and enrolment is the vast body of international 
learners seeking postsecondary education . Algonquin unveiled a plan in June 
2011 to grow international student enrolment and become the fourth-largest 
Ontario College by 2013 . As of the end of the 2011–2012 fiscal year, Algonquin 
had enrolled 1,032 full-time students and 2,770 English-as-a-Second-Language 
(ESL) learners .


The International Marketing and Recruitment Team attended fairs and participated 
in recruitment events in Russia, Colombia, Brazil, Saudi Arabia, and India . In 
addition, the College received a delegation representing the Caribbean Community 
and Common Market’s Education for Employment initiative — along with a 
representative from the Trinidad and Tobago National Training Authority —  
to visit its Nursing, Media and Hospitality labs .


Algonquin carried out numerous projects through international agreements last 
year . It launched English-as-a-Second-Language (ESL) Electrical Technician and 
Mechanical Technician–Industrial Millwright programs at the Jazan Economic 
City Polytechnic College in Saudi Arabia and conducted an ESL assessment of 
435 students at the institute . Six Algonquin faculty members made a three-week 
trip to China to conduct ESL student evaluations at Jiangsu Maritime Institute (JMI), 
with five JMI faculty coming to Ottawa for ESL upgrading and mentoring .


The Keeping it Current (KIC) bridging program for internationally trained  
nurses began in April with 15 students in its full-time Language Essentials for 
Internationally Educated Nurses course . Hybrid development of six Teachers of 
English as a Second Language (TESL) courses was completed, along with hybrid 
development of French as a Second Language Intermediate I, II, and III courses 
and a new International English Language Testing System (IELTS) course .


By March 2012, Algonquin had finalized agreements for additional programs to 
be offered in partnership with offshore institutions, including an International 
Business Management Graduate Certificate with the Belgrade Business School 
and a joint hospitality program with Liaoning Forestry Vocational-Technical 
College in China .


6,000
The number of students, teachers  
and administrators from K–12 that 
visited the College in the 20 activities 
hosted by the Academic Development, 
Academic Partnerships Department  
in 2011–2012. 


ACADEMIC LEADERSHIP CONTINUED


“The curriculum in the new Bachelor of 


Hospitality and Tourism Management 


program is driven and supported by 


the industry. It’s pegged to produce 


job-ready graduates who can smoothly 


make the transition from the classroom 


to management roles in the hospitality 


and tourism sector.”


Michael Tarnowski,  
Coordinator 


Bachelor of Hospitality and  
Tourism Management program


The Aboriginal community  
at Algonquin
Algonquin continued to actively reach out to Aboriginal learners last year, and  
to increase the supports available to Aboriginal students enrolled at the College . 
Between 2010–2011 and 2011–2012, the retention rate for Aboriginal students 
rose by five percent .







10


Algonquin considers its students, partners,  
staff and faculty to be clients of the College. Its 
approach to service delivery reflects that perspective, 
grounded in a commitment to meet the needs of all 
stakeholders as efficiently as possible, with a distinct 
‘Algonquin difference’.


Pursuing continuous improvement
Algonquin’s Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) project looks not 
only at the College’s academic offerings but also the services it provides . Some 
250 services were reviewed as part of the process last year . Full improvement 
plans were developed for all relevant services over the course of 2011–2012,  
and changes were made to realize process improvements, revenue increases, 
cost reductions, and client service enhancements . 


As part of the College Services Review conducted through SPSP last year, Algonquin 
implemented Service Performance Metrics through its Service Performance Metrics 
Task Group . The group will issue a report on its progress to the Board of Governors 
at the end of June 2012 . 


Over the coming years, implementation of SPSP recommendations will be 
completed and integrated into College operations, contributing to the development 
of a culture of continuous improvement .


SERVICE EXCELLENCE
Algonquin is committed to continually reviewing and improving services to meet the 


changing needs of our students. 


SERVICE EXCELLENCE


Here 2 Help our students
Algonquin continued last year to implement student support programs aimed  
at giving learners the best chances of success during their time at the College . 
Here 2 Help, an orientation to available support services, was launched in 
January 2012 and will be repeated with the start of the fall term . 


The Registrar’s Office Contact Centre helped improve term-to-term retention  
by reaching out to at-risk students through a telephone campaign conducted in 
collaboration with interactive voice response solution provider Vocantas . Throughout 
the year, the College saw a marked increase in the number of students helping 
students . By December 2011, the number of volunteer orientation leaders had 
risen from 25 to 50 .


Supporting a diverse student body
The College’s Employment Services division held its first-ever Life After Algonquin: 
Stepping into the Canadian Workforce events last year — one for international 
students planning to stay and work in Canada after graduation, and one for 
Aboriginal students about to transition out of College into the world of work .


The Aboriginal Life After Algonquin event was complemented by the Workforce 
and Personal Development division’s Developmentor program, a partnership with 
local employers that provided employment coaching and part-time work experience 
to First Nations, Métis and Inuit students . 


Algonquin’s International Education Centre (IEC) changed its approach last year, 
hosting recreational outings to give international students greater exposure to 
the Canadian experience . The year’s activities included two sold-out trips: one to 
La Ronde in Montreal and the other to Camp Fortune in Chelsea for skiing . IEC’s 
Language Institute Student Retention Workshop Series drew 391 international 
students — an increase over the year before, and including 22 students who 
received a Statement of Achievement for participating in all six workshops held .


The College’s Mamidosewin Centre hosted 300 students and 10 community 
organizations at its 2011–2012 Aboriginal Cultural Celebration, and put on  
a DreamQuest summer camp for 30 Eastern Ontario Aboriginal Youth .  


Better process, one innovation at a time
The College’s Registrar’s Office worked hard last year to propel Algonquin along the 
path to becoming a Digital College . It introduced many improvements and innova  tions 
to streamline processes and improve client service, ensuring that all automation 
projects complied with Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA) . 







11


Setting a new standard
Algonquin defined a set of client service standards last year, supported by daily 
and weekly service performance reports . With the launch of integrated student 
services web presence, every department in Student Support Services now  
offers a Live Chat option . 


Value stream mapping using LEAN Value Stream methodology for establishing  
an in-person One-Stop Service model in the Student Commons continued through 
the winter term in preparation for launch in this exciting new facility currently 
under construction . Plans will integrate several support services that are located 
in different areas of the College to bring them together in the new commons 
facility . The process has used feedback from students as well as working 
sessions with employees in order to identify the best way to implement this 
integrated service delivery model in the Commons .  


In 2011, the College’s Business Systems Team began implementing a new 
Computerized Maintenance Management System (CMMS) for Physical Resources 
to replace its legacy system, with the first priority being work order management 
and preventive maintenance management modules . This system will improve 
client access to the work order system thanks to a web-based interface and will 
provide more comprehensive and up-to-date information for maintenance 
planning and decision making .


In partnership with Information Technology Services (ITS), the Registrar’s Office 
completely re-designed the Algonquin College Student Information System (ACSIS) . 
Introducing a wide range of new functionality has resulted in the creation of a 
one-stop digital service shop .


All Student Services websites were updated and streamlined to assist clients in 
taking the steps required to move from application to graduation — and beyond . 
A global master calendar on this site has served to improve communications  
by helping students keep track of important information and dates . Algonquin 
student timetables have also improved . Now available in a colour-coded grid 
format, they include hyperlinks to faculty email addresses, course outlines and 
final assessment details . An interactive map was added to help students locate 
their classrooms . 


Today, the College’s Student Support Services website features Live Chat functionality, 
giving visitors immediate access to Student Success Specialists . Algonquin 
introduced a mobile application last year, ASK Algonquin, to improve students’ 
access to information about the College . The app was based on careful tracking 
of questions asked at Student Success Centre and through Live Chat sessions .


To accelerate client service response times, Algonquin activated voice recognition 
technology on its main phone line . It enriched its mobile website and ‘mobilized’ 
the Ontario Student Assistance Program (OSAP) — making it available to students 
anywhere, anytime, anyway .


Late applicant processing was transitioned from a hard-copy, manual process  
to an automated process; this automated and streamlined system expedites 
registration, has increased late applicant processing by more than 100 percent 
and has ensured that late applicants are in class at the start-of term . 


The number of Service Review Reports completed  
across the College in 2011–2012 including 242 service 
self-analysis reports, 99 business unit reports, and  
29 Dean/Director reports as part of the Strategic  
Programs and Services Planning Committee (SPSP) 
Services Review Process.


370 


“Each year, we initiate 12 to 15 new value streams and push forward on past 


initiatives ready for the next stage … Educational institutions across Ontario  


and abroad have taken an interest in Algonquin’s Value Stream efforts that are 


streamlining our processes while maximizing value to our clientele.” 


Chuck Doyle 
 Manager Business Process Review


SERVICE EXCELLENCE CONTINUED







12 EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT


EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT
Algonquin is committed to being a leading Canadian college in the ongoing  


professional training and development of employees to ensure the best possible  


learning experience for its students.


Engaged, well-supported staff and faculty are 
essential to achieving the goal of student success. 
Algonquin is committed to providing the professional 
development opportunities and tools employees need 
to keep their skills and knowledge on the leading 
edge — so they can deliver a high-quality, connected 
21st-century College experience.


Building internal capacity
Through professional development, training, mentorship and coaching, 
Algonquin prepares its employees for new ways of delivering education and 
training and for leadership opportunities in the College . Last year, new training 
was developed to meet the needs of digital programming and mobile learning 
initiatives — with courses on the procurement of accessible goods and services, 
accessibility and organizational change, removing employment barriers and web 
accessibility . Human Resources also produced an online tool to support self- and 
manager appraisal processes, and introduced new faculty hiring guidelines .


A key deliverer of professional development at Algonquin is the College’s  
Centre for Organizational Learning . As annual events, the Centre held its ninth 
Kaleidoscope Conference — drawing more than 450 employees to three plenary 
sessions and 25 workshops — as well as a third Faculty Retreat and second 
Support Staff retreat . Through the Centre, 18 Academic Coordinators completed 
the Eastern Region Leadership Excellence in Academic Programming program, 
24 employees completed the Service Excellence Program, and 48 completed 
Leadership Development and the Advanced Leadership Development programs . 
The Centre also provided orientations to 50 new full-time faculty and more than 
600 part-time faculty .


Building Algonquin’s future leadership capacity, the Centre for Organizational 
Learning launched the Algonquin Leadership in Education Institute’s (ALEI)  
Level III Leadership Program, an initiative that attracted an inaugural cohort  
of 12 leaders from across the College .


For its commitment to promoting education and employment opportunities for 
immigrants who work at the College, Algonquin received an Employer Excellence 
Award from Hire Immigrants Ottawa and the Employer Council of Champions  
in 2012 . This is its second such award; the first was presented in 2008 .


To measure employee engagement, Algonquin completed the development of  
an engagement survey in January 2012 — with the first survey to be conducted  
in October of the coming year . Also in 2012–2013, Algonquin will launch a pilot 
mentoring program that will pair new, full-time support staff with a mentor  
for six months .


Fulfilling our commitment  
to accessibility
To ensure all employees are prepared to carry out the province-wide requirements 
associated with the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA), 
Algonquin continued its AODA training program last year . All full-time staff have now 
completed this training through an initiative that also provided orientation to the 
Workplace Hazardous Materials Information System (WHMIS) — a health and safety- 
related program . Today, 91 percent of full-time academic, 88 percent of full-time 
support and 75 percent of full-time administrative personnel are WHMIS certified .


Also on the accessibility front, in 2011–2012, Algonquin’s Centre for Students 
with Disabilities introduced the position of Learning Strategist for Apprentices 
with Disabilities and as a result we have seen a passing rate of 96 percent for 
the different levels . The Centre also continued to provide e-counselling services 
to students with disabilities as an alternative to traditional face-to-face 
appointments: through e-mail, students set up academic accommodations  
and access disability support services .







13


External recognition of Algonquin  
faculty and staff
For their dedication and contributions both to their fields and their communities, 
Algonquin staff and students were acknowledged with awards last year including:


•	 Lorenzo Bruno and Sam Chang (Physical Resources): completed LEED  
Green Building Strategies and Green Associate exam preparation courses


•	 Centre for Continuous and Online Learning: Two Heads of Continuing 
Education awards 


•	 Toni Connolly (Centre for Students with Disabilities): College Committee  
on Disability Issues (CCDI) Disability Services Award of Excellence


•	 Leslie Kopf-Johnson (Early Childhood Education): Andrew Fleck Child Care 
Services Difference Maker award for her contribution to children and families


•	 John Dalziel (Physical Resources): Leadership in Energy and Environmental 
Design (LEED) Green Associate, certified by the United States Green Building 
Council (USGBC)


•	 Lisa Lamarre (Early Learning Centre): Prime Minister’s Award for Directors in 
Early Learning and Care


•	 Jeremy McQuigge (Student Transition Coordinator): Association of Canadian 
Community Colleges (ACCC) Gold Staff Excellence Award 


•	 Phil Rouble (Physical Resources): President’s Award at the Ontario Colleges 
Facilities Management Association (OCFMA) Conference in recognition of  
his exceptional achievement in Facilities Management and outstanding 
contributions to the association


•	 Mike Wieser and Ralph Gethings (Physical Resources): completed LEED 
Professional Development course


•	 Paulette Young (School of Health & Community Studies): Prime Minister’s 
Early Childhood Educator Award of Excellence


EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT CONTINUED


1,000
The number of people who attended 


Canada’s largest Corporate and 


Community Social Responsibility 


Conference (CCSR), held at  


Algonquin last year.







14 EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT CONTINUED


“The full array of Algonquin staff  


is committed to understanding and 


respecting diversity at the College. 


From our Strategic Plan to our Workforce 


and Personal Development group to 


mandatory training and development 


for all managers and staff in cultural 


competency, the College demonstrates 


leadership and promotes understand-


ing about the importance of skilled 


immigrants to the success and growth 


of the institution.” 


Denyce Diakun, Director 
Workforce and Personal Development


National Institute for Staff and Organizational Development 
Excellence Awards 
The National Institute for Staff and Organizational Development (NISOD) Awards 
honour the outstanding individuals who teach and exhibit leadership that enriches 
the postsecondary learning experience . In 2011–2012 Algonquin College recognized: 


•	 Richard	Briginshaw,	Professor/Coordinator,	Green	Architecture


•	 Jason	Machinski,	Professor,	Photography


•	 Helena	Merriam,	Professor,	Library	and	Information	Technician	


•	 Steve	Price,	Professor/Cook,	Culinary	Management


•	 Gerald	Samson,	Building	Services	Coordinator,	Algonquin	College	 
in the Ottawa Valley


•	 Noni	Stukel,	Professor/	Coordinator,	Business	Administration	–	Marketing	


•	 David	Thibodeau,	Professor,	Mechanical	and	Engineering	Technology	


•	 Sylvia	Wieser-Picciano,	Coordinator,	Crisis	Management/Human	Psychology	
Certificate Program 


Capital Educators’ Awards
The Capital Educators’ Awards recognize the achievements of outstanding 
educators and celebrates public education in our community . All educators  
who have classroom teaching responsibilities at one of ten partner institutions  
in Ottawa are eligible to be nominated for a Capital Educators’ Award . Anyone 
can submit a nomination . Finalists are selected by participating institutions and 
a community panel of judges selects award recipients . The 2011–2012 Capital 
Educators’ Awards Finalists included:


•	 Kurt	Espersen-Peters,	Internal	Coordinator/Professor,	Bachelor	of	Applied	
Arts, Interior Design Program 


•	 Deborah	McConkey,	Professor,	Social	Service	Worker	Program


•	 Eleanor	Riesen,	Professor,	Bachelor	of	Science	in	Nursing	Program	


•	 Carl	Toole,	Professor,	Developmental	Services	Worker	Program


•	 Scott	Warrick,	Professor,	Culinary	Arts	Program	


The 2011–2012 Capital Educators’ Awards recipients were:


•	 Bill	Roberts,	Coordinator/	Professor,	Sheet	Metal	Program


•	 Sandy	Schlieman,	Professor,	General	Arts	and	Science







15EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT CONTINUED


Recognitions and awards within  
the College
Faculty and Staff Awards 
Faculty and Staff Awards recognize the individuals and teams who make a 
valuable and much-appreciated contribution to the Algonquin experience . College 
faculty and staff who demonstrate excellence and live the College values of 
Caring, Learning, Integrity and Respect to foster student success are honoured 
with these awards . Recipients in 2011–2012 were: 


Support Staff Award 
Chris McMahon  Senior Sales Associate, New Technology Store


Part-time Support Staff Award
Rob McLellan  Technician, Carpentry and Millwork, Perth Campus


Team Award 
Event Management Faculty  School of Hospitality and Tourism


Administrative Staff Award
Jeffrey Agate  Manager, Counselling and Assessment Services


Dianne Bloor Part-time Faculty Award
Stephany Castilla Professor, School of Media and Design
Adam Jarvis  Professor, School of Media and Design


Laurent Isabelle Award
Pam Fitch  Professor, School of Health and Community Studies


Lifetime Achievement Award
Colette Petschke Business Administrator, Advancement


President’s Star Award
The President’s Star Award is presented to employees who demonstrate a 
commitment to excellence in their role within the College community; regularly 
and consistently demonstrate outstanding service; and perform acts of significant 
merit . The award is open to all current employees of the College . Candidates are 
nominated by fellow employees . Recipients in 2011–2012 were:


•	 Theresa	Radmore,	Physical	Resources


•	 Marilyn	Gallant,	Registrar’s	Office	


•	 Danielle	Puchantyj,	Student	Support	Services	–	Residence	Life


•	 Event	Management	Team,	School	of	Hospitality	and	Tourism	


•	 Calvin	Climie,	Professor,	General	Arts	and	Science


•	 Liane	Amos,	Registrar’s	Office	–	Financial	Aid


•	 Rosemary	Ianni,	School	of	Hospitality	and	Tourism	


•	 Patricia	Balon,	Registrar’s	Office	


•	 Chris	Brennan,	Public	Relations	and	Communications	


•	 Jaynie	Brown,	Learning	Resource	Centre


•	 Deborah	Buck,	School	of	Media	and	Design


•	 Marie	Castellana,	School	of	Hospitality	and	Tourism	


•	 Dave	Donaldson,	Dean,	School	of	Business


•	 David	Fairbanks,	Professor,	School	of	Hospitality	and	Tourism	


•	 Pam	Fitch,	Professor,	School	of	Health	and	Community	Studies


•	 The	First	Cup	Team,	Ancillary	Services


•	 Karen	Gendron,	Faculty	of	Health,	Public	Safety	and	Community	Studies


•	 Information	Technology	Services	Event	Team	


•	 Chris	McFarlane,	Marketing	


•	 Helena	Ngou,	Food	and	Beverage	Operations


•	 Tracy	Norris,	Academic	Partnerships


•	 Rick	Racine,	Center	for	Continuing	and	Online	Learning	


•	 Stephen	Robinson,	Information	Technology	Services	(ITS)	


•	 Emma	Slater,	Veterinary	Technician	Program


•	 Darlene	Tierney-Goebel,	General	Arts	and	Science


•	 Scott	Warrick,	School	of	Hospitality	and	Tourism


•	 Claude	Brulé,	Dean,	Faculty	of	Technology	and	Trades







16


RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
Algonquin is committed to improving facilities and services and investing in educational 


equipment and learning resources to support student success. These improvements will be 


supported by the creation of new sources of revenue, execution of innovative practices, 


enhanced greening of campus operations and improved operational efficiencies.


RESOURCE MANAGEMENT


Successful learning depends on great teaching —  
and the right environment. Algonquin is determined 
to provide the best possible facilities and amenities 
for its students and faculty, while upholding the 
highest standards of environmental sustainability 
and innovation.


Breaking ground, building out
More than 150 students, staff, alumni and members of the Algonquin community 
celebrated the official groundbreaking of the new Student Commons on April 5, 2011 . 
Scheduled to open in the fall of 2012, the new $52 million, 110,000-square-foot 
facility will become the campus hub for students to access student support services, 
attend lectures and performances in a 700-seat theatre, use club and activity 
space, study and relax .


The uniquely green facility will be built to exacting standards of the Canada Green 
Building Council . College teams will soon submit an application for the Student 
Commons Building’s LEED Gold certification The College’s Board of Governors and 
Students’ Association jointly announced in December of last year that the new 
building would be named the Robert C . Gillett Student Commons in recognition 
of outgoing President Robert Gillett’s contribution to student success . 


While work on the new Commons got underway, the eagerly anticipated Algonquin 
Centre for Construction Excellence opened its doors officially last year, providing 
space for 600 new students to study construction and related disciplines . The 
Centre is also a flagship green building; an application has been submitted for 
the ACCE building’s LEED Platinum certification . President Gillett was joined  
by John Baird, Minister of Foreign Affairs and MP for Ottawa West — Nepean,  
Bob Chiarelli, Minister of Infrastructure, Minister of Transportation and MPP  
for Ottawa West — Nepean and Steve Desroches, Deputy Mayor of the City of 
Ottawa, for a formal ribbon-cutting ceremony to inaugurate the building .


The Centre for Construction Excellence marked the most successful fundraising 
campaign in the history of the College, raising over $7 .5 million dollars in 
support — exceeding the $7 million campaign goal . The surplus has been used  
to establish the Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence Endowed Bursary, 
which will provide financial support for upwards of 40 students each year .







17


Renewal in Perth and Pembroke 
The enhancement and expansion of Algonquin’s Perth Campus wrapped up 
in August 2011, for the start of fall classes. A new 41,500 square-foot building 
with expanded classroom space to accommodate 350 full-time students replaces 
the original 40 year-old main building. The Perth Campus provides improved 
facilities for student services including added space for test-taking, support 
services, group meetings, student-teacher meetings and reconfi gured faculty 
offi ces. Like its cousins in Ottawa, the Perth building refl ects Algonquin’s 
commitment to build LEED-certifi ed, effi cient, fl exible-use structures. An 
application has been submitted for Heritage Institute’s LEED Gold certifi cation.


Relocation of the Pembroke Campus continued over the course of the year, with 
a targeted completion date of September 2012. Designs for the new Pembroke 
Campus were unveiled in April 2011, with notable features including Renaissance 
Hall — a focal point that will include a student commons, cafeteria, and access to 
student services — and the Kathleen and F. Allan Huckabone Library, a two-storey 
learning environment that will face the Ottawa River. The campus will include 
16 classrooms and nine labs, including three nursing labs, a science lab, and 
an automotive shop — all built to meet the expectations of students in today’s 
technologically driven learning environment. Once completed, an application 
will be submitted for Renaissance Hall’s LEED Gold certifi cation.


Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley was awarded a $104,000 NSERC grant 
last year for a mobile science lab that will support applied research across 
several existing programs and be used as part of the school’s proposed 
Environmental Technician program.


“Investments in education are 


investments in our economy, our 


children’s quality of life, and our future 


workforce. Algonquin’s Centre for 


Construction Excellence has created 


778 jobs and is a great example of 


what we can achieve when we work 


together. It’s a stunning building on a 


thriving campus, and will make a real 


difference for students here in the 


west end and across Ottawa.”


Bob Chiarelli
Minister of Infrastructure, Minister of Transportation 


and MPP for Ottawa-West Nepean


RESOURCE MANAGEMENT CONTINUED


$63million
The amount Algonquin invested last year in new construction and renewal projects


to improve its facilities and the student experience they deliver







18


Algonquin College Foundation


ALGONQUIN COLLEGE FOUNDATION


The Algonquin College Foundation is the College’s 
chief fundraising body. In 2011–12, thanks to the 
continued generosity of the communities served by 
Algonquin, the Foundation raised significant funds  
to support student bursaries, scholarships and awards 
and to support vital projects to enhance the learning 
experience offered by the College contributing to  
its students’ success. 


Donations, pledges, disbursements —  
annual highlights
•	 $1.9	million	pledged	toward	the	Ottawa	Valley	(Pembroke)	Campus	Expansion


•	 $456,000	pledged	toward	the	Heritage	Institute	(Perth)	Campus	Expansion	


•	 $7.5	million	pledged	toward	the	Algonquin	Centre	for	Construction	 
Excellence (ACCE) — Constructing Our Future Campaign


•	 1,125	student	bursaries,	scholarships	and	awards	disbursed


•	 $750,000	pledge	from	Hydro	One	to	support	a	wide	range	of	 
College/electrical sector initiatives


Endowment campaign 
A total of $1,075,135 in endowment funds was raised for 2011–2012 . The 
Ontario Trust for Student Support will match yearly funds raised, bringing the 
total of funds raised to $2,057,667 . 30 new endowment funds were established 
to provide bursaries to students enrolled in a wide range of programs across  
all three campuses .


Under the direction of the Algonquin College Foundation Board of Directors,  
the Foundation has raised close to $27 million in cash and pledges since 2003 
when the Foundation was established .


 “At Scotiabank, we strongly believe  


in equipping students with the tools, 


skills and experiences to realize their  


full potential. Pursuing postsecondary 


education is an investment in the future, 


but this investment can also present 


financial challenges. Through Scotiabank 


Bright Future, our global philanthropic 


program, we are pleased to help more 


students attain access to education.” 


Peggy Williams  
Scotiabank Community Banking  


Manager for Ottawa Valley







19ALGONQUIN COLLEGE FOUNDATION CONTINUED


Algonquin College Foundation  
Board 2011–2012
Sal Iacono, Chair Senior Vice President, Bell Canada (Retired)


Dwight Brown, Vice Chair Vice President & District Manager,  
 PCL Constructors Canada Inc .(Retired)


Krista Kealey, Secretary Vice President, Communications and Public  
 Affairs, Macdonald-Cartier International  
 Airport Authority


Carolyn Booth, Director District Vice President, Retail & Commercial  
 Banking Eastern Ontario, BMO


Leslie Coates, Director President, Highlight Travel & Cruises


Wayne French, Director Director of Public Affairs, Waste Management  
 of Canada Corporation


Steve Georgopoulos, Director  Community Builder  


Eric Kalbfleisch, Director Manager, Category/Classified Advertising,  
 Ottawa Citizen


Max Keeping, Director CTV Ottawa Community Ambassador (Retired)


John Owens, Director Board of Governors Designate, Branch Manager,  
 Revay & Associates Limited


Deneen Perrin, Director Director, Public Relations, Fairmont Chateau  
 Laurier


Vasilios (Bill) Sioulas, Director Regional Director, Commercial Property,  
 Conundrum Capital Corporation


Michael Tremblay, Director Vice President Public Services,  
 Microsoft Canada


Michelle Valberg, Past Chair President, Valberg Imaging Inc .


Alumni Association Board of Directors 
2011–2012
Rena Bowen, President Director of Special Services, Almonte General  
 Hospital / Fairview Manor


Barbara Carrol, Vice President Executive Director, Debra Dynes Centre


George Bouris Distinguished Alumnus, Police Foundations


Kerry Durant Distinguished Alumna, Nursing Assistant  
 & Practical Nursing


Colette Garvin Professor, Academic Upgrading,  
 Algonquin College


Michel Gauthier President, MGB Tourfest Inc .


Alex Hosselet Marketing Manager, Momentous Advertising  
 & Design


Rob Nettleton Marketing Assistant, Government of Canada


Kathy Prescott Application Support Specialist,  
 Renfrew County District School Board


Laura Spragge Web & Communications Manager,  
 Volunteer Ottawa


Kelly Rusk Consultant, Thornley Fallis Communications


Pat Whalen President & CEO, Ottawa 67’s Hockey Club







20


Algonquin Centre for Construction  
Excellence (ACCE) — Constructing  
Our Future Campaign Cabinet  
2011–2012
Roger Greenberg,  Chairman & CEO, The Minto Group 
Honorary Chair 


Dwight Brown, Chair Vice President & District Manager,  
 PCL Constructors Canada Inc .


Steve Barkhouse President, Amsted Construction Ltd .


Carolyn Booth Vice President, Eastern Ontario,  
 BMO Bank of Montreal


Dale Craig Chairman & Past President, J .L . Richards  
 & Associates Limited


John McAninch CEO (Retired), Modern Niagara Group Inc .


Robert Merkley President, Merkley Supply Limited


John Owens  Branch Manager, Revay & Associates Limited


Alex Rankin Founding Partner, Emeritus grc architects


Richard Raymond CEO (Retired), Raymond Rebar Inc .


John Ruddy President, Trinity Development Group Inc .


Mike Sharp Vice President, Black & McDonald Limited


Ron Tomlinson President, R .W . Tomlinson Limited


Jeff Westeinde CEO (Former), Quantum Murray LP


Robert Gillett President, Algonquin College


Joy McKinnon Vice President Business Development,  
 Algonquin College


Claude Brulé Dean, Faculty of Technology and Trades,  
 Algonquin College


Peter O’Leary Past Chair, Algonquin College Foundation,  
 Board of Directors


Brenda Rothwell Executive Director, Algonquin College  
 Foundation


Ottawa Valley (Pembroke) Campus  
Expansion — Campaign Cabinet  
2011–2012
Fred Blackstein,  Past Algonquin College Board of Governors  
Honorary Chair Member


Mark Huckabone, Chair Huckabone-O’Brien-Instance-Bradley-Lyle  
 Counsel


Chris Kelly Kelly & Kelly Lawyers Professional Corporation


C .B Pappin Communications Advisor, Ministry of Aboriginal  
 Affairs


Lisa Edmonds CEO, EMG Insurance Brokers


Lieutenant Colonel Chris Moyle Base Commander CFB/ASU Petawawa Base HQ


Dawn Dube Practitioner (Retired) Public Relations,  
 Algonquin College


Colonel Simon Hetherington Brigade Group Commander CFB Petawawa |  
 BFC Petawawa


Marie Mask Capital Campaign Administrator,  
 Algonquin College


Heritage Institute (Perth) Campus  
Expansion — Campaign Cabinet  
2011–2012
James Bartleman,  Former Lieutenant Governor of Ontario 
Honorary Chair


Lana March, Chair Past Algonquin College Board of Governor  
 Member, Former Mayor of Perth


John Clement Perth BIA Chair, owner Clement Printing


Richard Ellard Owner of Perth Home Hardware Building Centre


Doug James 30 years as partner with Barker Willson


Dave Osborne Retired Perth Campus professor


John Wilson Q .C ., 42 years as partner with Barker Willson


Robert Gillett President, Algonquin College


Peter O’Leary Past Chair, Algonquin College Foundation


Joy McKinnon Vice President, Business Development,  
 Algonquin College


Claude Brulé Dean, Faculty of Technology and Trades,  
 Algonquin College


Brenda Rothwell  Executive Director, Algonquin College Foundation


ALGONQUIN COLLEGE FOUNDATION CONTINUED







21


Financial Report 
Year ended March 31, 2012


The Audited Financial Statements are part of the public  
record and made available on the College website at  
www.algonquincollege.com/reports/


FINANCIAL REPORT


Revenue
Grants and reimbursements $101 .8


Student tuition fees 78 .0


Contract educational services 25 .4


Ancillary services 39 .6


Other 15 .9


Amortization and write-off of deferred capital contributions 6 .3


$267


Expenditures
Salaries and benefits $143 .6  


Building maintenance and utilities 10 .7 


Instructional supplies and equipment 5 .8


Bursaries and other student aid 7 .1  


Interest 0 .6


Amortization and write-off of capital assets 12 .7


Ancillary services 33 .9


Other 41 .8


256


Change in vacation, sick leave and post employment benefits liabilities (1 .0)


$255


*expressed in millions of dollars







22


A Lasting Legacy


Last year, Algonquin President Robert Gillett officially 
announced his plan to retire in 2012. He has held 
the role since 1996 — a year when the College had 
11,000 full-time students, Nokia had just introduced 
the world’s first mobile phone, and the only way  
to connect to the Internet was via low-speed  
dial-up modem.


Today Algonquin’s full-time student population numbers 20,000 and courses  
are delivered using high speed broadband technology . The College has campuses 
in Perth and Pembroke and is more than 370,340 square meters in size on its 
Woodroffe Campus in Ottawa . Algonquin College stands out for a deep commitment 
to Applied Research, has dramatically grown its numbers of international students 
and achieved financial sustainability .


The changes realized at Algonquin over the past 17 years have been driven by 
President Gillett’s clear sense of what the world expects of college graduates — 
and what students have expected of this College .


With resolve, tireless energy and a true, unshakeable passion for education, 
President Gillett has led Algonquin’s evolution into a connected Digital College of 
the 21st century . Today, the College’s ‘community’ spans the globe . Its partnerships 
are stronger, its students more diverse, its facilities more sophisticated and its 
programs more relevant and compelling than ever before . Most importantly, 
Algonquin has the orientation, the vision and the strategy in place to continue  
to grow, diversify and adapt — sustainably, over the long term .


Robert Gillett’s contributions to the College have been profound . They will be 
enduring . And the College, its faculty and staff, its students and stakeholders  
all continue to benefit from the vision he has brought .


Milestones in brief
Since 1996, Algonquin has seen:


•	 A	near-doubling	of	its	full-time	student	population


•	 A	100	percent	increase	in	international	student	enrolment


•	 The	opening	of	campuses	in	China,	India,	Montenegro	and	Saudi	Arabia


•	 The	establishment	of	an	Algonquin	College	Foundation	to	fund	student	
bursaries and endowments


•	 The	opening	of	the	School	of	Advanced	Technology	with	its	leading-edge	
photonics laboratory


•	 An	increasing	focus	on	applied	research


•	 Partnership	with	Ottawa	Police	and	development	of	a	state-of-the-art	Police	
and Public Safety Institute


•	 The	opening	of	the	groundbreaking	Algonquin	Centre	for	Construction	Excellence


•	 The	opening	of	a	new	Perth	Campus	in	2011	and	construction	of	a	new	
Pembroke Campus for 2012


•	 Construction	of	the	Student	Commons	on	the	Woodroffe	Campus	


Robert Gillett has more than 40 years’ experience in education in Ontario . Beginning 
his career as a high school teacher, Mr . Gillett moved on to the Ottawa Board of 
Education to serve both as Secretary/Treasurer and also as Director of Education . 
He began his work with Algonquin as a member of its Board of Governors and chose 
to extend his service to the Algonquin College community for the next 17 years . 
His achievements of the past two decades are shared by a great many . It is with 
gratitude for Mr . Gillett’s vision and dedication to Algonquin that our course ahead 
is clear . We look forward to the evolution of the College in the years to come . 


A LASTING LEGACY







23


College at a Glance


Programs Offered
Programs 287
Ontario College Certificates  
(Includes 18 Apprenticeship Certificates)


60


Ontario College Diplomas 63 


Ontario College Advanced Diplomas 25


Bachelor’s Degrees 3


* 30 of the above programs also have a co-operative education option


Collaborative Degrees 3


Ontario College Graduate Certificates  
(Includes 14 part-time programs) 


37


Centre for Continuing and Online Learning  
(58 part-time programs and 17 full-time programs are also offered online)


96


Students
Full-time Students 19,000
Full-time Equivalents  15,000


International Students 1,032       


English-as-a-Second Language Students  2,770


Apprentices 3,218


Continuing Education Registrations  
(Includes 13,730 Distance Education Registrations)


36,000


College Staff
Full-time Staff 1,241
Faculty 565


Support Staff 501


Administrative Staff 175


Part-time Staff 2,145
Faculty 1,654


Support Staff 442


Administrative Staff 49


COLLEGE AT A GLANCE







24


Board Members and Senior Management


Board of Governors Appointment Process 
As of October 1, 2010, in accordance with amendments to Ontario Regulation 34/03, one third of the 
College’s external members of the Board of Governors are to be appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in 
Council (LGIC) and two thirds by the College Board. Colleges forward requests to the Colleges Unit of the 
Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities (MTCU) with three nominees for each vacant position to be 
filled as an appointee.


Across Ontario, nominees are put forward to MTCU according to a matrix of needs (e.g., skills, diversity, 
gender representation) and assessment including qualifying interviews to evaluate skills, willingness to serve 
and to review role expectations and responsibilities. Members of the public interested in serving on a college 
board may submit their names directly to the Public Appointment Secretariat (PAS) or by contacting Ontario 
colleges directly for their consideration.


Governors Title Term Start Term Expire


Michael Dunlop Chair September 1, 2008 August 31, 2013


Doug Orendorff Vice Chair September 1, 2008 August 31, 2013


Doreen Hume Chair, Audit Committee September 1, 2010 August 31, 2012


James McIntosh Chair, Governance Committee September 1, 2010 August 31, 2013


Denise Amyot Governor September 1, 2010 August 31, 2013


Jeanine Chiasson Support Staff Representative September 1, 2011 August 31, 2014


Lynne Clark Governor September 1, 2011 August 31, 2013


Pauline Edmonds Faculty Representative September 1, 2009 August 31, 2012


Barbara Farber Governor September 1, 2010 August 31, 2013


Yusuf Khan Student Representative September 1, 2009 August 31, 2011


Louis Lamontagne Governor September 1, 2010 August 31, 2012


Kathyrn Leroux Governor September 1, 2011 August 31, 2013


John Owens Governor September 1, 2008 August 31, 2013


Andrew Pridham Administrative Representative September 1, 2011 August 31, 2014


Debbie Robinson Governor September 1, 2010 August 31, 2013


Mark Sutcliffe Governor September 1, 2011 August 31, 2013


Robert C . Gillett President


BOARD MEMBERS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT







25BOARD MEMBERS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT CONTINUED


Executive Officers 2011-2012
President and CEO Robert Gillett 


Vice President, Academic Kent MacDonald


Vice President, Administration Duane McNair


Vice President, Business Development Joy McKinnon


Vice President, Human Resources Gerry Barker


Vice President, Student Services Deborah Rowan-Legg


College Executive Directors  
and Directors 2011-2012
Academic Development Jo-Ann Aubut, Acting


Academic Operations and Planning Doug Ouderkirk


Advancement Doug Wotherspoon


Algonquin College Foundation & Alumni Association Brenda Rothwell


Applied Research and Innovation Mark Hoddenbagh


College Ancillary Services Karen Foster


Finance and Administrative Services Cathy Dempsey


Information, Institutional Research  
and Technology Services Michael Sparling


International and Corporate Business Development Ernest Mulvey


Labour Relations Kevin Latimer


Learning and Teaching Services Glenn MacDougall


Marketing Christine Brennan, Acting


Physical Resources John Tattersall


Registrar Kathryn Moore


Strategic Programs and Services Planning Jennifer Daly-Cyr, Acting 


Sales and Student Recruitment Peter MacKie


Student Support Services Laura Stanbra


Workforce and Personal Development Denyce Diakun


College Deans 2011-2012
Faculty of Technology and Trades Claude Brulé


Faculty of Health, Public Safety  
and Community Studies Kim Tysick 


Faculty of Arts, Media and Design Russell Mills


School of Business Dave Donaldson


School of Hospitality and Tourism Michel Savard


Algonquin College Heritage Institute Murray Kyte, Acting


Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley Karen Davies


Centre for Continuing and Online Learning Linda Rees







26 COLLEGE ACADEMIC COUNCIL REPORT


College Academic Council Report


It has been a pleasure working with College Academic 
Council. The members all volunteered their time to 
create a better learning and working environment at 
Algonquin College. Each and every member of this 
Council represents our college’s four core values of 
Caring, Learning, Integrity and Respect.


The first meeting welcomed our continuing and new members and elected an 
Executive Committee made up of Ruth Campbell, Past Chair, Sherryl Fraser, 
Academic representative, Catherine Sidorenko, Administrative representative, 
Jacob Sancartier, Student representative and President of the Students’ 
Association and myself .


We welcomed the President of Algonquin College, Robert C . Gillett who reminded us 
of our obligation to create a forum to provide advice to the President on matters of 
importance to students and staff . He encouraged the Council to provide input to 
the development of the Strategic Plan 2012-2017 . 


Kent MacDonald, Vice President, Academic provided Council with extemporaneous 
guidance for establishing priorities and preparing a response to the President’s 
request . The Vice President’s thought provoking insights and overview of 
postsecondary education past, present and future provided inspiration, as well  
as rich subject matter for priority setting . Council was asked for further input 
and the Executive followed up with a report which was vetted and then submitted 
to the President’s Office .


An interactive priority setting meeting provided the basis for the three themes 
that formed the foundation of our committee work this year:


•	 student	success	


•	 curriculum:	developing	a	framework	based	on	success	in	collaboration	


•	 faculty	success	in	collaborative,	sustainable	and	digital	learning.	


Some of the highlights of our meetings are provided under the heading of each of 
our selected themes . Please note that many of the items bridge one or more themes . 


Student Success 
Student Success was identified as our number one priority . Education is the  
pillar to profound change in our society . Our students’ success is reflected in our 
society by the fundamental changes that occur during their time with us, be it 
face-to-face and/or online . We embrace positive changes for our students and 
seek to define student success, improve retention, help our students stay in 
school and address student financial difficulties and workload management . 


Applied Learning: Applied learning is embedded in our program delivery . It is a 
source of pride here at Algonquin College and has been for decades . As educators, 
we think about how best to prepare students for the work environment . Council 
welcomed Barbara Foulds, Acting Dean, Faculty of Health, Public Safety and 
Community Studies, who provided members with a definition and overview of 
ongoing applied learning at the College .


Applied Research and Innovation: Mark Hoddenbagh, Director, Applied Research 
and Innovation (ARI) informed Council that applied research is the highest level 
of applied learning . ARI’s goal is to give students the opportunity of experiencing 
real-life work . ARI works with faculty to help find opportunities to bring into the 
classroom and to help identify what industry wants from our graduates . Applied 
research stimulates social and economic growth in the region by developing a 
product that is put into the market place . 


The Right Fit — “Living Library”: Improvement in helping students to select the 
best program will require a connected, interdisciplinary and interdepartmental 
approach . Working with all areas of the college and community to ensure students 
are best served in our new and existing environments is our goal . Council selected 
the concept of the “Living Library” as an opportunity for potential students  
to receive experienced counsel in order to make the best possible selection in 
their educational choice .


Susan Bottiglia from the Learning Resource Centre introduced Council to the 
concept of the “Living Library” . The “Human Library” originated in Copenhagen 
in 2000 with more than 45 countries now participating . Members were invited  
to attend the workshop on this topic offered at Kaleidoscope 2012 . 


It was determined that this concept could be adapted with a focus on alumni . 
Following a lengthy discussion that touched on the challenge to keep the 
information up-to-date, Skype, testimonials, face-to-face meetings, and common 
questions (FAQs), next steps were agreed to . A working group consisting of Alison 
West-Armstrong and Andy Cockburn agreed to create a pilot at the Heritage 
Institute . This item will be brought back to Council at their request .







27


Confidentiality of Student Records: Leslie Manion spoke to a discussion on 
Algonquin’s Yammer regarding Policy AA35, Confidentiality of Student Records . 
Vice President Academic K . MacDonald noted that security is something we need 
to be concerned about and need to stay focused on . 


Mobile learning: Mobile Learning has been embraced by the college and is the 
focus of major change and adaptation . This initiative has been undertaken in 
response to the way students learn in light of the communication revolution 
which has created a digital revolution in education .


Issues identified by Council were: ensuring the mobile/digital infrastructure 
can adequately support academics, mobile program improvements, improvement 
to WI-FI, addressing associated safety and security issues, and training for delivery 
of digital college programs in order to facilitate a successful transition to the 
how we teach and learn in the future .


College Academic Council met with Glenn McDougall, Director, Teaching and 
Learning Services who presented the vision for mobile learning . He engaged 
Council in an ongoing dialogue in order to ensure a smooth transition for all 
stakeholders as we continue the journey the mobile college .


At another meeting, Glenn reviewed SA 13 — Use of Electronic Devices in the 
Classroom . Feedback was elicited and Glenn and Allison West- Armstrong made 
revisions based on members’ suggestions .


“Edutone”- A Client-Centered Approach to Mobile Learning: Michael Sparling, 
Director, Information, Institutional Research and Technology Services presented 
“Edutone” . This forward thinking, client-centered initiative is geared toward 
mobile learning programs but applies to all faculty and students . Council was 
presented with an explanation of how services have improved through proactive 
changes in the service of e-classrooms and the scheduled increase in wireless 
accessibility . These changes also resulted in improvements in the reliability of 
our Learning Management System . This benefits all stakeholders at the college 
and in particular, students and faculty .


Social Media: In the spirit of collaboration and recognizing the need for a Social 
Media guideline for the college, Council struck a working group made up of Council 
members . It also reached out to David Hall and Karen Kavanagh, faculty who 
teach in the School of Media and Design who have expertise in this area . This 
initiative is not limited to student guidance and development; it will also examine  
a means whereby all members of the college community will be better prepared 
for Social Media and its influence . This working group will update council in the 
fall regarding the progress made .


Curriculum: Developing a Framework 
for Delivery based in Collaboration
Algonquin College delivers applied learning in labs, hands-on and online . 
Resource supports for programs require an integrated, collaborative and 
continuous model wherein every service is included . Course development, student 
research, applied research, digital, print, space and tools require input from an 
interdisciplinary perspective . College Academic Council has identified collaboration 
of all departments to be a high priority goal as we move forward . 


Curriculum Alignment Working Group: Consistent delivery and course quality is  
a priority . Subsequent to the Council meeting of November 28, 2011, an invitation 
from the Curriculum Alignment Working Group to attend one of three scheduled 
focus groups on this topic was received . This working group continues and ongoing 
feedback will be brought to Council .


Renewal Process Report: Jo-Ann Aubut, Acting Dean, Academic Development 
and Dave Donaldson, Dean, School of Business spoke to the guidelines for offering 
a bachelor degree program and the five year renewal process . The application for 
Renewal of Ministerial Consent for the Bachelor of Applied Business (e-Business 
Supply Chain Management) has been received by the Ministry of Training, Colleges 
and Universities and referred to Postsecondary Education Quality Assessment 
Board (PEQAB) for its review . The application included the report from the external 
program evaluation committee, which underscored the validity of the program, 
but recommended that proactive measures be taken to increase the program’s 
visibility and perception in the community at large . As part of the renewal 
process, the report was presented to the College Academic Council .


COLLEGE ACADEMIC COUNCIL REPORT CONTINUED







28


Faculty Success in Collaborative,  
Sustainable and Digital Learning 
The College Academic Council identified the need for a well developed plan that 
fosters and supports faculty through change . Faculty embraces support through 
relevant and timely professional development in order to remain motivated, current 
and engaged . As we drive technological, interdisciplinary and connectivity changes 
in our classrooms that link with communities, there is a requirement for ongoing 
training for new and seasoned, internal and external faculty .


Promoting Continuous Professional and Personal Learning for Faculty:  
In keeping with this objective, under the leadership of Rebecca Volk, Manager, 
Centre of Organizational Learning, a new faculty development working group  
was established . A document entitled “Promoting Continuous Professional and 
Personal Learning for Faculty” was distributed . It summarizes the discussion 
previously undertaken at Council and the work that has been done to date by the 
working group . Using the framework of the Professor of the 21st Century, updated 
by College Academic Council last year, the group will continue to develop a plan 
for continuous learning for faculty premised on respectful, holistic and outcome 
based, learner-centered principles matched to the organization’s vision of learning 
as hands-on, digital and flexible . Rebecca gave a presentation to Council of a 
model for this framework, which was embraced . The working group will continue 
to meet to move this initiative forward and will report back to Council .


Kaleidoscope Conference 2012: Rebecca Volk also presented this year’s 
Kaleidoscope Conference offerings . This in-house conference is an opportunity 
for all stakeholders to come together to celebrate our successes as well as pursue 
professional development opportunities facilitated by those demonstrating best 
practices within our college .


Ongoing Professional Development for Faculty: Council was encouraged  
to remind faculty that when Kaleidoscope concludes, there are 4 weeks of 
continuous professional development activities organized by Gail Allan, Centre  
of Organizational Learning . Mobile learning, curriculum development and 
implementation of blended, hybrid, face-to-face and online courses, branding, 
Learning Management System enhancements, delivering large lectures, classroom 
strategies and learning techniques, and library resources are just some of the 
workshops available . The Centre of Organizational Learning has reached out  
to all available resources in the College in order to deliver timely and critical 
learning for faculty .


Thank you. Thank you to my fellow members of Council for the opportunity and 
privilege of learning and collaborating with my esteemed colleagues . Each member 
brought a distinct skill set, remarkable insights and openness that allowed for 
true collaboration and progress . It was a joy “sharing the chair” with my colleagues, 
Roger Davey and Enrico de Francesco . A huge thank you goes to Nancy Makila 
who steadfastly supports this committee and is considered co-chair . There are 
many congratulations to be extended to my colleagues for their contributions 
this year and over a life time . A heartfelt thank you and acknowledgement of  
the loss the college will feel as we see Deborah Rowan-Legg retire . Thank you for 
the tremendous legacy you leave and the college will forever miss your generosity 
of spirit and dedication . Our congratulation is extended to one of our Student 
Association representatives, David Corson, who was elected President of the 
Student’s Association . Council was inspired by and is truly appreciative of the 
updates and insights provided by our Vice President Academic, Kent MacDonald 
throughout our time together this year, as well as for his indefatigable work on 
our behalf . Congratulations to Dr . Kent MacDonald who received his Ph .D . this year 
and was awarded the Chris Warburton Student’s Association Award of Excellence .


The best is yet to come: We are thrilled that Dr . Kent MacDonald has been 
announced as our 7th President of Algonquin College . A standing ovation and 
thunderous applause occurred at the time of the announcement and spontaneously 
erupted throughout the ceremony . We look forward to inviting him to our next 
meeting and continuing ongoing dialogue under his authentic and inspirational 
leadership . We know that our future is bright and full of promise .


Catherine Kenney, May 17, 2012


COLLEGE ACADEMIC COUNCIL REPORT CONTINUED







29KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT


Key Performance Indicator Report


In September 1998, the Ministry of Training and 
Ontario’s 24 community colleges joined forces to 
develop and implement a confidential standardized 
client satisfaction survey process. This initiative 
allows each college to obtain valuable feedback  
from students, graduates and employers.


Ontario colleges collect and report performance data in five key areas — student 
satisfaction, graduate employment, graduate satisfaction, employer satisfaction, 
and graduation rate . Find out more about key performance indicators tracked by 
Ontario Colleges .


For consistency and reliability, a common methodology is used by all Ontario 
community colleges to compile the survey and administrative data and calculate 
the results . The data is updated annually .


Student Satisfaction 80.3%
The percentage of overall student satisfaction reflecting the student experience 
at Algonquin College by summarizing, and giving equal weighting to, student 
responses that measure the:


•		 Usefulness	of	the	knowledge	and	skills	they	acquire	in	their	College	
programs for their future careers,


•		 Quality	of	College	program	learning	experiences,


•		 Quality	of	College	facilities	and	resources,	and


•		 Quality	of	College	services.


Employer Satisfaction 91.1%
The percentage overall reflecting employer satisfaction with the employee’s 
college preparation for the work the employee was hired to undertake .


Graduate Employment 85.7%
The percentage of Algonquin College graduates who are in the labour force, and 
who are working during a standard reference week, six months after graduation .


Graduate Satisfaction 80.1%
The percentage overall of Algonquin College graduate satisfaction summarizing 
graduate responses to the question of the usefulness of their college education, 
six months after graduation .


Graduation Rate 64.2%
The percentage of students who graduated from Algonquin College programs 
within twice the normal duration in comparison to the number that started 
programs . The extended period for graduation accommodates those students who 
take periodic absences from their studies, complete their program on a part-time 
basis or have to repeat courses, thereby delaying their date of graduation .


Advertising and Marketing Complaints
For the period April 1, 2011 – March 31, 2012, as specified in the Minister’s Binding Policy Directive on the Framework for Programs of Instruction which sets out 
college program advertising and marketing guidelines, Algonquin College has received no complaints regarding advertising and marketing of College programs .


Nature of Complaint Date Received How Resolved/Addressed Date Resolution 
Communicated to Student


Number of Working Days  
to Resolve


NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL







30


The Ministry of Training Colleges and Universities (MTCU) annual Multi-Year Accountability Agreement 
(MYAA) Report Back continues to provide the government with a tool for publicly reporting on the performance 
of Ontario postsecondary institutions on the principles of access, quality and accountability which were 
articulated under Reaching Higher. The 2011–2012 MYAA Report Back will constitute part of the public 
record, and as such, with governance approval, will be made available in full on the College website at  
www.algonquincollege.com/reports/


MULTI-YEAR ACCOUNTABILITY AGREEMENT REPORT BACK


Multi-Year Accountability Agreement Report Back







Info for future students  
www.algonquincollege.com/prospective/index.htm


Info for counsellors  
www.algonquincollege.com/prospective/info_counselors_teachers.htm


Info for parents  
www.algonquincollege.com/prospective/info_parents.htm












                                BOARD OF GOVERNORS   


DRAFT 


MINUTES  OF MEETING  NUMBER  FOUR  HUNDRED  AND  SEVENTY  THREE  OF  THE  BOARD  OF 
GOVERNORS OF ALGONQUIN COLLEGE WHICH WAS HELD ON MONDAY, MAY 14, 2012, AT 5:30 
P.M. IN ROOM 104 AT THE ALGONQUIN COLLEGE HERITAGE INSTITUTE, PERTH CAMPUS 


Present  Michael Dunlop, Chair  
Doug Orendorff, Vice Chair  
    (teleconference) 
Eric Agyemang 
Jeanine Chiasson  
Lynne Clark 
Pauline Edmonds  
Robert Gillett, President 
Doreen Hume  
Kathyrn Leroux (teleconference) 
James McIntosh 
Andrew Pridham 
Mark Sutcliffe (teleconference) 
 


Regrets 
 


Denise Amyot 
Barbara Farber 
Louis Lamontagne 
John Owens 
 
 


Vice 
Presidents:
 
 
 
 
 
Recording 
Secretary 


Gerry Barker, Human Resources 
Kent MacDonald, Academic 
Joy McKinnon, Business    
  Development 
Duane McNair, Administration  
Deborah Rowan‐Legg, Student  
   Services 
 
Anna Cobus 


Observers  Fred Blackstein, Incoming Governor (F2012)   
Jennifer Daly‐Cyr, Acting Director, Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Dave Donaldson, Dean, School of Business 
Tara Lee Ferguson, Administrative Services, Algonquin College Heritage Institute 
Barbara Foulds, Acting Dean, Faculty of Health, Public Safety & Community Studies 
Raymonde Hanson, Consultant 
Kyrylo Kasyanenko, Incoming Governor (F2012) 
Murray Kyte, Acting Dean, Algonquin College Heritage Institute 
Wayne Lewrey, Manager, Institutional Research and Planning 
Russ Mills, Dean, Faculty of Arts, Media and Design 
Brenda Rothwell, Executive Director, Foundation 
Doug Wotherspoon, Executive Director, Advancement 


 


The Chair called the meeting to order at 5:31 p.m. and welcomed incoming student Governor, 
Kyrylo Kasyanenko, who was in attendance as an observer. 


 
12‐27   CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION 


None. 







B.G. #473    May 14, 2012 
Page 2 


 
 
12‐28  APPROVAL OF THE PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
RESOLUTION 
 
MOVED & SECONDED – Chiasson and Hume 
 
That the minutes of April 9, 2012, be approved as presented. 
 
 
12‐29 BUSINESS ARISING 
 
None. 
 
 
12‐30  PRESENTATIONS  
 
SOCIAL MEDIA  
D. Wotherspoon,  Executive Director,  Advancement,  provided  a  presentation  focused  on  the 
College’s Social Media Plan. The primary purpose of the plan is to establish a roadmap that will 
confirm  the  College’s  position  as  the  Connected  College  and  as  a  continued  leader  in  the 
corporate and academic use of social media.   
 
An  overview  of  social  media  in  Canada  and  abroad  was  provided,  as  well  as  the  target 
audiences, key strategies, goals and success measures of the College’s Social Media Plan.   
 
Questions/Comments: 
 
‐ Governor Sutcliffe:   Why  is Canada more active  than other  countries  in  social media, and 


what lesson might there be for the College in that?  The federal and provincial governments 
have made a priority of ensuring that as many communities as possible have access to high 
speed  internet and continue  to  fund  rural connectivity.   Brazil  is #2 on Facebook and  the 
size of the country and its connectivity is a direct correlation.  A second factor is distance as 
social networks overcome geography. 


‐ Governor Leroux:  Are all of the College’s social media networks operated by staff members?  
No. It varies from staff to students to alumni.  


‐ Governor  Leroux:   Has  thought  been  given  to  providing  a  sanctioning  initiative  for  those 
networks which are not staff led? Yes. Policies are under development which will be coming 
forward  in  this  regard  and will  include  a  requirement  to have  a  representative  from  the 
Advancement Area included as an administrator on College networks to provide continuity 
to the College’s efforts over time. 


‐ Governor Orendorff:  How does the Social Media Strategy fit with the overall Digital College 
Strategy?  The Social Media Strategy complements the Digital College Strategy by providing 







B.G. #473    May 14, 2012 
Page 3 


 
additional tools for leveraging.  It is focused on the ongoing work of training individuals and 
being  a  thought  leader  in  managing  social  networks  so  that  faculties,  schools  and 
departments can receive support.   


‐ Governor Clark:  In terms of analytics, perhaps we should be looking at who is using the tools 
and  information  rather  than  just numbers, and measure ourselves on  that basis.   Agreed.  
Engagement  levels, affinity and sentiment will be a focus.   Currently we use sales force to 
track all interactions as well as HootSuite, a social media management tool. 


‐ Governor Clark:  Is there a social media calendar? Yes. There  is a communications calendar 
which has been added to the social media calendar.    


  
KPI/MYAA UPDATE 
 
Wayne Lewrey, Manager of Institutional Research and Planning, provided an update related to 
Key Performance Indicator results for 2011‐12, as well as the Multi Year Accountability 
Agreement (MYAA) Report Back for 2010‐11. 
 
The history, purpose, and internal/external uses of KPI data was provided, including a summary 
of the latest results in comparison to the provincial average as well as to the College’s peers. 
 
The second portion of the presentation focused the College’s achievements for the 2010/11 
MYAA report back in comparison to the provincial results.   
 
Questions/Comments: 
 
‐ Governor Agyemang:  It is encouraging to see an increase in graduate employment given the 


economic crisis.   
‐ Governor Agyemang:   Would  it be possible to share the KPI results with students as  it may 


be a morale booster?   The SA Board of Directors currently receives  the data, but  it  is not 
released systematically. 


‐ Governor Leroux: How many graduating students are represented  in the 87.5% of students 
who indicated that they were employed?  There were 5751 graduates.  Of those, 2616 were 
contacted and 87.5% indicated that they were employed. 


‐ Governor  Leroux:     How do  these  results  compare  to  the data  that has been  collected  in 
previous years?   The College  is doing a  laudable  job. However, as mentioned  in  the past, 
there  is  a disconnect  in  successfully  encouraging  graduates  to divulge  information  about 
their employers so that the employer satisfaction results are more representative.   


‐ Governor Dunlop:  Would it be possible to compare the percentage of those who do respond 
in comparison to other Colleges of the same size?   The College compares  itself against the 
other  seven  large  Colleges.    The  College  has  a  goal  of  being  the  top  third  of  the  large 
Colleges  in the system  in all five metric areas.   In three of the five measures, the top third 
has been achieved. Further work is required in the employer satisfaction and KPI graduation 
rate. 







B.G. #473    May 14, 2012 
Page 4 


 
‐ Governor Dunlop:    In  terms  of  retention,  there a question  of  the quality and  of different 


manners  in  reporting  on  retention,  correct?    Yes,  it  is  not  believed  to  be  a  deliberate 
misrepresentation rather than an absence of common data definitions. 
 


 
12‐31  DECISION ITEMS AND REPORTS 


REPORT OF THE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 


Jim  McIntosh,  Chair  of  the  Governance  Committee,  presented  the  findings  and 
recommendations of  the policy and bylaw  review undertaken by  the Governance Committee 
with  the  assistance  of  Governor  Orendorff  and  Raymonde  Hanson,  retired  Vice  President 
Academic.  The Governance Committee reviewed the current 30 Board policies and revised four 
of  them  (into  three  policies),  converted  one  policy  into  a  new  bylaw  and  recommended 
rescinding 26 policies (including the policy converted into the bylaw). 


 
Approximately 20 new policies were considered by the Governance Committee, based on the 
consultation of other Colleges policies and identified College needs. Following this consultation, 
three new policies were selected and refined. One of the policies (Financial Management) will 
be reviewed by the Audit Committee before coming to the Board.  A second new policy dealing 
with the Responsibilities of the Board requires further review by the Governance Committee, as 
well as the incoming President and Chair, and will be brought forward in the fall. A third policy 
dealing with the Responsibilities of the Board Chair is being brought forward for approval. 


 
The Standing Committees Terms of Reference were also reviewed to ensure they were current, 
and have a common  format with other  standing committees.   Minor  revisions are proposed. 
The Audit Committee Terms of Reference  is  to be  reviewed by  the Audit Committee at  their 
next meeting before being presented to the Board.   


 
As  part  of  the  process,  the  College  lawyers  reviewed  the  Board  bylaws,  the  revised  and 
proposed new policies as well as the Committee Terms of Reference. 
 
Questions/Comments:  
 
‐ BG I‐02 ‐ Appointment/Reappointment of External Governors:   


o  Leroux:  Are there key skills that must be identified in the skills matrix?   A 
skills  matrix  has  been  completed  based  on  the  structure  and  target  skill  areas 
provided by the Ministry.  It will be circulated to Governors. 


Governor


Governor
‐ BG I‐03 ‐ Communication with the Board of Governors:  


o   Edmonds:   We are a publically  funded  institution and  to give  the Board 
Chair  the  right  to  turn  someone  down  is  too much  power  in  one  person’s  hands.  
Back in 1996 when the College experienced a contraction of funds and there was talk 
of  suspensions,  the  Board  heard  presentations  from  various  groups.    The  College 







B.G. #473    May 14, 2012 
Page 5 


 


Governor


Chair


Governor


  Leroux:   Agrees with Governor  Sutcliffe.    Perhaps  there  also may  be  an 
op


 the concerns 
raised


dicated  it  was  because  following  the  last 
decision


 done via email.  


ECONDED – McIntosh and Hume 


 policies  so  identified  in  the Algonquin Board 
Current Policy Review document. 


 03:  Communication with the Board of Governors 
BG
e Board esponsibilities of 
ard


vernors approve the shown proposed changes to Bylaw 3. 


Committee 


would  look very different today  if the Board had not heard from those groups.   It  is 
important that we hear from our constituents. 


o  McIntosh:   When the Board drafted this section of the policy,  it was with 
the  intention to make the Chair accountable for his/her decisions. The Board would 
always have the ability to override the Chair’s decision.   


o  Dunlop:  The policy gives the Board latitude but any decisions must be reported 
to the Board.   


o   Sutcliffe:    Pauline  raises a  good  point  and  it  is  important  to maintain  a 
balance between the two extremes. What  is being proposed strikes a good balance 
between  giving  the Board  Chair  the  right  to make  a  decision  and also makes  the 
Chair accountable, while not leaving the Board susceptive to being high‐jacked.   


o Governor
portunity for the Executive Committee to play a role if the Chair is uncertain.  It is 


important for us to manage our own agenda.   Perhaps  language could be added to 
clarify the requirement for us to be open to public comment. 


o Governor Orendorff:   Feels that point 2.3  in the policy clearly address
 by Governor Edmonds. 


o Governor  Edmonds:    Disagreed  and  in
 regarding program suspensions, the Board did not delay a decision after a 


mistake was made.    She  added  if  the  Board  does  not  have  the will  to  correct  a 
mistake, then why would it they challenge it in the future? 


o Governor Edmonds:  Perhaps a Board majority vote could be
 
RESOLUTION 
 
MOVED AND S
 
a. That  the Board of Governors  rescind  the 26


b. That the Board of Governors approve the proposed revisions to the existing Board policies, 
now titled:   


o BG I – 02:  Appointment/Reappointment of External Governors 
o BG I –
o  II – 01:  Programs of Instruction 


c. That th  of Governors approve the proposed new policy:  BG I‐ 04:  R
the Bo  Chair. 


d. That the Board of Governors approve the shown proposed changes to Bylaw 1. 
e. That the Board of Go
f. That the Board of Governors approve the shown proposed changes to Bylaw 4. 
g. That the Board of Governors approve the proposed new Bylaw 5. 
h.  That  the Board of Governors approve  the proposed  changes  to  the Executive 


Terms of Reference. 







B.G. #473    May 14, 2012 
Page 6 


 


RES


ECONDED – Edmonds and Clark 


otion  with  the  exception  of  Policy  BG  I  –  03:  
ommunication with the Board of Governors, and refer  it back to the Governance Committee 


3 IN FAVOUR – EDMONDS, CHIASSON, CLARK 
REMAINDER AGAINST 


 
 
ESOLUTION 


ECONDED – McIntosh and Hume 


 policies  so  identified  in  the Algonquin Board 
Current Policy Review document. 


 03:  Communication with the Board of Governors 
BG
e Board esponsibilities of 
ard


vernors approve the shown proposed changes to Bylaw 3. 


Committee 


3 ABSTAINED:  EDMONDS, CHIASSON, CLARK 
REMAINDER IN FAVOUR 


 
 


i.  That  the Board of Governors approve  the proposed  changes  to  the Executive Committee 
Terms of Reference. 


 
OLUTION 


 
MOVED AND S
 
That  the  Board  of  Governors  approve  the m
C
for further review. 
 


NOT CARRIED 


R
 
MOVED AND S
 
a. That  the Board of Governors  rescind  the 26


b. That the Board of Governors approve the proposed revisions to the existing Board policies, 
now titled:   


a. BG I – 02:  Appointment/Reappointment of External Governors 
b. BG I –
c.  II – 01:  Programs of Instruction 


c. That th  of Governors approve the proposed new policy:  BG I‐ 04:  R
the Bo  Chair. 


d. That the Board of Governors approve the shown proposed changes to Bylaw 1. 
e. That the Board of Go
f. That the Board of Governors approve the shown proposed changes to Bylaw 4. 
g. That the Board of Governors approve the proposed new Bylaw 3. 
h. That  the Board of Governors approve  the proposed  changes  to  the Executive 


Terms of Reference. 
i. That  the Board of Governors approve  the proposed  changes  to  the Executive Committee 


Terms of Reference. 
 


CARRIED 







B.G. #473    May 14, 2012 
Page 7 


 
OURTH QUARTER BUSINESS PLAN REPORTF  


accepted as presented. 
 
The fourth quarter Business Plan report was 
  
REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
D. Hume, Chair of the Audit Committee, reported that the Committee met prior to the Board 
nd discussed the topics listed below. 


re  reviewed with  the Auditors  present.    Six  days were 
reduced from this year’s reporting cycle and D. McNair, C. Dempsey and their teams were 


 the Board for approval in June. 


vance to returning to the Board for approval in June. 


. 


a
 
‐ The  draft  financial  statements we


commended for their efforts.  No errors were detected.  A full report will be provided at the 
June Audit Committee meeting. 


‐ An  endowment  fund  investment  report was  provided;  first  quarter  results  are  trending 
above the benchmark. 


‐ The Financial Policy was reviewed and will be presented to the Governance Committee  in 
advance of returning to


‐ A request for a contingency reserve fund was presented and will come forward at the June 
board meeting. 


‐ The Committee terms of reference were reviewed and will be presented to the Governance 
Committee in ad


‐ A report was provided on the Enterprise Risk Management audit which is underway. 
‐ An in camera session was held with members of the Audit Committee and Auditors
 
REVISED ENDOWMENT FUND STATEMENT OF INVESTMENT POLICIES AND GOALS 
 
RESOLUTION 
 
MOVED – Hume 


f Governors approve  the amendments  to  the Algonquin College Endowment 
und – Statement of Investment Policies and Goals. 


CARRIED 


 
2‐32  REPORT OF THE CHAIR


 
That  the Board o
F
 


 


1  


g: 


0th  regarding  the  election  of  Board Officers  for  2012/2013. 
Governors interested in any of the positions were asked to advise A. Cobus by no later than 
May 18th.    


 
The Chair reported the followin
 
‐ An  email was  sent  on April  2







B.G. #473    May 14, 2012 
Page 8 


 


‐ An  invitation will be  sent  to all Governors on behalf of  the President and his wife, Anne, 


yer representatives on the CAAT Plan 


for 2012/13.  


‐ The June Board meeting will be the annual general meeting of the Board at which time the 
draft Audited Financial Statements will be presented.   


inviting Board Members and their spouses or guests for a dinner at their home on Monday, 
June 11th immediately following the Board meeting.   


‐ There  are  two  vacancies  on  the Governors’ Affairs  Committee  for  2012/13  and  Colleges 
Ontario  is  looking  for  nominations  for  the  positions.    Some  of  the  objectives  of  the 
Governors Affairs Committee  include ensuring emplo
committees; ensuring governors receive  the proper  training  to meet  their responsibilities; 
ensuring governors have a forum to discuss issues of importance; and promoting governor 
participation in advocacy. Interested Governors were asked to notify A. Cobus. 


‐ Feedback  from  the  April  meeting  was  generally  positive.    The  larger  location  was 
appreciated by Governors; however, the noise level and comfort of the seating was of some 
concern.  An investigation is ongoing in terms of improving the meeting space 
One  comment was made  that  there  could  have  been  additional material  provided with 
regard to the program suspensions.   


 
12‐33 REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT 
 
The President reported the following: 


 May 10th and was a successful event. 
n  on  the  provincial  budget which  is  now  in  its  second 


reading  with  amendments  being  made.  There  have  been  some  grant  reductions  and 
ding  administrative 


 of Business Award 


MENT SUMMARY REPORT


 
‐ The Annual Staff BBQ was held on 
‐ The  College  is  awaiting  clarificatio


changes  and  many  things  which  bear  directly  on  the  College  inclu
compensation freezes as well as the international tuition claw‐backs.   


‐ Renovations for fall are beginning and Physical Resources  is  looking out 2‐5 years with the 
Integrated Campus Development Plan. 


‐ It is the time of year when many student appeals are ongoing. 
‐ Convocation ceremonies are approaching.   Governors will  receive  formal  invitations  to all 


ceremonies. 
‐ Governor Eric Agyemang was congratulated on winning the School


 
 
12‐34  MANAGE  







B.G. #473    May 14, 2012 
Page 9 


 


he  complete  management  summary  report  for  May,  2012,  is  available  online  at 
 
T
www.algonquincollege.com/board. 


Governor  Edmonds  noted  an  error  on  page  1  of  the Administration Management  Summary 


 
2‐35  OTHER BUSINESS


Report.   It was agreed that the error would be fixed and the revised document posted on the 
Board’s website.   


1  


There being no further business, the Board of Governors moved in camera. 


Following  the  In  Camera  discussion,  the  Board  Chair  indicated  that  the  Board  reached  a 


 


           


decision  and  voted  unanimously  on  the  appointment  of  the  President,  to  be  announced 
publically at a College event on Wednesday, May 16th. 


               


       Michael Dunlop, Chair              Anna Cobus, Recording Secretary 


 



http://www.algonquincollege.com/board






1Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Strategic Plan 
2012–2017


April 9, 2012


Connecting  people, 
community, 
technology and 
careers











	 3	 Letter	from	the	Chair,	Board	of	Governors	


	 4	 President’s	message


	 6	 The	journey	toward	a	new	strategic	plan	


	 7	 	A	mission	accomplished:	Review	of	the	
2008–2013	Strategic	Plan


   A summary of progress achieved under the  
four themes of Academic Leadership, Service 
Excellence, Employee Development and  
Resource Management. 


	 9	 Environmental	scan


   The context: external and internal factors  
that will have an impact on both students and 
the College, with detailed data points and an 
explanation of the assumptions behind strategic 
decisions and priorities. 


	 12	 Mission,	vision	and	values


   Newly articulated statements that capture the 
spirit of Algonquin: who we are, what we stand 
for, and why we do what we do.


	 13	 Executive	Summary


	14	 The	Connected	College:	Algonquin	in	2017


   A picture of Algonquin tomorrow, outlining  
the four pillars on which the College’s strategic 
directions rest. 


	 15	 Strategic	pillars	and	goals


   The twelve goals we understand as critical  
to our ability to deliver on our mission, vision 
and values. 


	20	 Implementation	Strategy


   The milestones and measures to measure our 
success or to plan how we will adapt to environ-
mental factors and our economic context. 


	 21	 Conclusion	


	22	 	Appendix	


   Board of Governors  
Senior Management   
Local Bargaining Unit Presidents  
Students’ Association Board of Directors  
Other Partners


Contents







ONTARIO COLLEGES OF APPLIED ARTS AND TECHNOLOGY ACT, 2002


The Object of a College


…to offer a comprehensive program of  


career-oriented, postsecondary education  


and training to assist individuals in finding  


and keeping employment, to meet the  


needs of employers and the changing work  


environment and to support the economic  


and social development of their local and  


diverse communities.


“


”







3Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Letter from the Chair,  
Board of Governors


In 2008 Algonquin College adopted a strategic plan which set out a roadmap for our journey until 2013. By the 


end of 2011 it became clear that many of our goals had been achieved. It also became clear the plan would have 


to be updated to accommodate unforeseen circumstances.


The Board of Governors asked the President and the entire Algonquin community to revisit the plan, to evaluate 


which goals should be updated and which goals should be added. The result is a new strategic plan which will 


guide all we do between now and 2017.


Anyone familiar with Algonquin College should find this Plan both familiar and exciting. It abandons none of the  


values and principles that have helped us become a significant part of our community and the lives of our students. 


It does, however, take into account our new world — where the technologies available to our faculty and staff 


have the potential to transform education. The plan recognizes that members of the Algonquin Team expect  


to be empowered, to be challenged, and to be recognized for their leadership competencies and behaviours.


The plan encompasses the viewpoint that both our students and their future employers expect that we have  


not only delivered a unique set of programs and services but also ensured that each student has the opportunity 


to apply their knowledge in real life applications. Our changing realities may necessitate that the Algonquin  


Strategic Plan will be revisited prior to 2017. The College will continuously review its external environment and  


economic context, to adapt and adjust for the future. 


This plan calls on us for tough decisions to make the College more sustainable on many fronts. It also calls on us 


to open our minds to the opportunities of this evolving world. It is not an operational plan — it is a truly strategic 


plan and as such it challenges each member of the Algonquin Community to work together and “to transform 


hopes and dreams into skills and knowledge, leading to lifelong career success.” 


On behalf of the Board of Governors I would like to thank the stakeholders who provided input to this strategic 


plan. Let us all move forward — turning dreams into reality!


 Michael Dunlop  |  Chair, Board of Governors







4 Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


President’s Message
Giving Students the Greatest Flexibility of Programs and Service Choices  
in a Challenging Global Economy


You cannot lead from the present without your mind being fully ensconced in the future. In preparing this Strategic 


Plan, every effort was made to examine the impact of the directions, goals and commitments on the College, our 


clients and our communities, in both the short and long term, so that each innovation could serve as a building 


block for further innovation in the future. 


As we adapt to the changing global economy, opportunities abound for colleges to explore new frontiers of 


learning without being tied to time and place, and to engage students in ways that were previously considered 


impossible. Students will be able to choose a campus experience, a hybrid experience, an online experience,  


or any combination depending on their life circumstances. 


Today, professors are being freed from lecture podiums to become learning guides, engaging students in new 


ways and helping them navigate vast quantities of digital information so that they can extract the knowledge 


they are seeking and apply that knowledge in real or simulated experiences. We believe that technology can 


help enhance the learning experience regardless of which delivery modality the student should choose. 


Postsecondary education is now on the leading edge of the digital revolution as technology shapes, reshapes, 


and transforms how learning and content are created and delivered, leveraging connections between people 


across cities and nations. Today’s students are connected and we want to reach them in the ways that they  


 want to be reached. 


There is significant evidence that earning a postsecondary credential substantially increases one’s opportunities  


for career and personal success. Over an individual’s lifetime, the return — measured in economic and social terms — 


is enormous. Clearly, postsecondary education remains the single best investment an individual, government or 


society can make. Our Strategic Plan offers the opportunity for increased access and opens the doors for students, 


with increased choices, so that life and learning are integrated. 


At the same time, the world is in the midst of difficult economic times. Governments are facing the reality of  


high deficits and debt loads. Even with the best fiscal recovery plans in place, the next five to seven years will 


see ongoing economic challenges as governments are forced to constrain their spending and limit many programs 


and services.


Despite these circumstances, it remains essential that Algonquin continue to grow its communities’ pool of 


knowledge workers — giving learners the skills they need to contribute to and thrive in our rapidly changing society. 


Education and training are, and always will be, at the foundation of economic, social and environmental progress.


Educational institutions must adjust and align their programs, services and delivery modalities to the economic 


realities of the world around them, and to the possibilities offered by the digital age. They must act faster and be 


more flexible and responsive to the evolving profile of learners, making sure their internal pace of change keeps 


up with that of the external environment. The profile of our students is more complex than in the past and this 


requires unique new approaches to help address their learning and service needs. 







5Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


In order to achieve our commitment of increasing programs and service choices for students over the next five 


years, this College will become more effective and efficient in its operations by leveraging technology and seeking 


innovative ways to change the way we do our work. We will take advantage of widespread mobile technologies, 


social networks, book readers and the like. We will use connectivity to increase student, faculty and staff access 


to new delivery modalities, online textbooks, learning management systems, captured lessons, digital curricula, 


programs and services. 


Being connected also means increasing our interaction and collaboration with the community, our students,  


employees, alumni, international partners and employers, in ways that each of the stakeholders deems relevant 


and appropriate. 


By offering four delivery modalities — on-campus, hybrid, online and mobile — the College will provide greater 


choice and flexibility, more effectively meeting the needs of the digital generation and the other learners we 


serve. These choices will ensure Algonquin is in a strong competitive position as it goes through this period  


of intense transformation in education — a time when boundaries are expanding from local to global, and when 


learners have increasing freedom to make course and program choices that will lead to accreditation based on  


a collection of recognized credits. 


We believe the basis for government funding will slowly transition from enrolment to attainment, supporting  


differentiated institutions with centres of excellence with the ability to attract learners based on institutional 


reputation, record of student success, and graduate employment. Once the government provides more details 


about the directions set out in its Putting Students First document, and once the issues of differentiation,  


funding and tuition are clarified, this Strategic Plan will be refined accordingly.


In preparation for these expected changes and challenges, the College will work to realign its revenues and 


expenditures for postsecondary programs and services to match provincial funding provisions, and will ensure 


that revenues generated outside the provincial funding framework are available for investment in support of 


our strategic priorities. The College will also ensure that contingency funds are established so it can respond to 


unforeseen circumstances without crisis. These efforts will help ensure the long term success and sustainability 


of the College.


The directions recommended in this Strategic Plan set a course for achieving our objectives and implementing 


digitally enhanced changes that will, when completed, fundamentally enhance the perception of Algonquin as  


an educational institution on the cutting edge of applied education worldwide. Once the Board approves the 


Plan, implementation will begin immediately, starting with the budget and business plan for 2012–2013. These  


plans will focus on improving the fiscal viability of the College, which is foundational to all other plans.


Despite the financial difficulties that will be challenging, positive changes will be made to ensure our students, 


faculty and staff have the programs, services and tools they need to thrive in the 21st century and set the  


standard for applied education and training in this century.


 Robert C. Gillett  |  President


As we adapt to the changing global economy,  


opportunities abound for colleges to explore new  


frontiers of learning without being tied to time and  


place, and to engage students in ways that were  


previously considered impossible.







6 Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


The Journey Toward a New Strategic Plan


Strategic planning is the act of building a compelling 


vision for the future. It is about taking a wide look 


externally and a hard look internally to ensure an 


organization’s ongoing relevance and effectiveness. 


It is about reaffirming our mission, vision and values, 


and establishing clear and concise goals that engage 


and inspire. In Algonquin’s case, this direction  


has been and will continue to be rooted in our  


commitment to student success.


Nine months of effort and over  
1,200 participants


Over the course of nine months, Algonquin sought the 


advice and guidance of government leaders, employers, 


current students, prospective students, alumni, and 


employees to determine what it may look like by 2020 


and define the steps needed to begin to turn that  


vision into reality.


Through this process the entire Algonquin community 


has been engaged. In workshops, focus groups and 


town hall meetings, more than 1,200 individuals and 


organizations shared their thoughts on important issues 


related to student success, student retention, funding, 


growth, access, attainment, demand, programs, facilities, 


technology, support, leadership and collaboration.


We discussed global economic forces, employer 


demands, and changing client expectations. We 


reviewed government policy, education trends, and 


community needs. Finally, we examined our core  


values, organizational strengths and weaknesses,  


and the opportunities technological advances are 


expected to offer.


Renewed mission, vision, strategic  
pillars and goals


Together, we shared frustrations, celebrated successes 


and, perhaps most importantly, learned from each 


other. That exchange, and the ideas emerging from  


it, form the basis of this Strategic Plan.


This effort has led the College to reconfirm its values, 


renew its mission and refocus its vision. This new 


Strategic Plan seeks to differentiate Algonquin locally, 


nationally and globally. Building on the foundation of 


past plans, the document identifies four strategic pillars  


and 12 supporting goals aimed at delivering on its vision.


Next steps


This plan will immediately begin to shape the College’s 


annual budget and business planning. Departments 


will be asked to review and align operational plans and 


performance contracts. The College will also embark 


on a rebranding exercise and the development of an 


integrated campus development plan to ensure full 


alignment at all levels of the organization.


Ongoing effort


To be successful, this plan, and the work it facilitates, 


must remain open to our clients’ constantly evolving 


realities. Strategic direction-setting is an ongoing  


effort requiring constant updating as our environment 


changes. Annual reporting on the Strategic Plan’s 


identified performance measures will be matched 


by periodic updates as necessitated by today’s fast 


changing world.







7Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Mission Accomplished:
Review Of The 2008–2013 Strategic Plan


The College’s leadership in the area  


of hybrid, mobile, and online delivery  


has received recognition from across  


the country and recently resulted in the  


Government of Ontario awarding Algonquin 


$6.6 million in financial funding for its  


$11.2 million Digital College initiative.


To begin the process, the College completed a  


thorough review of the existing Strategic Plan.  


Focused on student success, the 2008–2013 Strategic 


Plan identified 21 goals under four themes: Academic 


Leadership, Service Excellence, Employee Development 


and Resource Management. Nineteen of the stated 


goals were achieved outright, one was partially 


achieved and one remains unattained. The fact that 


the majority of the goals have been achieved has 


necessitated bringing forward a new Strategic  


Plan for 2012–2017. 


Academic Leadership


Algonquin College continues to respond to our  


community’s learning needs. Between 2008 and 2011, 


Algonquin introduced 44 new programs and delivered 


on its commitment to provide an enriching and  


challenging learning environment. The College  


continues to provide a learning environment that  


is relevant and of high quality. Ontario’s Program 


Quality Assurance Process Audit scored Algonquin’s 


program quality as the highest ranked in the Province.


The College’s leadership in the area of hybrid, mobile,  


and online delivery has received recognition from across 


the country and recently resulted in the Government 


of Ontario awarding Algonquin $6.6 million in financial 


funding for its $11.2 million Digital College initiative. 


Over the course of the current strategic plan, the  


College continued to expand pathways, fostered  


inter-professional education, invested in professional 


and leadership development and supported faculty in 


their introduction of innovative classroom practices. 


The College also gained local and provincial recognition  


for its work supporting the education and training needs 


of Ontario’s under-represented populations, increasing 


the number of programs and services available to  


recent immigrants, First Generation students,  


Aboriginal learners and Second Career clients.


Areas identified for continued investment include  


retention and enrolment management, business  


development, professional and leadership development,  


program and curriculum development, applied research, 


and the four modalities of delivery — on-campus,  


hybrid, online and mobile. 


Service Excellence


On the foundation of our core values and our client 


service standards, we have demonstrated our collective 


commitment to being “Here 2 Help”. Ongoing efforts 


to expand access to services through emerging  


technologies have showcased this commitment to 


service excellence and to meeting the ever-increasing 


expectations of our diverse student and client groups. 


Areas identified for continued investment include 


the integration of student support services into the 


Student Commons as well as expanding access to 


services online and via mobile devices.







8 Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Employee Development


Over the past five years, the College’s commitment  


to employee professional development and training 


has led to an expansion of the College’s Leadership 


Development Program, the creation of the Algonquin 


Leadership in Education Institute, and the establishment 


of core competencies which cover all levels of leadership 


positions within the College. Ongoing investments in 


employee orientation, mentorship, technology training,  


talent management and succession planning have 


positioned Algonquin as a leader in its field. 


Areas for continued investment include professional 


development, leadership development, succession 


planning, and fostering employment relationships  


that lead to greater student success.


Resource Management


With the support of government, industry and  


the College’s Students’ Association, Algonquin has 


delivered on its commitment to significantly improve 


facilities on all of its campuses. Capital fundraising 


campaigns have reinvigorated our partnership model 


and renewed industry and community engagement.  


In addition to ensuring that all Algonquin students  


have access to a first-class learning environment,  


dramatic enhancements in Perth and Pembroke are 


serving as catalysts for regional economic development  


and prosperity. In Ottawa, the Algonquin Centre for 


Construction Excellence (ACCE) and the Student 


Commons projects, as well as investments in an  


enhanced technology environment and increased 


study space have improved the student quality of life. 


The College’s first Sustainability Plan is poised to help 


with embedding sustainability best practices across  


Algonquin, including in all full-time academic programs.


Increased business development initiatives have 


contributed significantly to Algonquin’s bottom line. 


Today, Algonquin is the largest provider of corporate, 


contract and language training in Eastern Ontario and 


our unique partnerships with organizations such as the  


Canadian Forces, Hydro One, and industry sectors, 


such as the construction trades, have fostered deep 


business relationships which benefit all parties.  


Similarly, growth in applied research now provides 


500 students the opportunity to delve even deeper 


into their respec tive fields of expertise, creating  


richer and more rewarding educational experiences. 


Further, 70% of all academic programs provide  


opportunities for students to learn in the community 


and in various industries.


Areas for continued investment include the expansion  


of business development, international education, 


automation, government advocacy, sustainability, 


technology and a range of digital innovations.


Mission	Accomplished:	Review	Of	The	2008–2013	Strategic	Plan







9Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Environmental Scan


Today’s changing world provides great opportunities 


while also posing significant operational and strategic 


challenges. The question is not if our communities 


are changing, but rather how should Algonquin take 


advantage of the growing appreciation for the value 


of applied education and training? We must also  


determine what action should be taken in the face  


of unprecedented government deficits, shifting  


demographics, growing competition and technological  


advances that have the power to dramatically alter the 


education landscape? In preparing this Strategic Plan, 


all of these factors were taken into consideration.


Economic forces


The current debt load carried by provincial and  


federal governments suggests there will be fewer  


opportunities for increased funding of postsecondary 


education. This provokes serious questions about the 


financial sustainability of Canada’s postsecondary  


institutions. In 2011, expenses for Algonquin’s core 


postsecondary operations significantly exceeded 


incoming cash flow. With the provincial government 


continuing to fund below the rate of inflation, it is  


prudent that postsecondary institutions plan for a 


continued decline in the share of revenue that comes 


from government grants. Algonquin and other colleges 


and universities will be forced to look at realigning 


their program and service delivery choices to reflect 


the reality of the funding framework.


Political trends


The political landscape in Ontario remains uncertain 


and the college must ensure it remains flexible to  


respond to the changing environment.


Anticipated changes include:


g  The Putting Students First report, which proposed a 


number of recommendations, including modernizing 


the funding formula for colleges and universities; 


negotiating mandate agreements with institutions 


to align both provincial priorities and institutional 


aspirations; fostering deeper partnerships among 


colleges and universities; developing a province-wide 


credit transfer system, and placing more emphasis 


on programs that promote experiential learning.


g  The Open Ontario Plan, which included a pledge  


to raise international student enrolments by 50%  


and, through additional funding and scholarships, 


provide further incentives for institutions to attract  


international students.


g  The April 2011 report prepared by the Higher  


Education Quality Council of Ontario, entitled  


The Benefits of Greater Differentiation of Ontario’s 


University Sector, which noted that “greater  


differentiation (in the) sector offers clearer choices 


from a larger number of higher quality programs, 


clarifies the institutions that best serve their career 


and personal aspirations, and facilitates mobility 


and transitions between institutions in Ontario’s 


postsecondary system.”


By 2031, 77% of the workforce will  


require postsecondary credentials —  


significantly higher than the current  


rate of 60%.







10 Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Technological shifts


The Internet is quickly becoming the dominant  


infrastructure for information and knowledge exchange. 


The next generation of students require a very different 


model of higher education — one that views online 


learning and digital services as integral to the college 


experience. A report sponsored by The Chronicle 


for Higher Education predicts the college student of 


2020 will “…attend classes online, study part time, take 


courses from multiple universities, and jump in and 


out of colleges. Students will demand more options 


for taking courses to make it easier for them to do 


what they want, when they want to do it.”


Recent studies continue to show growth in online  


enrolments exceeding traditional postsecondary 


growth at a rate of 10:1. Increasingly, colleges will need 


to offer greater choice in online and blended learning 


opportunities alongside traditional face-to-face,  


on-campus instruction.


The Internet is also shifting the role of faculty from 


‘sage on the stage’ to ‘guide by the side.’ To reflect 


this change, progressive colleges will invest even 


more effort to embrace technology options in order 


to become what the American Council on Education 


calls “bricks and clicks institutions”. These emerging  


organizations fuse conventional and e-learning  


methods to attract both on-campus students as  


well as off-campus populations such as adult learners 


and part-time students.


Social changes


The broad appeal of social technologies has created 


a culture of sharing information and knowledge at 


home, at school and in the workplace. Increasingly,  


organizations are expected to be open, transparent 


and collaborative — embracing distributed decision-


making and the real-time, free flow of information  


and services. The New Media Consortium — an  


international not-for-profit body of learning-focused 


organizations — expects the concept of ‘open  


education’ to achieve broad adoption in the coming 


years. Characteristics of this new learning culture  


include sharing resources such as curricula and  


course content, social/ participatory learning, and  


the development of personal/professional learning.


Demographic differences


Across Canada and Ontario, changing demographics will 


have a significant influence on the college landscape:


g  In Ontario, the number of 19–24 year olds — 85% 


of current Algonquin postsecondary students — is 


expected to fall 9% by 2016, from a high of 874,200 


to a low of 815,700;


g  Between 2001 and 2006, Canada’s visible minority  


population increased by 27% — five times faster 


than the growth rate of the overall population;


g  Between 1996 and 2006, the Canadian Aboriginal 


population increased from 799,010 to 1,172,785, or by 


46.8%. Comparatively, the non-Aboriginal population 


grew by 8.4% over the same period. Population 


projections estimate that the Aboriginal population 


will continue to grow faster than the general  


Canadian population;


g  One in seven people in Ontario has a disability — a 


number expected to rise as the population ages in 


the decades to come. In 2005, the Government of 


Ontario introduced the Accessibility for Ontarians 


with Disabilities Act to develop, implement and 


enforce a range of accessibility standards by 2025.


The Internet is quickly becoming the 


dominant infrastructure for information 


and knowledge exchange.


Environmental	Scan







11Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Level of Study 2002–2003 2010–2011
Growth % from 
2002–2003


Total College 142,177 174,565* 22.8%


1-year Ontario College Certificate (OCC) 13,498 21,577 59.9%


2-year Ontario College Diploma (OCD) 69,310 89,368 28.9%


3-year Ontario College Advanced Diploma (OCAD) 55,354 51,163 -7.6%


1-year Ontario College Graduate Certificate (OCGC) 3,912 5,801 48.3%


4-year Baccalaureate Degree in Applied Areas of Study 103 6,656** 546.2%


Total University 247,901 355,447 43.4%


Total College and University 390,078 530,012 35.9%


 * Source: MTCU, 2010–11 Full-time, Headcount (FT HC), Eligible for funding.  


 * Excludes nursing, tuition short, part-time students and international students ineligible for operating funding.  


 ** Applied degrees started to be offered in 2002–03.


Supply and demand


The educational requirements for most jobs are 


increasing. According to the Human Resources and 


Skills Development Canada report, Looking Ahead: 


A 10-Year Outlook for the Canadian Labour Market 


(2006–2015), future employment growth will be  


most significant in occupations requiring university 


education and least significant in occupations that 


usually require on-the-job training. In addition, the 


Colleges Ontario report entitled, Jobs Without  


People, People Without Jobs, concluded that, by  


2031, 77% of the workforce will require postsecondary 


credentials (apprenticeship, university, college, industry, 


professional) — significantly higher levels than the 


current rate of 60%. 


While College diplomas remain the most popular  


credential within the College system, trends indicate  


a fast growing market for applied degrees. Rising  


interest also exists for both graduate certificates and  


credentials requiring a year or less for completion. 


Further evidence of the attraction of increasingly higher 


levels of postsecondary education can be seen in the 


rate of growth for university offerings (43.4%) over 


those from college (22.8%) over the past eight years. 


Evolving expectations


For postsecondary institutions, competition and the 


generational shifting of the talent pool have — and 


will continue to — make it difficult to find and retain 


the quantity and quality of skilled employees needed 


to ensure success. This is especially prevalent at the 


leadership level, making employee engagement,  


professional development, talent management and 


succession planning increasingly important. As students 


demand new kinds of educational experiences and 


professors take on the role of facilitators rather than 


lecturers, institutions will increasingly face the require 


ment to provide professional development support  


to staff and faculty.


Environmental	Scan







12 Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Mission, Vision And Values


Algonquin’s organizational philosophy is defined by 


its mission, vision and core values. Through the course 


of this strategic planning process, stakeholders paid 


tribute to the current set of College values believing  


they accurately reflect the principles and beliefs shared 


by the community. At the same time, they encouraged 


the College to revise the current mission and vision 


statements to more accurately reflect our aspirations 


for the future. 


The following are intended to serve as points of  


inspiration and provide clear differentiation from 


other colleges, carefully articulating our purpose.


Our mission


To transform hopes and dreams into skills and  


knowledge, leading to lifelong career success.


Our vision


To be a global leader in digitally-connected applied 


education and training.


We have a sincere  
and compassionate  
interest in the well- 
being of the individual.


We believe in trust,  
honesty and fairness  
in all relationships and 
transactions.


We value the dignity
and uniqueness of the
individual. We value
equity and diversity
in our community.


We believe in the  
pursuit of knowledge, 
personal growth and  
development.


Caring


Respect


Integrity


Learning







13Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Executive Summary


“We learn by doing. That is the thing.  


For though you think you know it, you  


have no certainty until you try.” 


	 Sophocles	2/0	BC


At Algonquin, we believe students learn best by  


applying knowledge through experience. We believe 


that understanding is not a destination but rather 


the product of a lifelong ‘knowledge journey’, made 


richer and more compelling when mixed with the 


power of technology. Experiential education is about 


being able to utilize new concepts in non-textbook 


contexts; to conceptually make sense of complex, 


real-world situations and to express such concepts 


meaningfully to others. Such learning also gives  


students the opportunity to improve their life  


skills — self-direction, collaboration and teamwork, 


information gathering, and clear communication. 


These are the traits today’s employers seek in their 


employees. This kind of technologically enhanced, 


experiential knowledge fuels economic growth and 


community prosperity. It is the fundamental speciality  


of Algonquin College and the foundation of our  


aspiration to be The Connected College offering  


the greatest range of choices for all students. 


Today’s economic realities make delivering on this 


mission increasingly more challenging. This Strategic 


Plan addresses the current fiscal realities head on, 


seeking to be efficient stewards of public funds while 


building a strong financial foundation from which to 


make strategic investments which will enhance the 


overall experience of our students. 


To deliver on our mission and vision we have  


identified 4 strategic pillars and 12 supporting goals. 


These commitments guide our strategic priorities  


and budget process. 


Applied Education and Training


Goal 1:  Deliver an exemplary applied education and 


training experience. 


Goal 2: Create a unique suite of programs, products 


and services geared to meet the needs and 


expectations of our clients and students.


Goal 3:  Leverage technology to enhance the  


educational experience


Goal 4:  Provide opportunities for every full-time  


student to have a work experience outside  


of the classroom.


Student and Client Success


Goal 5:  Deliver exceptional service to our diverse 


student and client populations.


Goal 6:  Leverage technology to automate and  


modernize our business processes, fostering 


an environment of continuous improvement. 


Empowered People


Goal 7:  Attract, develop and retain employees who 


have the knowledge and skills to be fully 


contributing members of the College. 


Goal 8:  Create and foster an environment in which the 


College’s model of leadership competencies 


and behaviours is supported. 


Financial Sustainability


Goal 9: Align our funded operational expenditures 


with provincial funding


Goal 10: Expand non-funded opportunities to  


increase revenue.


Goal 11:  Leverage strategic business partnerships  


to meet the capital needs of the College.


Goal 12: Create the technological foundation to align 


with the digital direction.







14 Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


The Connected College:  
Algonquin In 2017


Interact with Algonquin in 2017, as we celebrate our 


50th anniversary, and you will be struck instantly by 


a feeling of connection among students, employees 


and alumni, and between the College, industry and 


the communities we serve — locally, nationally and 


globally. Smart, sustainable, and connected, Algonquin 


College serves as a compelling example of the power 


people and technology have to create a compelling 


educational experience that continually responds to 


the changing needs of our economy.


Connectedness is at the heart of Algonquin’s  


commit ment to applied education and training,  


which the College proudly promotes. Applied learning  


connects students to peers, professional contacts  


and the broader community. It is experiential and 


technologically advanced. It gives learners hands-on 


exposure to the subjects they are passionate about 


and links them to career opportunities. The evidence 


is clear that applied learning enhances student  


engagement, strengthens knowledge acquisition and 


provides value-added graduates. In addition, applied 


learning allows students to explore the educational 


pathways best suited to their dreams, abilities and 


aspirations. It is not a ‘one-time-only’ proposition;  


it is the foundation for lifelong learning.


Complementing our commitment to applied learning, 


Algonquin’s passion for technology-enhanced  


programs and services has transformed its academic 


and research delivery models, support services and 


physical and IT infrastructure — and has made it a  


Canadian leader in the creation, use and sharing of 


Open Educational Resources. Digital teaching and 


learning at Algonquin is a highly flexible, engaging 


and effective experience built on smart investments in 


technology, pedagogy and professional development. 


It is immersive and personal, a hybrid that delivers the 


best of face-to-face, online and mobile modalities. 


Technology benefits not only the educational  


experience but also College operations, simplifying 


and streamlining access to support services and  


yielding invaluable business intelligence. 







15Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Strategic Pillars


Applied Education and Training


At its core, Algonquin’s point of differentiation  


lies in its commitment to applied education and 


training, tailored for a digital world. Algonquin has 


an enviable record of evolving to meet the needs  


of students, clients, communities and employers  


we serve. Changing demographics and global 


competition will require the College to remain fast, 


flexible and responsive offering a comprehensive 


mix of programs and training offerings that respond 


directly to the demands and expectations of both 


students and employers. This Strategic Plan deepens 


our commitment to applied education and training, 


setting us on a course to become a leading polytechnic 


institution by turning what we already do well into a 


point of greatness.


Goal 1: Deliver an exemplary applied education 
and training experience. 


By 2017, Algonquin will have expanded its commitment  


to both on-campus and on-line applied education and  


training. Investments in program and curriculum 


development, simulation technologies, open digital 


teaching and learning resources, and flexible mobile 


tools will have positioned the College as a global leader 


in the effective alignment of experiential education 


and digital learning. 


In addition to innovative postsecondary programs, the 


College has extended its learning options to support 


the lifelong educational needs of the communities  


it serves. By 2017, Algonquin will have enhanced  


its position as Eastern Ontario’s largest provider  


of corporate training, apprenticeship programs,  


and continuing and online learning. The College will 


successfully serve the growing interests of the senior 


and workforce development markets, as well have  


expanded its academic programming to meet the needs 


of students in search of international experiences.


Goal 2: Create a unique suite of programs, 
products and services geared to meet the needs 
and expectations of our students and clients.


By 2017, the talents and resources of staff, faculty and 


partners will have contributed to the establishment of  


recognized centres of excellence that take advantage  


of our regional strengths. Further, the College will have  


expanded its degree offerings, graduate programs, 


corporate and language training, continuing and online 


offerings, as well as its personal development options, 


recognizing society’s need for increased levels of  


expertise to compete in the global economy.


Goal 3: Leverage technology to enhance  
the educational experience.


By 2017, Algonquin will have continued its embrace of 


digital education, creating a more flexible, engaging, 


effective and efficient learning environment.  


Technological investments will have enabled the  


College to deliver on its “anywhere, anytime and  


anyway” commitment, creating an engaging educational 


experience essential to ensuring our students and 


clients are well prepared to enter the workforce. 


At its core, Algonquin’s point of  


differentiation lies in its commitment  


to applied education and training,  


tailored for a digital world.







16 Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Goal 4: Provide opportunities for every  
full-time student to have a work experience 
outside of the classroom.


By 2017, our commitment to ‘The Algonquin Experience’ 


has led the College to make learning experiences 


outside of the classroom a core element of its offering. 


Through the expansion of Co-op, placements, internships, 


applied research and volunteer options, all full-time 


students will be provided an opportunity to gain work 


and community experience. 


In addition, connections with industry exist at every 


level of the College: among students, faculty, staff and 


the institution corporately. The College’s expanded 


Applied Research program delivers the full value of 


these interactions — creating opportunities for students 


to gain experience and job prospects, allowing faculty 


to maintain and enhance their practical expertise, and 


providing companies’ access to low-cost research 


they can convert into commercial advantage. 


Performance Measures 2011–2012 2016–2017


Graduation Rates 62.4% 70%


Students enrolled in applied 
degrees


324 800


Students enrolled in graduate 
certificates


541 1,000


Online courses offered 71 150


Unique hybrid courses offered 824 1,424


Programs with work  
experience opportunities


70% 100%


Students engaged in applied 
research and development 


500 950


Student and Client Success


At Algonquin, we are committed to the academic 


and career success of our students. This commitment 


extends beyond a learner time at Algonquin to include 


their ongoing engagement as alumni. In addition, we 


bear a responsibility to the employers and communities 


we serve, working to ensure they have the talent they 


require to build our economy. 


In every aspect of its operations, Algonquin will  


maintain and continually strengthen its student  


and client focus. This Strategic Plan builds on the 


College’s history of creating a community that is both 


technologically advanced and ‘Here 2 Help’. Service 


is the organization’s governing keyword, delivering 


personalized support on-campus and online. This  


plan seeks to leverage technology and deliver on our 


commitment to become a leader in digital education 


and services. 


Goal 5: Deliver exceptional service to our  
diverse student and client populations.


By 2017, our commitment to exceptional service has 


increased interest in our programs and courses and 


has broadened the diversity of the clients we serve. 


As part of our client-centred approach, we have  


expanded online services and have made good on  


our promise to deliver one-stop service, ensuring  


that those seeking information and support receive  


it quickly, efficiently and successfully. In collaboration 


with academic units and external partners, investment 


in health and wellness services has led to the creation of 


a regional health hub and the development of a living 


laboratory environment, contributing to the physical 


and mental health of our students and employees. 


The Strategic Plan builds on the  


College’s history of creating a community  


that is both technologically advanced  


and ‘Here 2 Help’. 


Strategic	Pillars







17Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Goal 6: Leverage technology to automate and 
modernize our business processes, fostering  
an environment of continuous improvement. 


By 2017, technological advances will enable the  


College to operate more efficiently and responsively, 


communicating with our students and client groups in 


the medium they prefer. Investments in the Strategic 


Programs and Services Planning Project, value stream 


analysis, and automation have led to a re-engineering of  


college business processes. These efforts have increased 


access and choice, improved productivity, contained 


costs, and increased student and employee satisfaction.


Performance Measures 2011–2012 2016–2017


Student satisfaction 79.8% 83.5%


Employer satisfaction 92.1% 94%


Alumni satisfaction Baseline to be 
established


Baseline to be 
established


Empowered People 


Algonquin is committed to creating an environment 


that delivers on its values of Caring, Learning, Integrity 


and Respect. We believe that great colleges are about 


empowered people, and that empowered people are the 


key to an empowered organization. We will therefore 


strive to provide them with the opportunity to grow and 


develop — academically, professionally and personally. 


Goal 7: Attract, develop and retain employees 
who have the knowledge and skills to be fully 
contributing members of the College. 


By 2017, we will set in place formal processes that ensure  


the recruitment of faculty, staff and administrators who 


have the passion, credentials, skills and experience to 


deliver on the College’s mission and strategic directions. 


To support the development of current employees, we 


will enhance professional development ensuring they 


have the skills and training required to thrive in the 


fast-changing college environment. 


Goal 8: Create and foster an environment  
in which the College’s model of leadership 
competencies and behaviours is supported.


By 2017, the College will have fostered a culture  


of innovation, accountability and entrepreneurism, 


including the investigation of a new Responsibility 


Centered Management Model aimed at providing  


innovative College leaders with greater decision-making 


and budget authority. Evaluation and performance  


appraisal systems will be improved, mentorship  


programs introduced and succession planning  


processes implemented to ensure the College has  


the workforce and leadership required to deliver a  


21st-century education experience.


Performance Measures 2011–2012 2016–2017


Employee engagement Baseline to be 
established


Baseline to be 
established


Leadership training Baseline to be 
established


Baseline to be 
established


We believe that great colleges are  


about empowered people, and that  


empowered people are the key to an  


empowered organization.


Strategic	Pillars







18 Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Financial Sustainability


In the face of economic uncertainty, financial  


sustainability remains critical to Algonquin’s ability  


to deliver on its commitments. The College will  


confront the current fiscal realities facing publicly 


funded postsecondary education head-on, making 


decisions that position it for long-term success. Our 


need for financial sustainability does not negate our 


commitment to social and environmental factors, as 


noted in the College’s Sustainability Strategy Framework. 


Goal 9: Align our funded operational  
expenditures with provincial funding.


By 2017, in the face of continued government restraint 


and rising inflationary pressures, Algonquin will have 


completed the realignment of the College’s operating 


expenditures and revenues within the provincial funding  


and tuition fee framework. Supporting our commitment 


to ‘anywhere, anytime, anyway’  education, Algonquin  


will increase access to academic programs and services 


using alternate delivery models that optimize College 


resources. By 2017, through the collaborative efforts 


of faculty, staff and administrators, our combined focus 


on student retention has begun to pay dividends with 


steady and deliberate improvement each year helping  


the College meet government graduation targets of 70%.


Goal 10: Expand non-funded opportunities  
to increase revenue.


By 2017, Algonquin will have attracted and generated 


alternative sources of revenue through corporate,  


contract, personal development and ancillary activities  


to invest in future strategic directions. The College 


will expand its international offerings; attracting 


more international students, working with partners to 


develop offshore campuses, providing opportunities 


for Canadian students to study abroad and ‘exporting’ 


Canadian applied education. 


Goal 11: Leverage strategic business partnerships 
to meet the capital needs of the College.


By 2017, Algonquin’s rich partnerships with government, 


industry, community agencies, alumni and individuals  


has increased support for the College’s academic 


programs, endowments, scholarships, bursaries, and 


capital infrastructure. This strategic partnership model 


will also have resulted in the College exploring shared 


services and alternative financing opportunities in its bid 


to serve the ongoing needs of learners in a financially 


responsible manner. Cash, in-kind contributions and 


returns from alternative financing arrangements will 


help the College acquire the necessary resources to 


meet the needs of our students and clients.


Strategic	Pillars







19Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Strategic	Pillars


Goal 12: Create the technological foundation  
to align with the digital direction.


By 2017, integrated development planning will serve 


as the College’s capital infrastructure roadmap. In 


addition, the College has a stable data management 


platform in place, viable and supportive of the future, 


with data integration between client/student, employee 


and administration that enables informed management 


decisions at a cost and functional mix that is aligned 


with the fiscal reality faced by the College. Employees 


have secure access to College program and performance 


data through familiar tools as well as more capable 


business intelligence specific tools. By the end of  


2017, the full set of College operating data has been 


successfully mapped into the data management  


platform. These investments in business intelligence 


and resource planning infrastructure have further  


improved the College’s ability to make insightful, 


data-driven decisions. 


Performance Measures 2011–2012 2016–2017


Retention rate 84% 89%


Enrolment (PSE) and others 18,207 21,107


Enrolment  
(online — FTE equivalents)


2,300 3,500


Enrolment (PSE international — 
FTE equivalents)


1,000 1,400


Enrolment (PSE — mobile) 14.5% 100%


Number of organizations served 
through Corporate Training


230 425


Alternative revenues 29% 32%


Cash, in-kind contributions,  
and returns from alternative 
financing


To be  
confirmed


$2M


College data accessible through  
a common BI portal


10% 100%


Availability of wireless network  
to all stakeholders


85% 99.9%


Availability of College networks 
and internet access


78% 99.9%







20 Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Implementation Strategy


Implementation of the Algonquin College Strategic 


Plan is accomplished through the development and 


implementation of annual business plans.


Each year, the Algonquin College Business Plan  


focuses on strategic areas that are mission critical for 


the College to achieve its overall goals and objectives 


as described in the Strategic Plan and Multi-Year  


Accountability Agreement.


Development begins at the departmental level with 


unit specific business plans being prepared with the 


full engagement of faculty, staff and community 


stakeholders. Departmental plans are presented  


to their respective Vice Presidents for review and  


deliberation. These divisional plans are merged to 


form the overarching College Business Plan, which  


is submitted along with the Annual Budget to the 


Board of Governors for consideration and approval.


Throughout the year, business intelligence data is  


collected to measure the College’s progress against 


its identified goals and objectives. Year-end results 


are presented alongside the corporation’s audited 


financial statements in the Annual Report.







21Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Conclusion


While conditions are becoming increasingly  


challenging for postsecondary institutions, the  


need for applied, experiential learning has never 


been greater. Algonquin has anticipated many of the 


social, technological and demographic trends now 


unfolding: it has given sound strategic consideration 


to the requirements and expectations of both digital 


learners and 21st-century global economy employers. 


This 2012–2017 Strategic Plan reflects and builds on that 


foundational thinking and redefines the educational 


experience — putting a face to online and hybrid 


learning, delivering practical, applied experiences  


in novel, cost-effective and nimble ways. 


By championing applied education and training, 


enabling student and client success, empowering our 


people, and ensuring financial sustainability, we will 


deliver on our mission: 


To transform hopes and dreams into skills and 
knowledge, leading to lifelong career success.







22 Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


Appendix


Board of Governors
Governors  Title Term Start Term Expire
Michael Dunlop Chair September 1, 2008 August 31, 2013
Doug Orendorff Vice Chair September 1, 2008 August 31, 2013
Doreen Hume Chair, Audit Committee September 1, 2010 August 31, 2012
James McIntosh Chair, Governance Committee September 1, 2010 August 31, 2013
Eric Agyemang  Student Representative  September 1, 2010  August 31, 2012 
Denise Amyot Governor September 1, 2010 August 31, 2013
Jeanine Chiasson Support Staff Representative September 1, 2011 August 31, 2014
Lynne Clark Governor September 1, 2011 August 31, 2013
Pauline Edmonds Faculty Representative September 1, 2009 August 31, 2012
Barbara Farber Governor September 1, 2010 August 31, 2013
Louis Lamontagne Governor September 1, 2010 August 31, 2012
Kathyrn Leroux Governor September 1, 2011 August 31, 2013
John Owens Governor September 1, 2008 August 31, 2013
Andrew Pridham Administrative Representative September 1, 2011 August 31, 2014
Debbie Robinson Governor September 1, 2010 August 31, 2013
Mark Sutcliffe Governor September 1, 2011 August 31, 2013
Robert C. Gillett President  


Senior Management


Executive Officers 2011–2012


President and CEO  Robert Gillett 
Vice President, Academic  Kent MacDonald
Vice President, Administration Duane McNair
Vice President, Business Development Joy McKinnon
Vice President, Human Resources Gerry Barker
Vice President, Student Services Deborah Rowan-Legg


College Executive Directors and Directors 2011–2012


Academic Development  Jo-Ann Aubut, Acting
Academic Operations and Planning Doug Ouderkirk
Advancement  Doug Wotherspoon
Algonquin College Foundation & Alumni Association Brenda Rothwell
Applied Research and Innovation Mark Hoddenbagh
College Ancillary Services Karen Foster
Finance and Administrative Services Cathy Dempsey
Information, Institutional Research and Technology Service Michael Sparling
International and Corporate Business Development Ernest Mulvey
Labour Relations  Kevin Latimer
Learning and Teaching Services Glenn MacDougall
Marketing  Christine Brennan, Acting
Physical Resources  John Tattersall
Registrar  Kathryn Moore
Strategic Programs and Services Planning Jennifer Daly-Cyr, Acting 
Sales and Student Recruitment Peter MacKie
Student Support Services Laura Stanbra
Workforce and Personal Development Denyce Diakun







23Algonquin College | Strategic Plan 2012–2017


College Deans 2011–2012


Faculty of Technology and Trades Claude Brulé
Faculty of Health, Public Safety and Community Studies Kim Tysick
Faculty of Arts, Media and Design Russell Mills
School of Business  Dave Donaldson
School of Hospitality and Tourism Michel Savard
Algonquin College Heritage Institute Murray Kyte, Acting
Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley Karen Davies
Centre for Continuing and Online Learning Linda Rees


Local Bargaining Unit Presidents 
Jan Strickland, Local 416 (Support Staff)
Patrick Kennedy, Local 415 (Academic)


Students’ Association Board of Directors


Students’ Association Board of Directors 2011–2012


Jacob Sancartier, President
Kayla Cseh, Vice President
David Corson 
Foster Hilt
Alexandra Harness
Ryan Haskins
Corey Andrews
Michael Gurnham
Kyrylo Kasyanenko 


Students’ Association Board of Directors 2012–2013


David Corson, President
Jennifer Courville, Vice President 
Bryn Ansell
Taylor Baxter 
Kristie Bredfeldt 
Eli El-Chantiry 
Natalie Dixon 
Melanie Goyer-Kenny 
Rylan Vroom 


 Advisory Board Members | More	than	1000	Members		
	 	 	 serving	over	100	Committees


 Applied Research Partners | 80


 Co-operative Education Partners | 313


 Student Employment Services Partners  
 with Postings in 2011-2012 | 2005


Appendix
















Ontario Special Bursaries Program  June 11, 2012  Administration 


 
Presentation to:  Board of Governors 


Subject:  Ontario Special Bursaries Program (OSBP) 


Date:  June 11, 2012 


Presenter(s):   Duane McNair, Vice‐President, Administration 
Cathy Dempsey, Director, Finance and Administrative Services 


 
Purpose:     
 
To provide the Board of Governors with an update on the discontinuation of the Ontario 
Student Bursaries Program (OSBP) Funding. 
 
Background:  


The OSBP assists part‐time students studying at a public university or college in Ontario 
for their  first degree, diploma, or training program certificate who are unable to study 
on a full‐time basis; as well as full or part‐time students studying in academic upgrading 
programs (e.g., English as a Second Language (ESL), Basic Training for Skills Development, 
upgrading for high‐school equivalency offered through community colleges).   


The Ontario budget  speech, on March 27, 2012,  announced  the  cessation of Ministry 
funding for the Ontario Student Bursary Program.    In addition,  it has been  implied that 
Colleges will be expected to fund these programs from the anticipated savings in Tuition 
Set Aside (TSA) funding resulting from the Ontario Tuition Grant.  
 
Discussion/Consideration: 


As reported  in the addendum to the Draft 2012‐13 Budget titled “2012 Ontario Budget 
Highlights”  a preliminary negative budget  impact of $900,000  for upgrading  students, 
ESL students and Students with Developmental Disabilities was estimated.     


Under the current TSA guidelines the students eligible for OSBP are not eligible for TSA 
funding.    As  of  the  date  of  this  report,  there  has  been  no  formal  communication 
regarding  changes  to  the  Tuition  Set‐aside  eligibility  requirements  from  the Ministry.  
Changes to the eligibility criteria that may allow the use of TSA to fund the discontinued 
OSBP program may reduce the direct impact to the College budget.  
 
It  is not  known whether  the  reduced demand  for  financial  aid under  the  Tuition  Set‐
Aside program anticipated by the Ministry will fully offset the cost to continue offering 
student aid under these two programs. 
 
 







Ontario Special Bursaries Program  June 11, 2012  Administration 


Programs  that  are  affected  by  the  discontinuation  of  OSBP  funding  include;  the 
Academic  Assistance  for  Adults  with  Developmental  Disabilities  (AAADD)  programs, 
Academic  upgrading  (AU)  both  daytime  and  evening  and  ESL  Canadian  program.  
Appendix A is attached with details of each of these programs. 
 
Before  management  is  in  a  position  to  recommend  any  changes  to  the  affected 
programs an updated TSA Guideline and further analysis will be required.  Management 
will assess the situation and will provide options for Board of Governors’ consideration, 
once further information becomes available. 
 
Ensuring  that  students  are  not  negatively  impacted  unnecessarily  is  one  the  primary 
values  of  “caring”  that  the  College  ascribes  to,  therefore, Management  recommends 
continuation of these programs through the Fall 2012 term.  Once further information is 
received, Management will return to the Board with recommendations on how best to 
proceed. 
 
Recommendation:    
 
That the Board of Governors receives the report as presented. 







 
Page 1 


 


Programs Affected by OSBP Funding 
Appendix A 


 
Academic Assistance for Adults with Developmental Disabilities (AAADD) 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
 AAADD has been in operation for 27 years.  The program provides adults with 


developmental disabilities the opportunity to build academic and social skills within the 
College environment. 
  


 The program runs 41 weeks of the year from late August to the end of June.  Students 
attend day (3 hours AM or PM, 5 days per week) or evening classes (3 hours, one or two 
evenings per week).   Students can be in day programming for a maximum of four years and 
evening programming for a maximum of two years. 


 


 To be financially viable the program must operate at capacity, filling all 63 seats (36 day and 
27 evening).  It has achieved this goal every term since fall 2006.  The waitlist to attend 
AAADD currently has 54 names on it. 
 


 AAADD is staffed by two full time support staff and three part‐time support staff  


 
 Tuition and fees for AAADD, split between what was covered by OSBP and what was paid by 


the student are approximately as follows: 
 


   Tuition + Fees /year OSBP 
Pays/year 


Student Pays/year 


Day   $4,500 $2,500 $2,000


Evening  $900 $900 $0


 
Academic Upgrading (AU) – Daytime 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
 Students take Academic Upgrading courses to meet the admission requirements for 


postsecondary college or apprenticeship programs and/or to earn the Academic and Career 
Entrance (ACE) Certificate, a grade 12 equivalency recognized by colleges for admission 
purposes and by many employers.   
 


 At the Woodroffe campus, AU operates 51 weeks of the year on a continuous intake model.  
New students start every two weeks and students leave at any time so enrolment changes 
from week to week.  Enrolment is lowest in early August (approx. 250‐300) and peaks in 
Oct/Nov and March/April (approx 500‐550). 
 







 
Page 2 


 


 In addition to tuition paid through OSBP and the grant that is generated, AU is funded 
through the Literacy and Basic Skills (LBS) Service Agreement with MTCU.   The two funding 
mechanisms are used in conjunction to maximize revenue for AU.    
 


 By optimizing these funding mechanisms, Algonquin’s AU program is the largest and most 
successful of the 24 college upgrading programs in the province.   In 2010‐11, 607 former AU 
students qualified for and entered postsecondary or apprenticeship programs. 
 


 The 607 students make AU is the single largest feeder to the College, representing about 5% 
of the level 1 intake in Fall 2010 and 7% of the Winter 2011 intake.  Of these 607 students, 
77% passed level 1 and 84% were retained (77% enrolled in level 2 of the same program 
while 7% enrolled in a different program). 


 


 Revenue (tuition, fees and grant) to the College in 2010/11 from former AU students 
attending postsecondary programs (all levels) is estimated at $6.1M. 


 


 Five fulltime positions are funded through tuition and grant generated by the OSBP.  Two 
support staff positions are also funded through tuition paid by OSBP.  


 


 
Academic Upgrading – (AU)  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
 Academic Upgrading offers courses in communication, mathematics, computer skills, 


biology and chemistry in the evening in the fall, winter and spring terms.   
 


 These courses can be used to meet college postsecondary program admission requirements 
and/or earn the Academic and Career Entrance (ACE) Certificate, a grade 12 equivalency.  


 


 Day AU students can move seamlessly to the evening programming if they are unable to 
maintain a day schedule due to family or work commitments.  Similarly, evening AU 
students can move easily into day programming. 


 


 Registration ranges from 110 – 150 students per term for a total of about 380 registrations 
per academic year. 


 
 


English Second Language (ESL) Canadian  
 


BACKGROUND 
 
 Students take ESL Canadian programming to meet the admission requirements for 


postsecondary college or apprenticeship programs and/or to improve their english language 
skills for employment. 
 







 
Page 3 


 


  ESL Canadian operates 48 weeks of the year with new intakes every eight weeks.  
Enrolment is lowest in July‐August intake (approx. 130‐150) and peaks in Oct/Nov to 
March/April (approx 180‐200). 


 


 The curriculum for ESL Canadian is identical to ESL International.  Students move between 
the two programs to maximize class size and effective use of teacher resources and 
classroom space. 


 


 ESL Canadian is the only ESL, academic credit program in the Ottawa region.  In 2010‐11, 41 
ESL Canadian students from Levels 7 & 8 students qualified for entry into postsecondary or 
apprenticeship programs. 


 


 Revenue (tuition, fees and grant) to the College in 2010‐/11 from former ESL Canadian 
students attending postsecondary programs (all levels) is estimated at $1.4M, not including 
grant. 


 


 Five full‐time faculty positions are budgeted for this program and one full‐time support staff 
position. 


 








 
 
 
 
  RESOLUTION 
 
  MOVED AND SECONDED –  Hume & Clark 
 


that for banking purposes, the following are the officers of Algonquin College of Applied 
Arts and Technology, effective September 1, 2012: 


 
THE  BOARD  OF  GOVERNORS  OF  ALGONQUIN  COLLEGE  OF  APPLIED  ARTS  AND 
TECHNOLOGY  


   
  POSITION            CURRENT INCUMBENT 
 
  Chair              James McIntosh 
  Vice Chair            Doug Orendorff 
  Secretary            Kent MacDonald 
  Treasurer            Duane McNair 
 
 


SENIOR OFFICIALS OF THE COLLEGE  
 
  POSITION            CURRENT INCUMBENT 
 
  President            Kent MacDonald 
  Vice President, Academic         Vacant 
  Vice President, Administration      Duane McNair 
  Vice President, Business Development    Vacant        
  Vice President, Human Resources      Gerry Barker 
  Vice President, Student Services      Vacant 
  Director, Finance and Administrative Services   Cathy Dempsey 
  Manager, Financial Services         Sally Clarke 
               
 


CERTIFICATE 
 


I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true copy of a resolution duly passed at a meeting 
of the Board of Governors of Algonquin College held at Ottawa, Ontario, the 11th day of   
June, 2012      . 


 
  DATED at Ottawa, this __11th      day of     June, 2012   
 
  Witness my hand and (Corporate) Seal. 
 
                                                                                 
                SECRETARY 








SPSP Update
College Services Review


Board of Governors
June 11, 2012







SPSP Update


• Context
• Project complexity


– Strengths and challenges
• Emerging Themes
• Early suggestions







S


Service Performance Metrics TemplatePrograms updates collected; BOG to receive update 
on program launches & suspensions 
Services:


SPSP 2011/2012 Momentum


Key Milestones: 2011/2012


June 2011


SPSP Progress 
Report


Summer 2011


Identification of 
key Service 
Performance 
Metrics


Fall 2011


Programs 
review update 
& consultations


Winter 2012


Service Review 
Analysis & 
Reporting







Strengths
• Building on momentum of SPSP
• An active and engaged Steering Committee 
• Over 250 services reviewed, resulting in 99 


Business Unit reports and 29 Dean/Directors 
reports


• Workshops, Info Sessions, Soliciting feedback
• Emerging Themes







Challenges
• Emphasis on “What is”rather moving people 


to think about 2017
• Timing
• Difficult to measure some relationships 


between metrics and recommendations
• Ongoing changes in leadership since SPSP1, 


June 2010
• Complexity of College services







Challenges with Measures, Data & Recommendations


• G���� ��������� ��������� ���� �� ���������


12%
25%


42%


No data collected for 
measure


Indicated wrong measures 
in place


Indicated additional measures 
needed


G��� �� ���� � �������







Employer and Government Community


Business Government NGOAssociations


Employment 
Services


Foundation Students  Coop Alumni  Applied 
Research


School/ 
Faculty 


Corporate 
Training 


Projects
Partnerships
Donations


Projects
Funding


Donations
Events


Bursaries
Donations
Gifts in Kind


Employment 
Opportunities 


Employment 
Opportunities 


Clients
Advisory Board


WPD


Projects
Employment
Networking


Students and Staff
Projects


Partnerships
Government/NGO


Financial SustainabilityApplied Education 
& Training


Student & Client 
Success


Empowered People


Strategic Pillars


Connected >> Interconnected  >> Interdependent







CONNECTED >>>INTERCONNECTED>>>INTERDEPENDENT


Coordination of pan‐college resources to 
better serve students, employer community, 


and staff


Coordination of key initiatives & capabilities 
to create an effective foundation for the 


digital college 


Resource 
Alignment


Digital 
Roadmap







Service Review: 
Early suggestions


Business Plan / 
Budget Process


Improve 
Data 


Measures


Departmental 
Service Review


Pan college 
Initiatives


Department 
Recommendations


Business Plan / 
Budget Process


Improve 
Data 


Measures


Departmental 
Service Review


Pan college 
Initiatives


Department 
Recommendations


• Improve data and measures
• Engage clients in feedback
• Pan College continuous improvement initiatives
• Departmental Recommendations







Update & 
Enhance 
Measures


Analysis & 
Recommend
ations Business 


Plans


Implement‐
ation


Monitor & 
Ongoing 
Updates 


Student and 
Client 


Engagement


Moving toward Customer Focused Continuous 
Services Improvement


Pan College 
Opportunities


Online


Hybrid


Classroom


Full Time Part Time


Mobile Programs 
experiential learning





		 ��SPSP Update�College Services Review�

		SPSP Update

		SPSP 2011/2012 Momentum

		Strengths

		Challenges

		Challenges with Measures, Data & Recommendations

		Slide Number 7

		Slide Number 8

		Slide Number 9

		Slide Number 10






 


 


 


 


 


 


Strategic Programs and  
Services Planning  


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Service Review
Progress Report to the 
Board of Governors‐ 
June 2012 


   


 


 







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 
 


 


TABLE OF CONTENTS  


INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................... 3 


SPSP Project History and Overview ............................................................................................. 3 


BACKGROUND ................................................................................................................................. 4 


Differences in evidence/analysis: Services versus programs ...................................................... 4 


Strengths ..................................................................................................................................... 5 


 Challenges .................................................................................................................................. 5 


ANALYSIS TO DATE .......................................................................................................................... 6 


TIMELINES ....................................................................................................................................... 3 


Appendix A – SPSP1 Recommendations Update ...................................................................... 10 


Appendix B ‐ Services Review Listing ........................................................................................ 11 


Appendix C – Steering Committee Membership ...................................................................... 16 


 


   


  2







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 
 


INTRODUCTION  


This  report presents a progress update on  the work done  in  the College over  the past year  since  the 
presentation to the Algonquin College Board of Governors of the Embracing Change, Ready to Act, the 
Strategic Programs and Services Planning (SPSP) Project Progress Report in June 2011.  


In  this  progress  report,  an  overview  of  the  SPSP  Project  undertaken  in  2009/2010  and  2010/11  is 
presented  first. This  is  followed by a  summary of  the process undertaken  to  further  the work of  the 
Services Review Analysis, a description of the progress made to date, and a summary of the plans for the 
coming year. Appendices with detailed information on specific aspects of this report, including a status 
update on the SPSP programs and services recommendations, are attached. 


SPSP Project History and Overview  


Algonquin College has been engaged in a process of strategic exploration and direction‐setting over the 
past  several  years.  In 2009,  the College  launched  its SPSP Project  to enable  the College  to grow and 
pursue  its  strategic  directions while  addressing  the  fiscal  challenges  being  faced  by  the  College.  The 
project has enabled  the College  community  to examine  current programs and  services,  to determine 
where  improvements  should  be  made,  and  to  identify  new  opportunities  for  both  programs  and 
services. This effort culminated with  the  recommendations made  in  the SPSP Final Report, Embracing 
Change, Ready to Act. These recommendations were approved by the College’s Board of Governors at a 
special meeting on June 28, 2010.   


During 2010/2011, a large number of SPSP implementation initiatives across the College were linked to 
the Key Directions in the SPSP Final Report: the priority of learning, the commitment to student success, 
the focus on relevant, high quality programs and services, and the movement toward a culture of 
continuous improvement, were implemented. This work has been done to further the College’s strategic 
directions, particularly the move to a digital college. This report provides highlights of these initiatives.  
Implementation of the SPSP recommendations is being integrated into College operations and will 
contribute to the development of a culture of continuous improvement. This culminated in a Progress 
Report, Embracing Change, Ready to Act, on June 13, 2011. 


During the 2011/2012 fiscal year, SPSP engaged in a Programs Review update and a Service Review.  The 
most significant initiative resulting from SPSP was the College Service Review (previously referenced as 
the College Services Performance Analysis and Planning).  This resulted in each service identifying 
Service Performance Metrics to support decisions based on the assessment of relevance, demand, 
quality and resource utilization of the service and related data. As was identified in the June 2011 SPSP 
Progress Report, many services had limited decision‐making data and the Board of Governors 
recognized more was needed.   In addition, there was a clear recognition that the Services Review was 
more complex than originally anticipated and a great deal more work was required before a final report 
could be made.   


 


For many departments, measures were  identified for the first time, representing an  initial opportunity 
to collect data in this focused manner for the service. This exercise set the foundation for collecting data 
in preparation for the Services Review – Analysis and reporting  in winter 2012.   Through this phase of 


  3







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 
the  SPSP  Project,  every  activity  that  consumes  resources  at Algonquin  College was  categorized  as  a 
component  of  either  a  program  or  a  service  and  assessed  in  terms  of  relevance,  demand,  quality, 
resource utilization and opportunities. 


BACKGROUND 


2011‐12 at a glance 


In the current post‐secondary environment, Algonquin College is faced with unprecedented fiscal 
challenges, global competition, digital learning, a wide range of client ages, and rapidly changing client 
needs.  The pace of change has created a sense of urgency around data‐based decision making.  The 
tremendous effort across all areas during this process moved the college toward data‐based decision 
making and developing continuous improvement plans; however, it became evident during the review 
that much of the focus was on ‘what is’, less on the ‘should be’ in 2017. Services offered by the College 
in 2017 are likely to be quite different from today.  To align with the college vision “To be a global leader 
in digitally‐connected applied education and training” means building a service environment that has 
never been built.  In a world that is changing so rapidly, the college is embarking on a service world we 
have never lived through.  To offer dynamic and useful ways of offering services to clients in order to 
support program offerings at a digital college offering mobile access, this college is faced with re‐
inventing services on an ongoing basis. 


Differences in evidence/analysis: Services versus programs 


Programs have historically leveraged financial, quality and access data for decisions more readily than 
services.  Integrated into College Academic operations, a program review of this key data was 
undertaken in October and November 2011.  This resulted in a refinement of the program offerings. 


Services on the other hand, draw service performance metrics data from a wide variety of sources, 
ranging from college infrastructure sources to data collected within departments.  The use of disparate 
data sources is in itself a challenge as it affects access to data and to some extent how the data is 
extrapolated and utilized.


The Service Review process began in early summer 2011 and was approved by the Board of Governors in 
June 2011.  Timelines were adhered to, metrics were identified and documented, and the analysis and 
reporting took place from January to early April, 2012.  Services have made major inroads into collecting 
and leveraging data for the purpose of decision making.  Many have discovered that despite their best 


June 2011


SPSP Progress 
Report


Summer 
2011


Identification of 
key Service 
Performance 
Metrics


Fall 2011


Programs review 
update & 
consultations


Winter 
2012


Service Review 
Analysis & 
Reporting


June 2012


Service Review 
update


  4







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 
efforts to identify appropriate measures, the analysis and reporting phase this year brought light to the 
challenges faced: accessing and collecting the data, defining meaningful measures and correlating 
findings to departmental level recommendations.   


Strengths 


A tremendous amount of effort was invested across the college in this segment of the Service Review 
which has resulted in great work to date.  Users across the college invested a significant amount of time 
and effort into their analysis. Many users noted that the analysis was a great opportunity for them to 
work collaboratively with their team members or other departments with similar roles and to share 
ideas.  


In preparation for the SPSP Service Review initiative, and with a focus on Continuous Improvement and 
leveraging a digital platform, the SPSP team moved the analysis and reporting templates online. Data 


that was able to be pre‐populated was pre‐entered for the users, 
and a basic workflow of data was created for suite of reports to 
allow for easy access and view of data. Although there were some 
constraints and dependencies that limited some of the 
functionality that could be deployed, the forms were launched on 
time.  Automating the reporting allowed for key data from each 
level of reporting to be pulled forward to assist in analysis. These 
created efficiencies for users and the SPSP team. In addition to 
linking key documents, the analysis itself brought a greater ability 


to summarize information.   


“Imagine going through this 
exercise with email/Excel and 
Word documents!”   Service 


Review form user 


An active and engaged Steering Committee reviewed over 250 services resulting in 99 Business Unit 
reports and 29 Dean/Directors reports.  A full list of College 
Services reviewed and under review can be found in 
Appendix B.  Some users commented that the analysis was 
easier this time around due to the fact that they were 
familiar with the terminology and did not have to learn a 
new framework for analysis; they knew what type of 
information/data was expected, and what the output was 
going to be. Even if there were changes to the measures or to the form, it was helpful to build upon the 
knowledge that the college has garnered since the inception of SPSP. 


“I am done and it was a good analysis. 
…I can make it better.”  Service 


Review form user


Challenges 


While there are numerous strengths within the Services Review, a number of challenges were also 
identified through the process and by the Steering Committee.  These challenges included: 


• The Services Review reporting was not aligned with planning cycle.  The analysis and 
reporting required a concentrated effort at a time when there was little time. The timing of 
analysis and reporting was a challenge for administrators as it conflicted directly with the 
budget and business planning cycle.   


  5







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 


• The Service Review Analysis and Reporting called for recommendations to be identified at 
the individual service and department level.  Emerging themes Identified integration 
opportunities to view services from a pan‐college or end‐to‐end perspective.  While 
reviewing services at the department level is very important, the current departmental 
focus inherently limits the pan‐college view and does not account for end to end service 
connections to support mobile program delivery needs: in‐class, hybrid and online.  The 
complexity of College services strongly indicates the need to evaluate services on an end‐to‐
end basis, at a pan college level.  Many services can play a role in the college level offering 
of a service, coordination and alignment will help lessen the silo effect. 


• There was an emphasis on “What is” and short term, low risk types of changes.  While 
recommendations begin to move the dial towards anticipated service needs in 2017, more 
evaluation and alignment with key dependencies is required.  The focus on ‘what is’ 
represents a significant challenge in moving people to focus their thinking about what our 
various clients will require by 2017. 


• There were some weak relationships between metrics and recommendations.  Much 
learning has resulted from this year’s analysis. It was known that this Service Review would 
lay the foundation for the development of an ongoing system of Service Quality Review, and 
that some areas would have robust data while others very minimal. Gaps existed at various 
levels within reports ranging from missing data, to weak measures, to vague reports.  This 
was reflected in the reports. In fact, approximately 12‐13% of measures had no data to 
report on yet and therefore did not meet the evidence test.   


• There have been numerous changes in leadership at the College since SPSP1, June 
2010.  While SPSP took many steps to ensure the college community had the necessary tools 
for the Services Review, the changes in leadership and related transfers in corporate 
knowledge nonetheless presented a challenge in the completion of reports, as well as for 
online report access permissions related to offsite hosting. 


• At the time of the Services Review, only the draft Strategic Plan was available.  The final 
Strategic Plan allows for a better understanding of what the actions must be taken, what are 
the key dependencies are anticipated on the recommendation in alignment with this new 
Strategic Plan. 
 


Analysis to date 


It was highlighted that in many cases, although measures were in place, data was absent; in fact, 12% of 
measures had no data. Further, users indicated that even though they had originally identified these 
measures, once they were in the analysis realized that additional measures were required, or that they 
might not have the correct measures in place after all. In fact, 25% of users indicated the correct 
measures were not in place, and 42% stated that additional measures were required. 


  6







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 


 


Initially, over 360 department‐level recommendations were made, containing excellent ideas for moving 
the college forward. At the end of the first round of analysis with the Steering Committee, the group 
discussed key themes that emerged from the full service review. The SPSP team then used these themes 
as a foundation for tagging each of the department recommendations. This analysis enabled identifying 
which themes were more prominent or recurring across the departments.   Some key themes were 
heard consistently across the departments, including:  


• Automation  
• Resource alignment  
• Strategic partnerships 
• Digital roadmap 
• Enhancing online services for students 
• Expanding experiential learning  


 


During the second level review of department recommendations, the themes were revisited and it was 
identified that most of the themes fell under two main categories: “Resource Alignment”, and “Digital 
Roadmap”.   


MTCU is calling for colleges to be more innovative, productive, entrepreneurial, effective and efficient as 
well as differentiating themselves from others.  As a digital college, the use of mobile platforms will be 
essential to support the growing base of mobile users.  With an ever growing number and type of mobile 
devices, users have the world in their hands to connect with information at their fingertips.  The level 
and specific needs for communications and service channels needs to be defined.  To college staff, it 
may be apparent where and why services are offered; however, this may not be as evident to clients.  
We have the opportunity to learn from our clients in a shared learning experience, on a value based 
approach. 


There is a multitude of ways to serve our Algonquin community.  Serving the community requires the 
college to align its services to the current student needs, the mobile learners of tomorrow, staff and 


 


 25% 12% 


42% 


No data collected 
for measure 


Indicated wrong 
measures in place


Indicated additional 
measures needed 


Gaps in metrics 


“This is an interesting analysis; a lot of 
work, but I’m glad I did it” Service 


Review form user 


  7







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 
faculty needs, in addition to the needs of the external, employer community.  Our external community is 
composed of many players and includes businesses, government, non‐governmental agencies, school 
boards and our individual advisory board members.   


To live up to the new Mission statement put forward by the College, it will be imperative that the 
Service Review assess and understand the linkages and impacts across all levels of the organization.    
The next steps for the Services review are to improve data and measures, engage clients in feedback on 
pan college continuous improvement initiatives and seek approval on departmental recommendations.   


Improve data and measures   


• Service areas identified performance metrics in the spring.  Some areas were faced with not 
being able to generate or locate the data.  There is a need to enhance the knowledge of 
metrics, data sources and data interpretation.  Feedback will be provided to departments on 
measures and to clarify recommendations. This will include training to increase literacy to 
more efficiently incorporate information and data into decision making 


• Complete the review of departmental recommendations.   
• It was heard across the board that timing of this exercise is not aligned with the 


budget/business planning process. Therefore funding is already allocated for this fiscal year.  
 


Pan college continuous improvement initiatives  


• There is much evidence of success within the Service Review analysis and recommendations 
focus on opportunities that exist to be more connected and inter‐connected across college 
services.   


• Identification of Value Stream opportunities to help evaluate the connectivity across the 
college and garner increased efficiency will be essential.   


Engage clients in feedback  


• There is a clear need to engage clients in obtaining insights on getting ready for the future of 
services at the college, how we are looking ahead to the digital college and how to link such 
services to learners.  The college is building a service environment that has never been built.   


• Continued and increased engagement in Continuous Improvement and the data‐driven 
culture. A mobile feedback app will be piloted   allowing users to provide instant feedback 
on select services. 


  


 


 


 


  8







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 


  9


Departmental recommendations supported by SPSP steering committee 


Once data and measures have been refined where needed, recommendations which are departmental 
specific in nature will be brought forward in the final report to the Board of Governors. 


The status of recommendations from June, 2010, Programs and Services Review are being tracked.  The 
most recent update took place in January, 2012.  A further update will be provided to the Board in the 
December, 2012 report. 


Recommendation 


That this report be received and that a final report with recommendations be presented to the Board in 
December, 2012. 


TIMELINES 


 


Improve data 


June‐Sept 2012


Student and Client 
Engagement


Sept‐Nov 2012


Report to the Board 
of Govenors


December 2012


Departmental 
Recommendations


June‐Nov 2012







Appendix A – SPSP1 Recommendations Update 


Please refer to the November, 2011, report to the Board of Governors. 







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 


Appendix B ‐ Services Review Listing 
Division  Department  Business Unit  Service 
Academic   Algonquin College in the 


Ottawa Valley‐ Academic 
Business, Technology & 
Outdoor Training 


Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Health & Community Studies  Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


School of Business  Business Administration‐ Core  Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Continuing Education: Business  Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Financial, Office & Legal Studies  Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Marketing & Management 
Studies 


Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


School of Hospitality  Culinary Arts  Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Continuing Education: 
Hospitality 


Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Hospitality & Tourism  Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Faculty of Arts, Media & 
Design  


School of Media & Design: 
Design Studies 


Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


General Arts & Sciences  Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


School of Media & Design   Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Faculty of Technology 
and Trades  


Centre for Construction 
Excellence: Architecture, Civil & 
Building Science 


Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


School of Advanced 
Technology‐ Applied Science & 
Environmental Technology 


Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Heritage Institute  Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


School of Advanced 
Technology: Mechanical & 
Transportation Technology 


Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Centre for Construction 
Excellence: Construction Trades 
& Building Systems 


Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Technology & Trades/ Media & 
Design  


Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Faculty of Health, Public  Allied Health  Academic Administration 


  11







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 


Safety & Community 
Studies 


Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Community Studies   Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Nursing Studies   Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Police & Public Safety  Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Health/Community/PPSI  Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Specialty & Re‐entry Health   Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


International   Language Institute  Academic Administration 
Resource Administration  
Student Enrolment & Relationship Management  


Academic‐ Non 
Academic  


Academic Development  Academic Partnerships  Dual Credit Activities & Forums 
  Dual Credit Courses 
Curriculum Administration  Curriculum Administration 
Program Quality Review  Program Quality Review 
Program Development 
Modification 


Program Development Modification 


Academic Operations & 
Planning 


Cooperative Education 
Placement  


Cooperative Education Placement 


Program Costing  Program Costing 
Algonquin College in the 
Ottawa Valley 


Administrative Services  Bookstore Operations 
Food Services 
Physical Resources 


Community & Student Affairs  Admissions, Registrar 
Fee Collection, Scheduling, & General Information 
Counselling, Testing Services, Student Success 
Financial Aid 
Health Services 
Prior Learning Assessment 
Campus Public Relations, Recruitment & Marketing  
Community Employment Services‐ Employment Ontario 


Dean  Academic/Ops/Community/LDP/Administration 
Centre for Continuing & 
Online Learning  


Online Learning  Client Support Services 
ePortal Technical Support 
Exam Coordination for online learning students 
Online Course Delivery Services 


Part‐time Studies  Instructor Support 
Client Support Services  


Part‐time Studies: Product 
Research & Marketing  


Communications 
Competitor Research 
Marketing Segmentation  


School of Hospitality‐ 
Non Acad 


Restaurant International  Restaurant International 
Savoir Fare  Savoir Fare 
Campus Travel  Campus Travel 


Learning & Teaching 
Services 


Innovation  Innovation 
Curriculum Implementation 
Services 


Curriculum Implementation Services 


Mobile Learning Programs  Mobile Learning Programs Project 


  12







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 


Project 
Prior Assessment & 
Recognition/General Education 
Challenge 


Prior Assessment & Recognition/General Education 
Challenge 


Software 
Development/Learning Objects 


Software Development/Learning Objects 


Mobile Learning Centre and 
Learning Resource Centre  


Learning Resource Centre 
Mobile Learning Centre  


Faculty  of Arts, Media & 
Design 


Career and Academic Access 
Centre 


Academic Referral 
Academic Upgrading  


School of Health, Public 
Safety & Community 
Studies 


Early Learning Centre  Operations 


Perth  Operations  Campus Operations 
Contract/Part‐time Studies 


International  International Education Centre  Student and Faculty Mobility Abroad 
International Project and Programs 
International Off‐Shore Partnerships 
International Student Recruitment 


Language Institute  Multi‐Media Language Centre  
Administration  Ancillary Services   Conference Services  Conference Services 


Print Shop/MFD Program  Print Shop/MFD Program 
Food Services  Banquets 


Food Outlets 
Vending  


Card, Coin, Locker & Parking 
Services 


Card System 
Coin Operations Services 
Lockers 
Parking Enforcement 
Parking‐ Woodroffe 


Residence Services  Student Housing  
Retail Services  Bookstore 


New Technology Store  
Finance & Administrative 
Services 


Operational Accounting   Accounts Payable 
Payroll Services 
Accounts Receivable 


Business Process Review  Business Process Review 
Financial Reporting  Financial Reporting 
Procurement Services  Procurement Services 
Mailing & Shipping  Mail Services 


Central Shipping & Receiving  
Physical Resources  Pooled Administrative & 


Financial Transaction 
Processing Services  


Pooled Administrative & Financial Transaction Processing 
Services 


Building & Technical Services  Air Handling System Operation & Maintenance 
Building Control Systems Operation & Maintenance 
Building Envelope Systems Operation & Maintenance 
Cleaning 
Electrical Systems Operation & Maintenance 
Elevators Operation & Maintenance 
Grounds Maintenance 
Hazardous Materials & Chemical Waste Disposal 
Heating Systems Operations & Maintenance 
Lawn Care 
Lighting Systems Operations & Maintenance 
Sign Fabrication 
Snow Removal 
Vehicle & Equipment Maintenance 


  13







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 


Waste Removal & Recycling 
Work Order Support & 
Processing 


Work Order Support & Processing 


Energy Procurement & 
Management Services 


Energy Procurement & Management Services 


Facilities Planning & 
Development 


Facilities Planning & Development 


Grounds & Fleet Regulatory 
Compliance 


Grounds & Fleet Regulatory Compliance 


Security, Occupational Health & 
Safety 


Occupational Health & Safety Services 
Security Services  


Advancement  Advancement  Advancement  Marketing Services 
Public Relations & Communications 
Event Consultation & External Liaison 
Event Logistics Support  
Corporate Events Management  
Student Recruitment 
Distribution 


Business 
Development 


Algonquin College 
Corporate Training 


Algonquin College Corporate 
Training 


Corporate Training  


Applied Research & 
Innovation 


Business Development & 
Promotion 


Business Development & Promotion 


Program & Project 
Management 


Program & Project 
Management 


Program & Project Management 


Workforce & Personal 
Development 


Management of College Wide 
Initiatives 


Management of College Wide Initiatives 


Government Liaison  Government Liaison 
Engagement of Community & 
Corporate Partners 


Engagement of Community & Corporate Partners 


Project Management Support & 
Quality Assurance 


Project Management Support & Quality Assurance 


Proposal Preparation & 
Submission 


Proposal Preparation & Submission 


Foundation  Build Alumni Affinity  Build Alumni Affinity 
Fundraising‐ Student Bursaries  Fundraising‐ Student Bursaries 
Fundraising‐ Capital Projects  Fundraising‐ Capital Projects 
Fundraising‐ Gifts in Kind  Fundraising‐ Gifts in Kind 


Information, Institutional 
Research & Technology 
Services 


Institutional Research & 
Planning 


Research & report external & internal data to support 
decision making, performance measurement & 
accountability 
Mandated Student Surveys 


Information Technology 
Services 


Academic Delivery Support 
Application Delivery Support 
Corporate Application Support 
Collaboration & Communication Services 
End User Device Support 
Events 
Network Services 
Student Information System Support 
Software Delivery Support 
Storage 
Service Centre 


Human 
Resources 


Human Resources  Compensation & Benefits   Compensation, Pension & Benefits 
Employee Assistance Plan 
Sick leave benefit, 3rd Party Provider 
Vacation 


AODA/Accessibility  AODA/Accessibility 
Labour Relations  Labour Relations 


  14







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 


Employee Development & 
Engagement 


Employee Development & Engagement Services 
New Employee Orientation 
Kaleidoscope Conference 


Organizational Effectiveness  Compensation‐ Part‐time Employees 
Performance Management 
Recruitment & Competition Management 
Workload Management 


Student Services  Registrar’s Office  Financial Aid Services 


Client Services 


Financial Aid Services 
Admission 
Responding to Inquiries 
Publications 
Registration & Records 


Business Operations & Events  Administrative Services 
Convocation 


Systems Reporting  Scheduling  
Statistical Reporting  
Technical Support 


Student Support Services   Ombudsman Office  Ombudsman Office 
Counselling Services  Counselling 
Centre for Students with 
Disabilities 


Assistive Technology 
Main Operations 
Test Room 


Student Employment Services  Student Information Desk: Main Operations 
Main Operations 
Student Success Centre 


Health Services  Physician’s Clinic  
Health Promotion 


Mamidosewin Aboriginal 
Student Centre 


Aboriginal Student Events 
Aboriginal Outreach Initiatives 


Director’s Office/Operations  Administrative Support 
Part‐time Payroll 


Residence Life  Residence Life 
Residence Orientation 
Residence Outreach 


Student Affairs and Orientation  Student‐oriented events & activities 
Test Centre  Examination & Assessment Services 


Electronic Test Marking 
Peer Tutoring  


 


   


  15







Strategic Programs & Services Planning 
Progress Report to the Board of Governors‐ June 2012 
 


  16


Appendix C – Steering Committee Membership 


 


• Jennifer Daly‐Cyr, Acting Director, Strategic Programs and Services Planning (Chair) 


• Allison Burnett, Project Coordinator, Strategic Programs and Services Planning 


• Cindy Chapman, Project Manager, IIRTS 


• Monique Cochrane, Professor, Business, Perth Campus 


• Denyce Diakun, Director, Workforce and Personal Development 


• Dave Donaldson, Dean, School of Business 


• Chuck Doyle, Manager, Business Process Review  


• Karen Foster, Director, Ancillary Services 


• Barbara Foulds, Acting Dean, Health and Community Studies 


• Joanne McDonald, Career Services and Student Activities 


• Claire Snasdell‐Taylor, Chair, Career & Academic Access Centre 


• Jack Wilson, Professor, Police and Public Safety Institute 


 


 





		TIMELINES

		Appendix A – SPSP1 Recommendations Update

		Appendix B - Services Review Listing

		Appendix C – Steering Committee Membership








    Academic 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 1 


  


 
1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will increase the number of applications for programs outside of the 


top sixty high demand programs by 10%. 
The Academic Area continues to initiate and participate in recruitment activities for Fall 2012 and for the 
future. Examples of activities include:   
 


• Thirty‐three programs across the Academic Area participated in Algonquin Connections from 
May 4‐6, 2012 an annual event that brings grade 8, 10 and 11 students (over a 1,000 students) 
to the College to participate in hands‐on workshops for a full day. The Faculty of Technology 
and Trades placed emphasis on the Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence and the 
skilled trades programs. Police and Public Safety Institute held activities in the Police 
Foundations, Pre‐Service Firefighter Education and Training, Paramedic and Veterinary 
Technician programs. 


• The 10th anniversary Options Skilled Trades Career and Job Fair was held May 9, 2012 at the 
Pembroke Memorial Centre. More than 2500 people attended, primarily high school students, 
who were “test driving a career” in the skilled trades.  Algonquin hosted HGTV Real Renos host, 
Jim Caruk, at the event. The show received extensive media coverage, including Morning Show 
coverage by CTV2 as the station broadcasted live from Options. 


• The Police and Public Safety Institute partnered with the City of Ottawa Emergency Services to 
host “Women in Uniform”. Over a hundred grades 10 and 11 girls attended the campus on May 
2, 2012 to learn about careers in paramedicine, firefighting and law enforcement. 


• Media Studies is piloting text messaging to applicants in the Advertising and Marketing 
Communications program to encourage confirmation. If perceived as a success, this will roll out 
to the remaining program applicants. 


2.  ENROLMENT:  The College will find unique ways to create more access to the top sixty high 
demand programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 


The Centre for Continuing and Online Learning sent an email to all students on the waitlist for full‐time 
day programs that have an online program offering. They were invited to contact the Online Support 
Specialist to explore the option of studying their program of choice online. This initiative resulted in 12 
students being granted an offer to the online programs (6 in Child and Youth Worker, 5 in Early 
Childhood Education and 1 in Fitness and Health Promotion).  Out of the 12 students, 5 have confirmed 
their intent to start the program in the fall.  Follow up has been initiated with the others.  
 
In partnership with the International Education Centre, Academic Upgrading is offering a hybrid math 
course that is recognized as equivalent to the math pre‐requisite for the College’s three degree 
programs (Bachelor of Applied Arts – Interior Design, Bachelor of Applied Business – e‐Business Supply 
Chain Management, and Bachelor of Hospitality and Tourism Management).  The content of the course 
was developed in consultation with the program coordinators.  
3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
The Academic Area continues to implement and pilot a variety of strategies to increase retention: 
 


• Students in the School of Health and Community Studies are being referred to Continuing 
Education Spring 2012 offerings for credit recovery purposes.  







    Academic 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 2 


  


 
• The Centre for Continuing and Online Learning piloted the Algonquin College Student Advising 


System (ACSAS) within the online Early Childhood Education program.  This pilot was successful 
allowing for comprehensive tracking of student advising.  As a result, the implementation of 
ACSAS will be rolled out within the Police Foundations, CYW and Community and Justice 
Services Program in Fall 2012.  


• All first‐year applicants to programs offered by Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley have 
been contacted and are in the process of completing the Noel Levitz pre‐admission student 
perception survey. The data gathered from the survey will support academic advising and other 
retention initiatives.  


• To increase the success rate in hybrid courses, General Arts and Science will incorporate a 
strategy piloted in the School of Media and Design. Each first level class will participate in a mini‐
workshop to review the importance of engaging in the hybrid component of courses. This 
workshop will be offered within the first three weeks of class and will also review the 
importance of attendance and time management. 


• The School of Media and Design has established a working group to develop support 
mechanisms for international students. This is a collaborative effort whereby every program will 
have the same supports and policies in place to ensure the success of these students. 


• The School of Hospitality and Tourism offered an intense English Boot Camp pilot project on 
May 14‐18, 2012 to which seven students were invited. These students were unsuccessful in 
ENL1813 but had attended at least five classes and had a grade between 30% and 49%. Six of 
the students completed the Boot Camp and were able to earn a D‐ (from a previous F).   


• Program readiness camps for Outdoor Adventure programs were held in May at the Wilderness 
Tours Resort. These mandatory sessions introduce and orient applicants to the program, as well 
as to college life. Over 70 students participated in the two camps. 


• Former Academic Upgrading student, Mitch Costain, will appear in the spring edition of “College 
Matters”, a magazine published by the College Sector Committee for Adult Upgrading.  The 
focus of the article was the value of experiencing a hybrid course before starting in 
postsecondary. 


 
4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
N/A 
5.  MOBILE LEARNING:  The College will continue to embrace the trend to mobile access by ensuring 


that all licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to 
facilitate mobile access, learning and service acquisition. 


Faculty in the programs slated to “go mobile” continue to participate in professional and curriculum 
development activities to ensure they are prepared for the launch of their programs in Fall 2012. 
6.  ONLINE COLLEGE: The College will expand its online learning offerings through hybrid and full 


online modules by reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs in each of the next 
five years. 


The Centre for Continuing and Online Learning continues to focus on the development and offering of 
online programs: 
 







    Academic 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 3 


  


 
• Developers have been identified to revise 54 existing and new online courses from the School of 


Business into a modularized format. Modularizing the courses will help students complete parts 
of courses where they may have difficulty. 


• Level 3 of the full‐time online Early Childhood Education program was launched May 11, 2012.  
• Level 3 of the full‐time online Performance Coaching program was launched May 11, 2012. 


7.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT:  The College will, through professional development, training, 
mentorship, and coaching, prepare its employees for new ways of delivering education and 
training and for leadership opportunities in the College. 


Faculty and administrators from the Faculty of Technology and Trades attended the Sustainability and 
Internationalization Vocational Learning Outcome workshop on May 3, 2012. 
 
Faculty from across the Academic Area are attending a variety of provincial‐level conferences, meetings 
and workshops this Spring term.  These include conferences such as the Live, Laugh, Learn Faculty 
Conference (internal), Celebrating Great Teaching Retreat (provincial), Aligning and Building Curriculum 
Conference (provincial), and Coordinator Conferences (provincial ‐ specific to respective fields of study) 
 
Many faculty and staff members took part in the Kaleidoscope 2012 Conference. Equally impressive, 
many of these faculty facilitated the workshops that were offered. 
 
An instructor team, consisting of senior College managers, delivered the first offering of the Algonquin 
Leadership in Education Institute – Level III program in 2011‐2012. Following the presentation by 
program participants of their practicum project to the President’s Executive Committee on May 2, 2012, 
the College celebrated the first cohort to complete the program at a short graduating ceremony in the 
Restaurant International. This program supports the existing and next generation of College leaders. 
 
On May 15, 2012, the School of Hospitality and Tourism hosted a workshop entitled Getting Published”. 
The workshop was intended to provide practical tips to college educators and was presented by Dr. 
Chandi Jayawedena, Associate Dean for Center for Hospitality & Culinary Arts at George Brown College.   
8.  FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY:  The College will target opportunities for increasing revenue, 


decreasing expenses and improving overall operating margins through new business 
opportunities, process automation, program and service efficiencies and productivity 
improvements. 


Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley has secured a two‐year contract to continue delivering the 
Targeted Initiative for Older Workers program through its Employment Services area. 
 
Price Waterhouse Cooper will have a 100 person executive dinner at the Restaurant International 
representing local food and wine in June, 2012. Dan Sullivan, owner of Rosehall Winery in Prince Edward 
County will be presenting on wine pairing and matching.   
9.  STUDENT ACTIVITY 
A very strong and significant team of student competitors (16 in total) participated in the Ontario 
Technological Skills Competition at RIM Park in Kitchener.  Six medals were earned by Algonquin College. 
The medalists were: 







    Academic 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 4 


  


 
• Trevor Smith (Gold in Automotive Service Technician),  
• Kathryn Craswell (Gold in IT Office Software),  
• Cody Malloch (Gold in Carpentry – Individual),  
• Jessica Leclair (Silver in IT Office Software),  
• Randall Kuehl (Silver in Heating Technician), and  
• Carl Macuzzi (Silver in Carpentry – Individual).  


 Competitors from Sheet Metal, Architectural Technology, Carpentry, Automotive Service Technology 
and Truck and Coach Technician also participated.  The competition included 1900 competitors from 
elementary, secondary and post‐secondary students in 60 plus skilled trade contest areas.  More than 
30,000 spectators attended. 
 
Gold medal winners at the provincial level advance to the National Skills Competition which was held in 
Edmonton this year from May 13‐ 16, 2012. Cody Malloch had a very strong performance and finished 
with a Silver medal in Carpentry. 
 
The Faculty of Technology and Trades organized 4 teams to participate in the Ontario Centres of 
Excellence (OCE) competition, called OCE Discovery 12. The students were pre‐screened and deemed to 
be in the top five in the province. Two teams competed in OCE College‐Connections category, a third 
competed in the Ontario Power Authority category, and a fourth team submitted an entry into the video 
competition.  Terrence Morrison, Vincent Micucci, Travis Louisseize, and Fabian Recollet, Electrical 
Engineering Technology, won first place in the OCE category. They worked with Jeff Courtice of 
TimeKeeper Pro to create a one person hockey score board. (A typical score board takes two people to 
operate.) Electronic Products and Technology, a trade magazine, covered the story which included a 
photo with MPP Brad Duguid, Minister, Economic Development and Innovation which can be found 
here: 
http://www.ept.ca/news/algonquin‐students‐score‐with‐oce‐buzzer‐beater‐effort/1001404024/  
 
 
Applied Museum Studies students continue to partner with external organizations: 


• Cleaned silver artifacts belonging to Laurier House 
• Conserved a World War 1 flag for the Prince Edward Island Regiment Museum 
• Conserved an 1812 gunboat at Fort Wellington as part of the Celebration of the War of 1812 in 


partnership with Parks Canada 
 
Social Service Worker students (2nd year and intensive) raised over $4,900 for the College’s Syd Ford 
Emergency Fund.  In addition, one group raised over $2K for the Canadian Cancer Society and another 
raised $600 for the Ten Oaks Project – Summer Camp. 
 
Denise Lavergne, Culinary Management student, was presented with the Ottawa Tourism Award on 
April 26, 2012. This award is given to a student who had a high academic standing, and, interest in and 
experience with volunteering in the tourism industry.  
Davin de Kergommeaux, Sommelier program, published a book on Canadian Whisky, called The Portable 



http://www.ept.ca/news/algonquin-students-score-with-oce-buzzer-beater-effort/1001404024/





    Academic 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 5 


  


 
Expert which was available May 8,2012 through: 
http://www.mcclelland.com/author/results.pperl?authorid=153308 
10. FACULTY ACTIVITY: 
Each year, our faculty and staff are recognized for excellence in many ways, including through awards 
ceremonies. This year, several dozen faculty and staff were selected to be considered for various 
awards. Congratulations go out to those members of the Academic Area who were nominated and to 
those who won awards as follows: 
 
Laurent Isabelle Award:  Pam Fitch, Professor, Massage Therapy, School of Health and 


Community Studies 
Diane Bloor Part‐time Faculty Award:  Stephany Castilla, Professor, School of Media and Design 
  Adam Jarvis, Professor, School of Media and Design 
Part‐time Support Staff Award:  Rob McLellan, Technician, Carpentry and Millwork, Heritage 


institute 
Team Award:  Event Management Faculty: Larry Weatherdon, Marye Menard‐


Bos, Caron Fitzpatrick, Sandy Ouellette, Stephanie Lockhart, 
Melanie Estable Porter, Sylvia Densmore, Celine Perrier, Ben 
Dinh, and Sophia Bouris  


   
Each year, the National Institute for Staff and Organizational Development (NISOD) at the University 
of Texas in Austin recognize candidates through the NISOD Excellence Award for their organizational and 
leadership excellence. This year’s recipients are: 


- Gerald Samson – Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley 
- Sylvia Weiser‐Picciano – Centre for Continuing and Online Learning 
- Jason Machinski ‐ School of Media and Design  
- Richard Briginshaw – Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence 
- David Thibodeau – School of Advanced Technology 
- Steve Price – School of Hospitality and Tourism 
- Helena Merriam – School of Health and Community Studies 
- Noni Stukel – School of Business 


 
Congratulations to  Sandy Schlieman, Professor, General Arts and Science and to Bill Roberts, 
Coordinator/Professor, Sheet Metal, Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence on receiving the 2012 
Capital Educator’s Award. Congratulations also to all College’s finalists:  Kurt Espersen‐Peters, Deborah 
McConkey, Eleanor Riesen, Carl Toole, and Scott Warrick. 


Congratulations also goes out to the following recipients of the Students’ Association’s Excellence in 
Teaching Awards for 2011‐2012: 


- Steve Dowdell, Architecture Program, Woodroffe Campus 
- Sandy Schlieman, General Arts and Science Program, Woodroffe Campus 
- Carl Toole, Developmental Service Worker Program, Woodroffe Campus 
- Connie Poupore, Office Administration‐ Executive Program, Pembroke Campus 
- Sandra Marchant, Office Administration – Executive Program, Perth Campus 



http://www.mcclelland.com/author/results.pperl?authorid=153308





    Academic 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 6 


  


 
 
On April 27, 2012, CTV Morning Live's Jeff Hopper got his hands busy in the kitchen with Restaurant 
International Chef Ahmad Lutfi.  Watch the full Video on   http://youtu.be/DPJgkBBNw1s. 


Jeff Ross, Professor, English, School of Media and Design celebrated the release of his latest sports novel 
for young readers, “Dawn Patrol”, on May 27, 2012. 
11. COMMUNITY ACTIVITY AND DONATIONS 
 
The Child and Youth Worker (CYW) program organized and hosted the First International CYW Week 
Dinner in partnership with the Eastern Ontario Youth Justice Agency. Tom Garfat, a leader in the field, 
provided the keynote address. The event was attended by CYW’s from community agencies across the 
Ottawa area. 
 
On April 16, 2012 the Event Management Team held their annual Wish Foundation Wrap Up Session 
which was very well attended by faculty and the Wish Foundation group. The wrap‐up party featured 
creatively themed programming and recognized the efforts and contributions of sponsors, suppliers, The 
Children’s Wish Foundation staff, their Wish Mentors, and faculty.  Brian Henry from Quality 
Entertainment was honored for his outstanding contribution to all the Wish Teams and received a 
commemorative plaque.  Three Wish children participated in the announcement:  Angelina (8 years old), 
Alyssa (8 years old) and Josh (10 years old).  This year’s class raised $106K which brings the five year 
total to over $426K donated to the Children’s Wish Foundation to grant wishes for children with life 
threatening illnesses. Max Keeping delivered a heartfelt speech and immediately began tweeting the 
exciting news which was picked up by many of Ottawa’s media outlets and by Mayor Jim Watson who 
re‐tweeted to Algonquin College Event Management. 
 
Bon Appetite was held on May 2, 2012 in which Chef Bob Gelinas served, on behalf of Algonquin 
College, venison sausage with apricot jam. Below, the rich but delicately seasoned Algonquin Pâté de 
Campagne made with pork, veal. 
http://blogs.ottawacitizen.com/2012/05/02/16th‐bon‐appetit‐ever‐try‐fire‐grilled‐lemonade‐you‐shoul 
 
Philip Killeen, past President of Algonquin College, hosted a luncheon networking group at the 
Restaurant International.   
 
On April 26, 2012, the Faculty of Technology and Trades hosted a delegation from Natural Resources 
Canada (NRCan) in Algonquin College Centre for Construction Excellence. The purpose was to explore 
areas of possible collaboration and mutual benefit in education, training, and applied research. The 
meeting was very successful as several leads were identified for further discussion.  
 
 


 



http://youtu.be/DPJgkBBNw1s





    ADMINISTRATIOIN 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 1 


 
1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will  increase the number of applications  for programs outside of the 


top sixty high demand programs by 10%. 
N/A 
 
2.  ENROLMENT:    The  College will  find  unique ways  to  create more  access  to  the  top  sixty  high 


demand programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 
N/A 
 
3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
N/A 
 
4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
N/A 
 
5.  MOBILE LEARNING:  The College will continue to embrace the trend to mobile access by ensuring 


that all licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to 
facilitate mobile access, learning and service acquisition. 


N/A 
 
6.  ONLINE  COLLEGE:  The  College will  expand  its  online  learning  offerings  through  hybrid  and  full 


online modules by  reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs  in each of  the next 
five years. 


N/A 
 
7.  EMPLOYEE  DEVELOPMENT:    The  College  will,  through  professional  development,  training, 


mentorship,  and  coaching,  prepare  its  employees  for  new  ways  of  delivering  education  and 
training and for leadership opportunities in the College. 


N/A 
 
8.  FINANCIAL  SUSTAINABILITY:    The  College  will  target  opportunities  for  increasing  revenue, 


decreasing  expenses  and  improving  overall  operating  margins  through  new  business 
opportunities,  process  automation,  program  and  service  efficiencies  and  productivity 
improvements. 


FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 
The year‐end audit of  the College  is nearing completion and  fiscal year 2011/12  financial  information 
has  been  filed  with  the  Ministry.  Audits  are  in  process  for  the  Foundation  and  a  number  of 
programs/projects.    Financial  Services  is  preparing  the  4th  Quarter  Financial  Report  for  the  Board 
meeting in June. 


 
9.  OTHER 







    ADMINISTRATIOIN 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 2 


 
PHYSICAL RESOURCES: 
 
Pembroke Campus Relocation 
Despite  delays  in  starting  the  project,  and  further  delays  incurred  since  the  start,  the  project  is  on 
budget and scheduled for completion and occupancy by start of the academic year in September, 2012.  
As of May 24, 2012: 
• Overall Giffels are approximately 60% complete 
• Major trades Mechanical 50%, Electrical 56%, elevators 50%, Drywall 60% 


 
Student Commons 
The project is on budget and scheduled for completion and occupancy by the start of the academic year 
in September, 2012.  As of May 24, 2012:  
• Substantial performance still on target for July 31, 2012 
• Structural steel for building link to Building D is scheduled to commence May 28, 2012 
• Bookstore fit‐up is progressing well 
• Painting has commenced 
 


 
COLLEGE ANCILLARY SERVICES 
Retail  Services  has  completed  a  rebranding  exercise  and  has  received  approval  from  PEC  to move 
forward with the concept.  The will facility will be known as “Connections, The Campus Store”.  The new 
brand will  be  launched with  the  opening  of  the  renovated  space  as  part  of  the  Student  Commons 
project. 
 
Residence Services has completed the change over for summer business and has bookings that exceed 
revenue targets for May and June. 
 
 







    Advancement 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 1  


1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will increase the number of applications for programs outside 
of the top sixty high demand programs by 10%. 


Recruitment Activities 
Presentations & events to date: 


• September 37 ( 2010 – 45) 
• October 193 (2010 – 85) 
• November 126  (2010 – 105) 
• December 75  (2010 – 11) 
• January 72 (2011 – 14) 
• February 104 (2011 – 36) 
• March 141 (2011‐ 42) 
• April 90 (2011 – 28) 
• May 135 (2011 – 19) 


 
Focus:  Beyond the ongoing presentations in May we had a number of significant events 
including: 
 


• Connections – we hosted over 1,150 grade 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 students for a day exposing 
them to the College and what it has to offer.  
 


• Experience College – Leadership Workshop, a pilot program with the Ottawa Catholic 
School Board employing grade 12 students that volunteer to “mentor” other grade 12 
students on post‐secondary choices. Both the graduating team and the grade 11 
students that will replace them next fall on campus for the day.  Based on its success we 
are hoping to expand the pilot to other schools throughout the board next fall. 
 


• As a means of increasing our focus on the non‐direct – adult market, recruiters are 
targeting shopping centres throughout the summer.   
 


Leads:  A total of 15,785 leads have been collected year‐to‐date beginning September 1st 2011.  
52% of the leads were generated by Recruitment with 47% generated by Marketing.   
 
Recruitment Marketing Initiatives 
Homepage banner campaign between January and mid May 2012 generated close to 11,800 
visitor interactions (clicks). 
 
There were 1.1M visits to the Future Students site from April 1, 2011 to March 21, 2012 which 
represents an increase of 4.6% year‐over‐year. 
 
Media Relations 
May 2, 10 – CBC Ottawa aired a news segment and The EMC Nepean/Barrhaven featured the 







    Advancement 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 2  


Women in Uniform event at Algonquin College.  
 
May 2 – The Orleans Star featured a short article on a screening of Algonquin College 
documentary students’ films.  
 
May 3, 10 The EMC Nepean/Barrhaven, The EMC Manotick/Winchester reported on the 
Partnering with Victims of Crime workshop at Algonquin College. 
  
May 10, 20, 24  – The EMC Perth and CBC News Ottawa featured a story about Olympian Nick 
Tritton and the Olympic House, built with help from Algonquin College students.  
 
May 15 – Metro Ottawa reported on the new electric Ford Focus and how Algonquin College 
installed one of the first public charging stations. 
  
May 15 – CBC News Ottawa featured a story about an Ottawa refugee’s new restaurant, which 
he opened with his son, an Algonquin College hospitality program graduate.  
 
May 16 – The Ottawa Citizen, CTV Ottawa, JACK FM, Open File, The Canadian, and The EMC 
Stittsville/Richmond all covered the announcement of Kent MacDonald as Algonquin College’s 
next President. The Ottawa Citizen included video footage.  
 
May 16 – CTV Ottawa mentioned on the evening news that “MacDonald” was trending on 
Twitter after Algonquin College announced the next President.  
 
May 17 – The Ottawa Citizen wrote about the 2012 EduGala, where two Algonquin College 
professors received Capital Educators’ Awards.  
 
May 10, 24 – The EMC Perth wrote a story about Algonquin College students Cody Malloch and 
Trevor Smith, who won medals at the Ontario Technological Skills Competition and the Skills 
Canada National Competition.  
 
May 24 – Electronic Products and Technology reported on an electronic scoreboard project by 
Algonquin College electrical engineering students that won first prize in the Discovery 12 
provincial championships.  
 
May 24 – The EMC Ottawa South featured a story about the selection of Kent MacDonald as 
Algonquin College’s next President.  
 
May 25 – The Daily Commercial News wrote a story about steel design in the Algonquin Centre 
for Construction Excellence.  
 







    Advancement 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 3  


May 25 – The Ottawa Citizen featured a story about short films by Algonquin students being 
screened on WPBS (Channel 64).  
2.  ENROLMENT:  The College will find unique ways to create more access to the top sixty 


high demand programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 
10%. 


N/A 
3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
N/A 
4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 
2011. 
N/A 
5.  MOBILE LEARNING:  The College will continue to embrace the trend to mobile access by 


ensuring that all licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new 
apps are created to facilitate mobile access, learning and service acquisition. 


N/A 
6.  ONLINE COLLEGE: The College will expand its online learning offerings through hybrid and 


full online modules by reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs in each of 
the next five years. 


 N/A 
7.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT:  The College will, through professional development, training, 


mentorship, and coaching, prepare its employees for new ways of delivering education 
and training and for leadership opportunities in the College. 


Capital Educators’ Awards 
Professors Sandy Schlieman, General Arts and Science, and William (Bill) Roberts, Sheet Metal 
Worker program, were presented with Capital Educators’ Awards at this year’s EduGala dinner 
hosted at the College on May 17th.  
 
Staff Awards Reception 
The College hosted its fourth annual reception to recognize both nominees and nominators for 
College Staff Awards, Capital Educators Awards, NISOD, Laurent Isabelle and President’s Star 
Awards. The event was held in The Observatory Lounge on Tuesday, May 8th from 3:30 to 5:00 
p.m.  Kent MacDonald, Vice President Academic was the Master of Ceremonies and Board of 
Governor Chair Michael Dunlop provided congratulatory remarks on behalf of the President to 
all nominees, and expressed his gratitude to all nominators.  Lifetime Achievement Award 
nominees Lise Jonczyk, Doris Kelly, Michel Lalonde, Colette Petschke, Philip Tuba and Joanne 
Venne were singled out by the Board Chair for their commitment to their respective 
professions, the College and our students.   
 
Year‐end Annual Meeting and BBQ 
The year‐end Staff BBQ took place on Thursday, May 10th in the Marketplace Food Court. 







    Advancement 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 4  


Approximately 900 faculty and staff from all three campuses, as well as representatives from 
the various College Boards attended the event.  Vice President Deborah Rowan‐Legg emceed 
the event which included the internal launch of the new College logo, remarks by President 
Gillett, and a short video of the College’s 2011 highlights. Rounding up the agenda was the 
presentation of the following College staff awards: 


• Support Staff Award: Chris McMahon, Senior Sales Associate, New Technology Store 
• Part‐time Support Staff Award: Rob McLellan, Technician, Carpentry and Millwork, Perth 


Campus 
• Team Award: The Event Management Faculty Team 
• Part‐time Faculty Award: Stephany Castilla and Adam Jarvis, School of Media and Design 
• Laurent Isabelle Award: Pam Fitch, Massage Therapy program, School of Health and 


Community Studies 
• Administrative Staff Award: Jeff Agate, Manager, Counselling and Test Centre 
• Lifetime Achievement Award: Colette Petschke, Business Administrator, Advancement 


 
The entire Staff BBQ and related presentations can be viewed at:   
http://www.algonquincollege.com/live/bbq/2012.htm 
 
 
President’s Star Award 
The Department worked collaboratively with the President’s Office to present awards to the 
following Algonquin staff members: Rosemary Forte Ianni (School of Hospitality and Tourism), 
Liane Amos (Financial Aid), Calvin Climie (General Arts and Science), Event Management Team 
(School of Hospitality and Tourism), Danielle Puchnatyj (Student Support Services – Residence 
Life), Marilyn Gallant (Registrar’s Office), Theresa Radmore (Physical Resources) and Robert C. 
Gillett (President) 
 
President Announcement 
On Wednesday, May 16th, all staff were invited to a reception at 10:00 a.m. in the atrium of the 
Algonquin Centre for Construction Excellence.  The purpose of the reception was to announce 
Algonquin’s 7th President.  Board of Governors Chair Michael Dunlop officially welcomed Dr. 
Kent MacDonald as the incoming President.  The news was welcomed by a thunderous cheer 
and standing ovation from the more than 400 staff and guests in attendance. 
Both a short and full‐length version of the reception can be viewed at: 
http://www3.algonquincollege.com/presidentsearch/ 
 
 
 
8.  FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY:  The College will target opportunities for increasing revenue, 


decreasing expenses and improving overall operating margins through new business 



http://www.algonquincollege.com/live/bbq/2012.htm

http://www3.algonquincollege.com/presidentsearch/





    Advancement 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 5  


opportunities, process automation, program and service efficiencies and productivity 
improvements. 


Algonquin College’s Marketing Department wins Marketo’s Revvie Award. 


Algonquin College was presented with a Revenue Performance Excellence Award in the Most 
Dramatic Business Impact category for its use of Marketo’s sales and marketing automation 
software.  The presentation was made to Doug Wotherspoon by Marketo on May 24th at their 
national conference in San Francisco.  The award recognizes outstanding customers who have 
used Marketo to transform their business.  http://summit.marketo.com/2012/revvies/ 
 



http://summit.marketo.com/2012/revvies/





    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 1 


 
1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will  increase the number of applications  for programs outside of the 


top sixty high demand programs by 10%. 
International Education Centre 
During the month of May, the International Education Centre (IEC) renewed and updated all online lead 
generating websites,  completed  video  testimonials with  students  from  India, hosted  agent  visits  and 
attended education events in India. 
 
The Vice President Business Development and  the  IEC Director  travelled  to  India  to meet with  senior 
leaders of  India’s hospitality  industry and  selected educational  institutions/training organizations. The 
industry  leaders  identified  the  following challenges:  recruiting and  retaining  skilled personnel, gaps  in 
the skill sets of specific personnel and new hires, and sources for new hires.  
 
Potential  partnership meetings were  held with  the  Suzhou  International  Foreign  Language  School  to 
initiate internships in China for Early Childhood Education and Teachers of English as a Second Language 
and the Russian Presidential Academy of National Economy and Public Administration. In May, IEC staff 
attended  the  following workshops and seminars: DFAIT  focus on Libya and China, “Study  in China” at 
Carleton University and the Travel Trade of Ottawa Tourism.  
 
Language Institute 
The May 2012 enrolment for the Language Institute was as follows:  
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services (IIRTS) 
The  Institutional Research Committee of Polytechnics Canada met May 8th to revise and add new data 
elements  for  the  institutional profile and program metrics used by  the association and  its 9 member 
institutions to advocate for and promote polytechnic education in Canada. 
 
 


LANGUAGE INSTITUTE ENROLMENT 


May / June 


Program  Enrolment Number 


ESL International (intake )  278 


ESL Canadian (intake 2)  119 


CE Spring (excluding ENL)  490 


Teaching English As A 
Second Language 


Not offered 







    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 2 


 
Workforce and Personal Development (WPD) 
The Experienced Worker Center provided  information and referrals  for 313 clients  in May. The Dream 
Quest camp has attracted 25 Aboriginal students to attend career samplers which will assist students in 
selecting careers. The CIIP program provided information to 25 clients in May. 
 
WSIB  is currently supporting 85 students College wide.   Two new WSIB students  joined  the College  in 
May. 
 
The Personal Development Institute enrolment statistics  from April 15 – May 15, 2012 were: 


• No. of registrations: 328  
• No. of courses offered: 39 
• No. of sections offered: 41 


 
2.  ENROLMENT:    The  College will  find  unique ways  to  create more  access  to  the  top  sixty  high 


demand programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 
Algonquin College Corporate Training (ACCT) 
During  the month of May, 664 employees  from 42 private and public sector organizations completed 
ACCT open enrolment or client‐dedicated, customized workshops. 
 
Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services (IIRTS) 
Blackboard service pack 8 installation has been completed and is in broad testing by faculty and support 
services. This facilitates increased hybrid course deployment for the fall term through various fixes and 
enhancements. 
 
Workforce and Personal Development (WPD) 
The draft of  the Research on Barriers document  that  focuses on  the barriers  that prevent Aboriginal 
people from participating in the paramedic and trades programs is currently being reviewed and will be 
presented to the appropriate partners in June. The report on service excellence determining Aboriginal 
content is ready for review. 
3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
International Education Centre 
IEC  staff  attended  Kaleidoscope  workshops  including:  Focus  on  Mental  Health,  Creating  Healthy 
Campuses, How Mental Health First Aid can help, Clarifying  the Role of Student Advisors and Cultural 
Sensitivity  with  Middle‐Eastern  Learners.  First  and  Second  cohorts  of  Algonquin  faculty  (Language 
Institute and School of Business – 7 faculty  in total) traveled to JMI (Nanjing, China) to deliver ENL and 
School of Business courses to JMI students enrolled in the three year Business Administration Program. 
 
Language Institute 
In May, 137 students received service from  the Success Specialist.    50% of the students served sought 
help for matters related to their academic performance and were either tutored or advised on resource 
utilization.  The remaining 50% requested schedule changes and general college information.  


 
In response to a request from the Saudi Bureau to train students in essential keyboarding skills, All the 







    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 3 


 
Right Type software has been purchased.  
 
Algonquin College Foundation 
In May, the following new endowments and bursaries were established: Michelle Valberg‐ Project North 
Bursary  for  Inuit  students,  Renfrew  County  Dental  Association  for  students  in  the  Dental  Assisting 
program, the Advisory Committee,  faculty and students  for the  Interior Decorating program, and  Jean 
Vincent Parr Bursary for students in the Interior Decorating Program. 
 
The Earl Bullis scholarship has been established  in the Small Medium Enterprise program  in the School 
of Business.  
 
Applied Research and Innovation 
The  summer project  season was  initiated.   To date, 25  students have been hired  to work on applied 
research projects enabling them to earn their tuition while working in their area of study.  Further hires 
are anticipated as more projects come on‐line. 
 
Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services (IIRTS) 
At  its May 14th meeting, a  summary  review of both  the KPI  results and  the Multi‐Year Accountability 
Agreement  were  presented  to  the  Board  of  Governors  including  performance  metrics  related  to 
Retention, Graduation Rate and Online College among many other accountability measures required by 
the MTCU. 
 
Workforce and Personal Development (WPD) 
The Aboriginal student success specialist met and provided support and guidance  to an average of 15 
students per week. 
 
A procedures manual to support others in the coaching of Aboriginal students has been developed by an 
employment coach.  The WPD Director and Aboriginal community liaison had the opportunity to present 
the Developmentor program to Ministers Murray (MTCU) and Wynne (Aboriginal Affairs).  The Ministers 
have indicated their support for this program and would like the College to develop a framework for the 
distribution of the program across Ontario. 
4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services (IIRTS) 
KPI reports at the College, School and individual program level were distributed to the Academic Sector 
providing a two‐year comparison of the 5 KPI metrics  including the Graduation Rate  for the  first time. 
These reports are  instrumental  in analyzing academic outcomes on an ongoing basis and are used  for 
setting  performance  contracts  and  reporting  progress  for  SPSP  implementation  and  program  quality 
review. 
5.  MOBILE LEARNING:  The College will continue to embrace the trend to mobile access by ensuring 


that all licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to 
facilitate mobile access, learning and service acquisition. 


Language Institute 
New  products  offered  by McGraw‐Hill  and  Pearson  Longman  continued  to  be  examined  for  online 







    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 4 


 
solutions  for ESL  skills. A McGraw‐ Hill e‐book  for eight  levels of  listening/speaking and  two  levels of 
reading has been adopted. 


    
Quotes  from OWL testing products are being requested.   This  is software out of British Columbia that  
simplifies and expedites test authoring, scheduling and administration, rating and scoring all online. 
 
Quotes from Oxford online placement tests are also being requested.   This online placement test would 
save time with automatic marking and placing of students in the right class based on their scores. 
 
Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services (IIRTS) 
Virtualization of 64 bit Blackboard  is proceeding  for  fall deployment to raise the ability to scale up  for 
demand. The management console has been upgraded to 64 bit.  
 
A proposal to broadly license Blackboard mobile technology (iPad, Android, Rim) has been received and 
implementation is being planned in collaboration with LTS.  
 
Internet connectivity and security services have been upgraded with new technology installed including 
new consolidation devices and new firewall infrastructure allowing the college to connect a maximum of 
2 gb/sec from a previous ceiling of 400mb/s. 
6.  ONLINE  COLLEGE:  The  College will  expand  its  online  learning  offerings  through  hybrid  and  full 


online modules by  reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs  in each of  the next 
five years. 


Language Institute 
Hybrid FSL Level 7 was successfully launched April 30 and Hybrid FSL Level 8 will be developed over the 
summer for delivery in September 2012.  
7.  EMPLOYEE  DEVELOPMENT:    The  College  will,  through  professional  development,  training, 


mentorship,  and  coaching,  prepare  its  employees  for  new  ways  of  delivering  education  and 
training and for leadership opportunities in the College. 


International Education Centre 
IEC  staff  completed  workshop  on  ACSAS  (Algonquin  College  Student  Advising  System),  an  online 
recording and tracking tool. 
 
Applied Research and Innovation 
ARI  staff and a number of professors and  students attended  the Ontario Centres of Excellence  (OCE) 
Discovery  12  in  Toronto.    This  conference/trade  show  allowed  Algonquin  to  showcase  leading  edge 
projects to other researchers and industry. 
 
A  highlight  of  the  event  was  Algonquin  College  students  earning  1st  place  in  the  OCE  Connections 
program for their project on building a new hockey scoreboard to complement software developed by 
Jeff Courtice of Courbyte. 
 
The Director of ARI attended  the World Polytechnics Conference  in Halifax  and made many  valuable 
contacts that provide opportunities for exploring international research projects. 







    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 5 


 
 
Information, Institutional Research & Technology Services (IIRTS) 
Two managers  have  assumed Mentor  responsibilities  in  the  newly  established Mentorship  program 
established by HR. 
 
Several  sessions  of  introduction  to  SharePoint  2010  have  been  delivered,  training  support  staff  and 
broader college users in basic SharePoint capabilities and responsibilities. 
 
Workforce and Personal Development (WPD) 
The  PDI  Manager  attended  a  Halogen  training  session,  individual  GeneSIS  training  sessions  and 
individual  sessions  on  Google  Analytics.    The  manager  of  ACAP  participated  on  Colleges  Ontario’s 
immigrant  working  committee.  The  Director  attended  the  Presidents  Visioning  exercise  at  Colleges 
Ontario’s headquarters. The Manager of ACAP attended and presented a  scholarship donated by SAY 
magazine at  the Aboriginal graduation ceremony.   ACAP was a  sponsor of Say magazine 2012 annual 
education  guide.    This  guide  is  distributed  to  all  band  councils  and  Aboriginal  employment  services 
across Canada. 
8.  FINANCIAL  SUSTAINABILITY:    The  College  will  target  opportunities  for  increasing  revenue, 


decreasing  expenses  and  improving  overall  operating  margins  through  new  business 
opportunities,  process  automation,  program  and  service  efficiencies  and  productivity 
improvements. 


Language Institute 
The IELTS test was offered on May 12 to 21 clients.  The June 16 session is already fully booked with 25 
clients  and  the  July 21  session  is quickly  filling up.  The CELPIP  test was offered on May  27 with  the 
average number of 12 students sitting for the test.  Because the numbers are lower than expected, the 
test provider will compensate us by providing the minimum amount or $600 a month.  
 
Automation of the Language Institute telephone answering service has been  in place since mid‐March.   
A modified version of the phone tree was installed, with the assistance of IIRTS. This enables information 
to be passed on to large groups. 
 
Algonquin College Corporate Training (ACCT) 
To date ACCT has secured $814,000 in revenue for 2012‐13. 
 
ACCT working  in  collaboration with  the  International Education Centre  secured  training  contracts  for 
delivery of three (3) workplace safety training workshops in Beirut Lebanon during the last week of June 
and first week of July 2012. 


ACCT participated with  five other Ontario Colleges  in  the  successful CONNECT  led Vendor of Record 
(VOR) application for the provincial government on behalf of the College consortium.   Notification was 
received on May 22, that CONNECT has been chosen as a Ministry of Government Services Vendor of 
Record for the following subject areas: 


1. General Programming: Management Development 
2. General Programming: Service Excellence & Innovation 







    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 6 


 
3. General Programming: Human Resources Management 
4. General Programming: Project Management 
5. General Programming: Personal Effectiveness 
6. Leadership Development training for Communicators and Communications Management  


 
ACCT’s goal will be to utilize the VOR vehicle to secure/procure training delivery directly with Ministry 
organizations and via CONNECT in the National Capital Region (and beyond as applicable).   
 
Algonquin College Foundation 
To date  the Constructing OUR  Future Campaign has  raised $7,600,501. The Pembroke Campaign  the 
Pembroke Campaign has  reached $1,960,825.64  and  the Perth Campaign has  reached $456,571. The 
Algonquin Foundation  continues  to work  closely with  the Perth volunteers  to  close  the  remaining 62 
prospect calls. 
 
Feedback was provided to the Business Marketing students regarding Alumni projects. Currently Alumni 
Relations  is working on developing a communications piece about the new Alumni Advisory Council as 
well as preparing information to be incorporated into the June AlumNet newsletter. 
 
Workforce and Personal Development (WPD) 
The Personal Development Institute’s (PDI) earned revenue for May totaled $240,729. 
Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn accounts and a YouTube channel have been created. Video testimonials for 
PDI Luxury Experience courses, as well as Career Samplers have been completed and uploaded onto the 
PDI channel on YouTube, as well as embedded on the PDI website. A Facebook advertising campaign is 
ongoing. 
 
The advertising campaign on Ottawa Kiosk is ongoing with the following results: 


• Security Guard Preparation Training – 38 page views 
• Motorcycle Training 2 – 17 page views 
• Emergency First Aid and Level A CPR – 29 page views 
• Motorcycle Refresher – 16 page views 
• Nutrition and Breast Health – 34 page views 
• Do It Yourself Plumbing – 18 page views 
• First Aid for Pets – 14 page views 


 
PDI  met  with  the  Director  of  Travel  Trade  at  Ottawa  Tourism  regarding  cooperation  amongst 
educational  institutions  in  Ottawa  to  promote  Ottawa  as  a  destination  for  educational  tourism;  a 
potential opportunity  for  International Career Samplers  / Camps and attracting  Luxury  Learners  from 
other countries. 
 
PDI received commitments from the following sponsors for the Career Samplers: 


• Ottawa Carleton District School Board – 30 seats 
• Catholic School Board – 30 seats 
• Aboriginal students – 25 seats 







    BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 7 


 
 
 The Director is working with Human Resources Development Canada, the Canadian Association of Prior 
Learning Assessment and  the Canadian Seniors Council  to develop a  strategy  to working with  seniors 
who are transitioning as workers. 
 
The final report of the Ottawa Integrated Local Labour Market Planning group has been provided to all 
academic managers at Algonquin College. 
 







    HUMAN RESOURCES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 1 


     
1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will  increase the number of applications  for programs outside of the 


top sixty high demand programs by 10%. 
Recruitment and Selection 
In preparation  for  the 2012 Fall Academic  term,  recruitment activity  increased  in  the month of May.  
Thirty‐one  (31)  full‐time  Academic  positions  were  advertised  in  the  Ottawa  Citizen,  on  the  Human 
Resources website, on  the Ontario College Employer Council website,  Internet, and on posting boards 
throughout the College. 
 
In  order  to  proactively  ensure  compliance,  Accessibility  for  Ontarians  with  Disabilities  Act  (AODA) 
messaging was added to the job posting template. 
2.  ENROLMENT:    The  College will  find  unique ways  to  create more  access  to  the  top  sixty  high 


demand programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 
N/A 
3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
N/A 
4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
N/A 
5.  MOBILE LEARNING:  The College will continue to embrace the trend to mobile access by ensuring 


that all licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to 
facilitate mobile access, learning and service acquisition. 


 From mid‐April  to mid‐May, 25  sessions  to  approx. 100  faculty  in mobile  learning  and  topics 
according to the faculty survey 


 COL  is  promoting  faculty  continuous  professional  learning  in  all  CIS  activities.  In‐house  PD  is 
provided  for  the CIS  team on  the power of using conceptual  frameworks  to plan,  implement, 
and evaluate the effectiveness of CIS support  


 Customized  PD  including  Curriculum Mapping  for  SAT/ACCE  coordinators,    Architecture/Civil 
faculty  delivered. 


 Support being provided to SAT & ACCE for their Aug. 24th School Day 
6.  ONLINE  COLLEGE:  The  College will  expand  its  online  learning  offerings  through  hybrid  and  full 


online modules by  reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs  in each of  the next 
five years. 


Three  online  wellness  offerings  were  provided  to  employees  through  MyAlgonquin  on  Bullying, 
Depression Resources and Managing Stigma.  
Orientation  Tutorial  for  new  Administrators:  The  design  and  development  of  an  online  orientation 
tutorial for new administrators will be completed by June 30. 
7.  EMPLOYEE  DEVELOPMENT:    The  College  will,  through  professional  development,  training, 


mentorship,  and  coaching,  prepare  its  employees  for  new  ways  of  delivering  education  and 
training and for leadership opportunities in the College. 


 AODA  Office  facilitated  two  accessibility  courses  for  staff  –  How  to  Create  Accessible 
Documents, WCAG 2.O 


 AODA Advisor participated in the Employer Engagement and Recruiting Training Session ‐ EARN 
 As the 2011/2012 annual process wraps up, 91% of Administrative employees completed a self‐
appraisal  evaluation  utilizing  Halogen  software.    As  a  result,  it was  faster,  easier  and more 







    HUMAN RESOURCES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 2 


     
efficient  for managers  to write better quality performance appraisals  for  their direct  reports.  
For  the  first  time,  employees  will  use  an  electronic  signature  to  finalize  their  paperless 
performance appraisal. 


 Two  sessions  were  sponsored  by  Human  Resources  on  May  7th,  Stress  Management  and 
Relaxation  techniques.    These  were  offered  to  all  employees  and  the  sessions  were  well 
attended. 
 


New Hires Orientation  
Part‐Time Faculty Orientation 
Held from April 21‐May12 for PT Faculty teaching in Spring 2012. 14 sessions were delivered; 181 Part‐
time Faculty attended.  
 
Focus on Learning 2 (June 4‐6) 
All FT faculty from Algonquin are returning. 
 
Focus on Learning 1(August 13‐17) 
Planning almost  complete,  registration  is  live.   Expecting about 30 new  FT  faculty  from Algonquin  to 
attend. 
 
Program Activities 
 


1. Kaleidoscope 2012 (May 7‐9)‐ 10th Annual 
 
3 keynote speakers – 583 attendees 
28 workshops – 980 attendees 
3 lunches – 377 attendees 
 


2. May/June Professional Development (PD)  
Faculty 


 Using results of the faculty PD survey (approximately 400 replies from FT and PT faculty) to plan 
the May‐June 4‐week PD program using 5 organizers: program/course design,  implementation, 
engagement, evaluation, and educational technology  


 Planning for the 4‐week May‐June PD program  is underway. Facilitators will hail from COL, LTS 
(CIS, Ed Tech team, BB Support, LRC, Innovation), CSD, ITS, and cross‐college faculty. Deliberate 
repetition  of  Kaleidoscope  sessions  in  the  PD  program  to  make  connections  between  the 
conference and PD as part of the COL’s SPSP plan (e.g., Low‐Tech Engagement in the Classroom, 
Online Course Development, Flipped Classroom, Diversity) 


 As of mid‐May, 20 sessions have been delivered with approx. 100 faculty participants.  
 
Staff 


 June  program  planning  almost  complete   with  “draft”  themes  including  “Connected  through 
Technology”;    Diversity  through  Accessibility  &  Generations”;    “Career  Development”;  and 
“Employee Wellness”. 







    HUMAN RESOURCES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 3 


     
TALL Program 
We will have 8 graduates from TALL this semester.  Three TALL courses have begun for the Spring 2012 
semester:  TTA5504,  Assessment  and  Evaluation,  TTA  5505  Professional  Standards  and    TTA  5509 
Presentation Skills (being delivered in Pembroke) 
 
ALEI Program  
Leadership I 
Level 1 offering has begun – 2 of 6 modules have been delivered to date. 
Leadership II 
 Winter 2012 cohort of sixteen completing in early April. Presentations scheduled for June 26. 
Leadership III  
Presentations well received by PEC on Wednesday, May 2nd.  Planning for 2012‐213 offering of ALI III is 
underway.  
8.  FINANCIAL  SUSTAINABILITY:    The  College  will  target  opportunities  for  increasing  revenue, 


decreasing  expenses  and  improving  overall  operating  margins  through  new  business 
opportunities,  process  automation,  program  and  service  efficiencies  and  productivity 
improvements. 


Saving  of  over  $50K  as  a  result  of  implementation  of  the  maternity/parental  deferred  lump  sum 
initiative for Academic staff this summer. 
 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 1 


1.   RECRUITMENT: The College will increase the number of applications for programs outside of the 
top sixty high demand programs by 10%. 


STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES  
 
Centre for Students with Disabilities (CSD) 
On May 2, the CSD staff participated in the delivery of the “Make the Cut” transition day for high school 
students with Learning Disabilities and ADD/ADHD.    In partnership with Carleton University, Algonquin 
College  hosted  over  200  prospective  post‐secondary  students  and  50  educators.  The  response  from 
students and staff was overwhelmingly positive! 
2.  ENROLMENT:  The College will find unique ways to create more access to the top sixty high 


demand programs while also increasing enrolment in the middle ninety programs by 10%. 
REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
Registration Statistics 
Full‐time Registration in Post‐Secondary/Post‐Diploma Programs. 
For the 2012 Spring Term, as of May 18, 2012, the net registered students numbered 2,331 or 99.9% of 
the projected enrolment.  
 
The breakdown of the 2,331 registered, as of May 18, 2012, is as follows: 


Faculty/School 
 


Approved Projected  Net Registered 


Entry 
Level 


Returning 
Entry 
Level 


Returning 


School of Business  0  578  0  581 


School of Hospitality & Tourism  0  354  0  306 


Faculty of Arts & Media Design  0  127  0  128 


Faculty of Technology and Trades  42  543  49  515 


Faculty of Health, Public 
Safety/Community Studies 


32  408  40  409 


International & Corporate Business 
Development 


0  0  0  0 


Centre for Continuing & Online Learning  41  55  57  107 


Algonquin College Heritage Institute  0  66  0  64 


Algonquin College in the Ottawa Valley  0  88  0  75 


College Totals  115  2,219  146  2,185 


 
 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 2 


Continuing Education Registrations 
For the 2012 Spring Term as of May 18, 2012, registrations were 8,877.  The term registrations to May 
18, 2012 represent 86.4% of the projected enrolment.  Registration continues throughout the term. 
 
Admissions Statistics  
 
2012 Fall Term 
As of May 22, 2012, OCAS statistics for the 2012 Fall Term indicate that, for College Choices (i.e. number 
of  individual applicants  to Algonquin College), our Non‐Secondary School applicants are up 2.3%  from 
last year, Secondary School applicants are down   ‐ 0.8%, with an overall increase in applicants of 0.8%.  
Province wide, the variances are ‐ 2.3%, ‐ 4.1% and ‐ 3.2% respectively. 
 
As of May 22, 2012, for Program Choices (applicants are allowed a maximum of 5 program choices, with 
up to 3 at any one College), our Non‐Secondary School applicants are virtually unchanged 0.0% from last 
year, Secondary School applicants are down ‐ 2.0%, and overall we show a decrease of ‐ 1.0%.  Province 
wide, the respective variances are ‐ 4.0%, ‐ 5.2% and ‐ 4.6% respectively. 
 
As of May 22, 2012, for Confirmations, our Non‐Secondary School confirmations are up 11.2% from last 
year, Secondary School confirmations are up 7.9%, and overall, we show an increase of 9.7%.  Province 
wide, the respective variances are 5.4%, ‐ 0.4% and 2.7% respectively. 
 
STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES  
 
Counselling Services for Prospective Students 
In  April  2012,  Counselling  Services  completed  153  thirty‐minute  information  sessions  to  address 
questions  and  concerns  of  prospective  students  regarding  selecting  a  program  and  applying  to 
Algonquin College.  This represents an increase of 159% from the 59 prospective students who met with 
a counsellor in the same month last year.  
3.  RETENTION:   The College will increase its semester retention rate from 81.9% to 83%. 
REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
MTCU Credit Transfer Project 
Student mobility and implementation of the credit transfer system is a key priority for the Ministry and 
Ontario Government.  The Registrar’s Office continues to collaborate with the Academic area to create 
the Algonquin College institutional plan for 2012‐2013. 
 
 STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES  
 
2012 Spring Term Orientation 
The 2012 Spring Term Orientation was held on May 4.  Orientation included presentations from the Vice 
President, Academic; Student Affairs and Orientation; the Students’ Association; and a Meet‐and‐Greet 
with program faculty.  Also included was a tour which encompassed a broad range of services:  Student 
Support Services, Parking and Lockers, Ancillary Services (Food and Beverage Operations, the Print Shop, 
The Book Store and New Technology Store), the Learning Resource Centre, Dental and Massage Therapy 
services, and the Students’ Association facilities.   Students also received a Blackboard training session.   
54  students  attended  this  year’s  Spring  Orientation  session.    Spring  Orientation  invites  students 
beginning  a  program  in May  to  be welcomed  and  receive  important  information  about  the  College 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 3 


before  they  start  classes.  New  students  from 13 different programs were  invited  to participate  (this 
included  three  full‐time  day  programs  and  10  programs  either  offered  online,  or  through  Distance 
Education). 
 
Student Employment Services 
Approval  for  a  Summer  Experience  Program  student  for  Student  Employment  Services was  received 
from  the Ministry  of  Training,  Colleges  and  Universities.    On May  1,  a  student  from  the  Business 
Administration, Human Resources program began work as a Student Employment Services Assistant to 
support  the  updating  of  resources,  student  drop‐ins,  administrative  work,  recruitment  of  future 
employers  and  assistance  to  the  Employment  Coach  in  the  DevelopMentor  Program  (Aboriginal 
Employment Program). 
 
Student Success Centre 
Dan Cuddy, Student Success Specialist and Marni Squire, Coordinator, Academic Advising, presented the 
Algonquin College Student Advising System (Completed/Live Version) to the Student Success Specialist 
team and began training and review of the system.  The ACSAS is now available for the Student Success 
Specialists to use to monitor student inquiries, assistance provided and/or referrals made.   
 
Residence Life 
From April 19 to April 29, the Move‐Out Experience was held in the Residence front lobby. Large boxes 
were  placed  in  the  front  lobby  marked  clothing,  food,  electronics  and  household  items  to  collect 
donations  for  the Diabetes Association as  students moved out of Residence. While  students donated 
these items, Residence Life gave out cotton candy and popcorn to students and took the opportunity to 
express  their  thanks and say good‐bye  to students as  they moved out of  the building.   Residence Life 
also handed out move‐out  checklists  to  students  (which were  also  sent  via  email  through Residence 
Services).  Approximately 60 bags of clothing donations were collected for the Diabetes Association. 
 
On May 13, the summer student BBQ and Meet‐and‐Greet was held  in the Courtyard from 3:00 p.m. ‐ 
5:00 p.m.   35 students attended the event.   Students played sports, met the staff and each other, and 
reviewed some of the rules of Residence.  Students were made aware of some of the upcoming events 
planned  for  the  summer,  and were  given  the  opportunity  to  provide  their  suggestions  of  additional 
events they might like for the summer program.   
 
Counselling Services 
Counselling Services has strived in 2011‐2012 to provide counselling appointments as close to the time 
requested  by  the  student  as  possible.    In  April,  164  of  370  (44%)  counselling  appointments  were 
completed  on  the  same  day  as  the  appointment  request;  with  40  of  those  “same‐day”  sessions 
stemming from an “urgent” student request to see a counsellor. 
 
Mamidosewin Centre 
The Mamidosewin Centre welcomed an average of 33 student visits per day during April, as compared 
to 35 student visits per day at the same time last year.  A number of events were organized for April, 
including:  


• Bannock Contest and Year End Event, where 10 students and staff competed and entered their 
bannock in an effort to win title of “Bannock Idol”.  Elder Irene Lindsay presided over this event;  


• “Money: 101”, a workshop on finances and budgeting attended by 10 students;  
• Presentation of an Aboriginal student feedback banner to Algonquin’s Aboriginal Education 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 4 


Council (AEC), where students were asked to respond to the question, “If you had five minutes 
with the College President, what would you say about your experience as an Aboriginal student 
at Algonquin College?”  39 students wrote their comments on the banner. 


• A joint Aboriginal Graduate Honouring Ceremony was held at Centrepointe Theatre for all 
Aboriginal students graduating from Algonquin College, the University of Ottawa, and Carleton 
University.  A total of 43 students were honoured – 31 of whom were from Algonquin College.  
Guests attending the event totaled 175.   


 
Centre for Students with Disabilities (CSD) 
The CSD  administered 774  individual exams during  Final Assessment Week  (April 21‐28) of  the 2012 
Winter Term.    In all of April 2012,  the CSD administered an astonishing 1,058  tests and exams!   The 
number of tests and exams administered by the CSD has increased by 18.95% from January to April 2011 
to January to April 2012. 
 
Toni Connolly, A/Manager, CSD, spoke to Financial Aid administrators from Colleges and Universities at 
the  OFASSA  (Ontario  Association  of  Student  Financial  Aid  Administrators)  Conference  on  May  15, 
representing  the  College  Committee  on  Disability  issues.    Both  Toni  and  Tina  Doyle,  University 
Representative, spoke to Financial Aid issues for Students with Disabilities and improvements that could 
be made to the Bursary for Students with Disabilities, to better promote student retention and success. 
Over 100 people were in attendance.   
4.  GRADUATION RATE: The College will increase its graduation rate from 62.9% to 64% by 2011. 
REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
Post‐Admission Testing Pilot Project 
The Registrar’s Office  is assisting Academic areas  in a post‐admission  testing pilot project of  students 
confirmed in level one within the Business and Police Foundations programs.   
 
STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 
 
Peer Tutoring 
Peer Tutoring scheduled 1,565 tutoring sessions in April. This represents a 22% increase in sessions over 
the same period in 2011.  Year‐do‐date, over 10,000 tutoring sessions have been arranged by Peer 
Tutoring for students. 
5.  MOBILE LEARNING:  The College will continue to embrace the trend to mobile access by ensuring 


that all licensed software can be downloaded to mobile devices and that new apps are created to 
facilitate mobile access, learning and service acquisition. 


N/A 
 


6.  ONLINE COLLEGE: The College will expand its online learning offerings through hybrid and full 
online modules by reviewing and adapting 20% of all courses and programs in each of the next 
five years. 


STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 
 
Centre for Students with Disabilities 
On May 3, Assistive Technologists Jason Timms and Christine Kelsey facilitated a workshop for CSD staff 
on new technologies for remote training. The session focused on the use of online technologies such as 
join.me,  Skype,  and  remote  training  services  offered  by  Google/gmail  circles.    The  Assistive 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 5 


Technologists have been utilizing these online technologies this past academic year to remotely connect 
with, and offer training to, students with disabilities. 
7.  EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT:  The College will, through professional development, training, 


mentorship, and coaching prepare its employees for new ways of delivering education and 
training and for leadership opportunities in the College. 


REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
The  Manager,  Business  Operations  and  Events  and  the  Manager,  Fees,  Curriculum  and  Reporting 
completed the Algonquin Leadership in Education (ALEI III) program. 
  
The Manager, Financial Aid Services attended the Spring 2012 Ontario Association of Student Financial 
Aid Administrators (OASFAA) Conference held in Hamilton, Ontario 
 
Over twenty‐five members of the Registrar’s Office team participated  in a variety of Algonquin College 
Kaleidoscope sessions. 
 
Internal  Registrar’s Office  cross‐training  and  succession  planning  activities  continued  including  three 
acting Client Service Officers and one acting Financial Aid Officer.  
 
STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 
 
On May  3  and  4,  Laura  Stanbra,  Director,  Student  Support  Services  attended  the  HOSA  (Heads  of 
Student Affairs) Conference held at Boréal College. 
 
Approximately  48  Student  Support  Services  staff members  attended  at  least  one  event  held  at  the 
College’s  Annual  Kaleidoscope  Conference.    In  addition,  Counsellors  led  the  following  development 
workshops at the Conference: 


• Facilitated  by  Counsellor David Glickman:  “Clarifying  the  Roles  of  Those Who Help  Students: 
Who  Does What”:  A  panel  discussion  designed  to  clarify  the  roles  of  Counsellors,  Student 
Success  Specialists,  Academic  Advisors,  Coaches,  the  Aboriginal  Counsellor,  and  CSD 
Counsellors. 


• Presented by Audrey Rosa and Louise Legault, “Mental Health Awareness: A presentation on the 
symptoms  and  basic  interventions  for  those  mental  health  issues  commonly  observed  in 
students”,  including: Mood and Anxiety Disorders, Psychosis, Substance Abuse and Addiction, 
and Suicide. 


The Aboriginal Services team also hosted the following Kaleidoscope workshop: 
• Facilitated  by  Miranda  Huron  and  Jackie  Tenute,  “What  I  Learned  in  School  Today:  The 


Aboriginal Learner”, the screening of a short film on  learning styles of Aboriginal students was 
followed by small group discussions facilitated by members of the Aboriginal Services team and 
Algonquin College’s Aboriginal Education Council (AEC).   


 
Centre for Students with Disabilities (CSD) 
On May  10  and  11, Dr.  Karima  Lacène  and  Jenn Neufeld  attended  the High‐Incidence Disabilities  in 
Higher Education Conference hosted by  the Assessment and Resource Centres of Ontario at Ryerson 
University.  This  Conference  focused  on  evidence‐based  practices  for  supporting  and  accommodating 
students with learning disabilities, ADD/ADHD and mental illness in the post‐secondary environment. 
 







    STUDENT SERVICES 
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY 


June 11, 2012 
Page 6 


Student Success Centre 
The  Student  Success  Specialist  attended  a  workshop  for  Academic  Advising  and  Student  Success 
Specialists  called  “Making  and  Renewing  College  Connections”  on  May  14.    This  was  a  valuable 
opportunity  to  connect  with  faculty  and  discuss  what  the  Student  Success  Centre  can  do  to  assist 
students.    Further,  the  second  half  of  the workshop was  facilitated  in  Residence  to  demonstrate  to 
faculty and staff the actual “living/learning” experience of students living on campus.   
 
Residence Life 
On April 30, the Annual Residence Life Banquet was held at Chances  ‘R to honor the Resident Advisor 
Team  and  Senior  RA/Programmer  for  their  commitment  and  dedication  to  students  throughout  the 
year.  Everyone present participated in toasts, speeches, awards, and slideshows.  Awards were handed 
out to those selected through a voting process by their peers and department members.  
8.  FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY:  The College will target opportunities for increasing revenue, 


decreasing expenses and improving overall operating margins through new business 
opportunities, process automation, program and service efficiencies and productivity 
improvements. 


REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
2012‐2013 Tuition and Ancillary Fees 
The 2012‐2013 Fees Schedules were approved by  the Board of Governors on April 9, 2012 and have 
been  loaded and published  in accordance with the Ministry Training, Colleges and Universities (MTCU) 
Tuition Fee Framework  for 2012‐2013.   Confirmation  letters with detailed  fees  information have been 
sent to applicants. 
 
Payment Card Industry Compliance 
Systems  and Reporting  Services  team members  are participating on  the Payment Card  Industry  (PCI) 
Compliance  Cross‐College  committee  to  ensure  College  handling  and  storage  of  credit  card  data  is 
compliant with new federal protocols. 
 
Test Centre 
The Test Centre realized revenues of $28,969  in April 2012. This represents a 23%  increase  in revenue 
($23,565) from the same period  in 2011.   This boost  in revenue  is  largely due to a spike  in services for 
clients  external  to  Algonquin  College,  such  as  the  administration  of  MTCU  testing  for  Asbestos 
Abatement certification (70 administrations at $56.50 per test = $3,955), and exam invigilation for non‐
Algonquin students registered in an Ontario Learn online course (45 exams at $25 per test = $1,125). 
9.  Other 
 REGISTRAR’S OFFICE 
 
MTCU Ontario Education Number (OEN) Extension Project 
The  Registrar  currently  represents  Algonquin  College  on  the MTCU  OEN  working  group.    To  date, 
business process changes to validate and assign OENs are ongoing.   
 
In collaboration with  Information Technology Services,  the Registrar’s Office has updated  the existing 
Student Information System screens and continues the process of OEN validation.  Live transmission of 
OEN has been activated. 
 





		Area 5 Management Report - May 2012

		Administration Management Summary June 11, 2012

		Advancement Management Summary May 2012

		Business Development Management Summary June 11, 2012

		Human Resources Management Summary June 11, 2012

		 As the 2011/2012 annual process wraps up, 91% of Administrative employees completed a self-appraisal evaluation utilizing Halogen software.   As a result, it was faster, easier and more efficient for managers to write better quality performance appraisals for their direct reports.  For the first time, employees will use an electronic signature to finalize their paperless performance appraisal.



		Student Services Management Summary Report May 2012






 


Presentation to:  Board of Governors 


Subject:  Graduate Certificate Program Proposal Presentations  


Date:  June 11, 2012 


Presenter(s):   J. Aubut, Acting Dean, Academic Development 


 
Purpose:   
 
College  programs  are  developed  in  response  to  specific  target market  needs. As  such,  this 
document  will  provide  the  rationale  for  the  variances  in  the  following  Ontario  College 
Graduate Certificate (OCGC) program proposals that are being presented for approval: 


• Mobile and Social Media Management 
• Environmental Management and Assessment 
• Early Childhood Education Administration 


 
This document will speak specifically to the timeframe variances and will also provide a status 
report on OCGC program development to date. 
 
Background: 
 
The  three OCGC program proposals have  timeframe  variances. An update on  the  status of 
OCGC program development is for information only.  
 
Discussion/Considerations: 
 
1.  Program Hours 
 
The Minister’s  Binding  Policy Directive  Framework  for  Programs  of  Instruction  (Framework) 
provides a typical duration for each credential as follows: 
 


• Ontario College Certificate – typically 2 semesters or 600‐700 hours  
• Ontario College Diploma –  typically 4 semesters or 1200‐1400 hours 
• Ontario College Advanced Diploma – typically 6 semesters or 1800‐2100 hours 
• Ontario College Graduate Certificate – typically 2 semesters or 600‐700 hours 


 
Although the three programs proposals vary in terms of total hours, number of program levels 
(semesters)  and/or  distribution  of  hours  therein,  the  programs  respect  the  Framework’s 
guideline. Flexibility  is afforded  to colleges within  these parameters, with  the understanding 
that quality curriculum delivery and achievement of program vocational learning outcomes will 
be respected.  
 
As  such,  the  Mobile  and  Social  Media  Management  program  hours  total  615  and  the 







Page 2 of 3 
 


Environmental Management and Assessment program is similar in length with 630 hours. The 
difference  in  these  two programs  is  that  they are being delivered over  three and  two  levels 
respectively. The rationale is provided in #2 below. 
 
The Early Childhood Education Administration program hours total 462 hours to be delivered 
over  two  levels.  Since  this  program  was  created  prior  to  the  implementation  of  the  new 
Framework and continues to exist in the College system, the program hours are grandfathered. 
 
2.   Flexibility of Delivery 
 
The program of study designs are founded on a learning rationale specific to each program. 
 


• The Mobile and Social Media program distributes the course load over three levels to 
facilitate participation by working professionals, who will also be expected to 
complete substantive project work. The delivery model leverages program technology 
affinity to provide maximum flexibility as students may choose to attend classes, 
which are scheduled during evenings and weekends, in person or electronically with 
web conferencing/recording (at the scheduled time or at their convenience).  


 
• The Environmental Management and Assessment program is offered over two levels 


and provides a degree of flexibility to facilitate participation by employed individuals, 
as the theory portions of the curriculum will be offered online, while the laboratory 
and field experiences will be delivered on weekends employing available laboratory 
facilities. 
 


• The Early Childhood Education Administration program will be offered part‐time on a 


n 


.  Admission Requirements


 
course by course basis with the option of either online or in‐class course delivery. 
Potential students from this program are graduates of the Early Childhood Educatio
Ontario College Diploma program who are likely in the workforce.   


 
3  


dmission  requirements  for  OCGCs  require  an  expected  prior  level  of  knowledge.  The 


.  OCGC program development


 
A
Framework denotes  the  admission  requirements  for OCGCs  as  an Ontario College Diploma, 
Ontario College Advanced Diploma, Degree, or equivalent. The programs indicate their specific 
admission requirements within the briefing notes provided, each aligning with the Framework. 
 
 
4   


s  requested,  the  following  listing  provides  an  update  on  the  status  of  OCGC  program 


roceeding to Board of Governors for Approval, June 2012 


ment 


 
A
development: 
 
P


• Social and Mobile Media Management 
• Environmental Management and Assess
• Early Childhood Education Administration 







Page 3 of 3 
 


VS Validation and MTCU Funding Approval Received in 2011‐2012 


ent 
ure 


Under Development 
ement 


rasonography  


nagement 


otential Programs Slated for Development 


d Development 


rship in Hospitality and Tourism 


ecommendation:


 
C


• 1306X International Business Management 
• 1308X Financial Services 
• 1309X Nonprofit Sector Managem
• 1514X Business Intelligence System Infrastruct
• 1311X Human Resources Management 
• 1310X Marketing Management 
 


• Project Manag
• Medical Diagnostic Ult
• Retirement Home Administration 
• Health Administration 
• Global Supply Chain Ma
• Brand Management 


 
P


• Emergency Management 
• Global Nursing 
• Game Design an
• Computer Security Systems 
• Entrepreneurship and Leade
• Wine and Food Management ‐ Sommelier 


 
R  


ive this report. 


 


That the Board rece








 


Early Childhood Education Administration -1- June 11, 2012 


     
PRESENTATION TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS 


 
 Program Title:    Early Childhood Education Administration 
 Credential:     Ontario College Graduate Certificate  
 Program Length:    One Year  
 School:    Health and Community Studies   
 Dean:    Barbara Foulds  
 Proposed Start Date:   Fall 2012 
 
 
PURPOSE 
This 462 hour, two level Early Childhood Education Administration Ontario College Graduate 
Certificate program builds upon the education and work experience of the early childhood 
educator. The program’s objective is to prepare early childhood educators for administrative and 
leadership roles in the Early Childhood Education (ECE) community. Graduates may find 
employment in supervisory and administrative positions across the full spectrum of programs and 
centres servicing the needs of children from birth to age twelve.  
 
BACKGROUND 
Currently the credential required to work in the field of ECE is the Early Childhood Education 
diploma program. It does not prepare students for administrative roles and as such, the ECE 
community has identified the need for training to support administrators.   
 
This program is offered through OntarioLearn with the host Colleges being Seneca and 
Sheridan. The proposed program mirrors the existing OntarioLearn program offering, and will 
allow students the flexibility to take the courses online and/or in class. The program will be 
delivered part-time on a course by course basis. 
 
CONSIDERATION 
 
(i) Evidence of Need 


The demand for early childhood educators in the province of Ontario is very high with the 
implementation of full day kindergarten. With new positions in the school boards being filled 
by seasoned early childhood educators, there is an increased need for early childhood 
educators in the Child Care and Community Resource/Family Centres to take on leadership 
and administrative roles. The current two year diploma in Early Childhood Education does 
not provide specialized training in this area. Additional education in the areas of 
administration, management and leadership is required to provide the job market with 
suitable candidates.   
 


(ii) Student Interest 
This Graduate Certificate program is currently offered through OntarioLearn on a part-time 
basis and as such no comparable OCAS data is available. Early Childhood Education 
programs across the Ontario College system are oversubscribed, consistently demonstrating 
high demand based on OCAS statistics dating back to 2008.  On average, from 2008 to 
2010, the ratio of applicants to enrolments is greater than 4:1.  This indicates a strong 
demand for education in this sector.  The graduates of the ECE two-year diploma program 


 







 


Early Childhood Education Administration -2- June 11, 2012 
 


are the potential students for this Ontario College Graduate Certificate program.  
  
(iii) Staffing  
 Part-time instructors will be hired to deliver the program through the Centre for Continuing and 


Online Learning. 
 
(iv) Admissions Requirements 
 Program Eligibility: 


1. Early Childhood Education Diploma or Equivalency from the Association of Early 
Childhood Educators Ontario (AECEO). 


2. One post-diploma year working with children in a licensed Ontario-based ECE program. 
Individual knowledge and experience will be considered in lieu of one year experience.  


  
(v) Advisory Committee Support 
 This program proposal was first tabled at the ECE Advisory Committee meeting on October 


5, 2011 at which time the program content was discussed and well received by the 
committee members and faculty present.  The majority of Committee members endorsed the 
program.  Members indicated that this program will meet the needs of the community and 
that the individual courses could act as professional development opportunities for those 
currently working in the field who wish to upgrade their skills in one specific area.   


 
(vi) Strategic Alignment  
 The implementation of this program reflects the strategic directions of the College including 


the commitment to digital learning with both hybrid and 100% online, alternative delivery 
options, leveraging of our relationships with business and industry, and meeting the needs of 
students and the community.  


 
 
Appendix 1: Program of Study 
Appendix 2: Cash Flow Analysis – not applicable 
 Note:  Programs delivered on a part-time basis have to meet minimum financial 


targets. This program will be delivered on a course by course basis. To mitigate 
financial risk, course delivery decisions will be predicated on sufficient 
registrations to meet financial targets. 


 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
That the Board of Governors approve the Early Childhood Administration Ontario College 
Graduate Certificate program effective Fall 2012 and seek validation of the program title and 
outcomes from the Credentials Validation Service and approval for funding from the Ministry of 
Training, Colleges and Universities. 
 
 







 


Early Childhood Education Administration -3- June 11, 2012 


Appendix 1:  Program of Study 
LEVEL 1 – 15 weeks 


 


 
COURSE 
NUMBER 


COURSE 
TITLE 


Hours  


Th
eo


ry
  


La
b 


Fi
el


d 
/ C


lin
ic


al
 


To
ta


l H
ou


rs
 


In
 c


la
ss


 


O
nl


in
e 


In
 c


la
ss


 


O
nl


in
e 


COM5601 Communication Strategies for Early 
Childhood Educators 


42   42


EDU5602 ECE Curriculum Design and 
Implementation   


42   42


EDU5603 Advocacy and Professionalism in Early 
Childhood Education  


28 14   42


EDU5604 Early Childhood Education Supervisory 
Management, Leadership Skills & Staff 
Development 


28 14
  


42


MKT5605 Service Marketing in ECE  28 14   42


EDU5606 Computer Application and Financial 
Planning in Early Childhood Education 
Administration  


42   42


 TOTAL LEVEL HOURS 126 84 42   252 


 
LEVEL 2 – 6 weeks 


 


 
COURSE 
NUMBER 


COURSE 
TITLE 


Hours  


Th
eo


ry
  


La
b 


Fi
el


d 
/ C


lin
ic


al
 


To
ta


l H
ou


rs
 


In
 c


la
ss


 


O
nl


in
e 


In
 c


la
ss


 


O
nl


in
e 


FLD5607 Early Childhood Education Administrators 
Program Fieldwork 


 210 210


 TOTAL LEVEL HOURS  210 210


 
 Graduate Certificate Program Total Hours    462* 


* Total hours equivalent to existing OntarioLearn CVS approved Ontario College Graduate 
Certificate - grandfathered program with hours less than typical 600-700 hour credential range     


 







 


Early Childhood Education Administration -4- June 11, 2012 
 


Appendix 2: Cash Flow Analysis  
 
Note:  Programs delivered on a part-time basis have to meet minimum financial targets. This 
program will be delivered on a course by course basis. To mitigate financial risk, course delivery 
decisions will be predicated on sufficient registrations to meet financial targets. 





